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FBERUARY 14-16, 2023, AGENDA MATERIALS 

(Only Items that have corresponding materials will have a link)  
 

The Board Sitting En Banc 
 
The following 3 items are for consideration by the full Board: 
 
1. Call to Order & Roll Call         
 
2. Pledge of Allegiance         
 
3. Public Comment          

The Board welcomes public comment. Public comment must be limited to matters 
relevant to or within the authority of the Government Employee-Management Relations 
Board. No subject may be acted upon unless that subject is on the agenda and is 
scheduled for possible action. If you wish to be heard, please introduce yourself at the 
appropriate time and the Presiding Officer will recognize you. The amount of 
discussion on any single subject, as well as the amount of time any single speaker is 
allowed, may be limited. The Board will not restrict public comment based upon 
viewpoint. However, the Board may refuse to consider public comment prior to the 
commencement and/or conclusion of a contested case or a quasi-judicial proceeding 
that may affect the due process rights of an individual. See NRS 233B.126. 
 

4. Approval of the Minutes       
For possible action on the minutes of the meeting held December 29, 2022. 

 
 

Panel D 
 
The following 1 item is for consideration by Panel D: 
 
5. Case 2018-017         

Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department v. Las Vegas Police Protective 
Association   
Pursuant to NAC 288.271(2)(c), the Commissioner had randomly selected Vice-Chair 
Masters to fill the vacancy at the time on the panel. Deliberation and decision on the 
Joint Status Report. 
 
 

The Board Sitting En Banc 
 
The following 9 items are for consideration by the full Board: 
 
 



6.      Case 2020-019        
Susan Finucan v. City of Las Vegas 
Deliberation and decision on the Joint Status Report. 

 
7.     Case 2020-020        

AFSCME, Local 4041 & Shari Kassebaum v. State of Nevada ex rel. its 
Department of Corrections 
Deliberation and decision on the Joint Status Report. 

 
8.    Case 2020-031        

Henderson Police Supervisors Association v. City of Henderson et al. 
Deliberation and decision on the Joint Status Report. 
 

9.     Case 2022-007        
Las Vegas Peace Officers Association & Candace Chambers v. City of Las Vegas 
Deliberation and decision on the Joint Status Report. 

 
10.    Case 2022-008        

Las Vegas Police Managers & Supervisors Association & Connell v. Las Vegas 
Metropolitan Police Department 
Deliberation and decision on the Stipulation to Dismiss. 
 

11.     Case 2022-012        
Jeremy Bunker v. Clark County 
Deliberation and decision on the Stipulation and Order to Lift Stay Proceedings. 
 

12.      Case 2022-010        
FOP Nevada C.O. Lodge 21 v. State of Nevada, Department of Corrections, NDOC 
Director Charles Daniels 
Deliberation and decision on the Stipulation to Substitute Parties. 
 

13.      Case 2021-008; 2021-012; 2021-013; 2021-015   
Las Vegas City Employees’ Association & Julie Terry v. City of Las Vegas; Las 
Vegas City Employees’ Association & Jody Gleed v. City of Las Vegas; Las 
Vegas City Employees’ Association & Marc Brooks v. City of Las Vegas; and 
International Association of Fire Fighters, Local 1285 v. City of Las Vegas 
Oral argument by the parties on City of Las Vegas’ Motion to Dismiss for Failure to 
Exhaust Contractual Remedies and Motion to Defer to Arbitration Proceedings. 
Deliberation and decision on the same. This item is set for a time certain for Tuesday, 
February 14, 2023, at 2:00 p.m. 
 

14.    Case 2022-016        
International Association of Firefighters Local No. 1265 v. City of Sparks 
Deliberation and decision on Respondent City of Sparks’ Motion to Dismiss. 
 
 
 



Panel C 
 
The following 1 item is for consideration by Panel C: 

 
15. Case 2022-009         

Nye County v. Nye County Association of Sheriff’s Supervisors and 
Counterclaim of Nye County Association of Sheriff’s Supervisors and David 
Boruchowitz v. Nye County 
Pursuant to NAC 288.271(2)(c), the Commissioner had randomly selected Vice-Chair 
Masters to fill the vacancy on the panel caused by the resignation of Board Member 
Cottino. Also pursuant to NAC 288.271(2)(c), the Commissioner had selected Chair 
Eckersley to fill the vacancy on the panel caused by the resignation of Board Member 
Harris. Pursuant to NAC 288.271(4) the presiding officer shall be Chair Eckersley.  
 
The hearing will begin Tuesday, February 14, 2023, at 3:00 p.m.; and continuing on 
Wednesday, February 15, 2023, if necessary, at 8:15 a.m.; and continuing on 
Thursday, February 16, 2023, if necessary, at 8:15 a.m.  
 
The hearing will be held in the Tahoe Room, which is located on the fourth floor of the 
Nevada State Business Center, 3300 W. Sahara Avenue, Las Vegas, NV 89102. The 
attorneys of record, witnesses, court reporter, the Commissioner and the panel 
members will be present in-person. Preliminary motions will be heard at the beginning 
of the hearing. The Panel may deliberate and take possible action on this case after 
the hearing has concluded. 
 
 

The Board Sitting En Banc 
 
The following 3 items are for consideration by the full Board: 

 
16.      Status of the Move to Suite 490       

Report on the status of the move of the EMRB’s office from Suite 260 to Suite 490. 
 

17.      Additional Period of Public Comment     
Please refer to agenda item 3 for any rules pertaining to public comment. 
 

18.      Adjournment        
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Marquis Aurbach 
Nick D. Crosby, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 8996 
10001 Park Run Drive 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145 
Telephone: (702) 382-0711 
Facsimile: (702) 382-5816 
ncrosby@maclaw.com 


Attorneys for Respondent LVMPD  
 


STATE OF NEVADA  


GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEE MANAGEMENT  


RELATIONS BOARD 


LAS VEGAS POLICE MANAGERS AND 
SUPERVISORS ASSOCIATION and STEVEN 
CONNELL, 
 
    Complainants, 
 
 vs. 
 
LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE 
DEPARTMENT, 
 
    Respondent. 
 


 
 
Case No.: 2022-008 
 


 
STIPULATION AND ORDER FOR DISMISSAL WITH PREJUDICE 


Las Vegas Police Managers and Supervisors Association and Steven Connell 


(“Complainants”), by and through their counsel of record, Adam Levine, Esq. of the Law Offices 


of Daniel Marks, and Respondent, Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department (“Respondent”), 


by and through its counsel of record, Nick D. Crosby, Esq. of the law office of Marquis Aurbach, 


hereby submit the following Stipulation and Order for Dismissal with Prejudice in the above-


captioned matter.   


/// 


/// 


/// 


/// 
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Pursuant to the Settlement Agreement entered into between Complainants and 


Respondent, the Parties hereby stipulate to dismiss the above-captioned matter with prejudice.  


Each party is to bear its own fees and costs.   


IT IS SO STIPULATED this 31st day of January, 2023. 


MARQUIS AURBACH 
 
 
By: s/Nick D. Crosby   


Nick D. Crosby, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 8996 
10001 Park Run Drive 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145 
Attorneys for Respondent   


 


LAW OFFICES OF DANIEL MARKS 
 
 
By: s/Adam Levine    


Adam Levine, Esq. 
Nevada bar No. 4673 
610 South Ninth Street 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
Attorneys for Complainants 
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LAW OFFICE OF DANIEL MARKS
DANIEL MARKS, ESQ. 
Nevada State Bar No. 002003 
office@danielmarks.net 
ADAM LEVINE, ESQ. 
Nevada State Bar No. 004673 
alevine@danielmarks.net 
610 South Ninth Street 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
(702) 386-0536: FAX (702) 386-6812 
Email: office@danielmarks.net 
Attorneys for Complainant/Employee


STATE OF NEVADA 
GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEE-MANAGEMENT  


RELATIONS BOARD 
 
JEREMY BUNKER, 
 
  Complainant/Employee, 
 
v. 
 
CLARK COUNTY, 
 
  Respondent/Employer.


Case No.: 2022-012
 
 


STIPULATION TO LIFT STAY 
PROCEEDINGS


 
 IT IS HEREBY STIPULATED AND AGREED by and between the parties that the stay of this 


matter previously entered be lifted. 


DATED this 1st day of February 2023.  DATED this 1st day of February 2023. 


LAW OFFICE OF DANIEL MARKS
 
/s/Adam Levine, Esq.     
DANIEL MARKS, ESQ. 
Nevada State Bar No. 002003 
ADAM LEVINE, ESQ. 
Nevada State Bar No. 004673 
alevine@danielmarks.net
610 South Ninth Street 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Attorneys for Complainant/Employee  


DISTRICT ATTORNEY - CIVIL DIVISION 
 
Scott R. Davis, Esq.     
NICOLE R. MALICH, Deputy District Attorney 
State Bar No. 13180 
SCOTT R. DAVIS, Deputy District Attorney 
State Bar No. 10019 
500 South Grand Central Pkwy., Suite 5075 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2215 
Scott.Davis@clarkcountyda.com  
Nicole.Malich@clarkcountyda.com
Attorneys for Defendant Clark County 
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Jeremy Bunker v. Clark County 
EMRB Case No.: 2022-012 


Stipulation and Order to Lift Stay  


ORDER OF STAY


 Based upon the above and foregoing Stipulation of the parties, 


 IT IS SO ORDERED


 DATED this ____ day of _____________ 2022. 


 


 


              
       Government Employee-Management
       Relations Board, Commissioner 
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BRYAN K. SCOTT 
City Attorney 
Nevada Bar No. 4381 
By: MORGAN DA VIS 
Assistant City Attorney 
Nevada Bar No. 3707 
By: NECHOLE GARCIA 
Deputy City Attorney 
Nevada Bar No. 12746 
495 South Main Street, Sixth Floor 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
(702) 229-6629 
(702) 386-1749 (fax) 
Email: mdavis@lasvegasnevada.gov 


ngarcia@lasvegasnevada.gov 
Attorneys for City of Las Vegas 


FILED 
November 3, 2022 


State of Nevada 
E.M.R.B. 


8:23 a.m. 


STATE OF NEVADA GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEE­


MANAGEMENT RELATIONS BOARD 


LAS VEGAS CITY EMPLOYEES ' 
ASSOCIATION and JULIE TERRY, 


Complainants, 


vs. 


THE CITY OF LAS VEGAS, 


Respondent. 


LAS VEGAS CITY EMPLOYEES ' 
ASSOCIATION and JODY GLEED, 


Complainants, 


vs. 


THE CITY OF LAS VEGAS, 


Respondent. 


LAS VEGAS CITY EMPLOYEES' 
ASSOCIATION and MARC BROOKS, 


Complainants, 


vs. 


THE CITY OF LAS VEGAS, 


Respondent. 


CASE NO. 2021-008 


CONSOLIDATED WITH 


CASE NO. 2021-012 


CONSOLIDATED WITH 


CASE NO. 2021-013 
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INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF 
FIREFIGHTERS, LOCAL 1285, 


Complainant, 


vs. 


THE CITY OF LAS VEGAS, 


Respondent. 


CONSOLIDATED WITH 


CASE NO. 2021-015 


CITY OF LAS VEGAS' MOTION TO DISMISS FOR FAILURE TO EXHAUST 
CONTRACTUAL REMEDIES AND 


MOTION TO DEFER TO ARBITRATION PROCEEDINGS 


Respondent CITY OF LAS VEGAS (hereinafter referred to as "CITY"), by and through 


its attorneys of record, Bryan K. Scott, City Attorney, by Morgan Davis, Assistant City Attorney, 


and Nechole Garcia, Deputy City Attorney, hereby files this Motion to Dismiss for Failure to 


Exhaust Contractual Remedies and Motion to Defer to Arbitration Proceedings. 


This Board previously issued its Order consolidating the cases captioned above, and 


staying all four cases under the limited deferral doctrine until the underlying grievances in those 


cases are resolved. As stated in that order "The limited deferral doctrine is a prudential doctrine 


reflecting a policy favoring grievance arbitration as the preferred method of resolving disputes. 


On October 14, 2022, this Board issued its order lifting the stay and that the CITY may file any 


appropriate motion(s), including a motion to dismiss for failure to exhaust contraction remedies 


and/or a motion to defer to the arbitration proceedings, within 21 days of this order. 


GLEED; BROOKS; AND IAFF #1285 MUST BE DISMISSED, AS EXHAUSTION 
HAS NOT OCCURRED: 


NAC 288.375(2) permits this Board to dismiss a complaint, "[u]nless there is a clear 


showing of special circumstances or extreme prejudice, if the parties have not exhausted all their 


contractual remedies, including rights to arbitration." In interpreting this provision, this Board 


has repeatedly held that "the preferred method for resolving disputes is through the bargained for 
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process, and this Board applies NAC liberally to effectuate that purpose." ( Operating Engineers 


Local Union No. 3 v. Incline Village General Improvement District, Item No. 864-C (2020)); 


International Association of Firefighters, Local #2905, and Casey Micone v. Reno-Tahoe Airport 


Authority, Case No. 2020-013, Item 867 (2020). In Operating Engineers Local, this Board 


dismissed a complaint where the complaining party failed to make a clear showing of the special 


circumstances or extreme prejudice required to justify its failure to proceed to arbitration. 


Operating Engineers Local Union No. 3 v. Incline Village General Improvement District, Item 


No. 864-C (2020). There, this Board noted that it "will not condone Complainant's attempts to 


circumvent the bargained for processes and expedite Board review." Id. This Board's position is 


in line with the N.L.R.B. 's stance on requiring exhaustion of bargained for remedies before 


hearing a case. In Collyer Insulate Wire, the N.L.R.B. dismissed a complaint where the 


bargaining unit had failed to exhaust the contractual remedies. 192 N.L.R.B. 837 (1971) There, 


the N.L.R.B. noted: 


We conclude that the Board is vested with authority to withhold its processes in 
this case, and that the contract here made available a quick and fair means for the 
resolution of this dispute including, if appropriate, a fully effective remedy for 
any breach of contract which occurred. We conclude, in sum, that our obligation 
to advance the purposes of the Act is best discharged by the dismissal of this 
complaint. 


Collyer Insulated Wire, 192 N.L.R.B. 83 7 (1971) 


Here, Complainants have not proceeded with the arbitration in the GLEED and BROOKS 


matters, despite filing the grievances over a year ago, in August of 2021. In Joint Status Reports 


filed with this Board, Complainant has revealed its intent not to proceed with arbitration because 


the "monetary amounts are not significantly high." (7 /28/22 Joint Status Report, Pg. 2, ln. 24-27; 


9/6/22 Joint Status Report, Pg. 3, ln. 1-3). That rationale does not constitute the special 


circumstances or extreme prejudice required to avoid a dismissal. Moreover, in the IAFF #1285 


matter, Complainant notes in the Joint Status Report that the employee dismissed the grievance 
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and does not wish to participate in litigation. (7/28/22 Joint Status Report, Pg. 3, In. 3-5; 9/6/22 


Joint Status Report, Pg. 3, In. 7-9). Yet, IAFF #1285 has not pursued grievance arbitration on its 


own or made any further attempt to go through the bargained for process. Rather, Complainant 


states that, "IAFF 1285 is hopeful that it can secure relief for its claim through this Board via the 


consolidated action herein." (7 /28/22 Joint Status Report, Pg. 3, In. 5-6; 9/6/22 Joint Status 


Report, Pg. 3, In. 9-10). This request not only attempts to sidestep the bargained for grievance 


process, it is also inappropriate because IAFF #1285 is an entirely separate bargaining unit with a 


different CBA. 


Complainant has made no clear showing of special circumstances or extreme prejudice to 


justify its failure to exhaust its administrative remedies. Rather, Complainant seeks to circumvent 


the bargained for process by bootstrapping the GLEED, BROOKS, and IAFF #1285 matters onto 


the TERRY matter. The CITY respectfully requests this Board dismiss those cases pursuant to 


NAC 288.375(2) as the Complainant has failed to exhaust its contractual remedies. 


THIS BOARD SHOULD DEFER TO THE ARBITRATOR'S DECISION IN 
TERRY: 


The grievance arbitration in the TERRY matter has been concluded. On August 11, 


2022, Arbitrator Jonathon Monat issued his Arbitrator's Findings and Award that " .. . the 


grievance is denied in its entirety." (Ex 1) The CITY is seeking to have this Board defer to that 


Arbitration Award of Arbitrator Monat. The Nevada Supreme Court has stated "The party 


desiring the NLRB to reject an arbitration award has the burden of demonstrating these 


principles are not met. We adopt the NLRB deferral policy and conclude that the EMRB must 


apply these principles in determining whether to defer to an arbitration." City of Reno v. Reno 


Police Protective Association, 118 Nev. 889, at 896, 59 P.3d 1212, at 1217 (2002). 


This Board is not only bound by that Nevada Supreme Court decision according to 


generalized legal principles like "Stare Decisis" and "Precedent" but has frequently specifically 
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and expressly incorporated it in many of its subsequent decisions, most recently in Robert Ortiz 


v. Service Employees International Union, Local 1107, Case No. 2020-021, Item 879, issued a 


few weeks before Arbitrator Monat ' s Decision in this case. In that matter this Board not only 


reaffirmed the specific principals set fo11h in City of Reno, but likewise reaffirmed "The limited 


deferral doctrine is a prudential doctrine that gives effect to noted public policy of encouraging 


resolution of disputes under the bargained for grievance procedures." Munn v. Clark County 


Firefighters IAFF Local 1904, et. al. , case No. Al-46045, Item 781 (2012) Id. Pg. 2. Further, 


that recent decision also stated "The party desiring that the Board reject the prior administrative 


findings and proceed with the prohibited labor practice proceedings bears the burden of 


establishing that the limited deferral doctrine elements have not been met, and thus should not 


apply." Id. Pg. 3 


It is generally understood that deferral must be raised by the party seeking deferral , but 


that party must only prove there was an arbitration award issued and then the burden shifts to the 


party resisting deferral. Should TERRY attempt to resist deferral, the CITY expressly preserves 


its right to file a response once TERRY has attempted to satisfy that burden. 


CONCLUSION: 


GLEED, BROOKS, and the IAFF #1285 matters should be dismissed as no effort has 


been made to exhaust the contractual remedies, nor can special circumstances or extreme 


prejudice be shown. 


II I 


I II 


II I 


I II 


II I 


I II 
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This Board should defer to the Arbitrator's Award issued in the TERRY matter and 


dismiss that case as well. 


DATED this 3rd day of November, 2022. 


BRYANK. SCOTT 
City Attorney 


Isl Morgan Davis 
By: 


MORGAN DA VIS 
Assistant City Attorney 
Nevada Bar No. 3707 
495 South Main Street, Sixth Floor 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
Attorneys for City of Las Vegas 


CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 


I hereby certify that on November 3, 2022, I served a true and correct copy of the 


foregoing City of Las Vegas' Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Exhaust Contractual Remedies 


and Motion to Defer to Arbitration Proceedings via electronic mail ( or, if necessary, by United 


States Mail at Las Vegas, Nevada, postage fully prepaid) upon the following: 


Jeffrey F. Allen, Esq. 
Email: jeffreyfallen@aol.com 
Attorneys for Complainants, 
Las Vegas City Employees' 
Association, Julie Terry, Jody 
Gleed, Marc Brooks, and 
International Association of 
Firefighters Local 1285 


Isl Kelli Hans en 


AN EMPLOYEE OF THE CITY OF LAS VEGAS 
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EXHIBIT 1 


EXHIBIT 1 







In the Matter of Arbitration Between 


LAS VEGAS CITY EMPLOYEES' 
ASSOCIATION 


CITY OF LAS VEGAS 
LAS VEGAS, NV 


and 


FMCS Case No. 210823-09448 
Julie Terry, Grievant 


) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 


Hearing Date: February 1, April 12, May 5, 2022 


Hearing Site: 


Briefs Received: 


Award Date: 


Arbitrator: 


Virtual Via Zoom 


July 13, 2022 


August 11, 2022 


JONATHAN S. MONAT, PhD 


Appearing for the Company: 


Jeffrey F. Allen, Esq 
Attorney at Law 
ForLVCEA 
857 N. Eastern Avenue 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 


Appearing for the Union: 


Court Reporter: 


Morgan D. Davis, Esq. 
Attorney at Law 
Assistant City Attorney 
City Attorney's Office 
499 South Main Street 
6th Floor 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 


Ingrid Suarez Egnatuk, CSR 
Bayside Reporting Company 
3 510 Torrance Boulevard 
Torrance, CA 90503 


ARBITRATOR'S FINDINGS 


AND AWARD 







INTRODUCTION 


Julie Terry, the Grievant in this matter, has been employed by the City of Las Vegas for fourteen 


(14) years, most recently in the Department of Public Safety as a Communications Specialist. There are 


six stations in the communications area with up to six specialists working depending on staffing levels. She 


typically handled non-emergency calls while emergency calls (911) are routed through other specialists. 


Because of the pandemic, staffing was often short, requiring she work some overtime after her twelve hour 


shift. Grievant admitted she had attendance issues for which she received progressive discipline. Her eval­


uations have generally been positive. 


The Grievant attended the Route 91 Harvest Festival concert near the Mandalay Bay Resort on the 


Las Vegas Strip. The date was October 1, 2017. A shooter opened fire from the resort, killing 60 people 


and injuring 500. Although the Grievant was not hit or injured, the incident was very traumatic. Soon she 


began suffering mental health issues which were exacerbated by PTSD. She began taking prescribed 


psychotropic medications and attending therapy. One of her therapists diagnosed her with Generalized 


Anxiety Disorder, PTSD and Major Depressive Disorder. Her therapist did not consider her a threat to 


others. She was treated for suicidal ideation and spent three days in an in-patient treatment facility. She 


made no suicide attempts. The City sent the Grievant for a psychological fitness for duty evaluation and 


found her to have a number of PTSD symptoms but was cleared to continue working without restrictions. 


Her psychological history is well-documented on the record. 


In 2019, issues in the Grievant' s personal life began to impact her mental health. She had panic 


attacks, emergency room visits and a welfare check. She used a significant amount of sick leave in 2018 


through 2020 had remaining none in her sick leave bank. Leave without pay (L WOP) had run out. On 


June 12, 2020, Grievant was placed on a Performance Improvement Plan (PIP) which she successfully 


completed followed by good performance evaluations. 


A second fitness for duty evaluation was scheduled for late February 2021. Although the Grievant 
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testified that the evaluator, Dr. Short, said she was fine, his report identified multiple mental health issues 


(7) which could lead to more PTSD events. He advised she continue therapy but was not a threat to herself 


or others, according to the Union. A memo written by HR Analyst Lori Petsco to Dr. Short suggested the 


Grievant was less than truthful about her conditions. Petsco asked for a second fitness for duty exam 


which Dr. Short conducted, after which he downgraded his assessment of the Grievant. He found her 


unsafe to return to work. At the direction of Deputy Chief Adams, HR Director Hunt and Petsco did not 


allow the Grievant to return to work. Grievant's status was changed from administrative leave to unpaid 


leave. A third fitness evaluation did not change the Grievant' s status. 


The record contains a substantial amount of evidence, testimony and argument about Grievant's 


psychological state, fitness for duty and how much of a threat she presented to her own safety and the 


safety of others with whom she worked. This record became the basis for the change in the Grievant' s 


employment status at the City of Las Vegas. Grievant was either terminated or separated from City 


employment on or about July 28, 2021. This is the gravamen of the dispute between the parties. Was the 


Grievant terminated, as the Union claims, or separated, as the City claims. The Grievant claimed the City 


violated the CBA, Articles 13 & 17 by placing her on L WOP status and discharging her without just cause. 


The parties agreed that the matter was properly before the Arbitrator for a final and binding 


decision under the terms of the Collective Bargaining Agreement (CBA)(Jl ). Hearings were held over three 


days - February 1, April 12 and May 5, 2022. All evidence and testimony were admitted under oath 


administered by the Court Reporter who provided the official transcript and only record of the hearing. All 


sessions were held virtually using the Zoom platform. Exhibits were shared with the Arbitrator by hard 


copy and electronic file received in advance of the hearing. The parties had a full and fair opportunity to 


present their witness and evidence, examine and cross-examine witnesses and make arguments. Counsel 


agreed to file post-hearing briefs electronically to the Arbitrator. The briefs were received on July 13, 2022, 


and the record closed. 
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ISSUES 


The parties disagreed on the issue before the Arbitrator. The Union argued the case was a termina­


tion case requiring just cause standards to be met. Also, the Union alleged a violation of the L WOP provi­


sions of the CBA. At a minimum, the Union called th~ action an "involuntary separation" and effectively a 


termination (TR13). The City argued the Grievant was not terminated and the case was a separation based 


upon Article 17.6 and subsection 17.6.8, Leave Without Pay and Separation, respectively. The City noted 


the Grievant remains in the system accruing benefits on leave without pay (TR16). 


Specifically, the City offered the following statement of the issue: 


1) Did the City violate Article 13 of the Collective Bargaining Agreement? 


2) If so, what is the appropriate remedy? 


The Union offered this statement of the issue: 


1) Did the City terminate the Grievant without Just Cause in violation of Article 13 of the 


CBA? 


2) If so, what is the appropriate remedy? 


PERTINENT CONTRACT PROVISIONS 


Complete articles from the CBA will not be copied here as they are well-known to the parties and 


spell out in their post-hearing briefs. Pertinent sections will be referenced and quoted as necessary in the 


Arbitrator's Discussion and Findings below. Relevant articles are Article 11 - Sick Leave; Article 13 -


Disciplinary Action; and Article 17 - Leave Without Pay And Special Leave. 
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POSITION OF THE CITY OF LAS VEGAS 1 


The City argued it did not terminate the Grievant, contrary to the Union's claim. The operative 


document is the Notice of Separation, which expressly states in part "Pursuant to Article 17.6.8 of the 


Collective Bargaining Agreement, ' ... employees who are unable to return to work after being on L WOP 


status for twelve (12) weeks may be separated from City employment upon notice to the employee and the 


Association after the 12 weeks of approved L WOP has expired."' L VCEA President DeAndre Carruthers 


testified disciplinary termination and separation are different, distinct and in separate articles of the CBA. 


As soon as the City was made aware of the correct process specified in Article 17.6.8, the initial Notice of 


Termination was withdrawn immediately and the Notice of Separation issued instead. The City noted that 


the Factfinder in the last round of negotiations found that catastrophic leave and other elements of L WOP 


proposal must be adopted into Article 17. 2 


Testimony of Lori Petsco reflected that the City did not want to terminate the Grievant at the time, 


but allow her to resign and retain benefits as well as reapply for work if her conditions improved. Although 


the Grievant did not like the idea of voluntary resignation, she applied for unemployment as having volun­


tarily resigned. Per Article 17.6. 7, the City continued to pay Grievant's employer-provided insurance 


coverage, an action not available to a terminated employee. She remained in the City roster as on L WOP. 


Grievant gave inconsistent testimony as to whether or not her coverage had expired. The City argued she 


continues to have city-funded coverage today. Separation is the path the City followed, not termination, 


but it remains in process through this adversarial process. 


Next, the City argued that putting the Grievant on LWOP was appropriate. She was on FMLA 


until her available leaves were used up, then on LWOP (unpaid FMLA) about or about April 9, 2021, but 


1 
Due to the length of each party's briefs (City 45 pages and CEA 73 pages), the position of the parties sections are 


an essential summary of positions. 


2 Article 1 7 appears to be have been renumbered after the factfinding report. 
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the grievance not filed until July 29, 2022, well past the 14 day period within which a grievance must be 


filed. The City claimed the grievance is untimely. There is no written extension of the time limits mutually 


agreed upon by the parties. Furthermore, placement on L WOP under FMLA provisions is not grievable. 


The City cited the CBA's provision that bans grievances based on violation of the Federal act. Evidence 


showed the Grievant had no paid leave time available when she was placed on LWOP. 


Next, the City argued Article 17 is clear and unambiguous on its face. Following the plain mean­


ing rule, there is no need for other interpretive aids. Contrary to DeAndre Carruthers' testimony, discipline 


is not the only scenario applicable. The express language of the CBA is that there are several scenarios 


which an employee can request but only discipline can be imposed. Requests are subject to approval by the 


employee's department head. CEA only becomes aware of these actions if an employee tells it what has 


occurred. The CBA does not impose a requirement on the City to notify CEA when an employee is taken 


off administrative leave and placed on L WOP. CEA acknowledged that it typically does not received 


notice of when its members are placed on L WOP. The lack of any prior application of this article does not 


establish a practice against its use. 


Nor is the City required to provide CEA with advance copies of memos and communication the 


City had with therapists. The City is not obligated to provide this information. The same lack of obliga­


tion applies to fitness for duty examinations. In none of these scenarios has the City copied CEA on docu­


ments involving an employee's health records. The City must maintain confidentiality of these records. 


Only the employee can release that information. Contrary to CEA's claim, the City did not tell her to not 


share. The Grievant was entitled to copies of all medical reports. The Grievant was provided a written 


notice she would be provided with an FMLA designation notice and that she would be in L WOP status 


once her leave ran out. After she did not pass the amended fitness for duty exam, she was placed on 


extended L WOP. 


The City has maintained the right to use fitness for duty exams for various purposes including 
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extended periods ofLWOP. A fitness for duty exam may be required even after a physician's release to 


return to work. The City introduced extensive evidence to show the long-term existence of fitness for duty 


practices. Association President Carruthers concurred the City had the right to require such exams. The 


City acted appropriately in requesting Dr. Short re-evaluate the Grievant, an action against which the CEA 


lodged strong objections. Among the reasons for the amended evaluation was that the Grievant misrepre­


sented certain aspects of her work and conditions. As her most recent evaluation showed, the Grievant 


continued to have problems with attendance for which she received discipline. 


Professional opinions by licensed therapists established that the Grievant was never fit for duty. 


She filed a claim for short term disability, supported by one of her therapists, Trina. Dr. Short provided an 


amended evaluation based on new information the Grievant had withheld from her. The City is not obliga­


ted to accept a treating physician's or therapist's recommendations. Trina is a Marriage and Family Coun­


selor (MFT), a practice regulated by the Board of Examiners for Marriage and Family Therapists and 


Clinical Professional Counselors. According to the Board's Code of Ethics adopted from the American 


Association of Marriage and Family Therapy, an MFT can provide therapy or forensic evaluation but 


should not perform both with a patient. 


An evaluator does not provided therapy but seeks to develop a complete picture of a patient's 


mental health, challenging the subject who, as in Grievant's case, provided only the information she wanted 


to share. Dr. Brown's first evaluation was based upon Trina's opinion which was based upon Gricvant's 


lack of full disclosure. Grievant admitted she did not report some important incidents to Trina in her 


therapy session. The City rightfully granted the Grievant protected leave once it received information that 


the Grievant was not able to work due to documented mental health issues. 


For these reasons, the City argues that a claim for wrongful discharge must be rejected. The infre­


quently used procedure used by the City to separate the Grievant is under Article 17. Discipline is separate 


under Article 13. The Grievant's plethora of mental health issues is well-documented. She was found to 
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not be fit for work for a period of 3-6 months in March 2021. Grievant did not file a grievance until July. 


The clear language of the CBA allowed the City to take the action it did. The grievance must be denied. 


POSITION OF THE LVCEA 


CEA argued that the Grievant was placed in unpaid leave status depriving her of wages and 


improperly refusing to let her work. The L WOP status is effectively permanent and constructive discharge. 


The Grievant is seeking reinstatement and a make-whole remedy. The grievance was filed as soon as CEA 


was aware of the violation. Even if found to be untimely, the continuing grievance doctrine applies be­


cause the Grievant has not received any pay or benefits since being placed on L WOP on March 28, 2021. 


Furthermore, according to CEA, Lori Petsco let it slip at the hearing the City was planning to keep the 


Grievant in an active employment status until the arbitration hearing. 


The Grievant filed the disability insurance form under duress and without proper counseling and 


representation from L VCEA. She did not agree she was disabled. She was put back to work after the 


fitness for duty exam found to be her fit to return. After 20 days of work, she was placed on leave again 


after the second fitness exam found she was unfit, leaving the Grievant confused. She had no mental health 


cover-age on disability. She was taken off paid leave prior to her filing for disability. 


CEA President Carruthers and former CEA General Counsel Bruce Snyder testified that the only 


way the City can unilaterally force the Grievant onto unpaid leave is through the disciplinary process 


specified in Article 13 of the CBA. Article 13(H) states that "Just cause exists when an employee commits 


an act of substance relating to the character or fitness of the employee to perform official duties that is 


contrary to sound public practices or acceptable work performance. 3 Among offenses listed which would 


be considered just cause include absenteeism or tardiness for which Grievant has been disciplined in the 


past. Grievant was told to file for disability when she was refused return to work. 


3 Emphasis added by L VCEA counsel. 
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President Carruthers testified that all L VCEA represented employees have the right to be paid their 


contractually defined wages and benefits based on a 40 hour work week (Article 14A). Rick Hunt agreed 


in his testimony. Other employees have failed fitness for duty exams and have been put through the disci­


plinary process. The City's personnel policies spell out the same process for termination which is the disci­


plinary process. The CBA governs in event of a conflict between the CBA and City policies. In this case, 


Article 13 Disciplinary Process takes precedence. Management has the right to require an employee to 


submit to a fitness for duty evaluation when it has a reasonable suspicion that an employee is unfit for 


duty. There is no other vehicle for the City to unilaterally deprive an employee of their opportunity to earn 


full wages. Disciplinary hearings would have been required but were not in Grievant's case. 


The City had never invoked Article 17. 6 .1 of the CBA prior to this hearing. The language of 


Article 17.6.1 provides that the City may grant leave without pay in all categories but discipline which is 


the only category where the City may impose LWOP. The City cannot compel in the other five (5) categor­


ies for leave without pay. It is the employee's choice that leave is needed. The Grievant had not exhausted 


her paid accrued leave when the City removed her from work as unfit for duty and having used up her 


accrued paid leave. Article 17.6.4 provides for provides for LWOP for medical reasons. The employee 


requesting such leave has the burden to provide appropriate documentation, details of which are specified 


in this CBA subsection. 


Bargaining history for Article 1 7 established that the disciplinary process was added specifically to 


allow the City to place an employee on L WOP specifically for disciplinary actions. According to former 


Chief Counsel Bruce Snyder, it was never L VCEA's intent to allow the City to impose LWOP for the other 


five categories in this article. The City accepted the proposed addition. Statements from employees who 


went on L WOP wrote statements that it was their choice and not imposed forcing them to burn accrued 


leave. The City has no authority to require that employees use up accrued leave. In this case, the City did 


not follow the bargained for disciplinary process; the Grievant was effectively placed on a 15-month leave 
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without pay or was constructively discharged. 


Section 17.6.8 states: 


"Except as provided by law, employees who are unable to return to work after being on 
LWOP status for twelve (12) weeks, may be separated from City employment upon notice to the 
employee and the Association after the 12 weeks of approved LWOP has expired. The approved 12 
weeks period includes any leave granted under the Family and Medical Leave Act. The separa-tion 
will be considered a resignation and therefore, employees who are able and capable of return-ing to 
work within twelve (12) months following separation can request to be placed on a rehire list in 
accordance with Civil Service Rules. All entitlements under this provision will end twelve (12) 
months following the employee's date of separation." 


The Association contends this provision allows the City to separate an employee under this provision only if 


employees agree that they are able to return to work after being on LWOP for 12 weeks. The City cannot 


make this determination unilaterally. According to LVCEA, Factfinder Wilma R.K. Rader's report (2003) 


is consistent with the Association's interpretation that the employee on LWOP for twelve months must be 


asked if they could return to work Rader's decision does not allow unilateral separation. LVCEA 


witnesses Carruthers and Burns testified the City had never summarily separated an employee based on its 


unilateral determination that the employee was unfit for duty. 


Next, LVCEA argued the City's decision to refuse to allow Grievant to work and to discontinue pay 


and benefits was a sham process inconsistent with her due process rights. These rights are imbedded in the 


Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution. The Grievant has a statutory or 


contractual property interest as a fully tenured City employee. She had a right to be advised of the basis of 


the adverse employment action. Her first fitness for duty evaluation was conducted fairly by Dr. Brown4 


who found her safe to return to work Unsatisfied with that opinion, the City claimed there was a need for a 


second fitness for duty exam because the Grievant withheld important information. 


4 
Dr. Short and Dr. Brown may be referenced in place of each other because of the interchanged use of their names 


in the later sections the Association's brief. 
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Then the City sent Dr. Brown an email with only negative information to cause Dr. Brown to 


conduct a second fitness exam. City witness Hunt was not forthcoming as to the real reason for the memo 


was to have a second fitness for duty evaluation conducted by Dr. Brown. The memo was the City 


attempting to poison the well with false, uncorroborated and inaccurate information. Lori Petsco testified 


that "she does not get to tell her boss (Rick Hunt) how to draft his emails." According to LVCEA, Petsco 


stated she did not think the Grievant manipulated her examination results. The Grievant was not given a 


chance to defend herself against the charge of manipulation of examinations. Hunt testified he did not 


independently corroborate veracity of the accusation received from Petsco. 


Nor was there any factual evidence about other employees' subjective fears for safety working with 


the Grievant. Dr. Short's second report finding the Grievant unfit and unsafe for duty was biased by the 


one-sided information provided by the City. The Association found the first report fair, calling Grievant 


honest and forthright but the second report found her evasive, avoidant and untruthful. The reports were 


polar opposites. This is known because the Grievant recorded her third interview with Dr. Brown. 


The Grievant has never been accused of workplace violence. She has never been a risk to anyone 


but herself. Dr. Brown discounted the opinion of Grievant's long-term physician, Dr. Robinson, that the 


Grievant should be allowed to return to work, a position fully discounted by Dr. Brown. This underscores 


the com-plete lack of due process afforded the Grievant. The grievance should be sustained. The Grievant 


should be reinstated and made whole. 
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ARBITRATOR'S DISCUSSION AND FINDINGS 


The Arbitrator has carefully considered the entire record of evidence, testimony, argument and post­


hearing briefs. The analysis and findings discussed in this section are based upon the pertinent and salient 


facts, evidence and arguments the Arbitrator finds to be controlling. All evidence and testimony were 


considered and given appropriate weight in arriving at the recommendation whether or not discussed. 


The Association has argued vociferously that the Grievant was discharged unjustly under the terms 


of Article 13, Disciplinary Action. The City argued just as vociferously that the Grievant was properly 


placed on L WOP under Article 17 - Leaves. A dispro-portionate amount of time at the hearing was spent 


on testimony and evidence related to the Grievant's psychological state of mind and fitness for duty. As the 


advocates acknowledged, neither is qualified to make judgments on these matters which require expert, 


licensed providers. The providers' professional evaluations and opinions became the basis for the City's 


decisions regarding the Grievant. 


Nor is the Arbitrator qualified to make judgments about the Grievant's mental state. One can only 


look at the language of the CBA, how it was applied and the evidence and testimony to reach a studied con­


clusion about which party prevails. Also, while the Grievant testified that she was ready, willing and able to 


work, her self-perceptions are only part of the picture and subjective in nature. 


Grievant was issued a Notice of Separation by Chief Louis Molina, Department of Public Safety, 


on July 28, 2021. The reason for the separation was that Grievant had been on LWOP for more than 12 


weeks and unable to return to work. The Grievant filed a grievance on July 28, 2021, the same day, alleging 


she was terminated without just cause per Article 13 and wrongfully placed in L WOP status in violation of 


Article 17 (CXl ). The grievance was denied and ultimately appealed to arbitration. 


Article 17.6 Leave Without Pay, states that "Leave Without Pay may be granted or imposed5 by 


5 Emphasis added by the Arbitrator. 
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the Department Director, or designee, to employees for ... :" one or more of six (6) reasons listed including 


"1) Purposes normally covered by sick leave, annual leave or Time in Lieu of (TILO) when such leave has 


been exhausted; 2) Disciplinary action .... " This language is clear and unequivocal on its face. There are no 


restrictions on granting or imposing mentioned in this section including item 17.6.1. LVCEA argued 


strongly that only discipline can be imposed. There is no language in this section which states or places any 


restriction on the City to grant or impose any of the six categories. 


It is well-documented in the record that the Grievant had a long history of psychological issues 


stemming from attending the Route 91 concert in October 2017 where 60 people were shot and 500 injured 


by a shooter high up on Mandalay Bay Resort. At some point soon after the mass shooting, the Grievant 


began to suffer PTSD symptoms. She had a high rate of absenteeism, anxiety, depression and even talked of 


suicide. She was treated by a series of counselors and psychologists who placed her on psychotropic 


medications to control her condition and symptoms. At one point, she was detained by Boulder City PD 


and then placed in an in-patient facility. All of these incidents and others are well-documented. She 


received two disciplinary suspensions in May and August 2020 for her absenteeism. 


The Grievant had a documented history of using up her accrued her paid leave for ongoing mental 


health issues. Her anxiety and panic attacks continued after she ended her therapy with Trina in October 


2018. The City demonstrated that it had taken many steps other than discipline to help the Grievant 


maintain good mental health. The Grievant had a concealed handgun which she kept in her car, a fact 


known to her co-workers. Some of the co-workers complained to supervisors that they had concerns about 


their safety working with the Grievant. The gun was taken away from the Grievant by the police when she 


was detained because there were concerns about the Grievant actively considering suicide. 


The LVCEA played down these concerns, arguing the Grievant was not a threat to anyone but her­


self. The Grievant testified that she was able to come back to work. However, the clinical opinions were 


mixed, at best. There is evidence in the form of testimony that the Grievant withheld critical incidents that 
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would have negated a recommendation that she was safe to return to work. A second fitness for duty eval­


uation by Dr. Short on March 16, 2021, included more complete information from Trina, who reported 


Grievant's psychological disorders persisted. Alternate jobs were considered but Dr. Brown did not believe 


any of them would a good fit for the Grievant. Hence, Dr. Brown concluded the Grievant was not safe to 


return to work, notwithstanding the Grievant's belief she was able to return to work. The credible evidence 


establishes that the Grievant was made aware of her leave status by email as early as March 24, 2021 


(CX20). Her claim she had not been advised of her placement on L WOP and the steps she could take is not 


credible. 


Dr. Short recommended a reevaluation in 3-6 months to determine her progress to safely return to 


work. When the Grievant spoke with LVCEA President Carruthers, he advised her to follow the City's 


plan. Carruthers neither requested nor has been provided any materials related to the fitness for duty eval­


uations. Documents were provided in discovery. The Grievant was on FMLA for part of the 3-6 month 


period but because of her heavy leave usage it was unpaid. A followup exam was conducted by Dr. Short 


which resulted in an amended fitness for duty evaluation in which he recommended she was not safe to 


return to work. A patient's self-assessment, as in this case, is subjective with the desire to return not con­


sistent with objective observations of trained evaluators such as Dr. Brown and Dr. Short who apply objec­


tive criteria in making their determination. 


The City was proper in relying upon the professional recommendations of licensed, trained psych­


ologists. In addition to the safety of the Grievant, the City is responsible for providing a safe workplace for 


the other employees who come in contact with the Grievant daily. The Grievant was taking some very 


powerful medications to control anxiety, depression and sleep. Although LVCEA views the City's actions 


as ruse to violate the CBA to terminate the Grievant, the City appears to have taken a prudent and contract­


ually legal course in assessing the risks to the Grievant, other employees and the City. Deputy Chief Adams 


had legitimate concerns about the safety of the Grievant and other employees. L VCEA would have the 
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Arbitrator believe that the City manipulated the outcome when it provided additional information to the 


evaluators which gave a complete picture of the Grievant not provided by the Grievant. 


As noted above, President Carruthers testified that he did not seek any documents on the Grievant' s 


situation and advised her to follow the City's instructions. The City has utilized fitness for duty exams for 


decades for a variety of reasons, often connected to long periods of leave without pay. Carruthers testified 


that the City had a right to send an employee for a fitness for duty exam and to rely on the results of the 


exam. The amended fitness for duty exam by Dr. Short was requested because of the Grievant's off duty 


comment to a co-worker about harming herself. 


Again, the City had evidence in February 2021 that directly conflicted with the Grievant's claim 


that she was safe to return to work. The memo from Rick Hunt to the Grievant was copied to Carruthers. 


There is no evidence of underhandedness. Nor is there any language in the CBA obligating the City to 


notify CEA or provide information to CEA. L VCEA pressured Rick Hunt to testify that he was obligated to 


do so. He did not take the bait. Since the actions related to Grievant's mental health issues were not 


disciplinary, the Association was not entitled to be present. Cam1thers' testimony concerning whether he 


was notified in advance confirms that the City was not required to notify him of a non-disciplinary action. 


L VCEA felt otherwise and questioned Lori Petsco intensely about what it declared was only nega­


tive information in the memo to Dr. Short and asked why there was no positive information. Petsco testified 


that the memo was information and would not characterize it as positive or negative. The Grievant indicated 


to Dr. Short that she still gets panic attacks. Dr. Short diagnosed the Grievant with seven (7) clinical or 


psy-chological issues includ-ing abuse of one of her meds. Based on these findings, the City concluded that 


the Grievant was not safe to return to work no matter how much faith LVCEA placed in Grievant's self­


assessment. The City is obligated by contract and law to maintain a safe workplace for all employees. 


The Association agreed that the City has the legal right to require a fitness for duty exam when it 


has a reasonable suspicion that an employee is unfit for duty. L VCEA has never contested otherwise. The 
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parties have never bargained an alternative framework. If an alternate framework were to be negotiated, 


L VCEA maintained there would be several safeguards for its members in any contract language. As it 


stands, the CBA is silent on fitness for duty exams. As the evidence shows in this case, the City has the 


non-grievable right to require fitness for duty exams and to place an employee on FMLA. The Grievant 


used up her accrued leave and was found to be unsafe to return to work, her personal opinion about her 


ability notwithstanding, as addressed above. 


L VCEA argued at great length that the Grievant was denied wages and benefits which are manda­


tory subjects of bargaining. The Grievant was legally placed on FMLA when fitness for duty exams deter­


mined she was unsafe to return to work. Since she had used up her most of her accrued leave by her own 


voluntary actions, she was required to go on L WOP when she ran out of paid leave. That is regrettable but 


is permissible by the CBA. It is noted that the Grievant was issued two short suspensions for absenteeism in 


early and mid-2020. The actions taken by the City with respect to fitness for duty were not related to those 


incidents. 


The Association would have the Arbitrator find that the Grievant was constructively discharged. 


That finding will not be made. Citing the Rader factfinding decision (CX9), LVCEA places an opposite 


meaning to the Factfinder's words. The pertinent language is: 


" .. .It seems to the Facfinder that it is not unfair to ask an employee away from the job for more 
than 12 months to determine if he/she is ready, willing and able to return to the workplace. If not, 
then it is not unreasonable to ask that person to relinquish their employee status, especially since 
the possibility of future employment remains open. The Factfinder understands that the Associa­
tion is unwilling to agree that any of its bargaining unit members be cut off from receiving bene-fits 
for any reason, but in this, the Factfinder concluded that the equities favor the City's position. 


The F actfinder adopted the City's position. Although it is unclear if she considered Article 13, there is no 


mention of discipline in her analysis of Article 17. 


There is no language in Article 17 bridging it to Article 13. The pertinent language reads: 


Article 17, Section 17.6.8 states: 
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"Except as provided by law, employees who are unable to return to work after being on 
LWOP status for twelve (12) weeks, may be separated from City employment upon notice to the 
employee and the Association after the 12 weeks of approved LWOP has expired. The approved 12 
weeks period includes any leave granted under the Family and Medical Leave Act. The separa-tion 
will be considered a resignation and therefore, employees who are able and capable of return-ing to 
work within twelve (12) months following separation can request to be placed on a rehire list in 
accordance with Civil Service Rules. All entitlements under this provision will end twelve (12) 
months following the employee's date of separation." 


Arguendo, if the City were taking disciplinary action against the Grievant, it very easily could have con­


tinued with longer suspensions or even termination. It chose not to take that path. It is clear from an arms' 


length analysis that the City acted in response to a mental health situation in February 2021 which included 


an episode of suicidal thoughts and an involuntary commitment to a treatment facility for evaluation. At the 


same time, a gun was taken from her possession. Article 17.6.8 was properly applied. The Grievant was 


found by competent evaluators to be unsafe to return to work. She was not deprived of wages and benefits 


in violation of the CBA. 


Hence, the Arbitrator finds that there is no just cause issue to be resolved. There was no violation 


of Article 17 when the Grievant was separated from employment by the City. 


AWARD 


For all the reasons stated above, the grievance is denied in its entirety. 


Jonathan S. Monat, Ph.D. 
Arbitrator 
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I. INTRODUCTION 


2 The City has ignored its obligations under NRS Chapter 288 by making unilateral 


3 changes to multiple mandatory subjects of bargaining specified in NRS 288.150(2) including 


4 wages, sick leave, vacation leave, other paid or nonpaid leaves of absence, total hours of work 


5 and discharge and disciplinary procedures. Without any negotiations whatsoever with either the 


6 LVCEA or the IAFF, the City implemented a new fitness for duty process in which it removes 


7 employees from work, forces such employees to burn through their paid accrued leave time and 


8 then places such employees on unpaid leave, all based on a fitness for duty opinion provided by 


g an agent of the City. 


10 Not surprisingly, the fitness for duty process that the City unilaterally created is 


11 completely self-serving, unobjective and devoid of any protections for employees. In the Terry 


12 matter, the evaluator that the City retained, Dr. Mark Short ("Dr. Short") initially determined that 


13 Terry was fit for duty. Dissatisfied with that opinion, the City simply requested that Dr. Short 


14 conduct a revised fitness for duty evaluation. For the new evaluation, the City covertly provided 


15 Dr. Short with an email and a four page memo that contained one-sided, misleading and outright 


16 false information designed to make Terry appear unfit. Also unsurprisingly, based on this one 


17 sided information from the City, Dr. Short reversed his initial opinion and determined that Terry 


18 was unfit for duty. This opinion was obviously the product of prompting by the City and, indeed, 


19 it was contrary to Terry' s own treating physician's opinion and Dr. Short's initial opinion. Thus, 


20 the fitness for duty process that the City unilaterally created is transparently unfair and nothing 


21 more than a rubber-stamping charade. 


22 Based on the compromised second opinion from Dr. Short, the City refused to allow 


23 Terry to work, forced her to burn through her accrued paid leave and then, when her paid leave 


24 ran out, forced her onto Leave Without Pay ("L WOP"). After Terry had been on L WOP for three 


25 months, the City terminated her employment. The City subsequently claimed that it retracted her 


26 termination and that it has simply kept her on unpaid leave for the past eighteen months. 


27 However, with no income or benefits from the City, Terry was forced to sell her house and 


28 personal possessions and secure employment elsewhere. Nonetheless, as will be discussed 


3 







1 


2 


3 


4 


5 


6 


7 


8 


9 


10 


11 


12 


13 


14 


15 


16 


17 


18 


19 


20 


21 


22 


23 


24 


25 


26 


27 


28 


herein, there was no basis in the Collective Bargaining Agreement ("CBA") between the L VCEA 


and the City (or any legal basis whatsoever) for the City to remove Terry from work, to force her 


to bum through her paid accrued leave and then to force her onto LWOP. The only way that the 


City can prevent an employee from working and reduce their wages and benefits- whether it be 


for unfitness for duty, unsatisfactory performance or any other reason- is through the bargained 


for disciplinary process. It is undisputed that the City had never previously forcibly removed an 


employee from work and prevented them from earning wages outside of the disciplinary process. 


Not once, ever. Moreover, it is undisputed that the parties never negotiated any provision in the 


CBA that would allow the City to forcibly remove an employee from work and prevent them 


from earning wages outside of the bargained for disciplinary process. 


At the arbitration stemming from Terry's grievance, the arbitrator, Jonathan Monet, ruled 


in favor of the City. However, the arbitrator' s decision was wholly inconsistent with NRS 


Chapter 288 because it would allow the City to make an incredibly self-serving unilateral change 


to multiple mandatory subjects of bargaining. The arbitrator even acknowledged in his decision 


that the parties had never negotiated a new fitness for duty process that would abrogate the 


bargained for disciplinary process. Yet he permitted the City to implement it and to remove 


Terry from work and reduce her wages and benefits based on it. The arbitrator's decision hinted 


that a single provision in the CBA allowed the City to place Terry on L WOP once she ran out of 


paid accrued leave. However, the decision failed to explain how the City had the contractual 


authority to refuse to allow Terry to work in the first place. Similarly, the decision failed to 


explain how the City had the contractual authority to force Terry to bum through her paid 


accrued leave. Bereft of any analysis on these critical matters, it appears that the arbitrator 


simply concluded that the City could impose its will simply by virtue of being Terry' s employer. 


The City' s new fitness for duty process is nothing more than an end around the bargained 


for disciplinary process which had always previously been used to deal with employee fitness for 


duty issues. If the City were allowed to get away with its new one-sided process, it would 


obliterate many of the rights and protections that the LVCEA and the IAFF secured for its 


respective bargaining units through the negotiation process. As such, the City's implementation 
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of its new fitness for duty process flies in the face of its duty to bargain pursuant to NRS Chapter 


288 and constitutes a prohibited labor practice underNRS 288.270(1)(a) and (e). Consequently, 


this Board must intervene to prevent the City from running roughshod over the Government 


Employee Management Relations Act. 


II. FACTS 


A. THE BARGAINED FOR DISCIPLINARY PROCESS HAD ALWAYS 
BEEN THE SOLE TOOL FOR THE CITY TO REMOVE SUPPOSEDLY 
UNFIT EMPLOYEES FROM WORK 


The L VCEA is the exclusive bargaining agent and employee organization representing 


classified non-sworn employees of the City such as Terry. (Ex. 69, Caruthers Testimony, p. 97-


98.) Pursuant to the Government Employee Management Relations Act codified at NRS Chapter 


288, the L VCEA and the City have negotiated a series of successive Collective Bargaining 


Agreements. (Complainants' Exhibit ("Ex.") 1, 2020-2021 CBA, Ex. 62, 2021-2022 CBA, and 


Ex. 63, Current CBA.) 1 As both LVCEA President DeAndre Caruthers ("Caruthers")2 and City 


Human Resources Administrator Rick Hunt ("Hunt")3 testified during the Terry arbitration, the 


CBA provides that all LVCEA represented employees have the right to earn their contractually 


defined wages and benefits based on a 40 hour work week. (Ex. 69, p. I 07-108, Caruthers 


Testimony, and Ex. 70, p. 462, Hunt Testimony.) This is clear from Article 14(A) which 


provides that "the wages paid eligible employees shall be shown in the City of Las Vegas 


Classified Employees Salary Schedules which are attached hereto as Exhibit C" and from Article 


23, Section 23.2, which specifies that the work week will be 40 hours. (Ex. I , p. 28 and 48.) The 


For purposes of brevity in the Opposition herein, the undersigned will only reference 
the 2020-2021 CBA. That CBA covers the period of time in which the City' s 
prohibited labor practices commenced. All provisions of the 2020-2021 CBA that are 
referenced herein remain identical in the more recently negotiated CBAs. 


2 Caruthers has been an officer in the LVCEA since 2009 and its President since 2017. 
Caruthers has been involved with negotiations of CBA since 2012. He has 
represented Terry in multiple disciplinary matters regarding absenteeism and 
dependability. (Ex. 69, p. 46-48.) 


3 Hunt has been employed with the City for 5 years. He stated that he is responsible for 
overseeing all Human Resources issues, including grievances, disciplinary 
proceedings and internal complaints. (Ex. 70, p. 369.) 
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1 CBA also provides employees with a contractually defined amount of paid leave including sick 


2 leave, annual leave and holidays. (See, Ex. 1, Articles 9, I 0, 11.) 


3 The CBA does not give the City any authority to unilaterally reduce the wages and 


4 benefits that employees can receive except for through the bargained for disciplinary process. 


5 (Ex. 1.) That is, the City can reduce an employee's wages and hours worked via a disciplinary 


6 suspension, demotion or termination imposed pursuant to Article 13 of the CBA. Otherwise, the 


7 CBA obligates the City to provide employees with the opportunity to work a 40 hour work week 


8 and to pay them their contractually defined wages for same. 


g Article 13 of the CBA entitled "Disciplinary Action" sets forth a comprehensive 


10 disciplinary process that allows the City to to deal with employees that are unfit for duty, unable 


11 to perform their job effectively, making threats to others, neglecting their duties and/or acting 


12 unsafely at work. (Ex. 1, p. 24-27.) Specifically, Article 13(H) entitled "Just Cause" states that 


13 "Just cause exists when an employee commits an act of substance relating to the character or 


14 fitness of the employee to perform official duties that is contrary to sound public practices or 


15 acceptable work performance." (Ex. 1, p. 27; Emphasis added.) This section goes on to provide 


16 an extensive list of employee misconduct that would give rise to discipline, including: "repeated 


17 incompetency; repeated inefficiency; repeated carelessness; abuse of sick leave; neglect of duties; 


18 unexplained and unapproved absence from duty; excessive absenteeism or tardiness; misuse or 


19 theft of City property; continuing or life threatening safety violations; on the job alcohol, or other 


20 drug abuse; malfeasance, misfeasance, misconduct in office, conduct unbecoming an employee, 


21 or insubordination" and "physically striking or threatening any supervisory, managerial, or other 


22 employee." (Id.) Thus, the disciplinary process in Article 13 has always been used as the 


23 mechanism for the City to deal with employees that are unfit for duty, unable to perform their job 


24 effectively, neglecting their duties, acting unsafely at work or any other misconduct. (Ex. 69, p. 


25 106.) 


26 The CBA doesn't have any provisions on fitness for duty examinations. (Ex. 1.) Nor 


27 have the LVCEA and the City ever discussed fitness for duty examinations during negotiations 


28 for any CBA. (Ex. 69, p. 105, Caruthers Testimony, Ex. 70, p. 497-498, Hunt Testimony; Ex. 74, 
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Arbitrator' s Decision, p. 15, last ,r -p. 16, 41[ 1 .) Certainly, the City has historically conducted 


fitness for duty evaluations of employees. However, as both Caruthers and Bruce Snyder 


("Snyder")4 testified during the Terry Arbitration, prior to the matter herein with Terry, the City 


had never once refused to allow an employee to work and prevented them from earning wages 


based solely on a failed fitness for duty evaluation. (Ex. 69, Caruthers Testimony, p. 112-115, 


and Ex. 71 , Snyder Testimony, p. 515-518.) Rather, when employees had previously failed a 


fitness for duty evaluation, they were referred to the disciplinary process in Article 13 and 


suspended as a result thereof. (Ex. 69, Caruthers Testimony, p. 113-114.) Thus, prior to the 


Terry case, the City had never once in its entire history with the LVCEA unilaterally reduced an 


employee's wages or benefits (by putting them on unpaid leave or otherwise) outside of the 


bargained for disciplinary process in Article 13. (RT 112-115, 515-518.) Rather, everyone 


understood that the bargained for disciplinary process was the designated tool that the City had to 


remove supposedly unfit employees from work. That changed in March 2021 with Terry. 


B. TERRY'S BACKGROUND, HER RECENT PSYCHOLOGICAL ISSUES 
AND THE CITY'S IMPROPER END RUN AROUND THE BARGAINED 
FOR DISCIPLINARY PROCESS 


Terry was hired by the City as a Public Safety Technician, now known as a DPS 


Communications Specialist, on July 7, 2007.5 (Ex. 4, Personnel File, p. 14; Ex. 69, Terry 


Testimony, p. 160, 263.) According to the City' s Classification Specifications for DPS 


Communications Specialists, an employee such as Terry "receives and transmits general and 


emergency communications for the corrections and law enforcement units; operates electronic 


and communications equipment; monitors the safety, security, movement and placement of 


inmates in the detention center." (Ex. 42.) Terry testified that the day to day responsibilities of a 


DPS Communications Specialist include supporting and communicating with the City's law 


enforcement wing (in part through a computer aided dispatch system and the use ofNCIC and 


4 Prior to serving as the Commissioner for this Board, Snyder was General Counsel of 
the LVCEA. Snyder held the position of LVCEA General Counsel from 2001 to 
2013. (Ex. 71 , p. 507.) For that reason, Snyder voluntarily recused himself on the 
matter herein before this Board. 


DPS is the acronym for the City' s Department of Public Safety. 
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1 SCOPE law enforcement databases), opening gates and doors of the jail, keeping inmate counts 


2 and taking calls, both internally and externally. Terry testified that they do occasionally receive 


3 calls from the public through the City's internal phone lines. However, DPS Communications 


4 Specialists do not field 911 calls and they don't work in a 911 call center. (Ex. 69, p. 116, 166-


5 168, 264, Caruthers and Terry Testimony.) 


6 In Terry's fourteen year career with the City, she has amassed a mixed record of 


7 perfonnance and discipline. She has had attendance issues as early as 2013 and has a history of 


8 liberally using her paid accrued leave (which does not constitute misconduct under the CBA). 


g (Ex. 4, p. 67-72, Terry's 2013 Performance Evaluation.) Terry concedes that her attendance has 


1 o been sub-standard. (Ex. 69, p. 173-174.) She has had multiple low level disciplines over the 


11 years. Terry received a written reprimand on September 30, 2010 for playing a video game while 


12 on duty. (Ex. 4, p. 95.) Terry received a written reprimand on March 11 , 2014 for posting a 


13 picture on her Twitter account of a fellow DPS Communication Specialist asleep in the break 


14 room. (Ex. 4, p. 66.) Terry was given a one day suspension on July 19, 2014 for having a verbal 


15 confrontation with the same co-worker who she photographed asleep, excessive use of her cell 


16 phone while on duty and poor attendance. (Ex. 4, p. 65-66.) At the end of 2017, the City 


17 instituted a series of disciplinary actions against Terry for poor attendance and dependability 


18 issues. She received an oral reprimand on October 16, 2017, a written reprimand on December 


19 18, 2017, another written reprimand on September 10, 2018, a one day suspension on May 21, 


20 2020 and a three day suspension on August 13, 2020. (Ex. 4, p. 29-30, 35-40, 46 and 50-51.) 


21 Terry's annual Performance Evaluations reflect that she has sometimes been counseled for a lack 


22 of professionalism and being argumentative with co-workers. (Ex. 4, p. 85-96, 2010 Evaluation, 


23 p. 58-63, 2014 Evaluation.) 


24 On the other hand, as the City's witness Lori Petsco ("Petsco")6 conceded, Terry has 


25 never been accused of any sort of workplace violence, has never threatened anyone and has 


26 certainly never physically harmed anyone. (Ex. 69, p. 116-117, Caruthers Testimony; Ex. 71, p. 


27 


28 6 Petsco has been a Human Resources Analyst with the City for the past 17 years. (Ex. 
71, p. 622-623.) Petsco reports to Hunt. 
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1 696, Petsco Testimony; Ex. 4, Terry's Personnel File.) Similarly, Terry has never been convicted 


2 of or charged with any crime in her life. (Ex. 69, p. 289.) She has never threatened another 


3 person or touched somebody in an unwanted way in her entire life. (Ex. 69, p. 289-290.) 


4 Moreover, Terry has never had a negative mark regarding safety on any Performance Evaluation 


5 in her career. Rather, she has always received positive remarks for safety related matters. (Ex. 


6 69, p. 276.) For example, her 2010 evaluation states: "Julie has never had issues with security 


7 and is vigilant controlling access." (Ex. 4, p. 95.) Even in her extremely negative 2019 


8 evaluation (based largely on dependability issues), her technical expertise was described as 


g follows: "Julie is able to perform the technical aspects of her job and during the Premier One 


10 implementation she was able to identify system differences and areas of concern. She often has 


11 knowledge that co-workers find useful." (Ex. 4, p. 32.) 


12 More generally, Terry's job knowledge and technical performance has never been 


13 questioned and always been lauded. For example, her 2010 evaluation states: "She is a quick 


14 learner and a knowledgeable employee. Her coworkers look to her for information as she is able 


15 to assist with some things they do not know." (Ex. 4, p. 96.) Her 2014 evaluation states: "Julie 


16 continues to be an exceptional dispatcher and detailed record keeper. She is able to man the 


17 marshal and deputy marshal channels with ease and recalls the tips and tricks she has learned 


18 quickly. She is looked to for quick access to information." (Ex. 4, p. 62.) Her 2017 evaluation 


19 states: "You have years of experience in dispatch that is evident in your communication skills. 


20 Even in the most stressful situations, you are known to maintain your cool." (Ex. 4, p. 49.) Her 


21 2020 evaluation concludes by stating: "Julie is a knowledgeable employee. She is able to run all 


22 computer systems necessary in the division. Your technical skills are excellent." (Ex. 4, p. 28.) 


23 Terry had no significant emotional or psychological issues prior to the end of 2017. 


24 Unfortunately, Terry was present at the Harvest Festival in Las Vegas on October 1, 2017 when 


25 Stephen Paddock killed 60 persons and wounded 411 others in the deadliest mass shooting in the 


26 history of the United States. (Ex. 69, p. 273, Ex. 57, Robinson' s Progress Notes for Terry.) Terry 


27 began suffering from PTSD and it greatly exacerbated her anxiety, sleeplessness and depression 


28 as a result. In order to help control her symptoms, Terry began taking Clonazepam for anxiety 
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and Seroquel for her depression. (Id.) 


Recognizing that she needed help dealing with her psychological and emotional issues, 


Terry began counseling with therapist Trina Robinson ("Robinson") on December 20, 2017. She 


advised Robinson that she had experienced mental health issues following the Harvest Festival, 


that she had depression, anxiety, PTSD and sleeplessness and that she had some suicidal 


ideations. Terry also advised Robinson that she had attempted suicide earlier in 2017 by taking a 


handful of Clonazepam. (Ex. 69, p. 253-254; Ex. 57, p. 1.) Robinson diagnosed Terry with 


PTSD, Major Depressive Disorder and Generalized Anxiety Disorder. She determined that Terry 


was not a threat to herself or others. She recommended that Terry continue with therapy and 


practice mindfulness and coping techniques. (Ex. 57, p. 1) Terry continued to see Robinson for 


therapy one to two times per month. (Ex. 57, p. 1-14.) Terry reported that counseling helped her 


and she had learned some tools for dealing with her mental health issues. (Ex. 69, p. 246-248.) 


On August 20, 2018, the City instructed Terry to submit to a psychological fitness for 


duty evaluation with Dr. Donald Johnson, Ph.D ofMortillaro & Associates. (Ex. 64.) Dr. 


Johnson reported that Terry's written psychological test revealed that she suffers from social 


awkwardness, self-doubt, anxiety, sleeplessness and demoralization. He specifically wrote: "She 


scored quite high on the traumatic stress disorder scale and reports that as a result of her being at 


the October 1st concert here, has a number of PTSD symptoms such as increased startle response, 


anxiety in new and different social situations, some irritability, panic attacks, and some 


nightmares with sleep disturbance." (Ex. 65, Johnson Report, p. 2, 14.) Ultimately, Dr. Johnson 


cleared Terry to continue working without restrictions as a DPS Communications Specialist. 


Specifically, he reported: 


"IMPRESSIONS: Both objective and subjective findings, in combination, 
would suggest that Ms. Terry is likely to have some pre-existing anxiety, 
depression, and difficulty in new and different social situations, preferring 
avoidance as a defense mechanism. 


However, there is nothing to suggest that at this point in time, to a 
reasonable degree of psychological probability, that she is a danger to herself or to 
others, and it would appear that she has continued to function in her job and has 
not been put on administrative leave, etc. 


As a result, the following recommendation is being made: 
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RECOMMENDATIONS: I am of the opinion, again to a reasonable 
degree of psychological probability, that Ms. Terry can continue to work in her 
capacity as a Communications Specialist in a full duty capacity." 


(Ex. 65, Johnson Report, p. 3.) 


Terry was paid overtime for attending the fitness for duty evaluation with Dr. Johnson. 


(Ex. 64.) She continued working in her full capacity thereafter. 


Terry discontinued her treatment with Robinson in October 2018. At the time, Robinson 


reported: 


"Assessment: Client met treatment goals related to suicidal ideations, no 
additional attempts or suicidal ideations during the course of treatment, client 
stabilized depression and anxiety during the course of treatment and stabilize self 
related to trauma- no additional treatment needed at this time. Discharge 
recommended effective 10/1 2018." 


(Ex. 57, p. 14, Progress Note for 10/1/ 18.) 


Terry performed her job well in 2018. She met all of the expectations of her Department 


and the City as is reflected by her 2018 Personnel Evaluation. (Ex. 4, p. 41-43.) Her 


dependability and attendance had even improved as she only used three days of sick leave in the 


year. (Ex. 4, p. 41, Section entitled "Dependability".) 


Unfortunately, Terry's personal life took a tum for the worse in 2019 when her mother 


fell seriously ill, requiring Terry to assist her with round the clock medical care. (Ex. 69, p. 197-


198, 273.) Terry's emotional well-being deteriorated and her work performance, particularly her 


dependability, suffered thereafter. Terry had some panic attacks and sought emergency medical 


service three times for them. She also had two panic attacks at work, one which prompted her 


supervisor to transport her to the emergency room and another time which led to her being 


escorted home. (Ex. 69, p. 199-201.) Terry also had a no-call no-show for an overtime 


assignment on November 27, 2019 which prompted the City to have the Boulder City Police 


Department conduct a welfare check on Terry (who was found safe at her residence). These 


incidents, along with others that occurred in late 2019 and January 2020, were the subject of the 


disciplinary action which led to the one day suspension that was imposed on May 21, 2020. (Ex. 


69, p. 203, 268-270; Ex. 4, p. 35-40, Notice of Suspension.) Terry had another minor attendance 


issue on March 26, 2020 (she called in sick but didn' t provide sufficient advance notice) which 
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led to the three day suspension that was imposed on August 13, 2020. Terry's mother passed 


away in early 2020. (Ex. 69, p. 273.) 


Terry was placed on a 90 Day Performance Improvement Plan ("PIP") on June 12, 2020. 


(Ex. 4, p. 34.) According to the PIP, Terry needed to demonstrate improvement in 


Dependability, Teamwork, Emotional Control/Professionalism and Effective Communication. 


No issues of technical performance or employee safety were indicated. (Id.) Terry successfully 


completed her PIP, showing improvement in the areas at issue. (Ex. 69, p . 249-250.) Terry ended 


up receiving a glowing evaluation for 2020. This evaluation was signed by her supervisor on 


January 8, 2021 and by DPS Deputy Chief Rhonda Adams ("Deputy Chief Adams") on January 


21, 2021. (Ex. 4, p. 26-28.) 


On February 19, 2021 , while off-duty, Terry told a co-worker over the telephone that she 


was contemplating suicide. The co-worker referred the matter up the chain of command and the 


City ultimately contacted the Boulder City Police Department and asked them to perform a 


welfare check on Terry. (Ex. 69, p. 198-199.) The police officer that responded believed that 


Terry was a suicide risk and therefore had her involuntarily committed to a hospital for 


observation. According to Terry, the police officer did so because she hesitated when he asked 


her whether she intended to commit suicide. (Ex. 69, p. 214-215.) This was confirmed in the 


police report filed by the Boulder City Police Department which stated in pertinent part: 


"Officer Barakat arrived on scene and spoke with Terry, while speaking to 
her Officer Barakat asked her if she was serious with the threats that she made to 
which she did not answer him. Terry stated to Officer Barakat that she has been 
depressed due to the fact that it is her mothers death anniversary and that she had 
thought about taking her own life. Officer Barakat explained to Terry that she 
needed to be taken to the hospital under a legal 2000 hold which she did not want 
to comply with." 


(Ex. 8, p. 6.) 


Terry was held for three days at Spring Mountain Treatment Center. While there, Terry 


saw a psychiatrist each day, she participated in every therapy session that she could and she 


participated in activities and socialized with the other patients. (Ex. 69, p. 218.) When Terry was 


released three days later on February 22, 2021 , she felt fine and believed she was fit for duty at 


that time. (Ex. 69, p. 277.) 
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1 Before being cleared to return to work, The City wanted Terry's fitness for duty to be 


2 assessed by a psychiatrist. (Ex. 70, Hunt Testimony, p. 374.) Hunt retained Dr. Bonnie Brown 


3 ("Dr. Brown") and Dr. Mark Short ("Dr. Short") oflntegrated Psychological Solutions. In 


4 Hunt's initial email to Dr. Brown dated February 24, 2021, he stated in pertinent part: 


5 "Forgive me for not being clear. We have someone that we would like to 
be assessed. She made comments while off duty to a co-worker about harming 


6 herself. She was assessed by a Police Officer and was under 72 hour observation. 
She is scheduled to return to work tomorrow evening. Our Deputy Chief would 


7 like to have her assessed before she returns. We are seeking a mental health 
assessment of the employee. The department and the City of Las Vegas would be 


8 your client and responsible for payment." 


9 (Ex. 68, p. 2, Email from Hunt to Dr. Brown dated February 24, 2021 .) 


10 Terry was advised via a Memo dated February 24, 2021 that she was being placed on paid 


11 administrative leave effective immediately and that she was scheduled for a fitness for duty 


12 assessment with Dr. Short on February 25, 2021 . (Ex. 9.) The LVCEA was copied on this 


13 Memo. (Id.) 


14 Terry' s fitness for duty evaluation included taking a two hour written test and speaking 


15 with Dr. Short for about an hour. Terry testified that she discussed her suicidal ideations, the 


16 medication she was taking, that she was depressed and that she suffered from panic attacks. She 


17 also told him about her prior counseling with Robinson. (Ex. 69, p. 278-279.) Terry testified that 


18 Dr. Short told her that be thought she was fine and that he was shocked that she was involuntarily 


19 confined given that she never took any steps to commit suicide. (Ex. 69, p. 279-280.) Following 


20 the examination of Terry, Dr. Short issued a report detailing his evaluation of Terry. (Ex. 11.) 


21 Dr. Short acknowledged in his initial report that Terry had fully apprised him of her 


22 recent suicidal ideation and involuntary confinement. (Ex. 11, p. 1, last ,i - p. 2,i!l ). He further 


23 acknowledged that Terry advised him that she took a handful of Clonazepam in a suicide attempt 


24 in 2017 following the Harvest Festival because she was "hurting so bad". (Ex. 11 , p. 2, if3.) 


25 Additionally, Dr. Short noted that Terry advised him of her panic attacks, writing that she told 


26 him: "I get anxiety attacks ifl see certain things that trigger me since the shooting." (Ex. 11 , p. 2, 


27 ,i4.) Dr. Short further noted that Terry admitted to prior abuse of her prescription medication, 


28 writing that she told him: "I was only ever prescribed 3 Klonapin (sp) a day but I would take up 
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to 7 a day and then run out at the end of each month. It became a problem. I was abusing it." (Ex. 


11 , p. 2, iJ4.) Dr. Short found Terry to be truthful and forthcoming, writing: "[Terry] did not 


appear to be hypervigilant, evasive, dramatic, avoidant, untruthful, or rigid during the evaluation 


today, and did not appear to be understating her degree of psychological disfunction." (Ex. 11, p. 


4, ,i2.) 


Dr. Short acknowledged in his report that Terry's mental health issues could result in 


further outbursts and panic attacks. On this point, the report states: 


"The residuals of the 10/0 l / 17 shooting appear to persistently recur 
through distressing recollections, and she is likely to avoid exposure to the cues 
that resemble or symbolize aspects of this traumatic event. However, where they 
cannot be avoided, as in recurring nightmares or flashbacks, she may become 
terrified once again and exhibit a number of symptoms of intense anxiety. 
Anticipating these recurrences may result in other signs of distress, including 
difficulty falling asleep, outbursts of anger, panic attacks, hypervigilance, an 
exaggerated startle response, or a numb and detached disposition." 


(Ex. 11, p. 4, iJ3; Emphasis added.) 


Dr. Short recommended that Terry seek psychiatric counseling to deal with her issues. 


Specifically, he wrote: "At first step, it would appear advisable to address patient' s current state 


of clinical anxiety, depression, recent benzodiazepine abuse, and PTSD, by the rapid 


implementation of supportive psychotherapeutic measures." (Ex. 11, p. 6, iJ2.) Ultimately, Dr. 


Short diagnosed Terry with the following psychological concerns: "(I) Major Depressive 


Disorder, recurrent, moderate; (2) Generalized Anxiety Disorder; (3) Post-Traumatic Stress 


Disorder; ( 4) Benzodiazepine Use Disorder, in early remission, per patient self report; ( 5) 


Bereavement, Complex; (6) RIO Somatic Symptom Disorder; (7) Lack of effective coping 


skills." 


Notwithstanding Terry's mental health issues, Dr. Short concluded that Teny was safe to 


return to work. Specifically, his report stated: 


"With these considerations in mind, it is my opinion that Communications 
Specialist Terry is safe to return to work at this time. It is my opinion that [Terry] 
is not a danger to herself or others. Treatment should include weekly therapy at a 
minimum, and ongoing psychiatric outpatient care. This treatment is to address 
her moderate and situational symptoms of depression, generalized anxiety, PTSD, 
a possible somatic disorder, bereavement, and lack of effective coping skills." 


(Ex. 11, p. 7, last ,i.) 
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After her meeting with Dr. Short, Petsco called her and advised her that she could return 


to work on her next scheduled work day. Terry went back to work and completed three shifts at 


work with no incident or issues whatsoever. Both Hunt and Petsco admitted that when Terry 


returned to work she was able to perform all of her job functions without any issue, she didn't 


engage in any misconduct, and she successfully met all of the expectations of the Department and 


the City. (Ex. 70, p. 4 I 8-419, Hunt Testimony; Ex. 71 , p. 664-665, Petsco Testimony.) 


After Dr. Short issued his initial report, Hunt spoke with Deputy Chief Adams about the 


result. She was unhappy with the result and believed that Dr. Short's conclusion that Terry was 


safe to return to work was incorrect. (Ex. 70, p. 388-389, 418.) Petsco also believed that Dr. 


Short's opinion was incorrect and the product of an incomplete picture of Terry. (Ex. 71, p. 


629:3-8.) Petsco and Hunt began conspiring to persuade Dr. Short to reverse his initial opinion 


that Terry was fit for duty. Based on information that Hunt received from Petsco, he prepared a 


draft of an email to be sent to Dr. Brown to see if she would agree to have Dr. Short conduct 


another fitness for duty evaluation of Terry. Hunt forwarded this draft email to Petsco on March 


8, 2021. It stated in pertinent part: 


"LP- any additions or thoughts on this? ... 


On page 3, starting with paragraph 3, there begins a discussion of her 
mental status. I have been advised from the Deputy Chief, that this employee has 
acted this way since at least 2008. There have been several prior examinations 
with the employee and the department has voiced the concern that she may know 
the process and perhaps manipulate the results. Her description listed as to her 
actions during 10/01 also differ from what she discussed with her management 
team and prior assessments. Of course, you would not have had that piece of 
information. 


Our employee has a long history of slapping her own face at work. Again, 
I did not have this information when I initially messaged with you. Our employee 
would do something incorrectly, and then slap her face. She also yells and 
screams at work, and has melt downs and cries; thus alarming her co-workers who 
have lost faith in her ability to work in a 911 center. She does indeed work in a 
911 center, which is opposite of what she stated to Dr. Short according to the 
report. There are also sirens and loud noises in her work environment. These are 
triggers for her. From this, the department is asking if our employee can be 
reevaluated and a new Fitness for Duty derived in light of these updates." 


(Ex. 13, p. 1-2, Email from Hunt to Petsco dated March 8, 2021.) 


Hunt testified that when he showed Petsco his draft letter to Dr. Short, she advised him 


that it reflected everything that she had advised him of during their meeting on March 1, 2021. 
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1 (Ex. 70, p. 398.) Petsco responded to Hunt's email sixteen minutes later as follows: 


2 "Is it worth mentioning at this point progressive discipline involving 
attendance? She uses her leave as quickly as she accrues it, which seems to 


3 contradict her statement that she enjoys coming to work. What about being 
banned from volunteering at the academy? I don't have all the details about that, 


4 only some. Do you think they would want statements from her co-workers?" 


5 (Ex. 13, p. 1, Email from Petsco to Hunt dated March 8, 2021.) 


6 Hunt ended up sending his draft email virtually verbatim to Dr. Brown later that day on 


7 March 8, 2021. (Ex. 14, p. 1-2.) Many of the statements that were contained in Hunt's email to 


8 Dr. Brown were false and misleading and certainly inconsistent with a fair and objective fitness 


9 for duty process. He called into question Terry's integrity and credibility (that she supposedly 


1 o manipulates fitness evaluations, supposedly lied about working in a 911 center and supposedly 


11 lied about her actions at the Harvest Festival masscare), it portrayed her as crazy (that she 


12 regularly slaps herself in the face, screams, yells and cries at work) and it asserted that her co-


13 workers were scared of her and lost faith in her ability to do her job. (Ex. 13, p. 1-2.) 


14 During the Terry Arbitration, both Hunt and Petsco admitted that they had no basis for the 


15 assertion in the email that Terry "has acted this way since 2008". (Ex. 70, p. 433-434 and CEA 


16 Ex 71, p. 677-680.) That was simply false. So too was the assertion in the email that Terry has 


17 had "several prior examinations" and that Terry was somehow "manipulating the results." In fact, 


18 she had only one prior fitness for duty examination with Dr. Johnson. (Ex. 65.) More 


19 importantly, as both Hunt and Petsco conceded during the Terry Arbitration, there was no factual 


20 basis whatsoever for the assertion that Terry was manipulating the results of her fitness for duty 


21 evaluations. (Ex. 70, p. 434-436; Ex. 71 , p. 680-686.) Appallingly, neither Hunt nor Petsco 


22 would even accept responsibility for this false statement. (Id.) Hunt testified that he had no 


23 independent basis for this assertion but that Petsco and Deputy Chief Adams told him it was true. 


24 (Ex. 70, p. 434-435.) Yet, Petsco testified that Hunt came up with the notion. Specifically she 


25 testified: "I don't know. I don't know what -- Rick wrote it. So I don't know what his reference 


26 is, what he's talking about." (Ex. 71, p. 680:17 - 681 :4.) Even more egregious was Petsco's 


27 testimony as to why she didn't correct Hunt on his email: "But he's my boss. He is my boss. So I 


28 don ' t get to tell him how to draft his emails." (Ex. 71, p. 684:2-9.) 
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The statement in Hunt's email that Terry's co-workers have lost faith in her ability to 


work in a 911 center and that "she does indeed work in a 911 center, which is opposite of what 


she stated to Dr. Short according to the report" was also a fabrication as both Hunt and Petsco 


were forced to concede at the Terry Arbitration. Hunt admitted that he didn't independently 


corroborate the accusation which he received from Petsco. He also conceded that he was wrong 


when he asserted that Terry works in a 911 call center and he was wrong for accusing Terry of 


lying when she said she didn't work in a 911 center. (Ex. 70, p. 438-439.) Petsco denied 


knowing what a 911 center is and denied knowing whether the statement that Terry works in a 


911 center was accurate or not. (Ex. 71, p. 688: 12-16.) She then denied that Hunt received this 


information from her even though that is exactly what Hunt testified to. (Ex. 71, p. 688: 17-19.) 


Obviously it was highly prejudicial for Hunt to falsely advise Dr. Short that Terry had lied about 


working in a 911 center. Many of the other statements in Hunt's email are one-sided and 


unsubstantiated as well. 


After receiving Hunt's email, Dr. Brown enthusiastically responded that same day via 


email. She wrote that "Absolutely!" her office would agree to conduct a new fitness for duty 


evaluation of Terry and that they "would like as much information as you can provide!!" (Ex. 14, 


p. 1.) Hunt forwarded Dr. Brown's response to Petsco who responded via email by saying: "This 


is good news. Are you going to talk to DC Adams about admin leave? I think we can get written 


statements without having to bring them each in for interviews." (Ex. 15, p. 1.) Hunt emailed 


Petsco back stating: "If you work on the statements, I'll call DC Adams." (Id.) Hunt then sent 


two emails back to Dr. Brown on March 8 and March 9 thanking her for agreeing to reevaluate 


Terry and providing her with contact information for Terry's former supervisor Rhonda Knightly 


and the City's "Crisis Intervention person" Jeff Melish. (Ex. 16, p. I.) Dr. Brown responded via 


email on March 9, 2021 stating: 


"Great, thank you. I will pass this information along to Dr. Short and I will 
be sure to consult with him / collaborate on the final report. Having read through 
everything a second time plus the additional information we now have, I 
understand why it feels like a disconnect to your staff. Hopefully the revised 
evaluation will clear things up." 


(Ex. 17.) 
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The next day, on March 10, 2021, Deputy Chief Adams emailed Terry another Memo 


placing her on paid administrative leave again and instructing her to submit to another fitness for 


duty evaluation with Dr. Short on March 16, 2021. The LVCEA was also copied on this Memo. 


(Ex. 18.) Caruthers testified that he thought it was fishy that the City was having Terry 


reevaluated but he didn't believe it was a violation of the CBA because the City was continuing 


to pay Terry her regular wages and benefits. (Ex. 69, p. RT 118-119.) Terry testified that Petsco 


called her and advised her that she was being sent out for another fitness for duty evaluation 


because some "new issues" had supposedly come to light. (Ex. 69, p. 281 .) There obviously 


were no new issues. The City simply didn' t like Dr. Short's opinion that Terry was fit for duty 


and so they were trying to get him to change his opinion. 


On March 16, 2021, Petsco sent a four page Memo to Dr. Brown's and Dr. Short's office 


regarding Terry. (Ex. 19.) Petsco's memo is totally one-sided and replete with false and 


misleading information regarding Terry. It reads like a position paper from an attorney and was 


clearly designed to persuade Dr. Short to reverse his initial opinion that Terry was fit for duty. 


Some of the Memo's lowlights include the following: 


* "Staff who have worked with Julie do not feel safe working around her". (Ex. 19, p. 2, 


,rs.) This statement is subjective and misleading. The truth, as Petsco subsequently conceded 


during the Terry Arbitration, is that Terry has never harmed or threatened anyone, ever. (Ex. 71, 


p. 696.) 


* "She was disciplined for intimidating co-workers with verbal confrontations and text 


messages that were accusatory and explosive and meant to cause division." (Ex. 19, p. 3, ,I2, 2nd 


bulletpoint.) Petsco's characterization of the incident (that occurred nearly a decade prior in 


2013) was wildly exaggerated. As the written record of the incident reveals, Terry merely had a 


verbal argument with a co-worker and was never accused of intimidating anyone. There is no 


mention of any "explosive" text messages in the record. (Ex. 4, p. 65-66.) 


* Under the section entitled "2018", Petsco's Memo states: "Supervisors lost confidence 


in Julie's ability to function as an emergency operator." (Ex. 19, p. 3, 14, bulletpoint 10.) 


However, According to Terry's 2018 performance evaluation, Terry met all of the department's 
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1 standards. Moreover, the evaluation contains nothing but positive comments about Terry 


2 including that Terry is "empathetic towards citizen issues to better serve the public needs", that 


3 she "communicates clearly with the citizens and the officers to ensure no misunderstandings" and 


4 that Terry "provides consistent customer service to all citizens." (RT 703-706; Ex. 4, p. 41-43.) 


5 Petsco ultimately conceded that Terry's performance evaluation for 2018 contradicted her 


6 statement in her memo that supervisors lost faith in Terry's abilities in 2018. (Ex. 71, p. 707:21-


7 25.) Petsco further admitted that none of the information in Terry's favorable 2018 performance 


8 evaluation was forwarded to Dr. Short. (Ex. 71, p. 708:8-14.) 


g * "Julie Terry brags about keeping her gun in her car; she said she brandished it before 


10 during a road rage incident." (Ex. 19, p. 2, 15, bulletpoint 3.) Terry testified that this claim is 


11 false and that she bas never pointed a firearm at anyone. (Ex. 69, p. 286-287.) Petsco 


12 subsequently conceded during the Terry Arbitration that the City never vetted this claim, never 


13 investigated the claim, never held any hearing regarding any such claim and that Terry was never 


14 given an opportunity to defend herself as to such claim. (Ex. 69, p. 700:3-16.) 


15 * "She was engaged in an intense argument with her supervisor after being corrected on a 


16 work procedure. Julie left the meeting and isolated herself from the others. She left work early, 


17 and when the supervisor walked out to the parking lot and noticed Julie was still there, sitting in 


18 her car- uncharacteristic for Julie. The supervisor was concerned about her own safety because of 


19 the earlier encounter and because Julie often mentions her gun that is in her car. Eventually, Julie 


20 left without any incident." (Ex. 19, p. 3, last bulletpoint.) As Petsco conceded during the Terry 


21 Arbitration, whatever subjective fears may have existed in the mind of this unnamed supervisor 


22 had no objective basis in reality. Terry didn' t threaten anyone (certainly not with a gun) or 


23 commit any misconduct whatsoever during this non-incident. (Ex. 71, p. 709-711.) It was 


24 obviously highly prejudicial to Terry for Petsco to have advised Dr. Short of someone's 


25 subjective fears that were totally divorced from reality. 


26 Both Hunt and Petsco conceded that the information that they forwarded to Dr. Short 


27 about Terry was not sent to the LVCEA or Terry so that they could assess it, weigh in on it 


28 and/or respond. (Ex. 70, p. 446; Ex. 71, p. 672.) Caruthers testified that the L VCEA would have 
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objected to such communications sent by the City to Dr. Short because they were one-sided, 


entirely negative and completely leading. Caruthers correctly observed: "It seems like they were 


gunning for her." (Ex. 69, p. 124-126.) 


Terry met again with Dr. Short on March 16, 2021 and he questioned her about the 


negative information that Petsco had set forth in her Memo. (Ex. 69, p. 282-283.) Terry testified 


that she was completely honest with Dr. Short as she had been during the first evaluation. 


Moreover, she reported that, at that time, she was doing fine, taking her medication and her 


mental health issues were under control. She testified that she was neither a danger to herself nor 


anyone else. (Ex. 69, p. 288-289.) 


Dr. Short issued his revised report on March 22, 2021. (Ex. 20.) The tenor of his report 


and his conclusions were diametrically opposed to those from his initial report. He referenced 


the new information that the City provided him which supposedly indicated that Terry had not 


been honest with him during the initial evaluation. Specifically, Dr. Short reported: "After the 


02/26/21 Fitness for Duty Evaluation was submitted new clinically significant information 


became available from collateral sources noted below indicating that Ms. Terry was not fully 


truthful in her report, and minimized or equivocated to appear in a better light." (Ex. 20, p. 4, ~11 .) 


Dr. Short wrote extensively about his conversation with Terry's former supervisor Rhonda 


Knightly (who he was directed by Hunt to speak with). Specifically, he wrote that she told him 


that "I haven' t been over that unit for a long time7, but [Ms. Terry] was definitely having issues 


when I was over her about 15 months ago", that "I have, I believe written complaints from 


coworkers that they don't feel safe while she is in the control room", that Terry "had a concealed 


carry permit so they were never sure if she had a gun in her car" and that "workplace violence 


was what they believed was a potential, it was more of a feeling." (Ex. 20, p. 4, 12.) Dr. Short's 


second report also included an extensive discussion of Petsco's allegations of Terry's 


misconduct. (Ex. 20, p. 4-6.) 


Whereas Dr. Short originally opined that Terry was honest and forthright with him, in his 


7 The fact that Ms. Knightly wasn't "over that unit for a long time" begs the question of 
why Hunt and Petsco chose her to speak with Dr. Short. 
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second report he parroted the City's claim that she was dishonest. Specifically, Dr. Short wrote: 


"Terry did appear to be evasive, dramatic, avoidant, and untruthful during the evaluation today, 


and did appear to be understating her degree of psychological disfunction." (Ex. 20, p. 7, 13.) Dr. 


Short did not elaborate in his report on his basis for this assertion. (Ex. 20.) He also advanced 


the new notion that Terry is angry and resentful of others. Specifically, he opined that "Terry is 


quite angry and depressed at this time", that "she is sullen and somewhat angry and upset with 


other people, feeling they have harmed her" and that she "harbors a great deal ofresentment." 


(Ex. 20, p. 9, ,i4.) Based on the information that he received from the City, he reported that Terry 


had an "unspecified personality disorder." Specifically, he wrote: "[T]he additional evidence 


now provided illuminates a pattern of maladaptive behaviors/ ways of relating to others across 


multiple settings and substantiates the diagnostic criteria for unspecified personality disorder 


with borderline and dependent traits." (Ex. 20, p. 10, 11.) 


Whereas Dr. Short wrote in his first report that Terry "may have reported more 


psychological symptoms than objectively exist", in his second report, he opined that Terry "may 


minimize her complaints, deny feelings of resentment, or simply resign to solitude." (Ex. 20, p. 


10, ,i2nd to last; Compare with Ex. 11, p. 5, ,i4.) 


In the "areas of concern" section of his report, Dr. Short parroted what the City claimed 


about Terry, alleging a "Minimization of her history and work performance/social interactions 


during her prior evaluation with this provider" and "Inconsistent and, at times, emotionally labile 


interactions with prior providers as well as supervisory/co workers." (Ex. 20, p. 12, at top.) 


Ultimately, Dr. Short concluded that Terry was unsafe to return to work. Specifically, his 


second report states: 


"With these considerations in mind, it is my opinion that Communications 
Specialist Terry is not safe to return to work at this time. While Ms. Terry 
currently denies any thoughts of harm toward herself or others, collaborative data 
indicates that she becomes frequently and easily overwhelmed by every day 
stressors and during those moments can be impulsive and emotionally reactive. It 
is her emotional reactivity, and poor coping skills that present the primary concern 
as it relates to returning to work ... That said, the most troubling aspect of her 
diagnosis is in regard to the more severe symptoms of her personality disorder ( eg 
mood swings, idealization/ devaluation, engaging in behaviors designed to obtain 
sympathy, support etc) which are generally considered to be entrenched & 
pervasive - unlikely to be significantly altered through short tenn therapeutic 
intervention. Therefore, while some improvement is possible, more likely than 
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not, Ms. Terry will continue to be an employee that requires a great deal of 
structure, support and oversight." 


(Ex. 20, p. 12, ,3; Emphasis added.) 


Thus, whereas Dr. Short reported on February 26, 2021 that Terry was not a danger to 


anyone, less than a month later on March 22, 2021, he claimed to have completely changed his 


mind and concluded not only that Terry was unsafe to return to work but that she would likely 


always be a problem. (Compare Ex. 11, p. 7, last, with Ex. 20, p. 12, ,i3 .) His change of opinion 


was stated to be based on the "collaborative data" provided by the City. 


On March 24, 2021, Petsco and fellow HR Analyst Tammy Counts ("Counts") contacted 


Terry via telephone and advised her that Dr. Short changed his mind and concluded that she 


could not return to work for three months.8 (Ex. 69, p. 290-291, Terry Testimony; Ex. 71 , p. 641-


642, Petsco Testimony; Ex. 61.) Petsco and Counts told Terry that because Dr. Short said she 


couldn't work, she would have to bum through her remaining accrued paid leave and then go 


onto unpaid leave. (Id.) Terry testified that she did not want to go onto LWOP and believed that 


she was safe and capable of working but she was not given a choice. (Ex. 69, p. 291-293.) She 


had no union representation during her interaction with Petsco and Counts and she had no idea 


that the City was violating her rights under the CBA. Terry further testified that Petsco and 


Counts instructed her to apply for disability benefits and told her that they would email her the 


application. She testified that she didn't believe she had a choice to refuse to fill out the 


application. (Ex. 69, p. 290-291.) 


This conversation between Terry, Petsco and Counts was memorialized by Counts in an 


email to Terry on that same day, March 24, 2021. (Ex. 61.) The email states in pertinent part: 


8 


"This is to reiterate the phone conversation that we had on 3/24/2021 
which included Tammy Counts and Lori Petsco in attendance. 


Based on the Fit For Duty (FFD) evaluation that was provided, you are 
unable to attend work at this time ... After 3 months of therapy, with proper 
clearance from your chosen provider, you may be reevaluated to determine if you 
have made sufficient progress to safely return to work. .. 


• Your department is providing Administrative Leave through Saturday, 


Counts is the City's Human Resources Analyst who primarily oversees FMLA and 
ADA issues. (Ex. 71, p. 635-636, Petsco Testimony.) 
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• 


• 


• 


March 27, 2021. 


As of pay period ending March 6, 2021, you have 23.35 hours of vacation 
and 4.0 hours of sick leave. You also have 286.88 FMLA hours remaining 
that will be utilized as a block ofleave beginning March 28, 2021. 


.. .If you do not have accrued leave to cover the time you are off, you will 
be in leave without pay ("L WOP") status. After 30 days of L WOP, you 
will be required to pay for your benefit contributions. 


Tammy will also email you the AFLAC Short Term Disability forms that 
must be completed and returned for processing. 


(Ex. 61; Emphasis added.) 


Both Petsco and Hunt conceded that the City refused to allow Terry to return to work for 


at least three months based on Dr. Short's revised opinion. (Ex. 70, p. 455; Ex. 71, p. 713:7-9.) 


Hunt further conceded that Terry didn't ask to be taken off work and that she wanted to return to 


work but the City denied her the opportunity to do so. (Ex. 70, p. 456-457.) Hunt further 


admitted that Terry never asked to be placed on LWOP. (Ex. 70, p. 476.) More specifically, 


Hunt testified that Deputy Chief Adams made the decision to refuse to allow Terry to return to 


work after Dr. Short issued his second report. (Ex. 70, p. 451.) 


Both Hunt and Petsco conceded that no document or written communication was ever 


sent to either Terry or the LVCEA that specified any basis in the CBA to support the City's 


decision to refuse to allow Terry to work, to force her to burn through her accrued paid leave and 


then to place her on LWOP. (Ex. 70, p. 458; Ex. 71, p. 714:5-12 and 718:4-7.) Moreover, both 


Hunt and Petsco flatly admitted that they are unaware of any basis in the CBA that permitted the 


City to refuse to allow Terry to work, to force her to burn through her accrued paid leave and 


then to place her on LWOP. (Ex. 70, p. 474; Ex. 71, p. 717:20-24.) 


Due to the fact that the City refused to allow Terry to return to work, she burned through 


the remainder of her accrued paid leave in mid April 2021. Thereafter, Terry was forced onto 


LWOP status. She has never received any wages or benefits from the City since then. (Ex. 69, p. 


293, Terry Testimony.) 


As instructed by the City, Terry continued obtaining counseling with Robinson in March 


2021. As further instructed by the City, she also began treatment with psychiatrist practitioner 


Valerie Siazon ("Siazon") of the Office of Eugene Rosenman, MD. (Ex. 69, p. 293; Ex. 22, Dr. 
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Short' s Third Report, p. 2, ,rs - p. 3, ,Il.) 


Terry submitted to a third fitness for duty evaluation with Dr. Short on June 29, 2021. 


(Ex. 22, p. 1.) Terry was suspicious of City management colluding with Dr. Short at that point 


and so she recorded the entire meeting with him. (Ex. 69, p. 294; Ex. 44.) They discussed her 


treatment with Robinson and Siazon. (Ex. 44, Start to 3:00.) They discussed the medication that 


Terry was taking. (Ex. 44, 7:40 - 9:40.) They discussed how she was feeling, which was 


generally happy notwithstanding the fact that she was struggling financially due to the City not 


paying her any wages. (Ex. 44, 10:00-12:30.) 


Terry asked Dr. Short what his basis was in March 2021 for concluding that she was 


unsafe to work. Dr. Short advised Terry that he was essentially playing it safe because the City 


advised him that she was perceived to be a threat. Some examples of what Dr. Short stated as 


revealed by the audio recording include: "Well initially it was looking pretty good but then I got 


some feedback from co-workers who said this was going on, that's going on. You know it's a he­


said, she-said situation, but we' re asked to play it safe in those circumstances you know on a fit 


for duty .. the stuff I was telling you about the car ... You know perceptions of you being a 


threat.. .. " ; "only God knows if that is objective reality you know what I'm saying but what I have 


is access to their experience and your experience and if there are enough people who are saying, 


you know some caution, you know expressing some caution urn. This isn't about really 


predicting whether someone is dangerous or not. That's very hard to do in reality I think its more 


like okay, um, you know um .. there's ... , it's reasonable to have some caution in this situation 


because we just don't know for sure if conflicting ... ", "co-workers don't feel safe when she' s in 


the control room, she has a conceal carry permit, they're never sure if she has a gun in her car, 


urn, urn, it wasn' t... work place violence is what they believe is a potential, it was more of a 


feeling though, like you didn' t make threats ... " (Ex. 44, 37:00 - 42:40.) Thus, Dr. Short 


essentially concluded that Terry was a threat because the City advised Dr. Short that Terry was a 


threat and he figured it made sense to "have some caution. "9 Yet, again, Terry had never banned 


9 This just underscores the total lack of any objective standard for psychological fitness 
for duty evaluations in general and Dr. Short's evaluations in particular. The idea that 
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anyone or threatened anyone at work or ever in her life. (Ex. 69, p. 289-290, Terry Testimony; 


Ex. 71 , p . 696, Petsco Testimony; Ex. 4, Terry's Personnel File.) 


Terry also asked Dr. Short whether he would clear her to return to work going forward. 


Dr. Short advised her that it hinged on what her treating practitioners tell him. The exchange on 


this point, as captured by the audio recording of the meeting, was as follows: 


Terry: 


Dr. Short: 


Do you think 1 can go back now? 


You know it depends on .. It's almost entirely up to what the 
treating providers say ... Yah because you know. You sound .. . You 
sound pretty good you know of course .. and um .. But it's more of a 
matter of what they say. That's what it comes down to on the three 
months reviews. So .. Afraid its vague for now which is stressful. 


(Ex. 44, 43:02 - 43:40.) 


According to records produced by Robinson (in response to the City' s subpoena), Terry 


was progressing well in her counseling. On June 28, 202 l, Robinson recommended that Terry be 


allowed to return to work. (Ex. 57, p . 15-30.) Specifically, Robinson reported: 


"Assessment: Client continues to present stress related to grief however 
AHA moment when processing past successes and strengths. She continues to 
present desire to live - (suicidal ideations- possibly attention seeking or failure to 
use coping skills consistently.) NO Borderline PD present no further rule out 
needed. Needs to be more assertive/expressive outside of session - need larger 
support network. Client needs to return to work to further stabilize her position, 
work provides balance and connection for her." 


(Ex. 57, p. 23-24; Emphasis added.) 


On July 5, 2021, Robinson's Progress Note for Terry states: 


"Assessment: Client continues to improve, motivated to regain a sense of 
normalcy and return to work. Ongoing grief persists however client presents better 
able to management grief related issues. present stress related to grief however 
AHA moment when processing past successes and strengths. Recommend and 
support client returning to work. Will serve as a compliment to her stabilization." 


(Ex. 57, p. 25; Emphasis added.) 


On July 12, 202 l, Robinson's Progress Note for Terry states: 


"Client overjoyed with the prospect of returning to work, rejoining her 
team. Presents as stable. Grief continued but client able to manage in health 


management could simply "play it safe" based on the subjective fears of some future 
outcome and deny an employee the ability to earn a living is completely inconsistent 
with employee protections under the CBA as well as notions of due process. 
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manner." 


(Ex. 57, p. 26.) 


According to Dr. Short's third report dated July 15, 2021, he spoke with Robinson (on 


July 12, 2021) who advised him that Terry was not a danger to herself or others and that she 


ought to be fully cleared to return to work. Specifically, Dr. Short wrote: 


"On 07/12/21 Trina Robinson reported, 'Julie [Terry] has been very 
consistent in therapy and I confront the issues head-on. Most of it is related to her 
grief issues with her mom, and where she was looking into buying a house and 
where she almost lost her housing [in the past] when buying a house didn't go 
well. All that stress created all this, and additionally there are some underlying 
features of Borderline Personality Disorder. I've been able to talk with all of her 
family and I can see where that comes from. She and her mom had a super 
enmeshed relationship. I don't see her as a threat to herself or others because we 
are processing her grief. I recommend her returning to work in a full capacity 
right now." 


(Ex. 22, p. 2, ,is; Emphasis added.) 


Although Dr. Short advised Terry that his decision on whether to clear her to return to 


work would be based on what her treating providers (Robinson and Siazon) reported to him, Dr. 


Short instead rejected their opinions. According to Dr. Short's third report, he did so in part 


based on the notion that Robinson and Siazon likely didn 't have access to the negative 


information about Terry that the City provided him with. He also simply assumed that Terry 


minimized her issues with her treating providers. Specifically, Dr. Short's third report states: 


"For the initial evaluation, Communications Specialist Terry significantly 
minimized work and interpersonal issues. Given that her current therapist and 
psychiatrist/psychiatric practitioner do not have access to my testing/assessment, 
and are evidently not privy to the extensive work reports of conflict with 
coworkers, and episodes of poor judgment (such as reporting that she brandished a 
gun in road rage, allowing unlicensed minors to drive official work cars, 
substance abuse, and posting a picture of a sleeping co-worker online), it is likely 
that Communications Specialist Terry has minimized her issues with her therapist 
and psychiatrist." 


(Ex. 22, p. 3, iJ3.) 


Dr. Short's third report goes on to list reasons why he disagreed with Terry's treating 


practitioners, including that "Terry's co-workers worried that she was a danger to herself or 


others", that Terry likely has minimized her suicidality, that Terry has had more panic attacks 
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than she reported according to a recent email provided by the City10
, that Terry has taken more 


Clonazepam than she reported to him and that Siazon may not be aware of Terry's prior 


benzodiazepine abuse. Dr. Short concluded by asserting that " if Communications Specialist 


Terry has a panic attack, or engages in substance abuse while fielding a 911 call, the results could 


be catastrophic." (Ex. 22, p . 3, ,r3.) Yet tellingly, Terry had advised Dr. Short of her panic 


attacks and her prior substance abuse during the first evaluation in which Dr. Short concluded 


that she was safe to return to work. (Ex. 11, p. 2, ,r4.) Dr. Short even wrote in his first report 


that Terry could be expected to suffer further panic attacks. (Ex. 11 , p. 4, ,r3.) However, Terry's 


panic attacks only created the potential for a catastrophe after the City signaled to Dr. Short that 


it wanted him to find Terry unfit for duty. 


Ultimately, Dr. Short opined that "Terry is not safe to return to work at this time" and that 


she "could be a danger to herself or others." He recommended that she be reevaluated in six 


months to determine whether she could then safely return to work. (Ex. 22, p. 5, ,r1 .) 


Terry testified that Dr. Short called her sometime after her third evaluation and told her 


that she couldn' t return to work for another six months. He further told her that she simply 


needed more counseling. (Ex. 69, p. 296.) Terry disagreed, asserting that she felt perfectly fine to 


return to work, that she was not abusing any controlled substances and that her panic attacks 


were under control. (Ex. 69, p. 296.) Terry sent an email to Petsco on July 15, 2021 stating: 


"Hi Lori, I was wondering if I could make an appointment to come down 
and talk to you and Tammy [Counts] about what is going on with me? I just got 
informed by the doctor that I can' t go back for another 6 months. I'm really 
confused and just want to go back to work." 


(Ex. 23, p. 1-2.) 


Terry contacted Caruthers to help her get back to work. Caruthers spoke with Petsco and 


a meeting was subsequently scheduled for July 29, 2021 to discuss the matter. (Ex. 69, p. 298-


299.) However, on July 28, 2021, Petsco sent Terry an email advising her that she was being 


10 With respect to the "recent email" that Dr. Short stated he received from the City, 
Petsco denied that the City had any emails above and beyond what had already been 
produced in discovery. (Ex. 41.) Yet the City has failed to provide any email or other 
communication that it sent to Dr. Short wherein it discussed Terry's supposed (then) 
recent panic attacks. 


27 







1 


2 


3 


4 


5 


6 


7 


8 


9 


10 


11 


12 


13 


14 


15 


16 


17 


18 


19 


20 


21 


22 


23 


24 


25 


26 


27 


28 


separated from her employment with the City. (Ex. 29.) Petsco attached to her email a Notice of 


Separation, a document entitled "Infonnation for the Unemployed Worker" and Dr. Short's 


second and third reports (but, tellingly, not his first report in which he determined she was fit for 


duty). (Ex. 28-30.) 


Terry promptly filed a grievance on July 29, 2021. (Ex. 31.) Terry and the LVCEA also 


filed the Prohibited Labor Practice Complaint against the City with this Board on August 5, 


2021. 


On August 24, 2021 , counsel for the City sent the undersigned an email suggesting that 


the City had not actually separated Terry's employment. (Ex. 38.) According to Hunt, the City 


retracted its decision to terminate Terry a few days after Terry submitted her grievance. (Ex. 70, 


p. 481.) Thus, according to the City, Terry is still even today apparently on unpaid leave. 


However, as Hunt conceded, the City hasn't taken any steps in all ofthis time to try and clear 


Terry to return to work. (Ex. 70, p. 481.) 


III. PROCEDURAL STATUS 


The LVCEA and three of its members who were subjected to the City's newly 


implemented fitness for duty process (Terry, Brooks and Gleed), filed Complaints with this 


Board. The IAFF also filed a Complaint with this Board as a result of the City's application of 


its new fitness for duty process to one its members, David Lewis. On January 20, 2022, this 


Board ordered that the various Complaints be consolidated. On the same date, this Board also 


ordered that the consolidated matter be stayed until the grievances filed by the involved 


employees are "resolved through arbitration or otherwise." 


The LVCEA and Terry prosecuted her grievance through arbitration. The arbitrator, 


Jonathan Monet, issued his decision denying Terry's grievance on August 11, 2022. (Ex. 74.) As 


the costs of arbitration were too high to justify taking Brooks and Gleed's grievances to 


arbitration, the L VCEA, Brooks and Gleed believed it was appropriate to seek redress through 


the instant consolidated action with this Board. Mr. Lewis didn't want to fight with the City and 


so he withdrew his grievance, leaving the IAFF to continue to seek redress from this Board for 


the City's prohibited labor practices. 
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On October 14, 2022, this Board lifted the stay on the matter herein and instructed the 


City to file any appropriate motions including a motion to dismiss for failure to exhaust 


contractual remedies and/or a motion to defer to the arbitration within 21 days. The City filed 


both motions on November 3, 2022, prompting the Opposition herein. 


IV. ARGUMENT 


In the case of Int 'I Ass 'n of Fire Fighters, Local 4068 vs. Town of Parumph, EMRB Case 


No. 2017-009, Item No. 833 (2018), this Board articulated the standard for whether it will defer 


to an arbitrator's decision. This Board stated: 


"The arbitrator had jurisdiction to determine if just cause existed but not to 
determine whether the Town engaged in an unfair labor practice. The Board has 
exclusive jurisdiction over unfair labor practice issues. City of Reno v. Reno 
Police Protective Ass'n, 118 Nev. 889, 895, 59 P.3d 1212, 1217 (2002). It is 
proper to look toward the NLRB for guidance on issues involving the EMRB. Id. 
The EMRB defers to a prior arbitration if: (1) the arbitration proceedings were fair 
and regular; (2) the parties agreed to be bound; (3) the decision was not clearly 
repugnant to the purposes and policies of the EMRA; (4) the contractual issue was 
factually parallel to the unfair labor practices issue; and (5) the arbitrator was 
presented with generally with the facts relevant to resolving the unfair labor 
practice. Id." 


Id. at p. 3-4. 


In the case of Ebarb vs. Clark County, EMRB Case No. 2018-006, Item No. 843 (2019), 


this Board reiterated that "The Board need not defer if the arbitrator's decision is not susceptible 


to an interpretation consistent with the EMRA." See, Ebarb, Concl. of Law No. 20, p. 29. This 


Board further stated: "The Board need not defer if the arbitrator permits unilateral changes." See, 


Ebarb, Cone!. of Law No. 22, p. 29 (Emphasis added). Importantly, this Board further stated in 


Ebarb that "When determining whether an award is ' clearly repugnant' , the Board examines all 


the circumstances, including the parties' contract language, bargaining history and past 


practices." See, Ebarb, Concl. of Law No. 24, p. 30. 


As this Board further stated in Ebarb, it "has considerable discretion in determining 


whether to defer to the arbitration process when doing so will serve the fundamental aims of the 


Act." See, Ebarb, Concl. of Law No. 29, p. 30. 


As alleged in the Prohibited Labor Practices Complaint filed by the L VCEA and Terry 


with this Board, the City has committed a unilateral change to multiple mandatory subjects of 
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bargaining and hence a prohibited labor practice in violation ofNRS 288.270(l)(a) and (e). 


Specifically, the City has unilaterally implemented a new practice in which it subjects employees 


to fitness for duty evaluations in order to assess their suitability for continued employment. Per 


the City's new practice, if the physician that the City hires opines that an employee is unfit for 


duty, the City immediately removes that employee from work and forces them to bum through 


their paid accrued leave (or if the employee has none, then forces them onto unpaid leave.) That 


is what the City did to Terry, Brooks, Gleed and Lewis. 


As both Caruthers and Snyder testified, prior to these cases, the City had never once 


forcibly removed an employee from work and reduced their wages and benefits outside of the 


bargained for disciplinary process found in Article 13 of the CBA. (Ex. 69, Caruthers Testimony, 


p. 112-115, and Ex. 71, Snyder Testimony, p. 515-518.) Rather, it was understood that the 


disciplinary process was the sole mechanism for the City to deal with employees that were 


having behavioral issues, were unable to complete their work in a satisfactory and professional 


manner and/or were believed to be unfit for duty. 


There are no provisions in the CBA that would authorize the City to implement this new 


fitness for duty practice. Moreover, the City never negotiated with the L VCEA over this new 


practice despite the fact that the City has now used it in a manner that directly impacts multiple 


mandatory subjects of bargaining including wages, leave time, disciplinary procedures and more 


generally, the continued employment of employees. Had there been negotiations on a fitness for 


duty program, they would deal with issues such as: 1) Who is authorized to render fitness for 


duty opinions (it certainly shouldn't be a physician hired by the City such as Dr. Short but rather 


an independent physician); 2) What circumstances must exist for the City to be allowed to 


subject an employee to a fitness for duty evaluation; 3) What information, if any, can be 


communicated to the physician that conducts the fitness for duty evaluation ( certainly not the 


incredibly one-sided, misleading and false information that Hunt and Petsco provided to Dr. 


Short); 4) What basis must exist for the City to compel an employee who passed a fitness for 


duty evaluation to submit to another evaluation (it certainly shouldn't just be because the City 


disagrees with the initial opinion as was indisputably the case in Terry); 5) Similarly, should 
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1 there be an appeals process available to contest the opinion of the first physician (like there is for 


2 FMLA disputes); 6) If the employee fails a fitness for duty evaluation, are they placed on paid or 


3 unpaid administrative leave; and 7) If an employee fails a fitness for duty evaluation, what steps 


4 must they take to subsequently establish that they can return to duty. The City failed to negotiate 


5 with the L VCEA over any of these issues and instead unilaterally implemented a totally one-


6 sided process for fitness for duty evaluations. Thus, this is a textbook example of a unilateral 


7 change to mandatory subjects of bargaining in violation ofNRS Chapter 288. 


8 This Board should deny the City' s motion to defer to the arbitrator because the 


g arbitrator' s decision is wholly incompatible with NRS Chaper 288. The arbitrator provided only 


10 five pages worth of analysis to support his denial of Terry's grievance and such analysis is 


11 jumbled and difficult to follow. (Ex. 72., p. 12-17.) The arbitrator's overall theme appears to be 


12 that since nothing in the CBA prevented the City from implementing a fitness for duty program 


13 that led to Terry' s removal from work and the discontinuation of all pay and benefits, therefore 


14 the City had the authority to do same. Specifically, the arbitrator stated: 


15 "The Association agreed that the City has the legal right to require a 
fitness for duty exam when it has a reasonable suspicion that an employee is unfit 


16 for duty. L VCEA has never contested otherwise. The parties have never bargained 
an alternative framework. If an alternative framework were to be negotiated, 


17 LVCEA maintained there would be several safeguards for its members in any 
contract language. As it stands, the CBA is silent on fitness for duty exams. As the 


18 evidence shows in this case, the City has the non-grievable right to require fitness 
for duty exams and to place an employee on FMLA. The Grievant used up her 


19 accrued leave and was found to be unsafe to return to work, her personal opinion 
about her ability notwithstanding, as addressed above." 
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This passage reveals that the arbitrator did not understand the distinction between the 


City's ability to conduct a fitness for duty evaluation (which the LVCEA does not dispute) and 


the City's claimed ability to use a fitness for duty opinion to adversely affect an employee's 


wages, benefits and continued employment (which the LVCEA does dispute). As this Board has 


found in the twin cases of HPOA vs. City of Henderson, EMRB Case No. A 1-045314, Item No. 


83 (1978); LVPPA vs. City of Las Vegas, EMRB Case No. Al-045474, Item No. 264 (1991), it is 


the use to which a fitness evaluation is put that determines whether a government employer's 


unilaterally created fitness program constitutes a failure to bargain in violation ofNRS Chapter 


288. In HPOA vs. City o_f Henderson, the fitness evaluations were intended to be used to separate 
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"unfit" employees and hence could not be implemented without bargaining. HPOA, supra, 


Concl. Of Law No. 4, p. 6. In LVPPA vs. City of Las Vegas, the fitness evaluations were only 


used to assess an employee' s suitability for promotion- which is not a mandatory subject of 


bargaining- and hence the City was able to implement its fitness evaluations without bargaining. 


LVVPA, supra, Concl. of Law No. 9 and 10, p. 19-20.) Given that here, the City used its new 


fitness for duty process to remove Terry from work and eliminate her wages and benefits, the 


City's fitness for duty process could not be implemented without bargaining. As such, the 


arbitrator's decision permitting same flies in the face of this Board's established precedent. 


It is anticipated that the City will argue that arbitrator did find a provision in the CBA 


(Section 17.6.1) that permitted the entirety of the City' s actions relative to Terry. If the City does 


advance this argument, it will be specious. Section 17.6.1 of the CBA entitled "Eligibility" 


states: 


"Leave Without Pay may be granted or imposed by the Department 
Director, or designee, to employees for: 


1) Purposes nonnally covered by sick leave, annual leave or Time in Lieu of 
(TILO) when such leave has been exhausted 


2) Disciplinary action 
3) Pursuing an education 
4) Serving in the military 
5) Recovering from a job-related injury or illness 
6) Participating in political activities (requires City Manager approval)" 


(Ex. 1, p. 33.) 


As to this provision, the arbitrator stated: 


"Article 17.6 Leave Without Pay, states that 'Leave Without Pay may be 
granted or imposed by the Department Director, or designee, to employees for ... :' 
one or more of six ( 6) reasons listed including ' 1) Purposes normally covered by 
sick leave, annual leave or Time in Lieu of (TILO) when such leave has been 
exhausted~ 2) Disciplinary action ... ' This language is clear and unequivocal on its 
face. There are no restrictions on granting or imposing mentioned in this section 
including item 17 .6.1 . LVCEA argued strongly that only discipline can be 
imposed. There is no language in this section which states or places any 
restrictions on the City to grant or impose any of the six categories." 


(Ex. 74, p. 12-13. Emphasis on the original.) 


Thus, the arbitrator opined that the City could impose LWOP for any of the six 


enumerated reasons. However, this interpretation simply kicks the logical can down the road and 


begs the question of who gets to determine whether any of the six possibilities apply at all. The 
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arbitrator does not say. Certainly if an employee agrees that they need to take time off because 


they are sick or unfit then the City could impose LWOP on an employee if they are out of 


accrued paid leave. But what if the employee believes they are fit and able to work but the City 


contends that they are unfit? The arbitrator's opinion fails to specify whether the City could 


simply unilaterally determine that the employee cannot work. 


Presumably the arbitrator would agree that LWOP could only be imposed once an 


employee chooses to miss work for "purposes normally covered by sick leave" as opposed to the 


City being able to unilaterally determine that the employee is sick or unfit and therefore must 


miss work. If it were otherwise, this provision would lead to the obvious absurdity that the City 


could unilaterally determine that an employee must pursue an education, serve in the military or 


participate in political activities (the other possibilities of when LWOP can be imposed or 


granted.) If the arbitrator's interpretation is that the City does have the authority to determine 


when any of the six possibilities apply (ie: the City can unilaterally determine that an employee 


needs sick leave or needs to pursue an education or needs to serve in the military), then the 


arbitrator's interpretation is nonsense and the provision would obviously not be the product of 


legitimate bargaining consistent with NRS Chapter 288. On the other hand, if the arbitrator 


simply has found that the City can impose L WOP on an employee who has no paid accrued leave 


and yet chooses to miss time because they admittedly are sick or unfit, then such conclusion is 


largely non-controversial. Given that the employee would sti11 have the choice to decide for 


themselfwhether they need sick leave or not, such an interpretation wouldn' t justify the City's 


decision to force Terry to miss work based on Dr. Short's second fitness for duty opinion. Again, 


the arbitrator failed to elaborate on this issue, only spending a single paragraph of his decision on 


the matter. 


Regardless of how the arbitrator interpreted Section 17.6. l of the CBA, such provision 


explicitly doesn' t come into play unless and until an employee has exhausted their paid accrued 


leave. There is no dispute that the City cannot impose LWOP on an employee outside of the 


disciplinary process when an employee has accrued paid leave in their leave banks. Again, the 


portion of 17 .6. 1 that the City claims it relied on provides that L WOP is available for: "Purposes 
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nonnally covered by sick leave, annual leave or Time in Lieu of (TILO) when such leave has 


been exhausted." (Ex. 1, p. 33.) It is not disputed that when the City first refused to allow Terry 


to work based on Dr. Short' s second fitness for duty evaluation, Terry had approximately thirty 


hours of accrued paid leave time in her leave banks. (Ex. 61.) Consequently, under any 


interpretation of 17.6.1, Terry could not have been placed on LWOP at that point. Nor did the 


City do so. Rather, it refused to allow her to work and forced her to burn through paid accrued 


leave. (Id.) Thus, Section 17 .6.1 clearly has no application whatsoever to the City' s decision to 


refuse to allow Terry to work and to force her to bum through her paid accrued leave. 


Incredibly, the City never even advanced an argument to justify its action of refusing to 


allow Terry to work and forcing her to bum through paid accrued leave. When the City' s Human 


Resources representatives advised Terry that she couldn' t work because of Dr. Short' s second 


opinion that she was (supposedly) unfit and that she would have to bum through her paid accrued 


leave, they failed to provide Terry with any explanation as to what contractual basis they had for 


same. (Ex. 61.) During the arbitration, the City' s witnesses (Hunt and Petsco) admitted that they 


were unaware of any contractual basis that would support the City' s decision to refuse to allow 


Terry to work and to force her to bum through her accrued leave. (Ex. 70, p. 474; Ex. 71, p. 


717:20-24.) Nor did the City offer up any argument to explain its position on this matter either in 


its Opening Statement during the arbitration or afterwards in its Closing Brief. (Ex. 69, p. 18-41 ; 


Ex. 73.) The City never advanced any argument on this point because there is none. Simply put, 


nothing in the CBA would allow the City to force an employee to miss work and to bum through 


paid accrued leave. (Ex. 1.) 


Unsurprisingly, the arbitrator failed to offer any explanation as to what contractual or 


legal basis the City might have to refuse to allow Terry to work and to force her to bum through 


accrued paid leave. (Ex. 74.) Again, the arbitrator simply seemed to be of the opinion that since 


nothing in the CBA dealt with fitness for duty evaluations and since the parties never negotiated 


over the matter, the City could simply implement its will. Since this directly impacts employees' 


wages, hours of work and leave time, the arbitrator' s decision flies in the face of the City' s duty 


to bargain over such matters pursuant to NRS 288.150(2) and constitutes a prohibited labor 
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practice in violation ofNRS 288.270(1)(a) and (e). 


V. CONCLUSION 


For the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that this Board should deny the 


City's motion to defer and proceed to a hearing in order to resolve the case herein on its merits. 


Dated: November 17, 2022 


By: Jt6($-
JEFFREY F. ALLEN, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 9495 
Attorneys for Complainants, 
Las Vegas City Employees' Association, 
Julie Terry, Jody Gleed, Marc Brooks and 
International Assoc. of Firefighters Local 1285 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 


The undersigned hereby certifies that, on November 17, 2022, a copy of 


COMPLAINANTS' OPPOSITION TO RESPONDENT CITY OF LAS VEGAS' MOTION 


TO DEFER TO ARBITRATOR'S DECISION REGARDING GRIEVANCE SUBMITTED 


BY JULIE TERRY for the above captioned matter was served via e-mail on: 


Morgan Davis, Esq. 
Assistant City Attorney 
Email: mdavis@lasvegasnevada.gov 
Counsel for Respondent, City of Las Vegas 


Dated: November 17, 2022 By ~a0.--
~J=E='F~"==-"-=E=Y~ F.=--A_,,L-=L-=E~N,_, =-ES~Q~.-----
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BRYAN K. SCOTT 
City Attorney 
Nevada Bar No. 4381 
By: MORGAN DA VIS 
Assistant City Attorney 
Nevada Bar No. 3707 
By: NECHOLE GARCIA 
Deputy City Attorney 
Nevada Bar No. 12746 
495 South Main Street, Sixth Floor 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
(702) 229-6629 
(702) 386-1749 (fax) 
Email: mdavis@.lasvegasnevada.gov 


ngarcia@lasvegasnevada.gov 
Attorneys for City of Las Vegas 
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INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF 
FIREFIGHTERS, LOCAL 1285, 


CONSOLIDATED WITH 


CASE NO. 2021-015 
Complainant, 


vs. 


THE CITY OF LAS VEGAS, 


Respondent. 


CITY OF LAS VEGAS' REPLY TO COMPLAINANTS' OPPOSITION TO 
MOTION TO DEFER TO ARBITRATION PROCEEDINGS 


Respondent CITY OF LAS VEGAS (hereinafter referred to as "CITY"), by and through 


its attorneys ofrecord, Bryan K. Scott, City Attorney, by Morgan Davis, Assistant City Attorney, 


and Nechole Garcia, Deputy City Attorney, hereby files this Reply to Complainants' Opposition 


to Respondent City of Las Vegas' Motion to Defer to Arbitrator's Decision Regarding Grievance 


Submitted by Julie Terry. 


I. BASIC FACTS RELEVANT TO THESE PROCEEDINGS: 


CEA/TERRY filed a grievance alleging violation of Articles 13 and 17 of the parties' 


Collective Bargaining Agreement. The statement of the grievance was: 


The City has terminated my employment without just cause. I am not 
incapable of working as the City has alleged. The City also wrongfully 
placed me in L WOP status without basis and in violation of Article 17. I 
request immediate reinstatement and all appropriate backpay and benefits. 


CEA/TERRY also filed a prohibited practices complaint alleging the CITY's actions 


were not provided for in the CBA and that the CITY had unilaterally changed the CBA. In its 


Pre-Hearing Statement, CEA/TERRY argued against holding the matter in abeyance pending 


resolution of the Arbitration Grievance, boldly stating, "no matter what happens with the 


Grievance, the LVCEA and Terry will seek a remedy from this Board for the City's prohibited 


labor practice." (Complainant's Pre-Hearing Statement, Pg. 8, ln 20-21) This Honorable Board 


stayed the matter and conectly applied its longstanding limited deferral doctrine stating it is " ... a 
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prudential doctrine reflecting a policy favoring grievance arbitration as the preferred method of 


resolving disputes." 


As will be discussed below, the CITY does not believe CEA/TERRY are entitled to a 


complete plenary review at this juncture. Consistent with that position, the CITY does wish to 


present a plenary review of the facts or positions, but will attempt when possible to merely repeat 


verbatim what was presented to the Arbitrator and what was decided by him. 


Eventually the grievance was referred to Arbitration pursuant to the parties Collective 


Bargaining Agreement. Hearings were held on three separate days, February 1, 2022; April 5, 


2022 and May 5, 2022. The proceedings were recorded and transcribed, with the transcript 


consisting of 736 pages. Each party filed extensive written briefs. Portions of the CITY's 


statement of facts in that post-hearing brief is incorporated verbatim in part herein: 


I. Statement of Facts: 


The City of Las Vegas ("CITY") is a local government employer. 
The Department of Public Safety ("DPS") is a CITY department that 
provides the public with law enforcement and detention services. DPS 
operates and manages the city jail, also known as Corrections Services, 
and provides law enforcement and public safety at city parks and facilities, 
also known as Law Enforcement or Marshal Services. Louis Molina 
("MOLINA") was the Chief of DPS at the time the majority of incidents at 
issue in this matter occurred. The CITY and the Las Vegas City 
Employees' Association ("CEA") are parties to a series of successor 
Collective Bargaining Agreements ("CBA") which govern the basic terms 
and conditions of employment for covered employees. DeAndre 
Caruthers ("CARUTHERS") was CEA president at the time the majority 
of incidents in this matter occurred, and he had previously represented the 
grievant in several matters, both disciplinary and otherwise. The Grievant, 
Julie Terry ("TERRY") is employed by DPS as a "DPS Communications 
Specialist," a position contained in the CEA non-supervisory bargaining 
unit. 


The CITY has approved written job descriptions for its classified 
jobs, called "Classification Specifications." The definition of the position 
held by TERRY indicates it "Receives and transmits general and 
emergency communications for the corrections and law enforcement units; 
operates electronic and communications equipment, monitors the safety, 
security, movement and placement of inmates in the detention center." 
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(CITY Ex 5, CEA Ex 42). 


TERRY has an admitted long history of significant attendance 
issues, using significant amounts of sick leave; being in a negative or zero 
sick leave balance almost every year; being on leave without pay on 
multiple occasions. (TR. Vol 1, Pg. 174, ln 9 -176, ln 14) She has had a 
series of difficult personal issues, including but not limited to being at the 
October 1, 2017, mass shooting at the Route 91 Harvest Musical Festival, 
and developing PTSD subsequent to that. She also has other significant 
mental health issues. TERRY started treating with Marriage and Family 
Therapist (MFT) Trina Robison ("TRINA") in late 2017. (CITY Ex 39) 
Treatment with TRINA began around the same time that DPS 
management raised concerns with TERRY's participation in an explorers 
program. Based on a series of significant incidents; TERRY was asked to 
step back from the explorers program for three months and to concentrate 
on on-going therapy. (CITY Ex 37) TERRY frequently discussed with 
TRINA her desire to get back in the explorers program; the status of her 
attempts to do so, and asked TRINA to write a letter suggesting 
participation in such an activity would be good for TERRY. (TR. Vol 2, 
Pg. 323, In 12-24) TRINA provided that requested document on March 1, 
2018. (CITY, Ex 14) Shortly after receipt, DPS management discussed 
the issue with Human Resources and expressed in writing a concern that 
TRINA was not aware of any events other than what TERRY shared and 
inquired about the propriety of contracting TRINA. (CITY Ex 37) 


Records from TRINA reflect that in a July 6, 2018, therapy session 
TERRY reported she had a meeting scheduled with CITY management to 
discuss her return to participation in the explorers program. (CITY Ex. 
39, and TR. Vol 2, Pg. 324, ln 4-8) For all practical purposes this reflects 
the end of TERRY seeing TRINA at that time. For example on July 24, 
2018, TRINA reported an out of session contact indicating that TERRY 
got clearance to return to the explorers program effective July 25, 2018. 
(CITY Ex 39, and TR. Vol 2, Pg. 324, ln 9-15) After obtaining the letter 
and getting that clearance to return to the explorer's activities, there was 
no additional recorded contact with TRINA until the case was closed on 
October 1. (CITY Ex 39) TERRY testified she didn't agree she was 
discharged, but that TERRY thought she did not need to see TRINA 
anymore, despite the FACT that TRINA never told her she did not need to 
continue treatment. (TR. Vol 1, Pg. 248, In 13-20) Further, TERRY 
testified that despite her decision to stop treating, she continued to have 
documented attendance and emotional control issues at work. (TR. Vol 1, 
Pg. 247, ln 21- Pg. 250, ln 20) 


TERRY has a well-documented long history of anxiety and panic 
attacks requiring to be absent from work, and experiencing several 
incidents at work requiring medical attention for anxiety or panic related 
symptoms and has had to leave work, with staff escorting her home. (TR. 
Pg. 177, ln 4-6, and Pg. 200, ln 11- Pg. 203, ln 9) One such event 
occurred on July 19, 2018, and she did not report it to TRfNA. Based on 
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that event, TERRY was referred for a Fitness for Duty Evaluation in 
August of 2018. (CITY Ex 15) That evaluation reflects TERRY indicating 
to the evaluator that she had sought therapy and had an outside licensed 
therapist to deal with her PTSD. (CITY Ex 15, Pg. 2-3) Further, that 
report reflects that TERRY told the evaluator that she was learning to cope 
more effectively with long-term mental health issues exacerbated by the 
shooting, and even through all of that she had not missed any work and 
felt capable of continued full duty. (CITY Ex 15) Based on the 
information reported by TERRY, including she was in therapy and had not 
missed work, Dr. Johnson opined TERRY could continue to function in 
her job full time. In these proceedings TERRY testified she did not recall 
the statements to Dr. Johnson, but admitted that statement attributed to her 
about not missing work was not correct, as she clearly missed time. (TR 
Pg. 213. ln 14 -214, ln 13) 


Several other events continued to occur at work after July 2018, 
reflecting attendance issues, anxiety/ panic attacks requiring medical 
attention and leaving work; welfare checks, and complaints/concerns from 
co-workers about TERRY's emotional stability and actions. (CITY Ex 10, 
11 and 45) Although these events continued to occur, TERRY testified she 
did not engage in any further therapy until 2021. A variety of responses 
were employed by the CITY in an attempt to assist TERRY in dealing 
with these ongoing significant issues. Discussions in non-disciplinary 
settings; referral and access to a departmental crisis specialist; discussions 
about her treatment and medication, and on occasion discipline all 
occurred. The CITY also responded to and attempted to assay the 
concerns and fears of TERR Y's co-workers. (CITY Ex 10, 11, and 45) 


On or about February 18, 2021, while on duty TERRY had what 
appears to be a rather pedestrian discussion about a breakroom and 
hallway, and during that conversation she just shut down and became non­
communicative for the rest of her shift. (TR. Pg. 316, ln 14 - Pg. 317, ln 
14 and CITY Ex 45) Terry was not at work the next day, but made 
comments to a co-worker that were ultimately forwarded to the Boulder 
City Police Department. A Boulder City Police Officer was dispatched to 
TERRY's home; the officer spoke with TERRY; asked her questions 
about her potential suicidal ideations; explained that she needed to be 
taken to the hospital under a "Legal 2000" hold, which she did not want to 
comply with; and transported her to the Boulder City Hospital. (CEA Ex 
8) A "Legal 2000" refers to an "emergency admission" which is" ... the 
involuntary admission of a person who has been placed on a mental health 
crisis hold to a public or private mental health facility or hospital ... " 
(NRS 433A.0163) A "mental health crisis hold" is defined as" ... the 
detention of a person alleged to be a person in a mental health crisis for 
transport, assessment, evaluation and treatment pursuant to NRS 
433A.160." (NRS 433A.0172) A "person in a mental health crisis" is 
defined as any person who has a mental illness and "whose capacity to 
exercise self-control, judgment and discretion in the conduct of the 
person's affairs and social relations or to care for his or her personal needs 
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is diminished, as a result of the mental illness, to the extent that the person 
presents a substantial likelihood of serious harm to himself or herself or 
others ... " (NRS 433A.0175) The detention of the person placed on a 
mental health crisis hold is for assessment, evaluation, intervention and 
treatment lasts for 72 hours. (NRS 433A.150) 


After being asked questions by nurses and a doctor at the Boulder 
City Hospital, TERRY was involuntarily transported to Spring Mountain 
Treatment Center, where she was assessed, evaluated and treated for three 
days. (TR. Vol 1, Pg. 216, ln 3-Pg. 218, ln 9) TERRY called her 
supervisor from the Hospital and tearfully told her that if she had just 
spoken to her the night before, maybe she would not have been so 
depressed, and that regretted that she did not talk about the incident. 
(CITY Ex 45) 


Shortly after completion of the 72 hour hold at Spring Mountain 
Treatment Center, the CITY placed TERRY on administrative leave and 
arranged for a Fit for Duty assessment. (CITY Ex 14) The evaluation was 
arranged by Human Resources Administrator Richard Hunt. ("HUNT") 
TERRY was evaluated by Dr. Mark Short on February 25-26, 2021, who 
issued a written report. (CITY Ex 16) Spring Mountain Treatment Center 
typically creates discharge and aftercare planning with families, caregivers 
and provides referral sources, and according to his reporting, Dr. Short 
considered the Spring Mountain Treatment Center Discharge Form. 
(CITY Ex 16, Pg. 1). According to that reporting, TERRY told Dr. Short 
what she was diagnosed with while at Spring Mountain and that she had 
previously been prescribed medication for anxiety, and that she was 
abusing the medication. (CITY Ex 16, Pg. 2) TERRY also indicated she 
had previously seen a therapist, but she had stopped because the trip was 
too far. (CITY Ex 16, Pg. 2) Further, TERRY reported to Dr. Short she 
had an appointment scheduled for a psychiatrist on February 26, 2021, at 
Desert Psychiatry for medicine management, and had called Legacy 
Health and Wellness to schedule with a therapist. (CITY Ex 16, Pg. 2) 
Dr. Short's report also indicated what TERRY reported about her status at 
work. (CITY Ex 16, Pg. 3) 


Dr. Short's evaluation indicated treatment considerations including 
medication and therapy for depressive symptoms and therapy for her 
acknowledged problems with drug abuse. (CITY Ex 16, Pg. 6) Dr. Short 
opined in part "As a first step, it would appear advisable to address 
patient's current state of clinical anxiety, depression, recent 
benzodiazepine abuse and PTSD, by rapid implementation of supportive 
psychotherapeutic measures. (CITY Ex 16, Pg. 6) Dr. Short's evaluation 
ofTERRY's fitness for duty specifically indicated "prediction of future 
behavior is difficult and often inaccurate, lacking any instrument that is 
able to definitely forecast the potential for harmful acts, clinicians rely 
upon several factors to determine future risk. (CITY Ex 16, Pg. 7) 
Thereafter, he listed the 7 areas of concern and 6 areas that work in her 
favor. (CITY Ex 16, Pg. 7) Included in the areas that worked in her favor 
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were her reported pride in her job and that she is willing and motivated to 
attend treatment. (CITY Ex 16, Pg. 7) (Emphasis added) In closing Dr. 
Short indicated: 


With these considerations in mind, it is my opinion that 
Communications Specialist Terry is safe to return to work at this time ... 
Treatment should include weekly therapy at a minimum, and ongoing 
psychiatric outpatient care .. .I have provided her with the name of a 
psychiatrist and therapist ... although she reported she will immediately 
establish psychiatric care with Desert Psychiatry and Legacy Health. 
(CITY Ex 8, Pg. 7-8) (Emphasis added). 


After reviewing the report HUNT emailed Dr. Short's office noting 
certain perceived differences in what TERRY reported and what DPS 
management had noted, and asked in part "From this, the department is 
asking if our employee can be reevaluated and a new fitness for duty 
derived in light of these updates. I look forward to further dialogue and 
update. If you would like supporting statements from coworkers, please 
let me know." (CEA Ex 14, Pg. 2) Dr. Short's partner Dr. Brown 
answered "Absolutely! And we would like as much information as you 
can provide!! For future reference ... this is all critical information to 
have at the outset of evaluating fitness for duty ... for many reasons ... I 
will find an open spot and bring her back in." (CEA Ex 14, Pg. 1) As 
indicated above this was not the first time the CITY had concerns that 
TERRY was under reporting issues to therapists and/evaluators. 


On March 10, the CITY placed TERRY back on Paid 
Administrative Leave and informed her "Additional information has been 
provided to Integrated Psychological Solutions unit that was not included 
for your first evaluation." (CITY Ex 17) The notice concluded "Human 
Resources will contact you to discuss your return to work after a review of 
the assessment results. (CITY Ex 17) HUNT and Human Resources 
Analyst II, Lori Petsco ("PETSCO"), both provided additional information 
to Dr. SHORT's office. TERRY was seen a second time by Dr. Short on 
March 16, 2021, and Dr. Short issued a second report. (CITY Ex 19) 
That second report indicated that Dr. Short contacted TRINA and she had 
reported that she treated TERRY for anxiety and PTSD; that over the 
course of treatment TERRY evidenced inconsistent behaviors with 
dependent and exaggerated features; and that TRINA reported TERRY' s 
anxiety and PTSD symptoms did improve over the course of treatment but 
her more deeply entrenched personality disorder traits persisted. (CITY 
Ex 19, Pg. 3) After reviewing the supplementary material provided by 
HUNT and PETSCO, as well as the specific information provided by 
TRINA and TERRY, Dr. Short concluded in part that TERRY "was not 
safe to return to work; collaborative data indicates TERRY becomes 
frequently and easily overwhelmed by every day stressors and during 
those moments can be impulsive and emotionally reactive. It is her 
emotional reactivity and poor coping skills that present the primary 
concern as it relates to returning to work." (CITY Ex 19, Pg. 12) Further, 
Dr. Short continued to indicate recommended treatment. He also 
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recommended that her treatment providers be given a copy of his 
evaluation and that she be reevaluated in 3-6 months to determine if she 
made sufficient progress to safely return to work. (CITY Ex 19, Pg. 12). 


CARUTHERS testified that TERRY told him of the results of that 
second evaluation sometime in March; that he advised her to continue to 
do what the CITY was asking her to do; and he knew TERRY would be 
reevaluated at a later date. (TR. Vol. 1, Pg. 126 ln 9- Pg. 128, In 13) 
CARUTHERS testified although he had knowledge of previous Fitness for 
Duty Evaluations, the CEA has never requested or been provided 
documents or materials provided to the evaluator; that he was aware 
TERRY was going back for a re-evaluation based on additional 
information being provided, and that he did not request information as to 
what was provided; and that when the CEA did request that information in 
the discovery process they received them. (TR. Vol. 1, Pg. 138, In 2 - Pg. 
139, ln 25) CARUTHERS testified that MOLINA talked to him about 
moving TERRY from her positon to one in the LEST unit. (TR. Vol. 1, 
Pg. 128, ln 16 - Pg. 129 ln 2) 


TERRY participated in a telephone conversation with PETSCO 
and Tammy Counts, Sr. Human Resources Analyst ("COUNTS") shortly 
after Dr. Short issued his opinion that she was not fit to return to work. 
TERRY confirmed she was informed during that call, that based on the 
evaluation of Dr. Short, she was unable to work; that it was recommended 
that she have weekly therapy and ongoing psychiatric care for medication 
management; that she could be reevaluated in 3 months; that she was on 
approved leave through March 27; that she had little leave balances 
available; that FMLA would cover part of the period but that it was unpaid 
and she would be on Leave Without Pay ("L WOP"), (TR. Vol. 1, Pg. 184, 
ln 3 - Pg. 186, ln 17) COUNTS emailed TERRY confirming the points 
discussed. (CITY Ex 20) TERRY has attempted to suggest that she did 
not recall the email, but she affirmed she was advised of the content. 
Further, the next day TERRY completed an AFLAC "Initial Disability 
Claim Form, asserting she had a disability. (CITY Ex 21, Pg. 1) TERRY 
testified when completing this disability benefits claim form she was 
telling AFLAC that she was disabled and was asking for benefits as a 
result of that disability, and that the form included an admonition about 
honesty by her signature. (TR. Vol. 1, Pg. 188, ln 14- Pg. 189 In 11 ). 
TRINA likewise completed a section of the form called "Initial Disability 
Claim Form -Physicians Statement," setting forth multiple diagnosis for 
TERRY's disability and corresponding ICD codes, and that she was 
disabled for approximately the next three months. (CITY Ex 21, Pg. 3). 
TERRY testified she asked TRINA to complete that section of the claim 
form; never told TRINA she was not disabled or asked her to lie, and 
assumed TRINA would be honest in completing the form. (TR Vol. 1, Pg. 
189, ln 12-23) 


After the three month period identified by both Dr. Short and 
TRINA had expired, PETSCO arranged for a follow up evaluation with 
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Dr. Short. On July 15, 2021, Dr. Short issued an Amended Fitness for 
Duty Evaluation. (CITY Ex 22) Dr. Short's reporting reflects that as part 
of the second reevaluation he again sought and received information from 
TRINA and records from the psychiatric group and met with TERRY. 
According to that report, TRINA indicated that TERRY had been very 
consistent in therapy, which mostly related to grief issues and stress over 
housing issues; and in addition to the stress there were underlying features 
of Borderline Personality Disorder. (CITY Ex 22, Pg. 2) Dr. Short's 
reporting clearly indicated that TRINA was of the opinion TERRY could 
return to work as of July 12, 2021. That reporting also noted that 
information from the psychiatric group that reflected that in March 
TERRY denied any problems with substance abuse; but that she had have 
a recent panic attack and was averaging 2-3 a month. (CITY Ex 22, Pg. 
3) Ultimately, despite TRINA's documented opinion, Dr. Short continued 
to express the opinion that TERRY was not safe to return to work; that she 
should engage in continued weekly therapy at a minimum, and outgoing 
psychiatric outpatient care and be reevaluated in another 6 months. (CITY 
Ex 22, Pg. 3) 


CARUTHERS testified TERRY informed him of the results of the 
third evaluation and the recommendation she remain off work for another 
6 months and then be revaluated, that TERRY wanted to come back to 
work, and that he reached out to PETS CO about the possibility of TERRY 
working in another position. (TR. Vol. 1, Pg. 130, ln 2-11) On July 19, 
2021, PETSCO emailed Dr. Short's office relaying the request by 
CARUTHERS about TERRY working in other positions, and identified 5 
currently open positions and forwarded the job descriptions. (CITY Ex 
23) On July 26, 2021, Dr. Short replied that he had reviewed the current 
jobs, and he felt TERRY would not be able to perform them. (CITY Ex 
24) At that point in time, MOLINA determined DPS co1,1ld not 
accommodate an additional 6 months of leave, and that it wanted to fill the 
positon. Rather than proposing TERRY's termination, the CITY elected 
to issue a Notice of Separation, as provided for in the CBA that would 
allow TERRY to resign and remain eligible for rehire. 


The CEA/CARUTHERS received advance notice of the Notice of 
Separation. PETS CO also called TERRY and told her of this decision, 
and followed up on July 28, 2021, with a written Notice of Separation. 
(CEA Ex 29) The CITY entered resignation in its internal system on July 
28, 2021, consistent with the CBA provisions. (CITY Ex 44, Pg. 1) The 
State of Nevada requires employers to provide a notice of information 
about unemployment to each employee who is laid off or who otherwise 
leaves employment, and accordingly, PETSCO also provided TERRY 
with that state mandated unemployment notice at that time. (CEA Ex 30) 
TERRY testified that she applied online for unemployment, having been 
advised to be honest; and that she entered the reason she was no longer 
employed. (TR. Vol. 1, Pg. 191, ln 4-20) TERRY did not recall the 
reason she entered, but recalled that her claim was denied. (TR. Vol. 1, 
Pg. 191 ln 21- Pg. 192, ln 8) PETSCO testified that she reviewed 
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TERRY' s claim for unemployment benefits, and that the reason TERRY 
selected for her leaving the CITY was voluntarily quit. (TR. Vol. 3, Pg. 
658, In 17-24) This election was consistent with the intended resignation 
under CBA Article 17.6.8. 


(CEA/TERRY Ex. 73, CITY's Post Arbitration Brief, Pg. 1, ln 6 - Pg. 10, ln 15) 


The Arbitration concluded on August 11, 2022, when Arbitrator Jonathon Monat issued 


his Arbitrator's Findings and Award denying the grievance in its entirety. The CITY stipulated 


to remove the stay and moved for this Honorable Board to defer to the Arbitrator's decision. 


CEA/TERRY have resisted deferral. 


In its Opposition, CEA/TERRY repeatedly accused the CITY of fabricating the 


information it provided to Dr. Short in order to get him to change his determination. (Opposition 


at Pg. 16, ln 7- 13; Pg. 18, In 11-15). CEA/TERRY made the same incendiary allegations at the 


arbitration, and the CITY refuted them. CEA/TERRY raises those allegations again in its 


Opposition in an apparent attempt to obtain a de novo review of TERR Y's case. As stated above 


at this juncture the deferral doctrine is not a de novo or plenary review of the facts; however, the 


CITY believes that the inflammatory nature of these particular allegations merit a briefresponse. 


The CEA/TERRY made issue of the fact that HUNT reported that TERRY worked at a 


911 call center. (Opposition Pg. 17, ln 1-12). They fail to mention that TERRY admitted that she 


works in a call center that dispatches emergency calls, just as 911 dispatchers do. (CEA/TERRY 


Ex. 70, TR Pg. 343, ln 9-11) TERRY further conceded that the types of calls she fields include 


medical emergencies with inmates or officers and requests from CITY marshals in the field to 


provide emergency assistance for violent or suicidal citizens. (CEA/TERRY Ex. 70, TR Pg. 346, 


ln 8-20; TR Pg. 347 ln 16-25; TR Pg. 348 ln 8-21) TERRY ultimately agreed that the only real 


difference between her position and working in a 911 call center is the number dialed to receive 


assistance. (CEA/TERRY Ex. 70, TR Pg. 349, ln 5-7, 14-15). 


In another example, The CEA/TERRY disputes what it calls the "lowlights" of PETSCO's 
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memo to Dr. Short. (Opp. Pg. 18, ln 11-15). CEA/TERRY claims that the memo's statement that 


"[ s ]taff who have worked with Julie do not feel safe working with her," was "subjective and 


misleading." (Opp. Pg. 18, ln 16-18). PETSCO's memo did not just make that statement without 


providing any explanation. Her memo provided examples of the troubling behavior that was the 


basis for the statement. (CEA/TERRY Ex 19, Pg. 1). More importantly, during arbitration, the 


CITY presented documentation from TERRY's coworker who had observed the troubling 


behavior and became concerned about their safety as a result. (CEA/TERRY Ex. 71, TR Pg. 631, 


ln 11 - Pg. 632, ln 5) The CITY introduced an email where TERRY's coworker describes several 


different incidents, including several instances of TERRY crying at her desk and/or becoming 


agitated, observing TERRY slapping herself in the face with her hands, and TERRY bragging 


about keeping her gun in her car and brandishing it during a road rage incident. (CEA/TERRY Ex. 


71, TR Pg. 632, ln 17 - Pg. 633, ln 12). CEA/TERRY called much of these observations 


"subjective," but behavior such as crying uncontrollably and hitting oneself is hardly subjective 


when it is observed by coworkers. 


In another example, CEA/TERRY disputes PETSCO's statement that supervisors had lost 


confidence in TERRY's ability to function as an emergency operator. (Opp. Pg. 18, ln 26-28). 


CEA/TERRY disputes that fact by pointing to TERRY's performance evaluation, but neglects to 


mention that the CITY introduced documentation to support PETS CO' s assertion. During the 


arbitration hearing, the CITY introduced an email from TERRY' s supervisor where she was 


concerned about TERRY's mental health and ability to do the job because TERRY told the 


supervisor she could not have handled an emergency medical call that arose with one of the 


Corrections Officers. (CEA/TERRY Ex. 71, TR Pg. 728, ln 24- Pg. 729, ln 17). 


The CITY similarly refuted the CEA/TERRY's other allegations of attempting to tip the 


scale against TERRY during the arbitration. Most importantly, the Arbitrator considered the 


CEA/TERRY's various allegations, and ultimately rejected them. (CEA/TERRY Ex. 74, 
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Arbitrator's Findings and Award, Pg. 11, 14-15). 


II. LEGAL ANALYSIS: 


A. Post-Arbitration Deferral Standards. 


In its Opposition CEA/TERRY cite to this Honorable Board's decision in Int'! Ass 'n of 


Fire Fighters, Local 4068 v. Town of Pahrump, Case No. 2017-009, Item 833 (2018) as setting 


forth the standards for post arbitral deferral. (Opp. Pg. 29, In 6-15) That well-reasoned order also 


sets forth several other significant concepts that have been correctly embraced by this Honorable 


Board. First, that CEA/TERRY as the" ... party desiring the [EMRB] to reject an arbitration 


award has the burden of demonstrating these principles are not met." (Citation omitted) Id. at 


pg. 4. Additionally, this Honorable Board's Order in that matter re-affirmed the long-standing 


heighted respect for the arbitration process stating, "This Board has repeatedly emphasized that 


the preferred method for resolving disputes is through the bargained for processes, and the Board 


applies NAC 288.375(2) liberally to effectuate that purpose." (Citation omitted) Id. at pg. 4 


While CEA/TERRY clearly cited to the five principles applicable for deferral decisions, 


they did not specifically identify which standards they are arguing apply in this case. While not 


specifically referencing any of the listed factors, it appears clear the only factor they are arguing 


is number three, "the decision was not clearly repugnant to the purposes and policies of the 


[EMRA]."1 It appears beyond reason that none of the other four factors could arguable apply. 


For example, there is no question that the proceedings were fair and regular. Those proceedings 


were extensive, and were recorded and transcribed; the parties were permitted full opportunity to 


introduce exhibits and to examine and cross-examine witnesses; the parties each prepared and 


filed lengthy post-hearing briefs; which were reviewed and noted in a written decision. All 


1 They did reference this Honorable Board's citation to "clearly repugnant" in Item 843, (Pg. 29) and allege "This 
Board should deny the City's motion to defer because the arbitrator's decision is \Vhclly incompatible \Vith 1'-JRS 
Chapter 288." (Pg. 31) 
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hallmarks of a fair and regular proceeding exist. Additionally, the CBA makes clear that the 


Arbitration is "Final and Binding." Further, there can be no question that grievance and the 


prohibited practice complaint were factually parallel. Even a cursory review makes clear both 


actions were based on the exact same set of facts. More importantly, Arbitrator Monat was not 


only presented generally with facts relevant to the labor case concerning a unilateral change 


without negotiation, but CEA/TERRY specifically introduced into evidence and extensively 


argued in detail to Arbitrator Monat this Honorable Board's decisions in HPOA v. City of 


Henderson, Case No Al-045324, Item 83 (1978) and City of Las Vegas, Case No. Al-045477, 


Item 263 (1991). The post-hearing brief to Arbitrator Monat on those issues are virtually the 


same argument made in this case. This undisputed fact takes on heightened importance under 


CBA Article 5, which provides affirmation of a process for the CITY to adopt and change 


policies and procedures by giving the CEA notice and copies, and expressly indicates that if the 


CEA disagrees or disputes the policy adoption or change, even if it covers a mandatory subject 


of bargaining under Chapter 288, they may pursue the matter in Arbitration. At the hearing, 


the CITY argued those unilateral change allegations were more appropriate for this Honorable 


Board, yet nonetheless CEA/TERRY presented the allegations and argued the unilateral change 


to Arbitrator Monat. There is no question the issues and facts relevant to the alleged unilateral 


change were presented to and considered by Arbitrator Monat. 


Ortiz v. Service Employees International Union, Local l /07, Case No. 2020-021, Item 


879 (2020) represents this Honorable Board's most recent order concerning post arbitral deferral. 


In that matter this Honorable Board commented on the repugnancy factor, stating in part "The 


National Labor Relations Board has explained that a decision is not 'clearly repugnant' unless 


the decision is 'palpably wrong, i.e. unless the [IEB's] decision is not susceptible to an 


interpretation consistent with the Act." Verizon New England Inc. v. NLRB, 423, U.S. App. D.C. 


316, 3 22, 826 F .3d 480, 486 (2016). " Id. at pg. 4. In that Verizon decision which this 
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Honorable Court cited to, the D.C. Court of Appeals repeatedly used the phrase "highly 


deferential" in describing the deference to be given an Arbitrators decision. For example: 


The National Labor Relations Board may still review an arbitration 
decision in certain circumstances when the losing party says it has been 
deprived of a right otherwise guaranteed by the National Labor Relations 
Act. But consistent with the national policy favoring arbitration, the 
Board reviews arbitration decisions under a highly deferential standard, 
known as the Spielberg-Olin standard. 


Id. at 482. (Emphasis added) 


Further: 


The union appealed the matter to the Board. Although the Board reviews 
arbitration decisions under a highly deferential standard, the Board in a 
2-1 ruling overturned this arbitration decision. The Board determined that 
the union's waiver of its members rights to picket did not waive their right 
to visibility display pro-union signs in cars on Verizon property. 


We conclude that the Board misapplied its highly deferential standard 
for reviewing arbitration decisions. Under that standard the Board should 
have upheld the arbitration decision. 


Id at 483. (Emphasis added) 


Further, "Under the Board's highly deferential Spielberg-Olin standard (as relevant 


here), the Board will defer to an arbitration award unless the award is 'clearly repugnant' to the 


National Labor Relations Act." (Citation omitted) (Emphasis added). Id. at 485. Additionally: 


Our review is deferential, not de novo. (Emphasis added) Id at 485. 


Additionally, "Under Section 10 of the Act, the Board possesses discretion 
over how much to defer to arbitration decisions. The standard the Board 
has long used to review arbitration decisions-the Spielberg-Olin standard­
is highly deferential to the arbitrator. The Board adopted that highly 
deferential standard to further the 'national policy strongly favor(ing) the 
voluntary arbitration of disputes."' (Citation omitted) 


Id at 485. (Emphasis added). 


The Verizon decision cited to by this Honorable Board also clarified what is meant by the 


phrase "palpably wrong": 


-14-







1 


2 


3 


4 


5 


6 


7 


8 


9 


10 


11 


12 


13 


14 


15 


16 


17 


18 


19 


20 


21 


22 


23 


24 


25 


26 


27 


28 


As we read the Board's precedents, the Spielberg-Olin standard 
allows another (albeit narrow) way to show that an arbitration decision is 
'clearly repugnant to the Act'; if the arbitrator interpreted the contract in a 
'palpably wrong' manner and thereby deprived the losing party of a right 
otherwise guaranteed under the Act. 


What does 'palpably wrong' mean? The phrase means what it 
suggests. Wrong in not enough. The adverb matters. Egregiously wrong, 
clearly erroneous, badly flawed, totally wrong, jumping the rails. 
Whatever the exact verbal formulation - we will use 'egregiously 
wrong' - the basic idea remains the same: The Board must afford 
great deference to the arbitrator's interpretation of the contract. See, 
e.g., Motor Convoy, Inc., 303 N.L.R.B. 135, 137 (1991); US. Postal 
Service, 275 N.L.R.B. 430,432 (1985) (arbitration decision that does 
not comport precisely with Board precedent is not 'palpably wrong'). 


Id. at 485. (Emphasis added). 


Footnote 3 to the Verizon decision also indicated that the "palpably wrong" standard was 


similar (although perhaps a notch less deferential to the arbitrator than) "extraordinarily 


deferential standard" applied in Section 301 cases. Id. ( emphasis added) The court continued, 


"Consistent with the national policy favoring labor arbitration, a federal court 'presiding over a 


Section 301 proceeding seeking enforcement of an arbitrator's award must give the award the 


greatest deference imaginable - the award must be enforced so long as the arbitrator purports 


to be interpreting the contract rather than dispensing 'his own brand of industrial justice."' 


(Citation omitted) (Emphasis added). 


Courts and Agencies, both on the state and federal level, have consistently created a 


universal and longstanding respect and deference for the voluntary arbitration process, and 


deference to Arbitrators' A wards. As the Honorable Board well knows, this respect grew out of 


what became known as the Steelworks Trilogy, based on three cases decided by the United States 


Supreme Court in 1960. The import of those trilogy cases is that Arbitration was a substitute for 


labor strikes or strife to be preferred over litigation. Arbitration was favored, and the policy of 


settling labor disputes would be undermined if courts had the final say on the merits of an award. 


As stated by the High Court in Steelworkers v. Enterprise Wheel and Card Corp., 363 U.S. 593 
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(1960): 


Id. Pg. 599. 


This plenary review by a court of the merits would make meaningless the 
provisions that the arbitrator's decision is final, for in reality it would 
almost never be final. This underlines the fundamental error which we 
have alluded to in United Steelworkers of America v. American 
Manufacturing Co., 363 U.S. 564, 80 S.Ct. 1343. 


As we there emphasized, the question of interpretation of the collective 
bargaining agreement is a question for the arbitrator. It is the arbitrator's 
construction which was bargained for; and so far as the arbitrator's 
decision concerns construction of the contract, the courts have no business 
overruling him because their interpretation of the contract is different from 
his. 


By way of analogy, the Nevada Supreme Court has similarly frequently referenced this 


concept in cases related to NRS Chapter 288 and this Board, albeit under NRS Chapter 38. "The 


court noted that plenary review would make meaningless the provisions that the arbitrators 


decision is final, for in reality it would almost never be final." See City of Boulder City v. 


General Sales Drivers, Delivery Drivers and Helpers, 101 Nev. 117, 119,694 P.2d. 498 (1985) 


(citing United Steelworkers of America v. Enterprise Wheel & Car Corp., 363 U.S. 593, 596 


(1960)). "An arbitrator's award 'must be based on the collective bargaining agreement, and 


must be enforced by the courts even if the arbitrators interpretation of the contract is ambiguous 


or would differ from the courts interpretation."' International Association of Firefighters, Local 


1285 v. City of Las Vegas, 107 Nev. 906, 910, 823 P.2d. 877, 879 (1991) (Citations omitted). 


"Courts have allowed arbitrators wide latitude in interpreting labor contracts. ( citation omitted) 


This court has been equally deferential, stressing that, "[ w ]hen an arbitrator is commissioned to 


interpret and apply the collective bargaining agreement, he is to bring his informed judgement to 


bear in order to reach a fair solution of a problem." Id. "This court reviews a district court 


decision to confirm an arbitration award de novo. (citation omitted) But the scope of the district 


court's review of an arbitration award (and consequently, our own de novo review of the district 
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courts decision) is extremely limited and is 'nothing like the scope of an appellate court's review 


of a trial courts decision."' Knickmeyer v. State ex.rel. Eighth Judicial Court, 133 Nev. 675, 


676-77, 408 P.3d 161, 164 (2017) (Citation omitted). "A reviewing court should not concern 


itself with the correctness of an arbitration award and thus does not review the merits of the 


dispute." Id. ( citation omitted) "Rather, when a contractual agreement mandates that disputes be 


resolved through binding arbitration, courts do give considerable deference to arbitrators 


decisions." Id. "Arbitrators exceed their powers when they address issues or make awards 


outside the scope of the governing contract.. .. [But arbitrators do not exceed their powers if their 


interpretation of an agreement, even if erroneous, is rationally grounded in the agreement." 


News+Media Capital Group LLC v. Las Vegas Sun, Inc. 495 P.3d 108, 137 Nev. Adv. Op. 45 


(2021) (Citation omitted) "'The question is whether the arbitrator had authority under the 


agreement to decide an issue, not whether it was correctly decided.' (Citation omitted) The 


award should be confirmed 'so long as the arbitrator is arguably construing or applying the 


contract' and the outcome has a 'colorable justification.' After all, it is the arbitrator construction 


that was bargained for; so far as the arbitrator's decision concerns construction of the contract, 


the courts have no business overruling him because their interpretation of the contract is different 


from his." Id. (Citation omitted) 


In a case involving post arbitral deferral and the "clearly repugnant standard" the Ninth 


Circuit Court of Appeals, the circuit containing Nevada, has likewise referenced the Steelworkers 


Trilogy and its import: 


Congress has established that labor arbitration agreed upon by a union and 
its employer is "the desirable method of settlement of grievance disputes arising 
over the interpretation or application of an existing collective-bargaining 
agreement." (Citation omitted) In fact, the NLRA is" ... primarily designed to 
promote fodustrial peace and stability by encouraging the practice and procedure 
of collective bargaining." (citation omitted) One of the Board's primary functions 
is to foster stability in labor relations, to encourage good-faith negotiations, and to 
give effect to the parties agreements. ( citation omitted) Arbitration plays a central 
role in achieving this goal. ( citation omitted) ("[ A ]rbitration is the substitute for 
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industrial strife.") As the Board noted below, this stability is undermined when 
the Board adopts policies that detract from final and binding arbitration 
procedures to which employers and unions have previously agreed ... An 
arbitrator's decision is "clearly repugnant to the N.L.R.A if the decision is 
palpably wrong, i.e., "unless the arbitrators decision is not susceptible to an 
interpretation consistent with the Act. ( citation omitted) Thus, "[i]f the reasoning 
behind an award is susceptible of two interpretations, one permissible, and 
one impermissible, it is simply not true under that the award is "clearly 
repugnant" to the Act." (citation omitted) 


Beneli v. National Labor Relations Board, 873 F.3d 1094 (9th Cir. 2017) (Emphasis added) 


Taken as a whole, the legal principles reflect great deference should be given to the 


arbitration award, and any review at this point in time is not plenary or de novo on the merits. 


Rather it is a limited review to determine only if the decision was repugnant to the Act. If 


Arbitrator Monat's reasoning or decision is susceptible to two interpretations, one of which is 


permissible, then this Board must defer. CEA/TERRY on the other hand seem intent on a full 


second bite of the apple. That is not the standard. 


B. Unilateral Change Allegations in this Matter. 


Under the Appropriate Standards: 


There is no disagreement that a unilateral change to the bargained terms of employment 


can be the basis for a prohibited labor charge. However, the mere allegation of a unilateral 


change does not allow rejection of Arbitrator Monat's decision. Substantially more must be 


proven. CEA/TERRY relied heavily on this Honorable Board's decision in Charles Ebarb v. 


Clark County and Clark County Water Reclamation District, Case No. 2018-006, Item No 843 


(2019). That decision re-affirmed many previously articulated principles. For example as to the 


burden of proof this Honorable Board's decision there states "A party claiming the unilateral 


change has been committed must show by a preponderance of the evidence that the actual 


terms of conditions of employment have been changed by the employer such that after the 


occurrence which is subject of the complaint, the terms of employment differ from what was 


bargained for or otherwise established." Id. at pg. 6. (Emphasis added) As a result, 
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CEA/TERRY would typically need to show, among other things, that the CITY breached or 


altered the CBA or existing past practice. 


In relying on Ebarb, CEA/TERRY specifically cited to conclusion oflaw 24. (Opp. Pg. 


29, In 16-18) That conclusion of law correlates to a citation this Honorable Board made on page 


18 of its analysis to Kohler Mix Specialists, 332 NLRB 630, 631 (2000). The Kohler decision, as 


cited by this Honorable Board in Ebarb and relied on by CEA/TERRY makes clear there is a 


difference between decisions of the arbitrator that find the absence of a "contractual prohibition" 


on the employer's action, as compared to arbitrator decisions based on a CBA provision 


"affirmatively permitting" the employer action. The former may support denial of deferral, 


where the latter would not. For example as stated there: 


The issue decided by the arbitrator, however, was only whether any 
provision of the parties' contract affirmatively prohibited the Respondent's 
unilateral decision to subcontract its over-the-road-delivery operation. 
Finding no such prohibition, the arbitrator concluded that there had been 
no breach of contract. 


In these circumstances, we agree with the General Counsel that Armour & 
Co., 280 NLRB 824 fn. 2 (1986), is dispositive of the deferral issue. As in 
this case, the arbitrator in Armour found that the parties' contract did not 
prohibit a challenged unilateral change by the employer, but the arbitrator 
did not consider whether the respondent had fulfilled, or the union had 
agreed to waive, any statutory duty to bargain. In declining to defer, the 
Board noted that the absence of a "contractual prohibition" of the 
employer's action was "neither conclusive of the statutory issue ... nor 
inconsistent with a finding that the Respondent had breached its statutory 
duty to bargain." Id. See also Haddon Craftsmen, Inc., 300 NLRB 789, 
790 fn. 5 (1990). 


Further, we find distinguishable such cases as Southern Caltfornia Edison 
Co., 310 NLRB 1229 (1993), relied on by the Respondent. In that case, the 
arbitrator found that certain contractual provisions affirmatively permitted, 
i.e., specifically afforded management the discretion to implement, the 
unilateral change at issue. No party contended that the arbitrator had not 
adequately considered the unfair labor practice issue, and the only issue 
before the Board was whether the arbitrator's decision was "clearly 
repugnant." See also Dennison National Co., 296 NLRB 169, 170 fn. 6 
(1989), where the Board distinguished Armour & Co. and found that the 
arbitrator had adequately considered the unfair labor practice issue 
inasmuch as he did not limit himself to the issue of whether the 
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respondent's unilateral action violated the collective-bargaining 
agreement, but also found that the management-rights clause of the 
contract granted the respondent the right to act unilaterally. 


Id. at 631. (Emphasis added). 


The Edison opinion cited in Kohler states in part: 


We disagree with the General Counsel's and the Charging Parties' view of 
the "clearly repugnant" standard as it is applied to the arbitrator's decision 
regarding the contractual authorization for the Respondent's 
implementation of the SONGS drug testing program. Contrary to the 
contentions of the General Counsel and the Charging Parties, the Board 
has deferred to arbitration decisions which find that language in a 
general management-rights clause authorizes unilateral changes in 
terms and conditions of employment by an employer. See, e.g., Hoover 
Co., 307 NLRB 524 (1992) (arbltrator found that clause giving employer 
the right to "establish and from time to time amend rules and 
regulations" authorized unilateral ban on smoking under the 
circumstances); Dennison National Co., 296 NLRB 169 (1989) 
(arbitrator found that the management-rights clause authorized unilateral 
elimination of job classifications). Indeed, the Board has specifically 
stated that, "if an arbitrator upholds an employer's argument that its 
actions were justified by a contractual management-rights clause, the 
Board, in an 8(a)(5) unilateral change case, would defer to the award, even 
if neither the award nor the clause read in terms of the statutory standard 
of clear and unmistakable waiver. Motor Convoy, 303 NLRB 135, 136 
(1991 ). Thus, an award can be susceptible to the interpretation that 
the arbitrator found a waiver, even if the arbitral award does not 
speak in those terms. Further, given such a finding of waiver, the mere 
fact that the Board would not have found a waiver is insufficient by itself 
to establish repugnance.4 The Board will determine whether a particular 
award is "clearly repugnant to the Act" by reviewing all the 
circumstances, including the contractual language, evidence of bargaining 
history and past practice presented in the case. 


Southern California Edison Co., 310 NLRB 1229, at 1231 (1993). (Emphasis added) 


Likewise the Dennison opinion cited in Kohler states in part: 


In an unfair labor practice proceeding on the merits of the statutory issue, 
the Board must consider whether the Respondent's action constituted a 
unilateral change in vio.lation of its bargaining obligation under Section 
8(a)(5) of the Act. The presence of contractual authorization for the 
Respondent's action is determinative of the unfair labor practice 
allegation. Teledyne Industries, 275 NLRB 520 fn. 2 (1985). Accordingly, 
we find that the contractual issue effectively resolved by the arbitrator was 
factually parallel to the unfair labor practice issue. 
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Dennison National Co., 296 NLRB 169, 170 (1989) 


1) Arbitrator Monat's Decision of the Termination Allegations was based on 
existing CBA provisions "Affirmatively Permitting" the City Action. 


In this case, CEA/TERRY has alleged the CITY breached or changed the CBA 


disciplinary processes by suspending and/or terminating her, just like they did in the arbitration. 


The relevant and parallel allegations in the Complaint filed before this Honorable Board are 


found in paragraphs 7 and 8. Paragraph 7 relates the allegation that the CITY terminated or 


suspended TERRY stating, "The CBA does not allow the City to suspend an employee without 


pay or terminate their employment prior to the completion of the disciplinary process." This 


exact allegation was likewise presented to Arbitrator Monat. For example, in opening statement 


CEA/TERRY alleged, "What the Collective Bargaining Agreement says is that, in order for the 


City of Las Vegas to suspend or terminate an employee, the only process available to it is the 


disciplinary process. There is no other way for an employee to be suspended or terminated." 


(CEA/TERRY Ex. 70, TR Vol 1. Pg. 42, 16-20) (Emphasis added). 


The operative document in TERR Y's Arbitration was a "Notice of Separation" that cited 


to Article 17.6.8 of the CBA. This is different from a Notice of Termination under Article 13 ! 


Arbitrator Monat was presented evidence that a Notice of Separation under that provision was a 


separate and distinct procedure from the termination process contained in Article 13. The 


CITY's Post-Hearing Brief as incorporated immediately below reflects what was presented to 


Arbitrator Monat demonstrating that "Separation" in these circumstances was affirmatively 


authorized by a specific section of the CBA that was separate and distinct from the Disciplinary 


section: 


A. The CITY Did Not Terminate TERRY! 


The position taken by the CEA/TERRY was clearly set forth 
within seconds of going on record in this matter. Counsel for the 
CEA/TERRY stated" ... But what is clear is this is an involuntary 
separation, which, I would say, is a termination case." (TR. Vol. 1, Pg. 13, 
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ln 16) Further he stated ". . . the only process available to remove an 
employee from their job is to utilize the termination process contained 
in the disciplinary article." (TR. Vol. 1, Pg. 42, ln 16-20) (Emphasis 
added). That position is categorically false, and was easily rebutted by 
testimony of the CEA President, as well as express language in the 
Collective Bargaining Agreement; and by other documentary evidence 
submitted to Your Honor. 


(CEA/TERRY Ex. 73, CITY Post-Arbitration Briefto Arbitrator Monat, Pg. 13, ln 8-Pg. 14, ln 
4) 


Later in that brief to Arbitrator Monat, the CITY stated: 


The operative document in this case was not a Notice of 
Termination pursuant to Article 13. Rather, it was a Notice of Separation, 
which expressly stated in part "Pursuant to Article 17.6.8 of the Collective 
Bargaining Agreement between the City of Las Vegas and the Las Vegas 
City Employee's Association,· ... employees who are unable to return to 
work after being on L WOP status for twelve (12) weeks may be separated 
from City employment upon notice to the employee and the Association 
after the 12 weeks of approved L WOP has expired."' (CITY Ex 3, CEA 
Ex 28) While he did not know how long that provision had been in the 
CBA, CARUTHERS clearly testified in agreement that this provision 
allowing separation was different and distinct from a disciplinary 
termination. (TR. Vol. 1, Pg. 70, ln 2-16) The language contained in 
Article 17.6.8 grew out of contract negotiations that resulted in fact­
finding in 2003. Relevant portions of that fact-finding recommendation 
are contained in CITY Ex 9. CARUTHERS admitted that prior to his 
testimony on the first day of the hearing he was not familiar with that fact­
finding recommendation, but after being shown it and questioned about it, 
CARUTHERS clearly reaffirmed that the "sole process" position being 
argued by the CEA/TERRY was not correct. For example: 


Q: So these documents, they clearly reflect having put something in 
the contract that's been there as long as you can remember, that separation 
with a notice and a resignation is different and distinct from Article 1 7 
termination, correct DeAndre? 


A: That's correct. 


(TR. Vol. 1, Pg. 75, ln 19-24) 


CITY Ex 9 clearly reflects that the CEA was opposed to the 
CITY's proposal to create a new contractual process or procedure for 
separating employees who had been out sick, and in part argued in 
opposition that the CITY could already do that under existing disciplinary 
procedures. The relevant language of the fact-finder recommendation 
stated: 
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1. As matters stand, the City cannot terminate employees who are out 
on sick leave for over a year without jeopardizing that employee's 
chance of working for the City in the future. If the City would prefer 
not to put the employee's in such jeopardy, then the City is penalized by 
not being able to replace that employee and by being required to continue 
to pay benefits for the absent employee. It seems to the Factfinder that it 
is not unfair to ask an employee away from the job for more than 12 
months to determine if he/she is ready, willing and able to return to the 
workplace. If no, then it is not unreasonable to ask that person to 
relinquish their employee status, especially since the possibility for future 
employee remains open. The Factfinder understands that the Association 
is unwilling to agree that any of its bargaining unit members be cut off 
from receiving benefits for any reason, but in this case, the Factfinder 
concludes that the equities favor the City's position. The Factfinder holds 
that the City's proposal to add this provision to Article 17 (E) is hereby 
adopted. 
(Emphasis added). 


(CEA/TERRY Ex. 73, CITY Post-Arbitration Briefto Arbitrator Monat, Pg. 14, ln 14 to Pg. 15, 


ln 21) 


Further, in the Brief the CITY additionally stated: 


Counsel for the CEA/TERRY has characterized the CITY' s 
position on the termination issue as "ridiculous;" "patently absurd" as one 
of attempting to re-write history. This is one of a plethora of personal 
attacks and gratuitous editorial comment that are found in the record in 
this case. Your Honor has already commented that they are lost on him 
and serve no real purpose. As a result the CITY will not respond to them 
in great detail. However, it is abundantly clear that termination is not the 
only process available, but that the separation process is an alternative 
one. 


(CEA/TERRY Ex. 73, CITY Post-Hearing Briefto Arbitrator Monat, Pg. 17, ln 20-27) 


As to this allegation that termination was the sole or only process, CEA/TERRY argued 


that CBA 17.6.8 was only applicable if the employee agreed they were not able to return to work. 


Arbitrator Monat noted this contention in his analysis. (CEA/TERRY Ex. 74, Arbitrator's 


Findings and Award, Pg. 10) He specifically disagreed and found "Article 17 .6.8 was properly 


applied." (CEA/TERRY Ex. 74, Arbitrator's Findings and Award, Pg. 17) Arbitrator Monat's 


decision on this issue did not allow the CITY to unilaterally change the CBA; rather he found a 


CBA provision affirmatively allowed for the action. Even to the extent CEA/TERRY attempted 
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to suggest that provision could not apply because TERRY had not agreed she was unable to 


work, Arbitrator Monat's analysis reflects he considered two alternative interpretations, and 


simply found the CEA/TERRY one to be incorrect. Two alternative interpretations were offered, 


and his finding is clearly an interpretation of the CBA that is permissible repugnant Act. As 


such, the decision on that issue cannot be said to be repugnant to the Act, this Honorable Board 


must defer to it. 


2) Arbitrator Monat's Decision on Terry's Fitness for Duty Allegation was based 
on existing CBA language and/or Established past practice that affirmatively 
permitted the CITY to use and rely on such exams: 


The CEA/TERRY have also alleged the CITY breached or changed the CBA by sending 


her for a Fitness for Duty exam, and then relying on the results. Paragraph 8 of the Prohibited 


Practice Complaint contains the allegations relative to the use of a Fitness for Duty evaluation 


stating, "Nothing in the CBA permits the City to require an employee to attended psychological 


counseling as a condition of employment." Further in the paragraph it is alleged "Finally, 


nothing in the CBA gives the City or a third party hired by the City the right to unilaterally 


determine that the employee is not physically fit for duty and on that basis place the employee on 


Leave without Pay or terminate." This allegation was also offered to Arbitrator Monat by 


CEA/TERRY. For example in opening statement "There is nothing in the Collective Bargaining 


Agreement that allows the City to retain some physician, some expert that they retain, get an 


opinion from that person and based on that opinion, take the employee off of work and stop 


paying her." 


The original position advanced by CEA/TERRY was the CITY was not authorized to use 


Fitness for Duty exams. However, evidence presented to Arbitrator Monat reflected a long-term 


practice of using them. For example, he was provided evidence that the CITY has a long-term 


history of a citywide policy entitled, "Physical Standards/Medical Evaluations" that states in 
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part: 


Any employed who exhibits observable behaviors that create concern 
about their ability to safely perform the essential functions of their job, 
with or without accommodation, or who may be observed to potentially 
pose a threat of harm to themselves or others, may be required to 
participate in a fitness for duty examination. The exams will be 
conducted in compliance with applicable federal and state employment 
laws. 


(CEA/TERRY Ex. 70, TR Pg. 81, ln 18-Pg. 8, ln 6) (Emphasis added). 


Likewise, evidence was presented to Arbitrator Monat concerning the CBA provision 


dealing with the CITY's adoption of new or proposed Rules and Regulations. Article 5, Section 


5.52 of the CBA states: 


At least ( 14) calendar days prior to implementation, a copy of proposed 
new or revised rules, regulations, and policies shall be provided to the 
Association. The Association President, or designee, may request a 
meeting with the appropriate department head or Division Manager(s) and 
a Human Resources representative to discuss the proposed new rule or 
revised rules, regulations, and policies. Any dispute about the new rule or 
revised rules, regulations, or policies shall be referred to the City Manager 
or designee for resolution. All new or revised rules, regulations or policies 
shall be reviewed by Human Resources prior to implementation. In the 
event the Association disagrees with the new or changed rules, 
regulations or policies, and the rule, regulation or policy relates to a 
subject of mandatory bargaining or is significantly related to a subject 
matter bargaining pursuant to NRS 288, the Association may pursue 
resolution through binding arbitration in accordance with the 
provisions of Article 12. 


(Emphasis added). 


Additionally, evidence was presented that the CITY policy on and subsequent changes to 


Fitness for Duty had been forwarded to the CEA, when adopted by the CITY, and received by 


and not disputed by the CEA. CEA President Caruthers testified not only that the policy was 


given to the CEA but the long-standing use of the exams. Incorporated by reference herein is the 


section of the CITY post arbitration brief on this issue: 


D. Fitness for Duty Exam Issues. 


While Fitness for Duty evaluations are rare, the CITY has long 
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maintained the right to use them, and has utilized them for decades. They 
may also be referred to as suitability for employment evaluations, and can 
be used in pre-employment screening, and after employment. They may 
arise in a variety of settings, including but not limited to reasonable 
suspicion for drugs and alcohol; based on safety concerns as a result of 
observed or noted behavioral traits; and post-injury, accident or illness 
return to duty. They are often used in conjunction with extended periods 
of leave without pay. Common CITY practice has been that even if a 
treating physician releases an employee to return to work in those 
situations, the CITY would then seek a Fitness for Duty to confirm the 
return. (See CITY Ex 36, and testimony of Rick Hunt TR. Vol. 2, Pg. 409, 
ln 13- Pg. 410, ln 14) 


The original position taken by counsel for the CEA/TERRY in 
this, and other unrelated matters occurring around the same time, was that 
the CITY had no right to utilize a Fitness for Duty evaluation absent 
negotiation with the CEA, and that the use of them was a new 
phenomenon. As a result, the CITY placed into evidence in this matter, 
several documents reflecting the long-term existence of the Fitness for Use 
practices. At the hearing, it appeared clear that either the original position 
of counsel for the CEA/TERRY had changed, or there was a disconnect 
between that position of counsel and the actual knowledge or experience 
of the CEA. For example, CARUTHERS clearly testified that the CITY 
has the right to send an employee for a fitness for duty exam and that it 
has happened countless times in his experience. (TR. Vol. 1, Pg. 56, ln 1-
Pg. 57, ln 11) He not only repeatedly testified that the CITY had the 
right to utilize a Fitness for Duty Exam, but that he was not disputing the 
CITY's right to rely on the results of such an exam. (TR. Vol. 1, Pg. 81, 
In 24 - Pg. 83, ln 5) The reality is of course, that the use of and/or 
reliance on the results of a Fitness for Duty evaluation is not really an 
issue in this case. Rather, the CEA/TERRY are now attempting to argue 
that the specific findings of Dr. Short should be ignored in favor of the 
limited opinion of her therapist TRINA. 


(CEA/TERRY Ex. 73, CITY Post Arbitration Brief to Arbitrator Monat, Pg. 33, ln 14-Pg. 34, ln 
14) 


In opposing deferral, CEA/TERRY attempt to suggest that Arbitrator Monat ruled that 


since the CBA did not prohibit Fitness for Duty exams, the CITY had authority to do so. 


Arbitrator Monat did not rest on the mere absence of specific language prohibiting a Fitness for 


Duty exam; rather he was presented with evidence and based on that evidence specifically found 


that the parties had a long-term practice of using and relying on them. He was presented 


evidence the CBA affirmatively recognized the CITY's right to adopt and change policies and 
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granted the CEA a right to review them, and to challenge them through the arbitration process, 


even those concerning a mandatory subject of bargaining. He was presented specific evidence 


that the CITY provided changes to the Fitness for Duty policy to the CEA president as provided 


for in the CBA. As a result, the Fitness for Duty process as adopted was affirmatively authorized 


by the CBA. Additionally, and in conformity with that acknowledgment, CEA President 


CARUTHERS clearly testified to a long-standing past practice. Under either scenario, or both 


the CITY did not change the CBA or practice which affirmatively allows the CITY to utilize 


Fitness for Duty exams. Arbitrator Monat did not find only an absence of a conflict, nor did he 


permit a change. Rather he found the CITY was affirmatively authorized to use them, as 


evidenced by the past practice and stated in part: 


The City has utilized fitness for duty exams for decades for a 
variety of reasons, often connected to long periods of leave without pay. 
Caruthers testified that the City had a right to send an employee for a 
fitness for duty exam and to rely on the results of the exam. (Pg. 15) 
Further he stated "The Association agreed that the City has the legal right 
to require a fitness for duty exam when it has reasonable suspicion that 
that an employee is unfit for duty. LVCEA has never contested otherwise. 


(CEA/TERRY, Ex. 74, Arbitrator's Findings and Award, Pg. 15) (Emphasis added). 


Arbitrator Monat's finding on this allegation does not allow the CITY to change the CBA 


or past practice. Rather it correctly reflects affirmative evidence of the CITY being granted in 


the CBA rights to adopt Fitness for Duty exams, and a practice on them being used and relied on. 


The argument that the CITY changed a term of employment and started utilizing Fitness for 


Duty exams was rejected by Arbitrator Monat. The finding of a past practice and rejection of a 


change is also easily understood by the undisputed fact TERRY previously underwent a Fitness 


for Duty exam in 2018. Arbitrator Monat's decision is absolutely consistent with the Act. As 


such, it simply cannot be said that finding is repugnant to the ACT. 


3) Arbitrator Monat's Decision on the L WOP allegation was based on a finding 
the CBA Affirmatively Permitted the City Action. 
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CEA/TERRY have also claimed that the CITY breached or changed the provisions of 


CBA Article 17 by placing TERRY on Leave Without Pay. In general, CEA/TERRY attempted 


to argue that under the CBA, L WOP was only allowable if the employee requested it. As set 


forth in the grievance, "I am not incapable of working as the City has alleged. The City also 


wrongfully placed me in L WOP status without basis and in violation of Article 17 ." As alleged 


in paragraph 8 of the Prohibited Practices Complaint, "Moreover, nothing in the CBA permits 


the City to Force an employee onto Leave Without Pay status outside of the bargained for 


disciplinary process." Further, according to the Prohibited Practices Complaint, "Terry has been 


ready and able to resume the full work duties of her position since February 24, 2021." 


(Paragraph 19) The narrative pushed by CEA/TERRY is that she was fit for duty at all times, 


and the CITY plucked this fully abled employee and cast them into L WOP prison. This is 


absurd! There is no question that the CITY allowed TERRY to use LWOP when she was found 


not to be able to work. Disregarding the semantic differences between "allowing" or "placing" 


or "forcing" it must be understood that Dr. Short's opinion is not the sole piece of evidence that 


was presented to Arbitrator Monat. Rather he was presented with evidence that TERRY herself 


and her therapist Trina Robinson filled out sections of an Application for Short Term Disability 


benefits from AFLAC certifying that she was disabled from working. (CITY Ex. 1, TERRY's 


Disability Application) Both signed those documents with admonitions about fraud. TERRY 


attempted to avoid the clear implications of those documents by arguing duress, suggesting she 


really was not disabled but only asserted she was because the CITY told her to. Arbitrator 


Monat rightly rejected this frivolous argument. 


Arbitrator Monat was presented with two alternative CBA provisions, both found in 


Article 17, that both demonstrated affirmative permission for the CITY place her on Leave 


Without Pay. 
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A) Arbitrator Monat's Decision on the L WOP allegation was based on CBA 
Language Affirmative Permitting the CITY the management right to 
designate FMLA, without recourse to a grievance. 


Arbitrator Monat was presented evidence that after receipt of information from Dr. Short 


that indicated TERRY was not Fit for Duty that TERRY participated in a phone conversation 


with representatives of the CITY to discuss next steps. During that conversation TERRY was 


informed that the CITY would be issuing a Designation of Notice that would cover her absence 


under the FMLA and that FMLA is unpaid. Likewise, there is no dispute that subsequent to the 


conversation TERRY received a confirming email that likewise discussed the FMLA designation 


and the unpaid status. Lastly, it is uncontested that TERRY received a "Designation of Notice" 


under the FMLA that granted her protected FMLA leave and explained FMLA leave was unpaid. 


CEA/TERRY argued that the FMLA designation was not valid, because TERRY did not request 


FMLA leave. To the contrary, Arbitrator Monat was also presented evidence that CBA 


specifically recognized and permitted the CITY affirmative non-grievable rights and obligations 


to administer FMLA. The section of the CITY's Post-Hearing Brief on this issue is incorporated 


herein: 


2) The CITY's Actions in Granting TERRY Unpaid Leave were 
Taken Under the Auspicious of the FMLA and are Not Grievable. 


As Your Honor well understands, the FMLA is a federal law that 
provides for mandatory leave in certain situations, including but not 
limited to an inability to work as the result of an employee's own serious 
health condition. There can no question that TERRY suffered from a 
series of serious mental health conditions. The definition section of the 
CBA defines "Family Leave" as "Leave granted to an employee under the 
auspicious of the Family Medical Leave Act See Article 17." It was no 
accident that definition referenced Article 1 7 of the CBA, which is Leave 
Without Pay and other Special Leave. The placement of TERRY in 
unpaid status was a determination made under the auspicious of that 
federal law. 


Generally, FMLA is unpaid leave." (29 CFR 825.207) Employees 
can however substitute accrued paid leave. TERRY was allowed to 
substitute what little accrued leave she had available, and when that 
expired she was on unpaid leave. The CBA reflects the obvious fact that 
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the CITY is a covered employer under the FMLA and must abide by the 
provisions of that act. (Article 17.3) Rights under the FMLA cannot be 
waived by an employee and there is no obligation for a formal application. 
Once the CITY became aware of information that TERRY was not fit for 
duty and required an extending period of treatment prior to re-evaluation, 
it issued the mandatory FMLA notice. 


Provisions for employer notice requirements pursuant to that 
federal act are set forth in 29 CFR 825.300. Pursuant to that regulation 
"When an employee requests FMLA, or when the employer acquires 
knowledge that an employee's leave may be for an FMLA-qualifying 
reason, the employer must notify the employee of the employees 
eligibility to take FMLA leave within five business days, absent 
extenuating circumstances. (29 CFR 825.300(2) (Emphasis added). 
Further, that mandatory notice must include notice that the employee's 
rights concerning substituted paid leave and employee's rights to take 
unpaid FMLA. CEA Exhibit 46 contained portions of prior CBAs. Unlike 
the current version which merely cites to the FMLA, the version covering 
2006-2014 had a more lengthy recitation on family leave under the federal 
act, leave, including an express acknowledgement of the employer 
designation concept, stating "Leave is designated as FMLA either when 
the City designates it, or when the Employee has complete the FMLA 
application and approval process." (CEA Ex 46, Pg. 92) (Emphasis 
added). As a result it is abundantly clear that FMLA leave is not only 
triggered when an employee requests it, but when the CITY complies with 
its federal mandate and designates it. 


The required FMLA Designation Notice issued by the CITY 
complied with the mandatory requirements and was leave granted under 
the auspicious of the federal act. This action taken by COUNTS was no 
different than hundreds of other similar actions taken yearly by COUNTS 
under that federal act. More importantly, as to those acts taken under that 
act, the CBA expressly and clearly excludes them from the grievance 
provision stating "complaints based on violations thereof are not subject to 
the grievance provision in this Agreement." The CEA/TERRY have 
attempted to suggest that the CITY's designation of unpaid leave was 
faulty as TERRY did not affirmatively ask for it, couching it as being 
"forced." The CITY believes it is clear that it was required to issue that 
notice, and that Department of Labor rulings affirm that an employer may 
not delay this designation, even if an employee does not request FMLA or 
would prefer a delay. Nonetheless, any arguments that the CITY was not 
required or allowed to issue the Notice in question granting the unpaid 
leave are clearly and specifically excluded from the consideration of a 
gnevance. 


There is no question that TERRY did not have enough accrued 
paid time available and that the balance of her approved and designated 
FMLA was Leave Without Pay. Your Honor stated on record his belief 
that this was a typical event under FMLA. (TR. Vol. 3, Pg. 616, ln 9-21) 
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The FMLA designation notice was triggered by receipt of the reporting of 
Dr. Short. Receipt of the Short Term Disability application form from 
TRINA a short time later would have triggered the same mandatory 
obligation to issue the Designation. It is clear the CITY' s action in 
granting unpaid leave were done under the auspicious of the FMLA and 
are not subject to Your Honor's jurisdiction in this case. The CITY 
believes its actions to be absolutely appropriate, and it does not want to 
appear as though it is inviting litigation, however if TERRY wants to 
challenge that action her recourse is not in this forum, but a lawsuit 
alleging violation of the FMLA. 


Although this case involves the CEA, the basic premise asserted in 
this grievance is remarkably similar to a recent arbitration involving the 
CITY and another of its bargaining units. On May 24, 2021, Arbitrator 
Kathryn T. Whalen issued her Opinion in the Matter of the Arbitration 
between INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF FIREFIGHTERS, 
LOCAL 1285 and CITY OF LAS VEGAS. (Attached hereto as Exhibit A 
to this brief). In that case the Union/Grievant filed a grievance alleging 
the CITY' s placement of the employee on unpaid leave amounted to 
discipline in violation of the disciplinary procedures. During the hearing 
the Union/Grievant also argued: 


Specifically, the City has failed to allow Grievant to work his 
regular shift in violation of Article 24 of the CBA, it has failed to pay him 
his regular wages in violation of Article 17 of the CBA (and attachment C 
appended to the CBA) and it has violated Article 25 of the CBA by 
keeping Grievant on leave without pay over his objections. 


Alternatively, the Grievant's position is that the City's constructive 
termination of Grievant without just cause violated Article 9(J) of the 
CBA. Either way the grievance is squarely focused on the four corners of 
the CBA. 


(Attachment A, Pg. 13) 


Like this matter, the CITY strongly disagreed that a termination had 
occurred in that case, as the grievant remained on an unpaid but employed 
status. Further, like this matter, the CITY argued the issues were untimely 
as it was not grieved within the CBA 14 day provisions. Additionally, like 
this matter, the CITY argued that the arbitrator lacked jurisdiction to 
consider the matter as the genesis of the placement on unpaid status was a 
voluntary agreement outside the CBA. Arbitrator Whalen found the 
grievance was untimely. She also found in part that the Union sought her 
interpretation of an action that was not arbitrable, but was outside the 
grievance and arbitration process. The CITY believes the same logic 
should prevail in this case. The grievance was clearly not timely, and the 
placement on unpaid status was an action taken under the FMLA, which 
by the express provisions of the CBA are not subject to the grievance 
process. For these reasons the grievance should be dismissed. 
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(CEA/TERRY Ex. 73, CITY Post Arbitration Briefto Arbitrator Monat, Pg. 19, ln 4 - Pg. 23, ln 
12) 


The express language of the CBA affirmatively provides the CITY unilateral 


management and non-grievable rights to administer FMLA. CEA/TERRY did not specifically 


address the FMLA issue and Monat finding in its argument to this Honorable Board opposing 


deferral. It appears its only reference to the FMLA in determining the opposition was contained 


in a citation to Arbitrator Monat's decision focusing on Fitness for Duty. (Opp. Pg. 31, ln 15-


20) However included in that citation in the opposition was a sentence in Arbitrator Monat's 


decision stating, "As the evidence shows in this case, the City has a non-grievable right to 


require fitness for duty exams, and to place an employee on FMLA." (Emphasis added). That 


statement is not repugnant to the act. That statement does not reflect a finding permitted a 


change. That statement does not find only no conflict to the CBA, but rather correctly reflects 


the parties had a provision in the CBA and a history of recognizing that leave is designated as 


FMLA when the CITY designates it or when the employee applies. More importantly, the 


express language of the CBA affirmatively makes clear that the CITY maintained management 


rights to take actions under the FMLA, and those acts are expressly and affirmatively permitted 


as not grievable. Arbitrator Monat correctly understood and cited this. His decision did not 


permit a change to the CBA or practice. Rather his decision recognized the parties had 


specifically negotiated a CBA provision affirmatively granting the CITY that right to designate 


FMLA and that the right was not grievable. It cannot be said to be repugnant to this Act. 


B) Arbitrator Monat's Decision on the allegation the CBA did not permit 
imposing L WOP was based on CBA language that Affirmatively 
Permitted the CITY to take the action. 


Arbitrator Monat was also presented evidence that the CBA specifically provided that 


L WOP could be granted or imposed by the CITY under a series of conditions. That language is 


found in CBA Article 17.6. That language states: 
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17.6 Leave Without Pay 


17 .6.1 Eligibility 


Leave without Pay may be granted or imposed by the Department 
Director, or designee, to employees for: 


1) Purposes normally covered by sick leave, annual leave or Time in 
Lieu of (TILO) when such leave has been exhausted 
2) Disciplinary action 
3 )Pursuing an education 
4) Serving in the military 
5) Recovering from a job-related injury or illness 
6) Participating in political activities (requires City Manager approval) 


17.6.2 General Requirements 


Employees must exhaust all appropriate paid leave balances prior to 
receiving approval for leave without pay (L WOP). Employees on 
approved L WOP shall not be required or approved to perform work of any 
kind, unless the employee has been approved for a Transitional Work 
Assignment while recovering from a medical condition which resulted in 
working restrictions (e.g. part-time work during recovery period and paid 
leave accruals have been exhausted). 


(Emphasis added). 


Under the facts of this case, TERR Y's absence resulting from her significant medical and 


mental health issues clearly would have allowed for the use of sick leave. Clearly, when TERRY 


ran out of sick leave for those reasons, it was appropriate to allow use of L WOP, as sick leave 


was one of the enumerated reasons. Despite the clear language contained in that provision 


CEA/TERRY attempted to argue an alternative interpretation that even though six reasons were 


listed, only one, discipline, could be imposed. Arbitrator Monat declined to accept that 


interpretation and found otherwise offering this interpretation: 


Article 17.6 Leave Without Pay, states that "Leave Without Pay may be 
granted or imposed by the Department Director, or designee, to employees 
for" one or more of six (6) reasons listed including "l )Purposes normally 
covered by sick leave, annual leave or Time in Lieu of (TILO) when such 
leave has been exhausted; 2)Disciplinary action ... This language is clear 
and unequivocal on its face. There are no restrictions on granting or 
imposing mentioned in this section including item 17.6.1. LVCEA 
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argued strongly that only discipline can be imposed. There is no language 
in this section which states or places any restriction on the City to grant or 
impose any of the six categories. 


(CEA/TERRY Ex. 74, Arbitrator's Findings and Award, Pg. 12-13) His decision amounts to 


interpretation of clear language. He did not allow any change to the CBA, but merely and 


correctly adopted the interpretation consistent with the clear language and not the alternate one 


advocated by the CEA/TERRY. When an arbitrator makes a finding that can be based on two 


interpretations, and one that does not violate the act, that decision is not repugnant and should be 


deferred to. CEA/TERRY's attempt to argue otherwise are simply absurd. At best, they are 


merely arguing that their interpretations should be adopted. That is not the standard. Arbitrator 


Monat did not make a finding permitting a change or merely find no conflict. Rather he 


specifically and correctly interpreted the affirmative permission found in the CBA. Under no 


scenario can this be viewed as repugnant to the Act. His decision must be afforded deference. 


CEA/TERRY conclude its opposition by arguing that neither the CITY, nor the 


Arbitrator offered any contractual basis to support the action. That is simply false and 


disingenuous! The CITY argued, and the Arbitrator found that Article 17 .6.1 affirmatively 


provided for the CITY to impose LWOP. Further, the CITY argued, and the Arbitrator found 


that Article 17.6.8 affirmatively allowed for Separation as a separate process to Discipline. 


Additionally, the CITY argued and the Arbitrator specifically found that Article 1 7 reflected the 


parties' affirmative agreement that CITY could designate FMLA leave which was unpaid. 


Lastly, the CITY argued and the Arbitrator found that there was affirmative contractual support 


and/or a past practice for the CITY use and reliance on Fitness for Duty exams. No legitimate 


argument was advanced that Arbitrator Monat allowed a change to the CBA or past practice. As 


a result, his decision should be deferred to and this matter must be dismissed. 


Ill 
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Ill. CONCLUSION: 


The burden of proof is on CEA/TERRY. Arbitration is entitled to great deference. 


While it is true that deference has its limits, the CEA/TERRY have failed to support their burden 


in opposing deferral. None of the findings or decisions set forth in Arbitrator Monat's award 


were repugnant to the Act. None of them was proven to be allowing the CITY to change a 


contractual provision or practice. None was palpably wrong. Rather all were appropriately 


based on affirmative provisions in the CBA allowing the conduct. 


CEA/TERRY have unsuccessfully attempted to re-characterize the matter as rogue and 


punitive acts by the CITY sanctioned by a confused arbitrator. Nothing could be further from 


the truth. In opposing pre-arbitration deferral, the CEA/TERRY announced that regardless of the 


outcome they would attempt to seek this Honorable Board hear the case. They followed through 


on that threat, and attempt to seek to completely disregard the Arbitrator's findings and get a 


plenary review or second bite at the apple. The standards of deferral have not been met. The 


CITY position was well founded, based on facts and carefully decided. More importantly, the 


decision of Arbitrator Monat was not repugnant to the Act. 


DA TED this 8th day of December, 2022. 


BRYAN K. SCOTT 
City Attorney 


By: 
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MORGAND 
Assistant Cit orney 
Nevada Bar . 3707 
495 South Main Street, Sixth Floor 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
Attorneys for City of Las Vegas 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 


I hereby certify that on December 8, 2022, I served a true and correct copy of the 


foregoing City of Las Vegas' Reply to Complainants' Opposition to Motion to Defer to 


Arbitration Proceedings via electronic mail (or, if necessary, by United States Mail at Las Vegas, 


Nevada, postage fully prepaid) upon the following: 


Jeffrey F. Allen, Esq. 
Email: jeffreyfallen@aol.com 
Attorneys for Complainants, 
Las Vegas City Employees' 
Association, Julie Terry, Jody 
Gleed, Marc Brooks, and 
International Association of 
Firefighters Local 1285 


F THE CITY OF LAS VEGAS 
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EXHIBIT 1 


EXHIBIT 1 







03/25/2021 13:11 7022932100 


Affac. 
BEES MAIL PAGE 02/03 


INITIAL DISABILITY CLAIM FORM 


Thank you tor trust1ng Aflac with your Initial Disability needs. 


• If you are lnte.re.eted In uploeding documentation on en·existtng claim, register using aflac.com/srnartclalm. 


To prev&nt delays, please provide documentation from your healthcare provider to support thi$ claim. If you have 
additional bills or medical documentation that relates to this diagnosis other than the documentation defined, please 
submit them tor review ot additional beneflti. 


;.-. Serv Jee related items can be obtained directly from t11e patient's healthcare provlder(s) by reque8tlng a UB04 
hospital bill or HCFA 1500 non-hospital b111. 


• Failure to complete all sections mav result In a delay In processing th.ls claim. 
• Dieclalmer: Some of the services listed may not be coveroo by your pollay. 


*Policy Number: IB[I I 11 \ l 1 18 l'lslsl 
Policyholder Information: This * denotes a required field. 
•Lw.,1 Name Sufllx "First Name Ml 


lT IE I P-1 aj YI I I I I I I I I I I I J [D 0 u IL I i I El I I I I I I 0 
'Dale ot Birth (mmkldlyy) T ~phone Number ""1,ere we can reach yw . 


I I lo! 1 16131 1 llJqj [1!0[2.I · l4lol 11 · IJ 1'1l olbl 
• Home Address 


I 6 Io I 1 I I o l £IL I Ir I RI Al ol O I Iv I ~ I I I I I I I I I I I J I I I l I I 
'City · . 'State "Zlp Cod~ .· . 


!B!olu[LIDIEIRI Id I ITlSij l I I l l I I I ~ l~l9lololsl-1 I I I I 
D Cheak box If th/$ 1B a permim0nt address ch@nge. 


Patient Information: 
'L"1!ll Name 'Fl161 Name ~Dlll:e ol Birth (mm/dd/yy} 


!Tl£1R-la.lYI l 11 I I .1 I I ! IJ!ulLl1 kl I I I 1. I 1, lol1!obl 1 l1J4I 
•sex: 0 Male ~ Female 


'Relationship: ~ Primary PollcyhOlder O Spouse 


I . ~~~---ln_l_tia_l_D_is_a-b_il_lfy~C_h_ec_k~!i~st _______ ~--~-~~ 
Is Clisablllty dua fo a sicknoos'/ D No 18 Yes 
Is disability clue to an Injury? t8l No O Yes 


11 yes, please complete tt1e following questions related to the injury: 
Date of the injury: __ _._ ____ _ 


O~cribe t1ow the Injury occurred: ~-----------~-----~----=-----__.­
Was this disability caused by an rnelident that occurred while performing the dutioo of the patiem's employment? 00 No D Yes 
Was this a motor vehicle accident ln wllich the patient was the driver? ll?No. 0 Yes (Ii yes, please submit a copy of 1he 
Police Repon) 


Fo, all claims, please complete all remaining sections, . . 
Was the patient confined to the hospital as a result of 1his condition? D No 00 Yes (If yes, please submit the itemized 
hospital t,ill, UB04 or HCFA 1500) · • 


H~spitat na,;,e: Spcin9 f\Aoutrta, n Trea±meDf. C.en+er 
Anlc~~~~~~dw~;~~I:~,.., and wl~h .intent t9 defraud itn;· in::,~~:.;~Panv or oilier Prerson files an 
nP hcauon ror msuran~ or statement of claim contalmn anv mnsenally false Jnfonnatl n or conceals for 
tn1 purpose of ml~leadmg, Information <;onoemlrn1 any ct ll'lareriat ther~to commits .a raueiulent 
Insurance act, which Is a brlme, and subJects suclf person to criminal ana civil penalties. 


FAMILYRELAT!ONSHIP, IF NOT POLICYHOLOEfl 


Amerlcru, Family life Am;uronce Company or Qoi11mbus {Allacj 
ATTN; Clalms DeP11rttr1eol • 1932 Wynnton Road• ColumbLJ8, QA 31900 


_fili J 15 /2,1 
OATE 


For lriforma.tlon or.to checl(clalm !ltatus, vl,,tt atloc.com or c,all 1•8-00-99•Al'LAC (Ml0~2~522) 
Cl~l111$ ruay b• flll(W to 1•877•44-AFL.AO (1•877•44N522) 


PSQll 1 ot 3 02114 







03/25/2021 13: 11 7022932100 BEES MAIL PAGE IB/03 


INITIAL DISABILITY CLAIM FORM - EMPLOYER'S STATEMENT· 


*Policy Number: I f! I \ 111 \ I I I K ! B js] 
Policyholder·lnformatlon: This* denotes a required fleld. 
'Lal:t Name Suffix •Rrst Name Ml 


111-t!<lrhl I I I I I I I I I ! I I [I] 1~1u1 'I 1\el I I 1:, LIJ • 
'Dare at Birth (rom,l;ld/yy) 


1~1~1s1 1s.1 !91tlilNI 1~1,r.1 111 I I I I I 11 I I I I I I 1111 
"City 'state 'Zip Code 


I LIA I~ l Iv I e./ D/AI s! I I ! l I I I I I J I ~ r::-=--r-~ fi~l ...,......\I 0.--1 I l.......,.··1-.....1-,..-1 -,--.,I I 
• First date ot disability: '], r d () _d_\ _ 
• Was this oisability causea by an Incident that occurred whilfl l)eliorrnlnQ the duties of hisitier employment? ~ D Ye$ 


Prior 10 this disability, number of hours wor)l;eq,per week: !,\,"'---------~~----­
Gross annual Income _pJior to disability; lD o , 5\a S · \0 H "Income is subject to verification at time of claim. 


Self-employed? l1IJ't, 0 Yes (If yes, your gross annual lrlcome is the average of your nat earnings tor th& past two 
years. Ptease submit tax record$ for the past two years.) .. . . · 


Has the employee returned to work? QI No D Yes ,:; I · · · 
If no, expected return to work date: ½' I \ 0\ I . If yes, date returned to work: _ _.... __ ~--


• If the employee has returned to work Is he or she worklng: D Full-Time O Part-Time O Light Duly 
If working part time or light duty, plea.sa provide the n1.11nber of working hours per week: -------~ 
11 part-timelilght duty, date expected to return to work to full-time: _ __._ __ _,_ __ 
Jf parNimeilight duty, 1$1\vas the employee earning a1 least 80% or his/tier pre-disablllty sa1a1y? 0.No • 0 Yes 


Please complete thl.1o section only tor W·2 Em.ploy,ees and/or Contract 1099, (Please contact payroll and/or check the 
policyholder's 'Sal-ary Redirection Ag,eemeot/Premium DeduoUon Authorization card for the answer to these 
questions.) · 
• Are Disability Rider or Short-Term Disability premiums deducted trom the policyholder's paycheek i;lrr a- pre-ttix basis? 


j2;1No O Yes · ·. ' 
• Does the employer pay a portion ct the disability premium for the policyholder? g'.] l'-1:> 0 Yes (II yeG, what·percerrt? 


~---%) 
Policyholder is: (9heck aJI that apply.} ~ Exempt from Social secuflty O Exempt trom Medicars Osut:Jject to RP.TA 
Date of hire: ::::1:: / \ t Pv> ~ · 
ls the person still employed? D l't> ~ Yes 


It no, 1ast date of employment: ---...L----1--­
Pf§s. non:: 
The employer is required to report disabllily benefits paid on pre-tax plans on Form 941 and the employee's Form W-2. 


Af .person who knowingly and with intent to defraud aiJlnsun.nce1pftm~nny or other.Pel'$0n· flies pn 
~I> Ucatlon for lnfiMl'8nce- Ori statement OT claim aontainl any 1118!9\~~ 11ae lr:!f.Q~t,~.fl ., .3.onceals for 
miJJ~~is:cr ~fc~~l~,n~itm:J1~nb~~~6W 3!'~c>n·lo '='~~I an~ c .~f:W,~~Ul~~u. u .ant · . 


loJ. Jc1&i ·Ir:?, JI 3).J S /J) 
DIRECT PHbtllHIUMBER · DATE 


AmtWIOM F8mlly Life Assura11ce Oomptiny o! ColurnbtJl;iAflac) 
Ail'N: Ci111ms l:>epartmllnt • '19$2 YJynnto11 Road• COJumous, GA i1999 


Por 1nrormatlo11 orb;, chacll olalm sl.rt11B, vlt;tt lll'klc~omoroall 1-3Q0.9!.l--AFI.AC (1•800-9~ 
Clplm11 may ll9111Xeo tc;i 1-t)T7-44-Af'I.AC (Hl77•442•35Zl) 







INITIAL DISABILITY CLAIM FORM - PHYSICIAN'S STATEMENT 
'Policy Number: 


Policyholder Information: Tt11s • denotes a requ,rec/ f1elci 
_;' l.,,;-t~I Ndrne ,':.;ufliJ 


:te1 rLP '--I , i 
• D,·tt_,:-. <;·i -[i:r1h 111·,t~1,'d~1.:\,1f -- , 


'.f o : ,, CG 11 7.i} 
Patient Information:' 


'f-.'1r:;I t;;~.n-fj 


·:-s ct l te_ 


'La'.:.I NJ.IT\\\ 'D?-le d 81ith tmrn/dd,yy) 
· .. r··•-·· 


++· 


!;Jc!~ i~j'.;!;ol :JifL1 JfL.3 t 1 _ J_c; 


Was ths d1sab1hty caused by,,ti:1 1nc,d_ · 111,at occurr- whrle periorm,ng the duties ol t11s,~er emplolrn;,nt? CJ no fJiY""J_ 
Symptoms first occurred 00.,_ ~ ' ) I 1&__3~S~9. ~r cancer. date ol in,l at d1agnG$!$ N ,II} 
Patient iirst consulied you /or th,s cond1t1on, _ ,::;).__ 


Was the pa1,ent treated tor tlE pnrnar diagno;;sby another physician? 0 No"EJ Yes 


II yes, physIc,an·s name , , _ ~~ · (2,, . .. · C ,--. 
Trea11ng pl1ys,c1an s address 1 Pnone Numte(=..)i J-:-2 } l/ }-- ) {__)(){_) 


•u filing for disability within the first two years of the policy, medlcal records may be~uested. 


Pregnancy claims Date ol delivery ___ ,__ __ .,__ __ Dvr_ g1ri1~ • cesarean 1--J fl+ 
11 not del,v€:red expected de11,ery dale ___ .,,_ __ __,_ _ __, __ tti 


F1rs1 dale ot o:sab1hty -:..,,;i--+-<-±P'-..... =--+-
• •-. .F~ 


Date pa11en11•,as la31 trealE-6_++'---'-'-.£-""""'-f-


Have you reteas'c'd the pa1,enI 10 return lo \"10rk? No D Yes (Date released ----'----'----


Pa.t1enl 1Eiease(J to w,;rl< 0 Full Time D Part Time O Ltgl11 Duly \o,J J {} 
II pan t,me,1,ght duty ple-lse provide tr,e date the patient 1s expectM to return to lull , ;;i.c,-l. J 


11 patienl ha; not b,~s,n relea;;f'l~ea::: D£9v1de tne next appo,ntrnent date ' l 1 ) 1 Pt ase a:so rov1de 
tne dale 01 expected rele~a5el -4r.: I :JL . .2 I J. C1 './_ -/ 
15 patient p9rmanr;:n11y cJ1~'c'-cQ.y] r:u O Yes (Medical reJr,js ,\ill be required 11 permaner,1 d1sab1ilty Is 1rd1cated 
p!;;as~ provide med,caJ records 10 par1en1 ) 


Ar:J, person wh9 knowingly and with intent t9 defraud c1n~ insurance.company _or olher_person files an 
ao !!cation for insuranc;t:" or: stateme_nt of claim contairnn any rna~enally false mformat1on or conceals tor m, Jrurpose of misleadmg. mformat1on concerning anfs f ct niatenal thergio commits a fraudulent 


' ~ """ act. which is a uime. ,n~ s "bj,cts '"'" p• soo to c,imin,I an ci"H peoaltl". 


~~--L,- ·--1--1----+-~~- d '2 .~3c£ I :J-- I fc, 
TAXI• ~ 1 


A.me-dean F'atn/ly Li fJ As-i rJncu Comp.:u1y of Columbu•; l,~ll;ttJ 
ATTN ClJlm-:.i Oepactmcnt, 1~3:,., Wynnron Ro.ad· Coiumtlu.-s, GA 3i'J•.n 


For 1ntom1Jtlon Cf to check cl:J.lm statuJ vlsH atlac com or call 1,800-99-AflAC ( 1-000-')91•3::tn} 
CIJlms mJ<j t),, faxed to 1-071-4-1 AFLAG f I-IJ/74n-J1n) 


;) l_pi l _ ~ 





		13. City of LV Motion to Dismiss

		15. Complainant's Opp to Respondent's Motion to Defer Terry complaint

		19. Reply to Motion to Defer
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BRYAN K. SCOTT 
City Attorney 
Nevada Bar No. 4381 
By: MORGAN DA VIS 
Assistant City Attorney 
Nevada Bar No. 3707 
By: NECHOLE GARCIA 
Deputy City Attorney 
Nevada Bar No. 12746 
495 South Main Street, Sixth Floor 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
(702) 229-6629 
(702) 386-1749 (fax) 
Email: mdavis@lasvegasnevada.gov 


ngarcia@lasvegasnevada.gov 
Attorneys for City of Las Vegas 


FILED 
November 3, 2022 


State of Nevada 
E.M.R.B. 


8:23 a.m. 


STATE OF NEVADA GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEE­


MANAGEMENT RELATIONS BOARD 


LAS VEGAS CITY EMPLOYEES ' 
ASSOCIATION and JULIE TERRY, 


Complainants, 


vs. 


THE CITY OF LAS VEGAS, 


Respondent. 


LAS VEGAS CITY EMPLOYEES ' 
ASSOCIATION and JODY GLEED, 


Complainants, 


vs. 


THE CITY OF LAS VEGAS, 


Respondent. 


LAS VEGAS CITY EMPLOYEES' 
ASSOCIATION and MARC BROOKS, 


Complainants, 


vs. 


THE CITY OF LAS VEGAS, 


Respondent. 


CASE NO. 2021-008 


CONSOLIDATED WITH 


CASE NO. 2021-012 


CONSOLIDATED WITH 


CASE NO. 2021-013 
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INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF 
FIREFIGHTERS, LOCAL 1285, 


Complainant, 


vs. 


THE CITY OF LAS VEGAS, 


Respondent. 


CONSOLIDATED WITH 


CASE NO. 2021-015 


CITY OF LAS VEGAS' MOTION TO DISMISS FOR FAILURE TO EXHAUST 
CONTRACTUAL REMEDIES AND 


MOTION TO DEFER TO ARBITRATION PROCEEDINGS 


Respondent CITY OF LAS VEGAS (hereinafter referred to as "CITY"), by and through 


its attorneys of record, Bryan K. Scott, City Attorney, by Morgan Davis, Assistant City Attorney, 


and Nechole Garcia, Deputy City Attorney, hereby files this Motion to Dismiss for Failure to 


Exhaust Contractual Remedies and Motion to Defer to Arbitration Proceedings. 


This Board previously issued its Order consolidating the cases captioned above, and 


staying all four cases under the limited deferral doctrine until the underlying grievances in those 


cases are resolved. As stated in that order "The limited deferral doctrine is a prudential doctrine 


reflecting a policy favoring grievance arbitration as the preferred method of resolving disputes. 


On October 14, 2022, this Board issued its order lifting the stay and that the CITY may file any 


appropriate motion(s), including a motion to dismiss for failure to exhaust contraction remedies 


and/or a motion to defer to the arbitration proceedings, within 21 days of this order. 


GLEED; BROOKS; AND IAFF #1285 MUST BE DISMISSED, AS EXHAUSTION 
HAS NOT OCCURRED: 


NAC 288.375(2) permits this Board to dismiss a complaint, "[u]nless there is a clear 


showing of special circumstances or extreme prejudice, if the parties have not exhausted all their 


contractual remedies, including rights to arbitration." In interpreting this provision, this Board 


has repeatedly held that "the preferred method for resolving disputes is through the bargained for 
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process, and this Board applies NAC liberally to effectuate that purpose." ( Operating Engineers 


Local Union No. 3 v. Incline Village General Improvement District, Item No. 864-C (2020)); 


International Association of Firefighters, Local #2905, and Casey Micone v. Reno-Tahoe Airport 


Authority, Case No. 2020-013, Item 867 (2020). In Operating Engineers Local, this Board 


dismissed a complaint where the complaining party failed to make a clear showing of the special 


circumstances or extreme prejudice required to justify its failure to proceed to arbitration. 


Operating Engineers Local Union No. 3 v. Incline Village General Improvement District, Item 


No. 864-C (2020). There, this Board noted that it "will not condone Complainant's attempts to 


circumvent the bargained for processes and expedite Board review." Id. This Board's position is 


in line with the N.L.R.B. 's stance on requiring exhaustion of bargained for remedies before 


hearing a case. In Collyer Insulate Wire, the N.L.R.B. dismissed a complaint where the 


bargaining unit had failed to exhaust the contractual remedies. 192 N.L.R.B. 837 (1971) There, 


the N.L.R.B. noted: 


We conclude that the Board is vested with authority to withhold its processes in 
this case, and that the contract here made available a quick and fair means for the 
resolution of this dispute including, if appropriate, a fully effective remedy for 
any breach of contract which occurred. We conclude, in sum, that our obligation 
to advance the purposes of the Act is best discharged by the dismissal of this 
complaint. 


Collyer Insulated Wire, 192 N.L.R.B. 83 7 (1971) 


Here, Complainants have not proceeded with the arbitration in the GLEED and BROOKS 


matters, despite filing the grievances over a year ago, in August of 2021. In Joint Status Reports 


filed with this Board, Complainant has revealed its intent not to proceed with arbitration because 


the "monetary amounts are not significantly high." (7 /28/22 Joint Status Report, Pg. 2, ln. 24-27; 


9/6/22 Joint Status Report, Pg. 3, ln. 1-3). That rationale does not constitute the special 


circumstances or extreme prejudice required to avoid a dismissal. Moreover, in the IAFF #1285 


matter, Complainant notes in the Joint Status Report that the employee dismissed the grievance 
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and does not wish to participate in litigation. (7/28/22 Joint Status Report, Pg. 3, In. 3-5; 9/6/22 


Joint Status Report, Pg. 3, In. 7-9). Yet, IAFF #1285 has not pursued grievance arbitration on its 


own or made any further attempt to go through the bargained for process. Rather, Complainant 


states that, "IAFF 1285 is hopeful that it can secure relief for its claim through this Board via the 


consolidated action herein." (7 /28/22 Joint Status Report, Pg. 3, In. 5-6; 9/6/22 Joint Status 


Report, Pg. 3, In. 9-10). This request not only attempts to sidestep the bargained for grievance 


process, it is also inappropriate because IAFF #1285 is an entirely separate bargaining unit with a 


different CBA. 


Complainant has made no clear showing of special circumstances or extreme prejudice to 


justify its failure to exhaust its administrative remedies. Rather, Complainant seeks to circumvent 


the bargained for process by bootstrapping the GLEED, BROOKS, and IAFF #1285 matters onto 


the TERRY matter. The CITY respectfully requests this Board dismiss those cases pursuant to 


NAC 288.375(2) as the Complainant has failed to exhaust its contractual remedies. 


THIS BOARD SHOULD DEFER TO THE ARBITRATOR'S DECISION IN 
TERRY: 


The grievance arbitration in the TERRY matter has been concluded. On August 11, 


2022, Arbitrator Jonathon Monat issued his Arbitrator's Findings and Award that " .. . the 


grievance is denied in its entirety." (Ex 1) The CITY is seeking to have this Board defer to that 


Arbitration Award of Arbitrator Monat. The Nevada Supreme Court has stated "The party 


desiring the NLRB to reject an arbitration award has the burden of demonstrating these 


principles are not met. We adopt the NLRB deferral policy and conclude that the EMRB must 


apply these principles in determining whether to defer to an arbitration." City of Reno v. Reno 


Police Protective Association, 118 Nev. 889, at 896, 59 P.3d 1212, at 1217 (2002). 


This Board is not only bound by that Nevada Supreme Court decision according to 


generalized legal principles like "Stare Decisis" and "Precedent" but has frequently specifically 


-4-







l 


2 


3 


4 


5 


6 


7 


8 


9 


10 


11 


12 


13 


14 


15 


16 


17 


18 


19 


20 


21 


22 


23 


24 


25 


26 


27 


28 


and expressly incorporated it in many of its subsequent decisions, most recently in Robert Ortiz 


v. Service Employees International Union, Local 1107, Case No. 2020-021, Item 879, issued a 


few weeks before Arbitrator Monat ' s Decision in this case. In that matter this Board not only 


reaffirmed the specific principals set fo11h in City of Reno, but likewise reaffirmed "The limited 


deferral doctrine is a prudential doctrine that gives effect to noted public policy of encouraging 


resolution of disputes under the bargained for grievance procedures." Munn v. Clark County 


Firefighters IAFF Local 1904, et. al. , case No. Al-46045, Item 781 (2012) Id. Pg. 2. Further, 


that recent decision also stated "The party desiring that the Board reject the prior administrative 


findings and proceed with the prohibited labor practice proceedings bears the burden of 


establishing that the limited deferral doctrine elements have not been met, and thus should not 


apply." Id. Pg. 3 


It is generally understood that deferral must be raised by the party seeking deferral , but 


that party must only prove there was an arbitration award issued and then the burden shifts to the 


party resisting deferral. Should TERRY attempt to resist deferral, the CITY expressly preserves 


its right to file a response once TERRY has attempted to satisfy that burden. 


CONCLUSION: 


GLEED, BROOKS, and the IAFF #1285 matters should be dismissed as no effort has 


been made to exhaust the contractual remedies, nor can special circumstances or extreme 


prejudice be shown. 


II I 


I II 


II I 


I II 


II I 


I II 
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This Board should defer to the Arbitrator's Award issued in the TERRY matter and 


dismiss that case as well. 


DATED this 3rd day of November, 2022. 


BRYANK. SCOTT 
City Attorney 


Isl Morgan Davis 
By: 


MORGAN DA VIS 
Assistant City Attorney 
Nevada Bar No. 3707 
495 South Main Street, Sixth Floor 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
Attorneys for City of Las Vegas 


CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 


I hereby certify that on November 3, 2022, I served a true and correct copy of the 


foregoing City of Las Vegas' Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Exhaust Contractual Remedies 


and Motion to Defer to Arbitration Proceedings via electronic mail ( or, if necessary, by United 


States Mail at Las Vegas, Nevada, postage fully prepaid) upon the following: 


Jeffrey F. Allen, Esq. 
Email: jeffreyfallen@aol.com 
Attorneys for Complainants, 
Las Vegas City Employees' 
Association, Julie Terry, Jody 
Gleed, Marc Brooks, and 
International Association of 
Firefighters Local 1285 


Isl Kelli Hans en 


AN EMPLOYEE OF THE CITY OF LAS VEGAS 
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EXHIBIT 1 


EXHIBIT 1 







In the Matter of Arbitration Between 


LAS VEGAS CITY EMPLOYEES' 
ASSOCIATION 


CITY OF LAS VEGAS 
LAS VEGAS, NV 


and 


FMCS Case No. 210823-09448 
Julie Terry, Grievant 


) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 


Hearing Date: February 1, April 12, May 5, 2022 


Hearing Site: 


Briefs Received: 


Award Date: 


Arbitrator: 


Virtual Via Zoom 


July 13, 2022 


August 11, 2022 


JONATHAN S. MONAT, PhD 


Appearing for the Company: 


Jeffrey F. Allen, Esq 
Attorney at Law 
ForLVCEA 
857 N. Eastern Avenue 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 


Appearing for the Union: 


Court Reporter: 


Morgan D. Davis, Esq. 
Attorney at Law 
Assistant City Attorney 
City Attorney's Office 
499 South Main Street 
6th Floor 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 


Ingrid Suarez Egnatuk, CSR 
Bayside Reporting Company 
3 510 Torrance Boulevard 
Torrance, CA 90503 


ARBITRATOR'S FINDINGS 
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INTRODUCTION 


Julie Terry, the Grievant in this matter, has been employed by the City of Las Vegas for fourteen 


(14) years, most recently in the Department of Public Safety as a Communications Specialist. There are 


six stations in the communications area with up to six specialists working depending on staffing levels. She 


typically handled non-emergency calls while emergency calls (911) are routed through other specialists. 


Because of the pandemic, staffing was often short, requiring she work some overtime after her twelve hour 


shift. Grievant admitted she had attendance issues for which she received progressive discipline. Her eval­


uations have generally been positive. 


The Grievant attended the Route 91 Harvest Festival concert near the Mandalay Bay Resort on the 


Las Vegas Strip. The date was October 1, 2017. A shooter opened fire from the resort, killing 60 people 


and injuring 500. Although the Grievant was not hit or injured, the incident was very traumatic. Soon she 


began suffering mental health issues which were exacerbated by PTSD. She began taking prescribed 


psychotropic medications and attending therapy. One of her therapists diagnosed her with Generalized 


Anxiety Disorder, PTSD and Major Depressive Disorder. Her therapist did not consider her a threat to 


others. She was treated for suicidal ideation and spent three days in an in-patient treatment facility. She 


made no suicide attempts. The City sent the Grievant for a psychological fitness for duty evaluation and 


found her to have a number of PTSD symptoms but was cleared to continue working without restrictions. 


Her psychological history is well-documented on the record. 


In 2019, issues in the Grievant' s personal life began to impact her mental health. She had panic 


attacks, emergency room visits and a welfare check. She used a significant amount of sick leave in 2018 


through 2020 had remaining none in her sick leave bank. Leave without pay (L WOP) had run out. On 


June 12, 2020, Grievant was placed on a Performance Improvement Plan (PIP) which she successfully 


completed followed by good performance evaluations. 


A second fitness for duty evaluation was scheduled for late February 2021. Although the Grievant 
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testified that the evaluator, Dr. Short, said she was fine, his report identified multiple mental health issues 


(7) which could lead to more PTSD events. He advised she continue therapy but was not a threat to herself 


or others, according to the Union. A memo written by HR Analyst Lori Petsco to Dr. Short suggested the 


Grievant was less than truthful about her conditions. Petsco asked for a second fitness for duty exam 


which Dr. Short conducted, after which he downgraded his assessment of the Grievant. He found her 


unsafe to return to work. At the direction of Deputy Chief Adams, HR Director Hunt and Petsco did not 


allow the Grievant to return to work. Grievant's status was changed from administrative leave to unpaid 


leave. A third fitness evaluation did not change the Grievant' s status. 


The record contains a substantial amount of evidence, testimony and argument about Grievant's 


psychological state, fitness for duty and how much of a threat she presented to her own safety and the 


safety of others with whom she worked. This record became the basis for the change in the Grievant' s 


employment status at the City of Las Vegas. Grievant was either terminated or separated from City 


employment on or about July 28, 2021. This is the gravamen of the dispute between the parties. Was the 


Grievant terminated, as the Union claims, or separated, as the City claims. The Grievant claimed the City 


violated the CBA, Articles 13 & 17 by placing her on L WOP status and discharging her without just cause. 


The parties agreed that the matter was properly before the Arbitrator for a final and binding 


decision under the terms of the Collective Bargaining Agreement (CBA)(Jl ). Hearings were held over three 


days - February 1, April 12 and May 5, 2022. All evidence and testimony were admitted under oath 


administered by the Court Reporter who provided the official transcript and only record of the hearing. All 


sessions were held virtually using the Zoom platform. Exhibits were shared with the Arbitrator by hard 


copy and electronic file received in advance of the hearing. The parties had a full and fair opportunity to 


present their witness and evidence, examine and cross-examine witnesses and make arguments. Counsel 


agreed to file post-hearing briefs electronically to the Arbitrator. The briefs were received on July 13, 2022, 


and the record closed. 


Page 3 of 17 







ISSUES 


The parties disagreed on the issue before the Arbitrator. The Union argued the case was a termina­


tion case requiring just cause standards to be met. Also, the Union alleged a violation of the L WOP provi­


sions of the CBA. At a minimum, the Union called th~ action an "involuntary separation" and effectively a 


termination (TR13). The City argued the Grievant was not terminated and the case was a separation based 


upon Article 17.6 and subsection 17.6.8, Leave Without Pay and Separation, respectively. The City noted 


the Grievant remains in the system accruing benefits on leave without pay (TR16). 


Specifically, the City offered the following statement of the issue: 


1) Did the City violate Article 13 of the Collective Bargaining Agreement? 


2) If so, what is the appropriate remedy? 


The Union offered this statement of the issue: 


1) Did the City terminate the Grievant without Just Cause in violation of Article 13 of the 


CBA? 


2) If so, what is the appropriate remedy? 


PERTINENT CONTRACT PROVISIONS 


Complete articles from the CBA will not be copied here as they are well-known to the parties and 


spell out in their post-hearing briefs. Pertinent sections will be referenced and quoted as necessary in the 


Arbitrator's Discussion and Findings below. Relevant articles are Article 11 - Sick Leave; Article 13 -


Disciplinary Action; and Article 17 - Leave Without Pay And Special Leave. 
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POSITION OF THE CITY OF LAS VEGAS 1 


The City argued it did not terminate the Grievant, contrary to the Union's claim. The operative 


document is the Notice of Separation, which expressly states in part "Pursuant to Article 17.6.8 of the 


Collective Bargaining Agreement, ' ... employees who are unable to return to work after being on L WOP 


status for twelve (12) weeks may be separated from City employment upon notice to the employee and the 


Association after the 12 weeks of approved L WOP has expired."' L VCEA President DeAndre Carruthers 


testified disciplinary termination and separation are different, distinct and in separate articles of the CBA. 


As soon as the City was made aware of the correct process specified in Article 17.6.8, the initial Notice of 


Termination was withdrawn immediately and the Notice of Separation issued instead. The City noted that 


the Factfinder in the last round of negotiations found that catastrophic leave and other elements of L WOP 


proposal must be adopted into Article 17. 2 


Testimony of Lori Petsco reflected that the City did not want to terminate the Grievant at the time, 


but allow her to resign and retain benefits as well as reapply for work if her conditions improved. Although 


the Grievant did not like the idea of voluntary resignation, she applied for unemployment as having volun­


tarily resigned. Per Article 17.6. 7, the City continued to pay Grievant's employer-provided insurance 


coverage, an action not available to a terminated employee. She remained in the City roster as on L WOP. 


Grievant gave inconsistent testimony as to whether or not her coverage had expired. The City argued she 


continues to have city-funded coverage today. Separation is the path the City followed, not termination, 


but it remains in process through this adversarial process. 


Next, the City argued that putting the Grievant on LWOP was appropriate. She was on FMLA 


until her available leaves were used up, then on LWOP (unpaid FMLA) about or about April 9, 2021, but 


1 
Due to the length of each party's briefs (City 45 pages and CEA 73 pages), the position of the parties sections are 


an essential summary of positions. 


2 Article 1 7 appears to be have been renumbered after the factfinding report. 
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the grievance not filed until July 29, 2022, well past the 14 day period within which a grievance must be 


filed. The City claimed the grievance is untimely. There is no written extension of the time limits mutually 


agreed upon by the parties. Furthermore, placement on L WOP under FMLA provisions is not grievable. 


The City cited the CBA's provision that bans grievances based on violation of the Federal act. Evidence 


showed the Grievant had no paid leave time available when she was placed on LWOP. 


Next, the City argued Article 17 is clear and unambiguous on its face. Following the plain mean­


ing rule, there is no need for other interpretive aids. Contrary to DeAndre Carruthers' testimony, discipline 


is not the only scenario applicable. The express language of the CBA is that there are several scenarios 


which an employee can request but only discipline can be imposed. Requests are subject to approval by the 


employee's department head. CEA only becomes aware of these actions if an employee tells it what has 


occurred. The CBA does not impose a requirement on the City to notify CEA when an employee is taken 


off administrative leave and placed on L WOP. CEA acknowledged that it typically does not received 


notice of when its members are placed on L WOP. The lack of any prior application of this article does not 


establish a practice against its use. 


Nor is the City required to provide CEA with advance copies of memos and communication the 


City had with therapists. The City is not obligated to provide this information. The same lack of obliga­


tion applies to fitness for duty examinations. In none of these scenarios has the City copied CEA on docu­


ments involving an employee's health records. The City must maintain confidentiality of these records. 


Only the employee can release that information. Contrary to CEA's claim, the City did not tell her to not 


share. The Grievant was entitled to copies of all medical reports. The Grievant was provided a written 


notice she would be provided with an FMLA designation notice and that she would be in L WOP status 


once her leave ran out. After she did not pass the amended fitness for duty exam, she was placed on 


extended L WOP. 


The City has maintained the right to use fitness for duty exams for various purposes including 
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extended periods ofLWOP. A fitness for duty exam may be required even after a physician's release to 


return to work. The City introduced extensive evidence to show the long-term existence of fitness for duty 


practices. Association President Carruthers concurred the City had the right to require such exams. The 


City acted appropriately in requesting Dr. Short re-evaluate the Grievant, an action against which the CEA 


lodged strong objections. Among the reasons for the amended evaluation was that the Grievant misrepre­


sented certain aspects of her work and conditions. As her most recent evaluation showed, the Grievant 


continued to have problems with attendance for which she received discipline. 


Professional opinions by licensed therapists established that the Grievant was never fit for duty. 


She filed a claim for short term disability, supported by one of her therapists, Trina. Dr. Short provided an 


amended evaluation based on new information the Grievant had withheld from her. The City is not obliga­


ted to accept a treating physician's or therapist's recommendations. Trina is a Marriage and Family Coun­


selor (MFT), a practice regulated by the Board of Examiners for Marriage and Family Therapists and 


Clinical Professional Counselors. According to the Board's Code of Ethics adopted from the American 


Association of Marriage and Family Therapy, an MFT can provide therapy or forensic evaluation but 


should not perform both with a patient. 


An evaluator does not provided therapy but seeks to develop a complete picture of a patient's 


mental health, challenging the subject who, as in Grievant's case, provided only the information she wanted 


to share. Dr. Brown's first evaluation was based upon Trina's opinion which was based upon Gricvant's 


lack of full disclosure. Grievant admitted she did not report some important incidents to Trina in her 


therapy session. The City rightfully granted the Grievant protected leave once it received information that 


the Grievant was not able to work due to documented mental health issues. 


For these reasons, the City argues that a claim for wrongful discharge must be rejected. The infre­


quently used procedure used by the City to separate the Grievant is under Article 17. Discipline is separate 


under Article 13. The Grievant's plethora of mental health issues is well-documented. She was found to 
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not be fit for work for a period of 3-6 months in March 2021. Grievant did not file a grievance until July. 


The clear language of the CBA allowed the City to take the action it did. The grievance must be denied. 


POSITION OF THE LVCEA 


CEA argued that the Grievant was placed in unpaid leave status depriving her of wages and 


improperly refusing to let her work. The L WOP status is effectively permanent and constructive discharge. 


The Grievant is seeking reinstatement and a make-whole remedy. The grievance was filed as soon as CEA 


was aware of the violation. Even if found to be untimely, the continuing grievance doctrine applies be­


cause the Grievant has not received any pay or benefits since being placed on L WOP on March 28, 2021. 


Furthermore, according to CEA, Lori Petsco let it slip at the hearing the City was planning to keep the 


Grievant in an active employment status until the arbitration hearing. 


The Grievant filed the disability insurance form under duress and without proper counseling and 


representation from L VCEA. She did not agree she was disabled. She was put back to work after the 


fitness for duty exam found to be her fit to return. After 20 days of work, she was placed on leave again 


after the second fitness exam found she was unfit, leaving the Grievant confused. She had no mental health 


cover-age on disability. She was taken off paid leave prior to her filing for disability. 


CEA President Carruthers and former CEA General Counsel Bruce Snyder testified that the only 


way the City can unilaterally force the Grievant onto unpaid leave is through the disciplinary process 


specified in Article 13 of the CBA. Article 13(H) states that "Just cause exists when an employee commits 


an act of substance relating to the character or fitness of the employee to perform official duties that is 


contrary to sound public practices or acceptable work performance. 3 Among offenses listed which would 


be considered just cause include absenteeism or tardiness for which Grievant has been disciplined in the 


past. Grievant was told to file for disability when she was refused return to work. 


3 Emphasis added by L VCEA counsel. 
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President Carruthers testified that all L VCEA represented employees have the right to be paid their 


contractually defined wages and benefits based on a 40 hour work week (Article 14A). Rick Hunt agreed 


in his testimony. Other employees have failed fitness for duty exams and have been put through the disci­


plinary process. The City's personnel policies spell out the same process for termination which is the disci­


plinary process. The CBA governs in event of a conflict between the CBA and City policies. In this case, 


Article 13 Disciplinary Process takes precedence. Management has the right to require an employee to 


submit to a fitness for duty evaluation when it has a reasonable suspicion that an employee is unfit for 


duty. There is no other vehicle for the City to unilaterally deprive an employee of their opportunity to earn 


full wages. Disciplinary hearings would have been required but were not in Grievant's case. 


The City had never invoked Article 17. 6 .1 of the CBA prior to this hearing. The language of 


Article 17.6.1 provides that the City may grant leave without pay in all categories but discipline which is 


the only category where the City may impose LWOP. The City cannot compel in the other five (5) categor­


ies for leave without pay. It is the employee's choice that leave is needed. The Grievant had not exhausted 


her paid accrued leave when the City removed her from work as unfit for duty and having used up her 


accrued paid leave. Article 17.6.4 provides for provides for LWOP for medical reasons. The employee 


requesting such leave has the burden to provide appropriate documentation, details of which are specified 


in this CBA subsection. 


Bargaining history for Article 1 7 established that the disciplinary process was added specifically to 


allow the City to place an employee on L WOP specifically for disciplinary actions. According to former 


Chief Counsel Bruce Snyder, it was never L VCEA's intent to allow the City to impose LWOP for the other 


five categories in this article. The City accepted the proposed addition. Statements from employees who 


went on L WOP wrote statements that it was their choice and not imposed forcing them to burn accrued 


leave. The City has no authority to require that employees use up accrued leave. In this case, the City did 


not follow the bargained for disciplinary process; the Grievant was effectively placed on a 15-month leave 
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without pay or was constructively discharged. 


Section 17.6.8 states: 


"Except as provided by law, employees who are unable to return to work after being on 
LWOP status for twelve (12) weeks, may be separated from City employment upon notice to the 
employee and the Association after the 12 weeks of approved LWOP has expired. The approved 12 
weeks period includes any leave granted under the Family and Medical Leave Act. The separa-tion 
will be considered a resignation and therefore, employees who are able and capable of return-ing to 
work within twelve (12) months following separation can request to be placed on a rehire list in 
accordance with Civil Service Rules. All entitlements under this provision will end twelve (12) 
months following the employee's date of separation." 


The Association contends this provision allows the City to separate an employee under this provision only if 


employees agree that they are able to return to work after being on LWOP for 12 weeks. The City cannot 


make this determination unilaterally. According to LVCEA, Factfinder Wilma R.K. Rader's report (2003) 


is consistent with the Association's interpretation that the employee on LWOP for twelve months must be 


asked if they could return to work Rader's decision does not allow unilateral separation. LVCEA 


witnesses Carruthers and Burns testified the City had never summarily separated an employee based on its 


unilateral determination that the employee was unfit for duty. 


Next, LVCEA argued the City's decision to refuse to allow Grievant to work and to discontinue pay 


and benefits was a sham process inconsistent with her due process rights. These rights are imbedded in the 


Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution. The Grievant has a statutory or 


contractual property interest as a fully tenured City employee. She had a right to be advised of the basis of 


the adverse employment action. Her first fitness for duty evaluation was conducted fairly by Dr. Brown4 


who found her safe to return to work Unsatisfied with that opinion, the City claimed there was a need for a 


second fitness for duty exam because the Grievant withheld important information. 


4 
Dr. Short and Dr. Brown may be referenced in place of each other because of the interchanged use of their names 


in the later sections the Association's brief. 
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Then the City sent Dr. Brown an email with only negative information to cause Dr. Brown to 


conduct a second fitness exam. City witness Hunt was not forthcoming as to the real reason for the memo 


was to have a second fitness for duty evaluation conducted by Dr. Brown. The memo was the City 


attempting to poison the well with false, uncorroborated and inaccurate information. Lori Petsco testified 


that "she does not get to tell her boss (Rick Hunt) how to draft his emails." According to LVCEA, Petsco 


stated she did not think the Grievant manipulated her examination results. The Grievant was not given a 


chance to defend herself against the charge of manipulation of examinations. Hunt testified he did not 


independently corroborate veracity of the accusation received from Petsco. 


Nor was there any factual evidence about other employees' subjective fears for safety working with 


the Grievant. Dr. Short's second report finding the Grievant unfit and unsafe for duty was biased by the 


one-sided information provided by the City. The Association found the first report fair, calling Grievant 


honest and forthright but the second report found her evasive, avoidant and untruthful. The reports were 


polar opposites. This is known because the Grievant recorded her third interview with Dr. Brown. 


The Grievant has never been accused of workplace violence. She has never been a risk to anyone 


but herself. Dr. Brown discounted the opinion of Grievant's long-term physician, Dr. Robinson, that the 


Grievant should be allowed to return to work, a position fully discounted by Dr. Brown. This underscores 


the com-plete lack of due process afforded the Grievant. The grievance should be sustained. The Grievant 


should be reinstated and made whole. 
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ARBITRATOR'S DISCUSSION AND FINDINGS 


The Arbitrator has carefully considered the entire record of evidence, testimony, argument and post­


hearing briefs. The analysis and findings discussed in this section are based upon the pertinent and salient 


facts, evidence and arguments the Arbitrator finds to be controlling. All evidence and testimony were 


considered and given appropriate weight in arriving at the recommendation whether or not discussed. 


The Association has argued vociferously that the Grievant was discharged unjustly under the terms 


of Article 13, Disciplinary Action. The City argued just as vociferously that the Grievant was properly 


placed on L WOP under Article 17 - Leaves. A dispro-portionate amount of time at the hearing was spent 


on testimony and evidence related to the Grievant's psychological state of mind and fitness for duty. As the 


advocates acknowledged, neither is qualified to make judgments on these matters which require expert, 


licensed providers. The providers' professional evaluations and opinions became the basis for the City's 


decisions regarding the Grievant. 


Nor is the Arbitrator qualified to make judgments about the Grievant's mental state. One can only 


look at the language of the CBA, how it was applied and the evidence and testimony to reach a studied con­


clusion about which party prevails. Also, while the Grievant testified that she was ready, willing and able to 


work, her self-perceptions are only part of the picture and subjective in nature. 


Grievant was issued a Notice of Separation by Chief Louis Molina, Department of Public Safety, 


on July 28, 2021. The reason for the separation was that Grievant had been on LWOP for more than 12 


weeks and unable to return to work. The Grievant filed a grievance on July 28, 2021, the same day, alleging 


she was terminated without just cause per Article 13 and wrongfully placed in L WOP status in violation of 


Article 17 (CXl ). The grievance was denied and ultimately appealed to arbitration. 


Article 17.6 Leave Without Pay, states that "Leave Without Pay may be granted or imposed5 by 


5 Emphasis added by the Arbitrator. 
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the Department Director, or designee, to employees for ... :" one or more of six (6) reasons listed including 


"1) Purposes normally covered by sick leave, annual leave or Time in Lieu of (TILO) when such leave has 


been exhausted; 2) Disciplinary action .... " This language is clear and unequivocal on its face. There are no 


restrictions on granting or imposing mentioned in this section including item 17.6.1. LVCEA argued 


strongly that only discipline can be imposed. There is no language in this section which states or places any 


restriction on the City to grant or impose any of the six categories. 


It is well-documented in the record that the Grievant had a long history of psychological issues 


stemming from attending the Route 91 concert in October 2017 where 60 people were shot and 500 injured 


by a shooter high up on Mandalay Bay Resort. At some point soon after the mass shooting, the Grievant 


began to suffer PTSD symptoms. She had a high rate of absenteeism, anxiety, depression and even talked of 


suicide. She was treated by a series of counselors and psychologists who placed her on psychotropic 


medications to control her condition and symptoms. At one point, she was detained by Boulder City PD 


and then placed in an in-patient facility. All of these incidents and others are well-documented. She 


received two disciplinary suspensions in May and August 2020 for her absenteeism. 


The Grievant had a documented history of using up her accrued her paid leave for ongoing mental 


health issues. Her anxiety and panic attacks continued after she ended her therapy with Trina in October 


2018. The City demonstrated that it had taken many steps other than discipline to help the Grievant 


maintain good mental health. The Grievant had a concealed handgun which she kept in her car, a fact 


known to her co-workers. Some of the co-workers complained to supervisors that they had concerns about 


their safety working with the Grievant. The gun was taken away from the Grievant by the police when she 


was detained because there were concerns about the Grievant actively considering suicide. 


The LVCEA played down these concerns, arguing the Grievant was not a threat to anyone but her­


self. The Grievant testified that she was able to come back to work. However, the clinical opinions were 


mixed, at best. There is evidence in the form of testimony that the Grievant withheld critical incidents that 
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would have negated a recommendation that she was safe to return to work. A second fitness for duty eval­


uation by Dr. Short on March 16, 2021, included more complete information from Trina, who reported 


Grievant's psychological disorders persisted. Alternate jobs were considered but Dr. Brown did not believe 


any of them would a good fit for the Grievant. Hence, Dr. Brown concluded the Grievant was not safe to 


return to work, notwithstanding the Grievant's belief she was able to return to work. The credible evidence 


establishes that the Grievant was made aware of her leave status by email as early as March 24, 2021 


(CX20). Her claim she had not been advised of her placement on L WOP and the steps she could take is not 


credible. 


Dr. Short recommended a reevaluation in 3-6 months to determine her progress to safely return to 


work. When the Grievant spoke with LVCEA President Carruthers, he advised her to follow the City's 


plan. Carruthers neither requested nor has been provided any materials related to the fitness for duty eval­


uations. Documents were provided in discovery. The Grievant was on FMLA for part of the 3-6 month 


period but because of her heavy leave usage it was unpaid. A followup exam was conducted by Dr. Short 


which resulted in an amended fitness for duty evaluation in which he recommended she was not safe to 


return to work. A patient's self-assessment, as in this case, is subjective with the desire to return not con­


sistent with objective observations of trained evaluators such as Dr. Brown and Dr. Short who apply objec­


tive criteria in making their determination. 


The City was proper in relying upon the professional recommendations of licensed, trained psych­


ologists. In addition to the safety of the Grievant, the City is responsible for providing a safe workplace for 


the other employees who come in contact with the Grievant daily. The Grievant was taking some very 


powerful medications to control anxiety, depression and sleep. Although LVCEA views the City's actions 


as ruse to violate the CBA to terminate the Grievant, the City appears to have taken a prudent and contract­


ually legal course in assessing the risks to the Grievant, other employees and the City. Deputy Chief Adams 


had legitimate concerns about the safety of the Grievant and other employees. L VCEA would have the 
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Arbitrator believe that the City manipulated the outcome when it provided additional information to the 


evaluators which gave a complete picture of the Grievant not provided by the Grievant. 


As noted above, President Carruthers testified that he did not seek any documents on the Grievant' s 


situation and advised her to follow the City's instructions. The City has utilized fitness for duty exams for 


decades for a variety of reasons, often connected to long periods of leave without pay. Carruthers testified 


that the City had a right to send an employee for a fitness for duty exam and to rely on the results of the 


exam. The amended fitness for duty exam by Dr. Short was requested because of the Grievant's off duty 


comment to a co-worker about harming herself. 


Again, the City had evidence in February 2021 that directly conflicted with the Grievant's claim 


that she was safe to return to work. The memo from Rick Hunt to the Grievant was copied to Carruthers. 


There is no evidence of underhandedness. Nor is there any language in the CBA obligating the City to 


notify CEA or provide information to CEA. L VCEA pressured Rick Hunt to testify that he was obligated to 


do so. He did not take the bait. Since the actions related to Grievant's mental health issues were not 


disciplinary, the Association was not entitled to be present. Cam1thers' testimony concerning whether he 


was notified in advance confirms that the City was not required to notify him of a non-disciplinary action. 


L VCEA felt otherwise and questioned Lori Petsco intensely about what it declared was only nega­


tive information in the memo to Dr. Short and asked why there was no positive information. Petsco testified 


that the memo was information and would not characterize it as positive or negative. The Grievant indicated 


to Dr. Short that she still gets panic attacks. Dr. Short diagnosed the Grievant with seven (7) clinical or 


psy-chological issues includ-ing abuse of one of her meds. Based on these findings, the City concluded that 


the Grievant was not safe to return to work no matter how much faith LVCEA placed in Grievant's self­


assessment. The City is obligated by contract and law to maintain a safe workplace for all employees. 


The Association agreed that the City has the legal right to require a fitness for duty exam when it 


has a reasonable suspicion that an employee is unfit for duty. L VCEA has never contested otherwise. The 


Page 15 of 17 







parties have never bargained an alternative framework. If an alternate framework were to be negotiated, 


L VCEA maintained there would be several safeguards for its members in any contract language. As it 


stands, the CBA is silent on fitness for duty exams. As the evidence shows in this case, the City has the 


non-grievable right to require fitness for duty exams and to place an employee on FMLA. The Grievant 


used up her accrued leave and was found to be unsafe to return to work, her personal opinion about her 


ability notwithstanding, as addressed above. 


L VCEA argued at great length that the Grievant was denied wages and benefits which are manda­


tory subjects of bargaining. The Grievant was legally placed on FMLA when fitness for duty exams deter­


mined she was unsafe to return to work. Since she had used up her most of her accrued leave by her own 


voluntary actions, she was required to go on L WOP when she ran out of paid leave. That is regrettable but 


is permissible by the CBA. It is noted that the Grievant was issued two short suspensions for absenteeism in 


early and mid-2020. The actions taken by the City with respect to fitness for duty were not related to those 


incidents. 


The Association would have the Arbitrator find that the Grievant was constructively discharged. 


That finding will not be made. Citing the Rader factfinding decision (CX9), LVCEA places an opposite 


meaning to the Factfinder's words. The pertinent language is: 


" .. .It seems to the Facfinder that it is not unfair to ask an employee away from the job for more 
than 12 months to determine if he/she is ready, willing and able to return to the workplace. If not, 
then it is not unreasonable to ask that person to relinquish their employee status, especially since 
the possibility of future employment remains open. The Factfinder understands that the Associa­
tion is unwilling to agree that any of its bargaining unit members be cut off from receiving bene-fits 
for any reason, but in this, the Factfinder concluded that the equities favor the City's position. 


The F actfinder adopted the City's position. Although it is unclear if she considered Article 13, there is no 


mention of discipline in her analysis of Article 17. 


There is no language in Article 17 bridging it to Article 13. The pertinent language reads: 


Article 17, Section 17.6.8 states: 
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"Except as provided by law, employees who are unable to return to work after being on 
LWOP status for twelve (12) weeks, may be separated from City employment upon notice to the 
employee and the Association after the 12 weeks of approved LWOP has expired. The approved 12 
weeks period includes any leave granted under the Family and Medical Leave Act. The separa-tion 
will be considered a resignation and therefore, employees who are able and capable of return-ing to 
work within twelve (12) months following separation can request to be placed on a rehire list in 
accordance with Civil Service Rules. All entitlements under this provision will end twelve (12) 
months following the employee's date of separation." 


Arguendo, if the City were taking disciplinary action against the Grievant, it very easily could have con­


tinued with longer suspensions or even termination. It chose not to take that path. It is clear from an arms' 


length analysis that the City acted in response to a mental health situation in February 2021 which included 


an episode of suicidal thoughts and an involuntary commitment to a treatment facility for evaluation. At the 


same time, a gun was taken from her possession. Article 17.6.8 was properly applied. The Grievant was 


found by competent evaluators to be unsafe to return to work. She was not deprived of wages and benefits 


in violation of the CBA. 


Hence, the Arbitrator finds that there is no just cause issue to be resolved. There was no violation 


of Article 17 when the Grievant was separated from employment by the City. 


AWARD 


For all the reasons stated above, the grievance is denied in its entirety. 


Jonathan S. Monat, Ph.D. 
Arbitrator 
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("Gleed"), Marc Brooks ("Brooks") and the International Association of Fire Fighters, Local 


I 285 ("IAFF"; Collectively "Complainants"), by and through their counsel of record, Jeffrey F. 


Allen, Esq., hereby submit the following Opposition to City of Las Vegas' ("City") Motion to 


Dismiss Gleed's, Brooks' and IAFF's Prohibited Labor Practices Complaints. 
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I. INTRODUCTION 


Contrary to the City' s self-serving assertion in its Motion to Dismiss, the Prohibited 


Labor Practices Complaints submitted by the Complainants do not present simple contractual 


issues that could have been redressed through the grievance process. The City has unilaterally 


implemented a new practice in which it subjects employees to fitness for duty evaluations in 


order to assess their suitability for continued employment. Per the City' s new practice, if the 


physician that the City hires opines that an employee is unfit for duty, the City refuses to allow 


the employee to work and either forces the employee to bum through their accrued paid leave or 


places them on unpaid leave. The City' s practice is rife for abuse as is revealed by its actions in 


the Terry matter. 


The City never negotiated with either the L VCEA or the IAFF over this new practice 


despite the fact that it directly impacts multiple mandatory subjects of bargaining including 


wages, leave time, disciplinary procedures and, more generally, the continued employment of 


employees. Furthermore, it is indisputable that there are no provisions in the relevant Collective 


Bargaining Agreements that authorize the City's actions. Consequently, this is a textbook 


example of a unilateral change to mandatory subjects of bargaining and therefore a prohibited 


labor practice in violation ofNRS §288.270(l)(a) and (e). Moreover, the City's unilateral 


implementation of this fitness for duty practice violates established precedent from this Board as 


will be discussed herein. 


Since the Complainants' claims are squarely grounded in NRS Chapter 288, rather than 


contractually based, dismissal pursuant to Nevada Administrative Code, §288.375(2) would be 


inappropriate. Dismissal is also inappropriate because the City's unilaterally implemented 


fitness for duty process constitutes an ongoing repudiation of its duty to coilectively bargain with 


the LVCEA and the IAFF. Unless this Board intervenes and resolves the Complainants' claims 


on their merits, the City's prohibited labor practices will continue to recur. 


Ill 


Ill 


Ill 
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II. FACTS 


A. THE BARGAINED FOR DISCIPLINARY PROCESS HAD ALWAYS 
BEEN THE SOLE TOOL FOR THE CITY TO REMOVE SUPPOSEDLY 
UNFIT EMPLOYEES FROM WORK 


4 The LVCEA is the exclusive bargaining agent and employee organization representing 


5 classified non-sworn employees of the City such as Gleed, Brooks and Terry. (Complainants' 


6 Exhibit ("Ex.") 69, Caruthers Testimony, p. 97-98.) The IAFF is the exclusive bargaining agent 


7 and employee organization that represents City employees who work in the Las Vegas 


8 Department of Fire and Rescue, excluding clerical and administrative employees. (Ex. 80, 


g IAFF's First Amended Prohibited Labor Practices Complaint, ~4.) Pursuant to the Government 


10 Employee Management Relations Act codified at NRS Chapter 288, the LVCEA and the IAFF 


11 have separately negotiated a series of successive Collective Bargaining Agreements with the 


12 City. (Ex. 1, Ex. 62, Ex. 63 and Ex. 81-83.) Both the LVCEA and the IAFF CBAs provide that 


13 all employees have the right to earn their contractually defined wages and benefits based on a 


14 specifically defined work week. (Ex. 1, Article 14(A), p. 28 and Article 23, Section 23.2, p. 48; 


15 Ex. 81, Article l 7(A) and Article 24.) The CBAs also provide employees with a contractually 


16 defined amount of paid leave including sick leave, annual leave and holidays. (See, Ex. 1, 


17 Articles 9-1 l; Ex. 81, Articles 14-16.) 


18 The CBAs do not give the City the authority to unilaterally reduce the wages and benefits 


19 that IAFF or L VCEA represented employees can earn except for through the bargained for 


20 disciplinary process. (Ex. I and 81.) That is, the City can reduce an employee's wages and hours 


21 worked via a disciplinary suspension, demotion or termination imposed pursuant to Article 13 of 


22 the LVCEA's CBA or the Positive Discipline Manual incorporated into the IAFF's CBA at 


23 Article 9(J). Otherwise, the CBAs obligate the City to provide employees with the opportunity to 


24 work their defined work week and to pay them their contractually defined wages for same. 


25 Article 13 of the L VCEA CBA entitled "Disciplinary Action" sets forth a comprehensive 


26 disciplinary process that allows the City to to deal with employees that are unfit for duty, unable 


27 to perform their job effectively, making threats to others, neglecting their duties and/or acting 


28 unsafely at work. (Ex. 1, p. 24-27.) Specifically, Article 13(H) entitled "Just Cause" states that 


4 







1 "Just cause exists when an employee commits an act of substance relating to the character or 


2 fitness of the employee to perform official duties that is contrary to sound public practices or 


3 acceptable work performance." (Ex. 1, p. 27; Emphasis added.) The IAFF's Positive Discipline 


4 Manual also sets forth a comprehensive disciplinary process that allows the City to deal with 


5 employees who have behavioral, attendance or performance issues. (Ex. 84.) On page 6 of the 


6 Positive Discipline Manual, performance issues to be addressed in the disciplinary process 


7 include "a person's ability to do satisfactory and competent work." (Id.) 


8 Neither the L VCEA CBA nor the IAFF CBA has any provisions on fitness for duty 


9. examinations. (Ex. 1 and 81.) The LVCEA and the City have never discussed fitness for duty 


10 examinations during negotiations for any CBA. (Ex. 69, p. 105, Caruthers Testimony, Ex. 70, p. 


11 497-498, Hunt Testimony; Ex. 74, Arbitrator's Decision, p. 15, last 1 - p. 16, 11.) Certainly, the 


12 City has historically conducted fitness for duty evaluations of employees. However, prior to the 


13 cases herein, the City had never once refused to allow an L VCEA represented employee to work 


14 and prevented them from earning wages based solely on a failed fitness for duty evaluation. (Ex. 


15 69, Caruthers Testimony, p. 112-115, and Ex. 71, Snyder Testimony, p. 515-518.) Rather, when 


16 LVCEA represented employees had previously failed a fitness for duty evaluation, they were 


17 referred to the disciplinary process in Article 13 and suspended as a result thereof. (Ex. 69, 


18 Caruthers Testimony, p. 113-114.) Thus, prior to the cases herein, the City had never once in its 


19 entire history with the LVCEA unilaterally reduced an employee's wages or benefits (by putting 


20 them on unpaid leave or otherwise) outside of the bargained for disciplinary process in Article 


21 13. (RT 112-115, 515-518.) Rather, everyone understood that the bargained for disciplinary 


22 process was the designated tool that the City had to remove supposedly unfit employees from 


23 work. This was also true for IAFF represented employees. (Ex. 80, ~7, 8.) That changed 


24 beginning in March 2021 with the cases herein. 


25 


26 


27 


28 


B. BRIEF BACKGROUND ON GLEED, BROOKS AND LEWIS AND HOW 
THEY WERE ADVERSELY AFFECTED BY THE CITY'S MISUSE OF 
ITS NEWLY IMPLEMENTED FITNESS FOR DUTY PROCESS 


At all relevant times Gleed has been employed with the City as an Irrigation Systems 


Repairer. (Ex. 75, Gleed's Prohibited Labor Practices Complaint, 13.) On or about July 27, 
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2021, representatives of City management suspected that Gleed was under the influence of drugs. 


He submitted to a drug test performed by an agent of the City and the test results came back 


negative. Gleed was then instructed to submit to a basic physical examination at an occupational 


health clinic retained by the City. The nurse who performed the physical examination, Shannon 


Latham, issued a report stating: "Not fit for duty until Free T4 levels drawn and unable to be 


released until prescribing provider of Gabapentin evaluates mental status TSH + T4 WNL." (Ex. 


75, ,I9.) Neither Ms. Latham nor any other representative of the City has explained the basis for 


the assertion that Gleed was unfit for duty. Neither Ms. Latham nor any other representative of 


the City has performed any psychological evaluation, neurological evaluation or any fitness for 


duty evaluation that would support the assertion that Gleed was unfit for duty. (Id.) 


Gleed was never unfit for duty and has at all times been ready and able to perform the 


full work duties of his position. (Ex. 75, ,Il 1.) Nevertheless, beginning on July 27, 2021, the City 


refused to allow Gleed to perform his regular duties and unilaterally placed him on unpaid leave. 


(Ex. 75, ,I12.) Without any explanation whatsoever (or even advising the LVCEA), the City 


apparently placed Gleed back on paid administrative leave on or about September 20, 2021. (Ex. 


76, Deel. of JFA, ,I7.) The City forced Gleed to submit to another fitness for duty evaluation by 


its agent, Dr. Victor Klausner, which was conducted on October 11, 2021. Dr. Klausner didn't 


even assess Gleed's mental acuity at all. Instead, he checked Gleed's range of motion, strength 


and agility. Dr. Klausner apparently was satisfied that Gleed was fit for duty because the City 


finally allowed Gleed to return to work on October 13, 2021. (Ex. 76, ,I7.) 


At all relevant times Brooks has been employed with the City as an Equipment Operator. 


(Ex. 77, Brooks' Prohibited Labor Practices Complaint, ,I3.) On or about July 9, 2021, 


representatives of City management forced Brooks to submit to a fitness for duty evaluation 


performed by Dr. Klausner. According to Dr. Klausner, Brooks was unfit for duty because his 


blood pressure was high and Brooks had previously been diagnosed with sleep apnia. Based on 


Dr. Klausner's opinion, the City refused to allow Brooks to perform his regular duties and 


unilaterally forced him to burn through his accrued paid leave time until the City decided he was 


fit for duty. (Ex. 77, ,I9.) 
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Also on July 9, 2021 , Brooks was examined by a physician at Pulmonary Associates and 


deemed to be fit for duty and capable of returning to work with no restrictions. (Ex. 78, Return to 


Work Slip.) On July 13, 2021, Brooks was examined by a physician within the Cardiology 


Department of Southwest Medical Associates and was also determined to be fit for duty and 


capable ofretuming to work with no restrictions. (Ex. 79, Return to Work Letter.) 


Notwithstanding the opinions from two specialists that Brooks was fit for duty, the City 


continued to refuse to allow Brooks to perform his regular duties and continued to force Brooks 


to burn through his accrued paid leave time. (Ex. 77, ,i11 .) Brooks was always fit for duty and 


ready and able to perform the full work duties of his position. However, the City did not allow 


him to return to work and receive his regular wages until August, 2021. (Ex. 77, 112.) 


At all relevant times Lewis has been employed with the City as a Fire Fighter. (Ex. 80, 


IAFF' s First Amended Prohibited Labor Practices Complaint, ,i3.) On or about May 6, 2021 , the 


City placed Lewis on paid administrative leave and instructed him to submit to a psychiatric 


fitness for duty evaluation with Dr. Mark Short ("Dr. Short"). On May 13, 2021 and May 14, 


2021 Lewis met with Dr. Short. On May 21 , 2021 Dr. Short authored a report in which he 


opined that Lewis was somehow fit to return to light duty but not full duty. Dr. Short provided 


no explanation as to why Lewis would be unable to perform his regular duties as a Firefighter. 


(Ex 80, ,J9.) The City placed Lewis on light duty on or about May 21 , 2021. Lewis remained on 


light duty until on or about June 28, 2021. At that time, the City refused to allow Lewis to work 


his regular shift and began to force Lewis to bum through his accrued paid leave time. Lewis 


was forced to bum through his accrued paid leave time from June 28, 2021 through August 23, 


2021. (Ex. 80, ,JI0.) 


C. THE CITY TOOK ANOTHER EMPLOYEE, SILVANA LOPEZ, OFF OF 
WORK WITHOUT PAY BASED ON ITS UNSUBSTANTIATED FINDING 
THAT SHEW AS UNFIT FOR DUTY 


Demonstrating that the City's unilaterally created and implemented fitness for duty 


regime continues on, on August 9, 2022, the City refused to allow employee Silvana Lopez 


("Lopez") to work based on its unilateral determination that she wasn't fit for duty. Lopez was 


forced her to bum through her paid accrued leave for the day that she was removed from work. 


7 







2 


3 


4 


5 


6 


7 


8 


9 


10 


11 


12 


13 


14 


15 


16 


17 


18 


19 


20 


21 


22 


23 


24 


25 


26 


27 


28 


The LVCEA filed a grievance but Lopez doesn't want to get involved in any litigation. (Ex. 85.) 


III. PROCEDURAL ST A TUS 


The L VCEA and three of its members who were subjected to the City' s newly 


implemented fitness for duty process (Terry, Brooks and Gleed), filed Complaints with this 


Board. The IAFF also filed a Complaint with this Board as a result of the City's application of 


its new fitness for duty process to one its members, David Lewis. On January 20, 2022, this 


Board ordered that the various Complaints be consolidated. On the same date, this Board also 


ordered that the consolidated matter be stayed until the grievances filed by the involved 


employees are "resolved through arbitration or otherwise." 


The L VCEA and Terry prosecuted her grievance through arbitration. The arbitrator, 


Jonathan Monet, issued his decision denying Terry' s grievance on August 11, 2022. (Ex. 74.) As 


the costs of arbitration were too high to justify taking Brooks and Gleed' s grievances to 


arbitration, the L VCEA, Brooks and Gleed believed it was appropriate to seek redress through 


the instant consolidated action with this Board. Lewis didn' t want to fight with the City and so 


he withdrew his grievance, leaving the IAFF to continue to seek redress from this Board for the 


City's prohibited labor practices. 


On October 14, 2022, this Board lifted the stay on the matter herein and instructed the 


City to file any appropriate motions including a motion to dismiss for failure to exhaust 


contractual remedies and/or a motion to defer to the arbitration within 21 days. The City filed 


both motions on November 3, 2022, prompting the Opposition herein. 


IV. ARGUMENT 


A. THE LEGAL STANDARD 


The City has filed the instant Motion to Dismiss based on Nevada Administrative Code, 


§288.375(2). Said regulation states: 


"The Board may dismiss a matter for any of the following reasons: 


2. Unless there is a clear showing of special circumstances or extreme 
prejudice, if the parties have not exhausted their contractual remedies, including 
all rights to arbitration." 


As a preliminary matter, NAC §288.235(2) provides: "Pleadings, motions and other 
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papers will be liberally construed, and any defects which do not affect substantial rights of any 


party may be disregarded by the Board." Moreover, based on prior caselaw, it strongly appears 


that this Board accepts all factual allegations stated in a Prohibited Labor Practices Complaint as 


being established for purposes of a motion to dismiss. For example in Boykin v. City of North 


Las Vegas Police Department, Item No. 674A, Case No. Al-045921 (2008), this Board denied 


the City of North Las Vegas' motion to dismiss based on its finding that "sufficient allegations 


exist within the complaint warranting the denial of the motion at this time." Moreover, in Wilson 


v. North Las Vegas Police Department, Item No. 677B, Case No. Al-045925 (2008), this Board 


rejected a motion to dismiss filed by the City of North Las Vegas because "sufficient allegations 


have been made by Wilson to warrant the continuation of the matter at this time." 


In Nevada state courts a motion to dismiss is based on Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure, 


Rule l 2(b )(5). In assessing a motion to dismiss under NRCP l 2(b )(5), courts "must construe the 


pleading liberally and draw every fair intendment in favor of the [non-moving party]." See, 


Squires v. Sierra Nev. Educational Found., 107 Nev. 902,905, 823 P.2d 256,257 (1991). 


Moreover, every allegation stated in the complaint is accepted as true. See, Capital Mortgage 


Holding v. Hahn, 10 I Nev. 314, 315, 705 P .2d 126 ( 1985). Finally, a motion to dismiss will not 


be accepted "unless it appears beyond a doubt that the plaintiff could prove no set of facts which, 


if accepted by the trier of fact, would entitle him [or her] to relief." See, Edgar v. Wagner, 101 


Nev. 226,228,699 P.2d 110,312 (1985) citing Conley v. Gibson, 355 U.S. 41, 45-46, 2 L. Ed. 


2d 80, 78 S. Ct. 99 (1957). Thus, for purposes of the instant Motion to Dismiss, this Board 


should accept as true the allegations stated in the Complainants' Prohibited Labor Practices 


Complaints just as a court would in a motion to dismiss brought pursuant to NRCP I 2(b )(5). 


B. THE PROHIBITED LABOR PRACTICES COMPLAINTS HEREIN 
RAISE ISSUES THAT COULD NOT BE RESOLVED VIA THE 
GRIEVANCE PROCESS AND HENCE THE EXHAUSTION DOCTRINE 
DOES NOT APPLY 


As was set forth in the Complainants' Prohibited Labor Practices Complaints, the City 


has committed a unilateral change to multiple mandatory subjects of bargaining and hence a 


prohibited labor practice in violation ofNRS §288.270(1)(a) and (e). Specifically, the City has 


unilaterally implemented a new practice in which it subjects employees to fitness for duty 
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evaluations in order to assess their suitability for continued employment. Per the City' s new 


practice, if the physician that the City hires opines that an employee is unfit for duty, the City 


immediately removes that employee from work and forces them to burn through their paid 


accrued leave (or if the employee has none, then forces them onto unpaid leave.) That is what 


the City did to Terry, Brooks, Gleed and Lewis and, more recently, Lopez. 1 


Prior to these cases, the City had never once forcibly removed an LVCEA represented 


employee from work and reduced their wages and benefits outside of the bargained for 


disciplinary process found in Article 13 of the CBA. (Ex. 69, Caruthers Testimony, p. 112-115, 


and Ex. 71, Snyder Testimony, p. 515-518.) Prior to the Lewis case, the City had never done so 


with respect to an IAFF represented employee either. Instead, it was understood that the 


disciplinary process was the sole mechanism for the City to deal with employees that were 


having behavioral issues, were unable to complete their work in a satisfactory and professional 


manner and/or were believed to be unfit for duty. 


There are no provisions in either the L VCEA CBA or the IAFF CBA that authorized the 


City to implement this new fitness for duty practice. Moreover, the City never negotiated with 


either the LVCEA or the IAFF over this new practice despite the fact that the City has now used 


it in a manner that directly impacts multiple mandatory subjects of bargaining including wages, 


leave time, disciplinary procedures and more generally, the continued employment of employees. 


Had there been negotiations on a fitness for duty program, they would deal with issues such as: 


1) Who is authorized to render fitness for duty opinions (it certainly shouldn' t be a physician 


hired by the City but rather an independent physician); 2) What circumstances must exist for the 


City to be allowed to subject an employee to a fitness for duty evaluation; 3) What information, if 


any, can be communicated to the physician that conducts the fitness for duty evaluation (certainly 


not the incredibly one-sided, misleading and false information that was provided to the physician 


in the Terry matter); 4) What basis must exist for the City to compel an employee who passed a 


fitness for duty evaluation to submit to another evaluation (it certainly shouldn' t just be because 


The City's finding that Lopez was unfit for duty wasn' t even substantiated by a 
medical opinion. 
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the City disagrees with the initial opinion as was indisputably the case in the Terry matter); 5) 


Similarly, should there be an appeals process available to contest the opinion of the first 


physician (like there is for FMLA disputes); 6) If the employee fails a fitness for duty evaluation, 


are they placed on paid or unpaid administrative leave; and 7) If an employee fails a fitness for 


duty evaluation, what steps must they take to subsequently establish that they can return to duty. 


The City failed to negotiate with the L VCEA or IAFF over any of these issues and instead 


unilaterally implemented a totally one-sided process for fitness for duty evaluations. 


This Board's established precedent plainly reveals that the City committed a prohibited 


labor practice in violation ofNRS §288.270(l)(a) and (e) when it implemented its new fitness for 


duty process without first bargaining with the IAFF or the L VCEA. In HPOA vs. City of 


Henderson, EMRB Case No. A 1-045314, Item No. 83 (1978), this Board ruled that the City of 


Henderson committed an unfair labor practice when it implemented an agility fitness testing 


regime without first negotiating with the police union over the matter. The Board found that the 


City of Henderson's agility fitness testing directly impacted employees' continued employment. 


In particular, one police officer who had failed the agility test was advised that if he didn' t 


subsequently pass the same test, he would be terminated. Id. at p. 2. The City of Henderson 


argued that physical agility testing was a managerial prerogative but this Board disagreed. This 


Board concluded: 


"Since physical agility testing, as a condition of continued employment, 
directly related to the safety of each officer, fellow officers and the general public, 
such testing is clearly a safety consideration within the purview of NRS 
288.150(2)(r) and a mandatory subject of negotiation. Because the matter has been 
found negotiable under safety, we need not consider whether the subject is also 
negotiable under discharge and disciplinary procedures." 


Id. at p. 4. 


In LVPPA vs. City of Las Vegas, EMRB Case No. Al-045474, Item No. 264 (1991), this 


Board revisited this issue and further clarified its opinion on the matter. As a preliminary matter, 


this Board held that it makes no difference for the resolution of this matter whether the City's 


program was considered a physical fitness test or an agility test, holding that "it is the purpose of 


the program or employer-action, not its title, which determines its negotiability." Id. at p. 12. 


This Board further found that the City only used the physical fitness test results to assess 
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employees' suitability for promotion rather than for suitability for continued employment or to 


discipline employees. Since promotional standards are not a mandatory subject of bargaining, 


this Board held that the City was not obligated to bargain over its physical fitness testing 


program. Id. at p. 16-17. Specifically, this Board held as follows: 


"It is clear from the foregoing that ' physical agility testing' was 
detennined by a majority of the Board in Item No. 83 [HPOA vs. City of 
Henderson] to be a mandatory subject of negotiation, not only because of safety 
considerations, but also because said tests were being carried out as a condition of 
continued employment. In the instant case, the tests being carried are for 
promotional purposes only, not as a condition for continued employment. This 
important distinction prevents this Board from finding that the physical fitness test 
involved in the instant case is a mandatory subject of negotiation by virtue of any 
alleged analogy with the facts prevailing in Item No. 83." 


Id. at p. 14; Emphasis on the original. 


Just as in the HPOA case above, the City has used the results of the fitness for duty 


evaluations to assess employees' suitability for continued employment. Indeed, based on the 


City agent's opinion that Gleed, Brooks and Lewis were not fit for duty, the City refused to allow 


them to work, forced them to bum through their accrued paid leave and/or placed them on unpaid 


leave. Consequently, these two cases make it perfectly clear that the City committed a prohibited 


labor practice in violation ofNRS §288.270(1)(a) and (e) when it implemented its fitness for 


duty program without bargaining with the LVCEA or IAFF. 


The grievances filed by Gleed, Brooks and Lewis raised entirely different claims than the 


NRS Chapter 288 based claims stated in the Complainants' Prohibited Labor Practices 


Complaints. Through the grievances, Gleed, Brooks and Lewis alleged that the City wrongfully 


suspended them in violation of the bargained for disciplinary process and failed to pay their 


wages without any basis. The grievances presented the following contractual issues: 1) Whether 


the City violated the negotiated disciplinary process; 2) Whether the City had just cause to 


suspend the grievants without pay; and 3) Whether the City violated the provisions in the 


respective CBAs by denying the grievants the opportunity to work their designated shifts and to 


be paid for same. Those issues are entirely separate from the issues presented in the Prohibited 


Labor Practices Complaint filed by the Complainants herein. The issues raised before this Board 


include: 1) Whether the City' s new practice ofrefusing to allow employees to earn wages and 
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benefits as a result of a failed fitness for duty evaluation affects mandatory subjects of 


bargaining; 2) Whether the City negotiated with the L VCEA or the IAFF regarding such 


mandatory subjects of bargaining before implementing its new practice; and therefore 3) Whether 


the City's new practice constitutes a unilateral change to a mandatory subject of bargaining in 


violation ofNRS §288.270(l)(a) and (e). 


Put simply, the Complainants' Prohibited Labor Practices Complaints do not present a 


contractual dispute as the City attempts to argue in its Motion to Dismiss. Rather, it presents 


claims that are squarely grounded in the Government Employee Management Relations Act and 


which the grievance process cannot resolve. As there is no contractual remedy to exhaust, 


Nevada Administrative Code, §288.375(2) does not apply. Instead, it is respectfully submitted 


that this Board should intervene in order to prevent the City from flouting its duty to collectively 


bargain pursuant to NRS Chapter 288. 


Alternatively, if this Board finds that the exhaustion doctrine could apply, it is 


respectfully submitted that the special circumstances of this matter warrant the Board allowing 


this case to proceed on the merits. The Complainants have a compelling case that the City has 


thumbed its nose at its obligation to bargain with the L VCEA and the IAFF pursuant to NRS 


§288.150. Moreover, this is obviously no isolated incident but rather a recurring new practice of 


the City. Unless, this Board intervenes, there is no reason to believe that the City will suddenly 


reverse course and discontinue its new practice of removing employees from work based on its 


one-sided, unilaterally implemented fitness for duty process. 


V. CONCLUSION 


For the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that this Board should deny the 


City' s Motion to Dismiss and proceed to a hearing in order to resolve the Complainants' claims 


herein on their merits. 


Dated: November 17, 2022 By: Jm~ 
JEF~ALLEN,ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 9495 
Attorneys for Complainants, 
Las Vegas City Employees' Association, 
Julie Terry, Jody Gleed, Marc Brooks and 
International Assoc. of Firefighters Local 1285 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 


The undersigned hereby certifies that, on November I 7, 2022, a copy of 


COMPLAINANTS' OPPOSITION TO RESPONDENT CITY OF LAS VEGAS' MOTION 


TO DISMISS GLEED'S, BROOKS' AND IAFF'S PROHIBITED LABOR PRACTICES 


COMPLAINTS for the above captioned matter was served via e-mail on: 


Morgan Davis, Esq. 
Assistant City Attorney 
Email: mdavis@lasvegasnevada.gov 
counsel for Respondent, City of Las Vegas 


Dated: November I 7, 2022 By:~@-
JEF~ALLEN,ESQ. 
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LAS VEGAS CITY EMPLOYEES' 
ASSOCIATION and JULIE TERRY, 


Complainants, 


vs. 


THE CITY OF LAS VEGAS, 


Respondent. 


LAS VEGAS CITY EMPLOYEES' 
ASSOCIATION and JODY GLEED, 


Complainants, 


vs. 


THE CITY OF LAS VEGAS, 


Respondent. 


LAS VEGAS CITY EMPLOYEES' 
ASSOCIATION and MARC BROOKS, 


Complainants, 


vs. 


THE CITY OF LAS VEGAS, 


Respondent. 
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INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF 
FIREFIGHTERS, LOCAL 1285, 


Complainant, 


vs. 


THE CITY OF LAS VEGAS, 


Respondent. 


CONSOLIDATED WITH 


CASE NO. 2021-015 


CITY OF LAS VEGAS' REPLY TO COMPLAINANTS' 
OPPOSITION TO MOTION TO DISMISS 


The City of Las Vegas ("CITY"), by and through its attorneys, Bryan Scott, City 


Attorney, Morgan Davis, Assistant City Attorney, and Nechole Garcia, Deputy City Attorney, 


hereby file this Reply to Complainants' Opposition to Respondent's Motion to Dismiss, as 


follows: 


I. INTRODUCTION 


For the first time since filing over a year ago, Complainant claims in its Opposition that 


the issues raised in the GLEED, BROOKS, and IAFF complaints are not subject to the exhaustion 


doctrine. This argument not only flies in the face of this Board's Order that Complainant exhaust 


its contractual remedies, but also contradicts Complainants' prior representations that it did not 


proceed to arbitration on these cases simply due to cost. Indeed, Complainant initially filed 


grievances in each of these cases and even informed the CITY of its intent to proceed to arbitration. 


Complainant now attempts to change tacks and argue that dismissal is inappropriate because the 


claims "are grounded in NRS Chapter 288, not contractually based." (Opp., Pg. 3, ln 20-22). 


However, the complaints clearly allege the CITY violated the discipline and leave provisions of 


the respective CBAs, so they are covered by the grievance and arbitration process. This Honorable 


Board has held that though it has jurisdiction over NRS 288 claims, it mandates that complainants 


exhaust contract remedies when the issues raised are contractual, as is the case here. 


Complainant also alleges that the CITY is engaged in a pattern of behavior so egregious 


that this Board should allow it to circumvent the exhaustion doctrine and this Board's own order 


that Complainant first exhaust contractual remedies. To achieve this goal, Complainant 
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misrepresents the facts in the GLEED, BROOKS, and IAFF matters and tries to conflate them with 


TERRY. Complainant even goes so far as to make inaccurate allegations regarding the Silvana 


Lopez ("LOPEZ") grievance, where the facts are actually completely inapposite and there is not 


even a complaint filed. In reality, the facts of each of these complaints demonstrate that there is no 


pattern of conduct as Complainant alleges. Moreover, Complainant's attempts to argue the merits 


of these cases instead of the legal standard for dismissal is wholly inappropriate. 


The absolute legal standard enforced by this Board is that complainants exhaust their 


contractual remedies prior to seeking Board review. The simple truth is that Complainant has had 


over a year to exhaust the contractual remedies in the GLEED, BROOKS, and IAFF matters, but 


failed to do so. Its original rationale, that it simply did not make financial sense to proceed to 


arbitration, does not meet the legal standard set forth in NAC 288.375(2). Moreover, 


Complainant's new rationale, that the complaints are exempt from the exhaustion doctrine, not 


only contradicts this Board's findings, it is also belied by the allegations in each complaint. 


Accordingly, the CITY respectfully requests that this Board find that Complainant failed to 


exhaust administrative remedies and dismiss the GLEED, BROOKS, and IAFF complaints. 


II. FACTS 


A. This Board Found that the Exhaustion Doctrine Applies and Ordered 


Complainant to Exhaust its Contractual Remedies. 


After Complainant filed complaints in the GLEED, BROOKS, TERRY, and IAFF matters, 


the CITY filed a Motion to Dismiss in each of these cases. (CITY Ex. A-C). There, the CITY 


argued that each of the complaints centered on allegations that the CITY violated the CBA. (CITY 


Ex. A, Pg. 3-5; CITY Ex. B, Pg. 3-5; CITY Ex. C, Pg. 2-5). On January 13, 2022, this Board 


agreed, and voted to stay proceedings on all these matters until the underlying grievances in these 


cases were resolved. (CITY Ex. D, Pg. 2, ln 6-10). This Board subsequently issued an order dated 


January 20, 2022 sharing its findings. (CITY Ex. D) There, the Order discussed the limited deferral 


doctrine, "reflecting a policy of favoring grievance arbitration as the preferred method of resolving 


disputes." (CITY Ex. D Pg. 2, ln 17-20). This Board noted that all the cases are pending arbitration, 


and ordered that the matters be deferred "until underlying grievances in the four listed cases are 
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resolved through arbitration or otherwise." (CITY Ex. D, Pg 2, ln 21-23). Thus, this Board 


recognized that the exhaustion doctrine applies here, and ordered Complainant to exhaust its 


contractual remedies before proceeding to Board review. 


Subsequently, the parties submitted Joint Status Reports on these matters to the Board on 


March 28, 2022, July 28, 2022, and September 6, 2022. (CITY Ex. E-G). In all three Joint Status 


Reports, Complainant made the following representations regarding the GLEED, BROOKS, and 


IAFF grievances: 


For the cases of LVCEA and Jody Gleed vs. City of Las Vegas, EMRB Case 
Number 2021-012, and LVCEA and Marc Brooks v. City of Las Vegas, EMRB 
Case Number 2021-013, the related grievances have not been scheduled for 
arbitration. Due to the fact that the monetary amounts in dispute for these 
cases isn't significantly high, the LVCEA may decide to continue to hold off 
on pursuing the matter through arbitration. Rather, the LVCEA is hopeful that 
they can secure relief for their claims through this Board via the consolidated action 
herein .... For the case ofIAFF 1285 vs. City of Las Vegas, EMRB Case No. 2021-
015, the related grievance was withdrawn by the individual David Lewis who no 
longer wanted to be involved in any litigation over the matter. IAFF 1285 is hopeful 
it can secure relief for its claim through this Board via the consolidated action 
herein. 


(CITY Ex. E, Pg. 2, ln 27 - Pg. 3, ln 10; CITY Ex. F, Pg. 2, ln 22 - 28; CITY Ex. G, Pg. 2, ln 26 


- Pg. 3, ln 10) (Emphasis added). Nowhere in any of the Joint Status Reports did Complainant 


allege that these cases were somehow exempt from the exhaustion doctrine. Rather, Complainant 


represented to this Board that it may not schedule arbitration in these matters because the monetary 


amounts in dispute were not that high. Complainant seemed to view arbitration as merely an option 


it "may decide" to pursue, despite the fact this Board mandates exhaustion of contractual remedies 


first. 


Complainant spends time in the fact section of its Opposition explaining the disciplinary 


sections of the LVCEA and IAFF CBAs and complaining that the CITY violated these processes 


in the GLEED, BROOKS, TERRY, and IAFF matters by placing them on leave without first going 


through the disciplinary process. (Opp., Pg. 5, ln 15-21) In so doing, Complainant tacitly admits 


that it is in fact alleging contractual violations, making exhaustion of the grievance and arbitration 
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process appropriate here. To be clear, the CITY vigorously disagrees with Complainants 


characterization of a "new" fitness for duty process and its allegations that the CITY acted 


unilaterally and in violation of the CBA. Those issues are addressed in the CITY' s Reply to the 


Motion to Defer to the TERRY arbitration, so the CITY will not deal with them here. However, 


the CITY does wish to point out that those arguments are not relevant to whether the Complainant 


complied with this Board's order and exhausted its contractual remedies first. Nor do the 


arguments demonstrate that there were special circumstances or extreme prejudice that would 


exempt Complainant from exhausting the contractual remedies. 


B. Complainant Attempts to Circumvent the Exhaustion Doctrine by Conflating the 


Facts in the GLEED, BROOKS IAFF, and LOPEZ matters with TERRY. 


It is clear that Complainant's strategy to avoid dismissal is to erroneously claim that the 


CITY is engaged in a pattern of conduct so egregious it should be allowed to circumvent the 


bargained for grievance process and proceed directly to Board review. (Opp. Pg. 3, ln 22-25, Pg. 


13, ln 15-20). To accomplish this goal, Complainant misrepresents and mischaracterizes the facts 


of the GLEED, BROOKS, and IAFF matters to conflate them with TERRY. Complainant even 


goes so far as to include a new grievance where there is no complaint filed - that of LOPEZ, 


distorting the facts of that grievance to bolster its claims. 


1. Silvana Lopez was asked to go home sick 1.5 hours prior to the end of her shift 
due to manifesting COVID symptoms, and voluntarily called out sick the following 
day. 


Complainant attempts to use LOPEZ to bolster its claim of a pattern of behavior is 


particularly disingenuous given the facts of the case. LOPEZ works for the Municipal Court as a 


Court Specialist. On Wednesday, August 10, 2022, a co-worker reported that LOPEZ was 


coughing, complained of a sore throat, chills, and said that she believed she had a flu. LOPEZ's 


supervisor and manager met with LOPEZ, who initially stated she felt fine, but then admitted she 


was losing her voice and had a headache as well. Because LOPEZ was manifesting COVID 


symptoms and was a health risk to coworkers, including some who are irnmunocompromised, the 


supervisor and manager asked her to go home and rest for the remainder of the day, and come back 
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the next day if she felt up to it. LOPEZ agreed to go home sick and left 1.5 hours before the end 


of her shift. The next day, Thursday, August 11, 2022, LOPEZ voluntarily called out sick. (CITY 


Ex. H) The following work day, Monday, August 15, 2022, 1 LOPEZ returned to work. (CITY Ex. 


H) The LVCEA filed a grievance in this matter on August 18, 2022; however, LOPEZ did not 


wish to participate. 


In its Opposition, Complainant omits the fact LOPEZ presented a health risk to the rest of 


the staff and was asked to go home sick only 1.5 hours before the end of her shift. Complainant 


also fails to mention that LOPEZ voluntarily called out sick the following day, which confirms 


that she was in fact sick the previous day when she was asked to go home. The CITY also did not 


request that LOPEZ undergo a fitness for duty exam either, so Complainant's claim that "the City's 


unilaterally created and implemented fitness for duty regime continues on" as it pertains to LOPEZ 


is extremely dishonest. (Opp., Pg. 7, ln 25-26) Also directly relevant to the legal standard here is 


the fact that Complainant has not filed a complaint in the LOPEZ matter, nor has it been 


consolidated with the cases above. Complainant is apparently so intent on establishing of a pattern 


of conduct on the CITY' s part that it falsely portrayed a completely unrelated grievance that is not 


even part of this consolidated case. 


2. Complainant omits critical facts in the GLEED, BROOKS and IAFF matters in 
an attempt to bolster its claim of a pattern of behavior. 


Complainant similarly conflates and distorts the facts in the GLEED, BROOKS, and 


IAFF matters in order to fit its narrative. For the sake of brevity, the CITY will only address the 


most material misstatements of facts here. 


A. Jody Gleed 


Complainant asserts that GLEED "was never unfit for duty and has at all times been ready 


and able to perform the full work duties of his position." (Opp., Pg. 6, ln 11-12). Contrary to 


Complainant's assertions, the results of GLEED's drug and alcohol testing as well as acting 


disoriented and confused on the job supported the finding that he was unfit for duty. (CITY Ex. A, 


Pg. 1, ln 23-25). In fact, on August 4, 2021, GLEED informed the City that he had been evaluated 


1 LOPEZ works Monday through Thursday, and is off on Friday, Saturday and Sundays. 
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by his treating physician and discontinued medications thought to have contributed to the observed 


behaviors. (CITY Ex. A, Pg. 2, ln 12-14). On August 6, 2021, GLEED's own physician 


recommended he be evaluated by a neurologist due to concerns over his behavior. (CITY Ex. A, 


Pg. 2, ln 15-18). Despite the CITY requesting that GLEED undergo neurological testing and be 


re-evaluated, GLEED did not get the testing done before his follow up fitness for duty in 


September 2021. (CITY Ex. A, Pg. 3, ln 2-3) Further, a L VCEA representative attended the fitness 


for duty evaluation and disrupted it so much by trying to record it on their phone without the 


medical professional's consent that the fitness for duty could not be completed and a follow up 


had to be scheduled. (CITY Ex. A, Pg. 3, ln 3-5). 


As Complainant concedes, GLEED was not "forced" on leave without pay or to burn his 


accrued leave for the entirety of his time prior to being cleared to return to work. Rather, GLEED 


was put on administrative leave on September 15, 2021. (CITY Ex. I) GLEED remained on 


administrative leave until he was cleared and returned to work on October 13, 2021. (CITY Ex. I) 


The most relevant fact that Complainant omits about GLEED is that the CEA requested 


the matter be submitted to arbitration on September 10, 2021. (CITY Ex. A, Pg. 2, ln 24-26). It is 


extremely disingenuous for Complainant to now claim that the matter is not appropriate for 


arbitration when it requested arbitration over a year ago. 


B. Marc Brooks 


Complainant makes a critical omission in its recitation of the facts in the BROOKS case. 


Complainant alleges that "Brooks was always fit for duty," and that one was only requested 


because BROOKS' blood pressure was high and he had been previously diagnosed with sleep 


apnea. (Opp. Pg. 6, ln. 24-25, Pg. 7, ln. 8-9). Yet Complainant omits that in or about late April 


2021, while performing his work duties, Brooks was observed falling asleep while driving a 


riding lawnmower. (CITY Ex. B, Pg. 1, ln 23-25). Moreover, Brooks told his supervisors that the 


observed behavior was a regular event. (CITY Ex. B, Pg. 1, ln 25-26) That was the basis for the 


CITY requesting that BROOKS complete a fitness for duty exam. BROOKS' behavior on the job 


created valid concerns he could not perform his duties, especially safely operating CITY 


equipment and vehicles. Until BROOKS could be evaluated, the CITY told him he could not 
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operate CITY equipment and vehicles. (CITY Ex. B, Pg. 1, ln 26 - Pg. 2, ln 1) The CITY did not 


"force" BROOKS to use any leave during that time; it just modified his duties until it could be 


sure BROOKS would not endanger his safety or that of others. 


Complainant also omits that BROOKS was initially scheduled for a fitness for duty 


evaluation for May 20, 2021, but it was delayed because he voluntarily submitted an application 


for Medical Leave, which was approved. (CITY Ex. B, Pg. 2, ln. 8-10) As it typical with the use 


of such leave, BROOKS was informed he would need to use accrued sick leave, or if expired, use 


leave without pay. (CITY Ex. B, Pg. 2, ln 9-11) BROOKS voluntarily used accrued leave during 


his Medical Leave from May 17, 2022 to July 15, 2022. (CITY Ex. J) 


Regarding the fitness for duty itself, Complainant claims that BROOKS submitted opinions 


from two specialists clearing him to return to work without restrictions. (Opp. Pg. 7, ln 3-5) 


However, the letter from one provider indicated that BROOKS had not yet obtained the CP AP 


machine that would help with his sleep issues. (CITY Ex. B, Pg. 2, ln 17-21) The CITY's doctor 


noted the information from BROOKS treating physicians, but wanted BROOKS to obtain the 


equipment and start other treatments before he could be reevaluated. (CITY Ex. B, Pg. 2, ln 21-


24) BROOKS obtained the equipment and was reevaluated and cleared to return to work. Once 


he exhausted his leave, BROOKS was on leave without pay for approximately eight working days, 


from July 20, 2021 to August 2, 2021, before he was cleared and returned to work. (CITY Ex. J) 


C. IAFF (David Lewis) 


Complainant's recitation of David Lewis's ("LEWIS") facts likewise contains omissions 


and inaccuracies. Complainant omits what prompted the CITY to have LEWIS submit for a fitness 


for duty evaluation. The CITY requested LEWIS complete a fitness for duty because of 


significantly concerning behaviors observed while LEWIS was performing light duty due to being 


on worker's compensation, including one incident where LEWIS left work alleging he was fearful 


for his safety. (CITY Ex. C, Pg. 1, ln 24-26) Because these claims seemed irrational or paranoid, 


the CITY referred LEWIS for a fitness for duty evaluation. (CITY Ex. C, Pg. 1, ln 26-27) 


Complainant portrays the fitness for duty results as removing LEWIS from working full duty as a 


VirP-fio-htPr and forf'ing h1'm to "'"fl,- l1'ght rl11tv rnnp Pg 7 ln 1 ,;;_ 17'\ Th,:,t i" in0orr,c,ct T -i:;,1 11s 
..L _._..._....,_,,___.._b_.__.._,......,.I. ..l..'-'.L'""..L ..L .1...1. ..L..I...L "''-" •• ......, .l.lt. __.._ .... ...... \.A.)· ,......,,Y • ..I.. ~ , , .1...1. ..I,_._/ .I. I I ..L..1...l.'-4,1, .1.._:, .L.1..1.- .1..1.- 11,. i.___,;.J....J V\ 
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was already on light duty due to a worker's compensation claim, and the CITY sought to have him 


remain on light duty until he completed five sessions of psychotherapy to address mental health 


concerns, including signs of paranoia. (CITY Ex. C, Pg. 1, ln 27 - Pg. 2, ln 1) LEWIS completed 


psychotherapy sessions as recommended by Dr. Short. (CITY Ex. C, Pg. 2, In 4-5). After receiving 


information from LEWIS's treating psychotherapist clearing him and speaking with LEWIS, Dr. 


Short found LEWIS fit for duty. (CITY Ex. C, Pg. 2, In 7-10) 


Complainant also incorrectly claims that that the CITY "forced Lewis to burn through his 


accrued paid leave time" from June 28, 2021 through August 23, 2021. (Opp. Pg. 7, In 18-20) In 


reality, LEWIS received his regular pay during that time, save for a handful of hours where he 


went home sick. (CITY Ex. K) 


More importantly, Complainant omits that on September 10, 2021 it requested this matter 


be submitted to arbitration, again directly contradicting its current claims that this matter is not 


appropriate for arbitration. (CITY Ex. C, Pg. 2, In 14-16) Finally, the IAFF is a completely 


different bargaining unit than L VCEA with a completely different CBA, and different provisions 


on leave and discipline. It is wholly inappropriate for Complainant to attempt to lump this matter 


in for resolution with the L VCEA matters. 


The facts of each of these grievances are easily distinguishable from TERRY. LOPEZ was 


asked to go home sick 1.5 hours before the end of her shift due to manifesting COVID symptoms 


and voluntarily called out sick the following day. GLEED spent much of his time off on admin 


leave, BROOKS voluntarily requested to be placed on medical leave, and LEWIS received regular 


pay while he was being evaluated. Further, GLEED, BROOKS, and LEWIS all were cleared and 


returned to work after a few days/weeks. The unique facts of each of these cases makes clear that 


there is no pattern of egregious conduct as Complainant alleges. 


III. MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 


A. The GLEED, BROOKS, AND IAFF Complaints Should be Dismissed for Failure 


to Exhaust Contractual Remedies. 


As mentioned previously, this Board deferred the GLEED, BROOKS, and IAFF matters 


and ordered the Complainant to exhaust its contractual remedies. Despite telling the CITY that it 
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intended to proceed to arbitration in these matters last year, Complainant has taken no action in 


that regard. NAC 288.375(2) permits this Board to dismiss a matter where the parties have not 


exhausted their contractual remedies "[ u ]nless there is a clear showing of special circumstances or 


extreme prejudice." This Board has repeatedly and consistently held that "the preferred method 


for resolving disputes is through the bargained-for processes and this Board applies NAC liberally 


to effectuate that purpose." Operating Engineers Local Union No. 3 v. Incline Village General 


Improvement District, Case No. 2020-012, Item No. 864-C at Pg. 3 (2020) (internal citations 


omitted). Complainant cannot make a clear showing that special circumstances or extreme 


prejudice exists here, so the CITY requests this Board dismiss the GLEED, BROOKS, and IAFF 


complaints for failure to exhaust contractual remedies. 


1. NRCP 12(b)(5) does not apply. 


As a threshold matter, Complainant attempts to argue that the same legal standard for 


motions to dismiss under the Nevada Rules for Civil Procedure 12(b)(5), where every allegation 


in the complaint is accepted as true, should apply here. (Opp. Pg. 9, In 11-22) Yet, Complainant 


presents no case law, regulation or statute directly supporting that argument. Instead, Complainant 


points to Boykin v. City of North Las Vegas Police Department, Case No. Al-045921, Item No. 


674A (2008) and Wilson v. North Las Vegas Police Department, Case No. Al-045925, Item No. 


677B (2008), in support. (Opp. Pg. 9, In 4-10). However, both of those cases are inapposite 


because they involved allegations of defects in the complaints. Here, the CITY does not assert 


any defects with the Complaint itself. Rather, the CITY argues that Complainant failed to exhaust 


its contractual remedies. Moreover, while requests to dismiss for defects such as lack of 


jurisdiction and failure to state a claim have clear analogs in the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure, 


dismissal for failure to exhaust contractual remedies does not. That provision is unique to this 


Board. 


Further, when this Board did dismiss a complaint for failure to exhaust contractual 


remedies, it did not find that the alleged facts should be accepted as true or liberally construed. 


Operating Engineers Local Union No. 3 v. Incline Village General Improvement District, Case 


No. 2020-012, Hern No. 864-C (2020). In Operating Engineers, this Board initially stayed the 
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matter pending exhaustion of contractual remedies. Id. at Pg. 1, ln 16. There, complainant sought 


exemption from the exhaustion doctrine because arbitration would be "needlessly expensive" and 


"extremely prejudicial" to proceed with arbitration. Id. at Pg. 1, ln 18-21. This Board's analysis 


centered on whether the allegations in the complaint pertained to contractual provisions and if so, 


whether the complainant made a clear showing of extreme prejudice or special circumstances that 


warranted an exemption from the exhaustion doctrine. Id. at Pg. 2- 3. Because the complaint at 


issue centered on the District's interpretation of the contract, this Board determined complainant 


was not exempt from the exhaustion doctrine. Id. at Pg. 4, Finding of Fact No. 3. This Board 


dismissed the complaint because the complainant failed to make a clear showing of special 


circumstances or extreme prejudice. Id. at Pg. 3, ln. 25-27. 


Similarly here, this Board stayed the GLEED, BROOKS, and IAFF matters until 


Complainant exhausted its contractual remedies. Complainant failed to do so, initially claiming it 


was because arbitration was not cost effective. Pursuant to Operating Engineers, the inquiry now 


is whether the allegations in the complaints center around contractual provisions, and if so, whether 


Complainant has made a clear showing of special circumstances or extreme prejudice to avoid 


dismissal. Complainant has not made such a showing and as such, the GLEED, BROOKS, and 


IAFF complaints should be dismissed. 


2. The Exhaustion Doctrine Applies Because the Allegations in the GLEED, BROOKS, 
and IAFF Complaints Center on Allegations of Contract Violations. 


This Honorable Board already determined that the exhaustion doctrine applies to the 


GLEED, BROOKS, TERRY and IAFF complaints, as it ordered these matters be deferred until 


"resolved through arbitration or otherwise." (CITY Ex. D, Pg. 2, ln. 23) Complainant previously 


seemed to agree, as Complainant announced to the CITY its intent to proceed to arbitration on 


each of these matters. However, after the TERRY matter proceeded to arbitration, Complainant 


represented to this Board that it was not proceeding to arbitration on the GLEED, BROOKS, and 


IAFF matters because the dollar amounts in those matters were not "significantly high." (CITY 


Ex. E, Pg. 2, ln 27 -Pg. 3, ln 10; CITY Ex. F, Pg. 2, ln 22 -28; CITY Ex. G, Pg. 2, ln 26-Pg. 3, 


ln 10) At no point prior to the CITY's Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Exhaust did Complainant 
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allege that the issues could not be resolved through the bargained for grievance process. Yet, now 


that the GLEED, BROOKS, and IAFF complaints face dismissal, Complainant attempts to pivot, 


arguing that the complaints raises issues "that could not be resolved via the grievance process." 


(Opp. Pg. 9, ln 23-24) 


In its Opposition, Complainant goes so far as to mischaracterize, omit, and at times, 


misstate the facts in these grievances in order to further its narrative that the CITY is engaged in a 


pattern of behavior so egregious, Complainant must be permitted to circumvent the exhaustion 


doctrine. Specifically, Complainant alleges, "[p ]er the City's new practice, if the physician that 


the City hires opines that an employee is unfit for duty, the City immediately removes the 


employee from work and forces them to bum through their paid accrued leave ( or if the employee 


has none, then forces them onto unpaid leave.). That is what the City did to Terry, Brooks, Gleed, 


and Lewis, and more, recently, Lopez." (Opp. Pg. 10, ln 1-4). The CITY strongly disagrees that 


was the case - most certainly not for GLEED, who spent some time on administrative leave, 


BROOKS, who voluntarily went on medical leave, or LEWIS, who received his regular pay while 


being evaluated. All of these employees also returned to full duty in a few days or weeks' time. 


Complainant's inclusion of LOPEZ in these allegations is especially misleading because LOPEZ 


was manifesting COVID symptoms, went home sick 1.5 hours before her shift, and then 


voluntarily called out sick the next day. None of these cases establish a pattern as Complainant 


alleges, nor are they similar to TERRY. 


Complainant next tries to parse the issues raised in the grievance from the issues it now 


claims are not subject to the exhaustion doctrine. (Opp. Pg. 12, ln 18 - Pg. 13, ln 5) However, a 


review of the complaints in this matter clearly shows that it centers on issues of contract 


application. For example, in the GLEED complaint, Complainant alleges: 


Nothing in the CBA permits the City to force an employee onto Leave Without 
Pay status outside the bargained for disciplinary process. Similarly, nothing in the 
CBA permits the City to force an employee to use their accrued paid leave time 
when the employee is willing to perform their regular duties. Finally, nothing in 
the CBA gives the City of a third party hired by the City the right to unilaterally 
determine that an employee is not fit for duty and on that basis place the 
employee on Leave Without Pay, force them to burn through their accrued paid 
ieave time and/or terminate their employment. 
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(Complainant Ex. 75, 18). Additionally, the singular cause of action is found in 


paragraph 14 of the GLEED Complaint and repeats that same theme, stating in part: 


... Based on an unsubstantiated assertion that Gleed was unfit for duty, the City 
refused to allow Gleed to work and suspended him without pay. This was done 
without just cause and without observing any of the bargained for disciplinary 
procedures specified in the CBA. The parties never negotiated any provision in 
the CBA that would allow the City to suspend without pay an LVCEA 
represented employee just because a third party hired by the City claimed the 
employee was not fit for duty. 


(Complainant Ex. 75, 1 14) It is clear that central to the GLEED Complaint is the claim 


that the CITY violated the CBA by failing to following the leave and disciplinary provisions in the 


CBA. Complainant makes the same allegations in the BROOKS and IAFF complaints. 


(Complainant Ex. 77, 114; Complainant Ex. 80, 1 13). Thus, all of these complaints dispute the 


CITY' s interpretation or application of the discipline and leave sections of the respective CB As. 


The LVCEA CBA, which is applicable to the GLEED and BROOKS matters, provides that 


grievance and arbitration is the appropriate remedy when there is a dispute "regarding the 


application or interpretation of a specific provision of this collective bargaining agreement or 


violation of an established City rule or regulation." (Complainant Ex. 1, Pg. 22 (L VCEA CBA, 


Article 12(A)). Similarly, the IAFF CBA also provides that the grievance process and arbitration 


applies any time there is a dispute regarding the interpretation and application of the CBA. 


(Complainant Ex 83, Pg. 9 (IAFF CBA, Article I0(A)). Since the gravamen of the complaints 


centers around the CITY' s interpretation and application of the disciplinary and leave provisions 


of the CBA, they are covered by the grievance and arbitration process. 


Complainant argues that because this Board has jurisdiction over mandatory subjects of 


bargaining and unilateral changes, and its allegations involve these issues, the exhaustion doctrine 


does not apply. (Opp. Pg. 12, ln 27 - Pg. 13, ln 5). However, as this Board recognized, while it has 


jurisdiction over these and other unfair labor practices, it still first requires exhaustion of 


contractual remedies, "including all rights to arbitration." Operating Engineers, at Pg. 4, 


Conclusion of Law 4. In Operating Engineers, this Board aptly noted the danger of permitting 


complainants to circumvent the bargained for grievance process: 
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It is of no defense to argue that Complainant's own failure to timely comply should 
allow Complainant to circumvent the bargained for processes. The logical end to 
this argument would be to permit the perverse incentive to ignore bargained for 
process in order to skip straight to Board review. Complainant failed to provide us 
with any direct authority that would permit such. The Board will not condone 
Complainant's attempts to circumvent the bargained for processes and expediate 
Board review here. 


Operating Engineers, at Pg. 3, In 2-7. Here, Complainant also took no action on these grievances 


for over a year, with the stated rationale that it was not cost effective to proceed to arbitration. 


Though Complainant has now shifted its explanation to claim the issues are not governed by the 


grievance process, that explanation is contradicted by the complaints, which allege violations of 


the CBA. Complainant also attempts to side step the bargained for process by falsely portraying 


the CITY as engaging in a harmful pattern of conduct that requires an exemption of the exhaustion 


doctrine. As in Operating Engineers, this Board should not condone Complainant's use of these 


tactics to circumvent the bargained for grievance and arbitration process. The fact remains that 


Complainant failed to make a clear showing of extreme prejudice or special circumstance as 


required by NAC 288.375(2). Because Complainant has failed to meet the legal standard, the CITY 


respectfully requests this Board dismiss the GLEED, BROOKS, and IAFF complaints for failure 


to exhaust contractual remedies. 


IV. CONCLUSION 


This Honorable Board previously found these matters are subject to the exhaustion 


doctrine, and ordered they be deferred until Complainant exhausted its contractual remedies. 


Complainant failed to do so, and now directly contradicts this Board's findings by claiming the 


complaints are exempt from the exhaustion doctrine. However, allegations in the complaints 


pertain to contract interpretation and application, and as such, fall squarely within the grievance 


and arbitration provisions of their respective CBAs. There is no pattern of grievous behavior from 


the CITY as Complainant alleges, and Complainant's attempts to argue the merits of the case is 


wholly inappropriate. Ultimately, Complainant cannot make a clear showing of special 


circumstances or extreme prejudice to justify its failure to exhaust contractual remedies. Therefore, 
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the CITY respectfully requests this Board dismiss the GLEED, BROOKS, and IAFF complaints. 


DA TED this 8th day of December, 2022. 


BRYAN K. SCOTT 
City Attorney ~ 


By: ~ 
N'ECLEGARCIA 
Deputy City Attorney 
Nevada Bar No. 12746 
495 South Main Street, Sixth Floor 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
Attorneys for City of Las Vegas 


CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 


I hereby certify that on December 8, 2022, I served a true and correct copy of the 


foregoing City of Las Vegas' Reply to Complainant's Opposition to Motion to Dismiss via email 


upon the following: 


Jeffrey F. Allen, Esq. 
857 N. Eastern Avenue 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
Email: jeffreyfallen@aol.com 
Attorneys for Complainants, 
Las Vegas City Employees' Association, 
Julie Terry, Jody Gleed, Marc Brooks, and 
International Association of Firefighters 
Local 1285 


AN EMPL 
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BRYAN K. SCOTT 
City Attorney 
Nevada Bar No. 4381 
By: MORGAN DA VIS 
Assistant City Attorney 
Nevada Bar No. 3 707 
495 South Main Street, Sixth Floor 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
(702) 229-6629 
(702) 386-1749 (fax) 
Email: mdavis@lasvegasnevada.gov 
Attorneys for City of Las Vegas 


GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEE-MANAGEMENT RELATIONS BOARD 


STATE OF NEVADA 


LAS VEGAS CITY EMPLOYEES' 
ASSOCIATION and JODY GLEED, 


Complainants, 


vs. 


THE CITY OF LAS VEGAS, 


Respondent. 


CASE NO. 2021-012 


RESPONDENT'S MOTION TO 
DISMISS COMPLAINT 


COMES NOW the City of Las Vegas (herein referred to as "CITY"), by and through its 


attorneys ofrecord Bryan K. Scott, City Attorney, by Morgan Davis, Assistant City Attorney, 


and hereby files this Motion to Dismiss the Complaint filed by the Las Vegas City Employees' 


Association ("CEA") and Jody Gleed (herein referred to as "GLEED"). This Motion is made 


and based upon NAC 288.240 and NAC 288.375(2). 


I. BRIEF STATEMENT OF BACKGROUND FACTS: 


GLEED is employed by the CITY. On or about July 27, 2021, he was observed by 


supervisors as being disoriented and confused, and he was sent for a reasonable suspicion test to 


determine if his behaviors were the result of being impaired by drugs or alcohol. After the drug 


and alcohol test, he was taken home, placed on administrative leave, and based on continued 


concerns from the observed behaviors he was scheduled for a Fitness for Duty Evaluation 


("'FFD") for July 29, 2021, to determine ifhe was safe to return to duty. 
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The results of the FFD indicated that GLEED was NOT fit for duty and could not be 


released to duty until his prescribing provider of medication evaluated his mental status. On 


August 2, 2021, GLEED was informed of that determination, and told he would need to get 


released from his treating physician. At that time, GLEED was also given FMLA papenvork and 


was also informed that he would need to use any accrued sick leave, or if none available. he 


would be in a Leave without Pay Status. In response, GLEED indicated he was seeing his 


treating physician on August 4, 2021. On August 3, 2021, GLEED was reminded to give the 


results of the FFD to his treating physician when he saw him on August 4 th and to get a note 


from the treating physician when he was cleared, and after he provided his treating physician's 


release he would be re-evaluated for a FFD. 


On August 4, 2021, GLEED informed the CITY he had been evaluated by his treating 


physician and that certain medications suspected of causing or contributing to the observed 


behaviors had been discontinued. He was again advised to send a release to duty report from his 


physician so he could be re-evaluated for fitness for duty. On August 6, 2021, reporting from 


GLEED's treating physician raised continued concerns about mental orientation, confusion and 


memory, and recommended he be re-evaluated by a neurologist. On August 12, 2021, GLEED 


was informed by the office who had performed the FFD that GLEED's physician had 


recommended the evaluation by the neurologist. On the same day, GLEED and the LVCEA 


filed a grievance alleging in part that placement on leave without pay violated the parties' 


Collective Bargaining Agreement and that he was capable of working. 


On August 30, 2021, GLEED informed the CITY he had an appointment with the 


neurologist, as recommended by his treating physician, on August 31, 2021. On September 10, 


2021, GLEED and the CEA requested his grievance be submitted to arbitration. On September 


15, 2021, GLEED informed the CITY he had a release from his doctor and requested the CITY 


schedule him for the FFD. Based on GLEED's request, the FFD was scheduled fiJr September 
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22, 2021. On September 17, 2021, GLEED and the CEA indicated the instant complaint had 


been filed with this Honorable Board. On September 22, 2021, GLEED appeared for the FFD 


without having undergone the neurological follow-up. GLEED's union representative attended 


the evaluation; disrupted the evaluation; and attempted to record it on a cell phone without the 


medical professional's consent. As a result, the FFD was not concluded at that time. The CITY 


attempted to reschedule the FFD for October 1, 2021, but GLEED informed the CITY that date 


\Vould not work because he had an appointment with the neurologist on October 5, 2021. A FFD 


has been scheduled for October 11, 2021. 


II. POINTS AND AUTHORITIES: 


The gravamen of the instant complaint is found in paragraph 8 of the instant complaint 


which states: 


Nothing in the CBA permits the City to force an employee onto Leave Without 
Pay status outside the bargained for disciplinary process. Similarly, nothing in the 
CBA permits the City to force an employee to use their accrued paid leave time 
when the employee is willing to perform their regular duties. Finally, nothing in 
the CBA gives the City of a third party hired by the City the right to unilaterally 
determine that an employee is not fit for duty and on that basis place the 
employee on Leave Without Pay, force them to burn through their accrued paid 
leave time and/or terminate their employment. 


Additionally, the singular cause of action is found in paragraph 14 of the instant 


Complaint and repeats that same theme, stating in part: 


... Based on an unsubstantiated assertion that Gleed was unfit for duty, the City 
refused to allow Gleed to work and suspended him without pay. This was done 
without just cause and without observing any of the bargained for disciplinary 
procedures specified in the CBA. The parties never negotiated any provision in 
the CBA that ·would allow the City to suspend without pay an LVCEA 
represented employee just because a third party hired by the City claimed the 
employee was not fit for duty. 


lt is clear that the lynchpin to the Complaint is the assertion the CITY violated the CBA. 


The preliminary issue of lavv to be decided in this case is whether this Board has jurisdiction to 


interpret the CBA grievance provisions, or vvhether those matters are the exclusive domain of an 
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arbitrator. Additionally, assuming this Honorable Board has jurisdiction, the factual questions 


that are presented include whether the CITY actually suspended GLEED. Additional legal 


questions that are presented include whether the CITY violated the CBA by referring GLEED for 


a FFD; and whether the CITY violated the CBA in allowing GLEED to be on I ,eave Without 


Pay after he had exhausted his leave accruals. 


The central issues in the complaint on file all relate to allegations that the CBA. diJ 11lJl 


authorize the actions taken by the CITY, and/or that ultimately these actions were in violation or 


the CBA's express provisions on just cause and due process. They all present questions of 


Contract Interpretation. The CITY is of the position that the actions taken were not in violation 


of the CBA, but in fact were consistent with express language in the CBA and/or policies and 


procedures incorporated into the CBA and additionally will be evidenced as a binding past 


practice of the parties. In City of Reno v. Reno Fire Department AdministratiFe Association, 


111 Nev. 1004, 899 P.2d 1115 (1995) the Nevada Supreme Court set forth the definition and 


burden of proof when a past practice becomes an enforceable right under a co I lccti vc bargaining 


agreement. Additional CBA questions are raised and arc at issue including those of tirnelmess. 


They will all be addressed in the contract grievance that is ripe for arbitration. 


Whether the CBA was violated is solely a question for an arbitrator. Interpretation of the 


express terms of the CBA is a matter to be decided by an arbitrator. l\AC 288.375(2) makl's 


clear that dismissal is appropriate" ... if the parties have not exhausted their contractual 


remedies, including all rights to arbitration." 


Exhaustion of the contractual remedies has not occurred in this case, which should bar, or 


at a minimum require deferral of this matter. In International Association ofFircfightt!rs. Local 


#2905, and Casey Aficonc v. Reno-Tahoe Airport Authority, Case No. 2020-013. Item 867 (2020) 


this Honorable Board reasserted its consistent rulings, stating: 


This Board has repeatedly emphasized that the preferred method for resolving 
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disputes is through the bargained-for processes, and the Board applies NAC 
288.375 liberally to effectuate that purpose. (Citations omitted). Moreover, the 
Board generally may defer to arbitration proceedings in consideration with its 
exclusive jurisdiction and, in such cases, it is the practice of the Board to stay 
matters during the arbitration process. (Citations omitted). 
(Emphasis added). 


It is anticipated that the Complainants will attempt to rely on City of Reno v. Reno Police 


Protective Association, 118 Nev. 889 (2002) for the generic proposition that a unilateral change 


of a mandatory subject can be a prohibited labor practice. That case was a Judicial Review of a 


decision of this Honorable Board. It is clear in that case. this Honorable Board deferred the 


matter to arbitration. In that case, unilateral change case, this Board stated: 


The Board has adopted a 'limited deferral doctrine' with regard to disputes arising 
under labor agreements. (Citation omitted) Under said limited deferral doctrine in 
order for the Board to consider a complaint involving an alleged contract violation 
the Complaint must establish, at least prima facie, that the alleged contract 
violation constituted a prohibited practice under NRS 288. While the Association 
has presented a prima facie case as required it is the Board's policy to encourage 
parties, whenever possible, to exhaust their remedies under the contractual dispute 
resolution systems contained in their collective bargaining agreement before 
seeking relief from the EMRB. Thus, where parties have not exhausted their 
contractual grievance arbitration remedies, the Board will not exercise its 
discretion to hear a complaint unless there is a clear showing of special 
circumstances or extreme prejudice. No such showing exists in the instant 
complaint. 


This Board will not take jurisdiction in a matter which is clearly a contract 
grievance ripe for arbitration. 


Reno Police Protective Association v. Reno Police Department, City of Reno, Case No. A I-


045626, Item 415 ( 1997). 


III. CONCLUSION: 


It is clear the central questions raised in the complaint center around whether the CBA 


was violated. The CITY strongly disagrees that the acts in question violate the CBA. Further. it 


asserts the acts in question \Vere all taken in compliance with the CBA. Nonetheless they all 


present questions of interpretation of the CBA, which are covered by the grievance process. 


Additionally, a grievance has been filed and is proceeding to arbitration. This Honorable Board 
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has repeatedly applied the limited deferral doctrine requiring exhaustion of contractual remedies 


before seeking relief from the EMRB. This Honorable Board should continue to follow that 


precedence and not take jurisdiction of this matter, which is ripe for arbitration. 


DATED this 11th day of October, 2021. 


BRYAN K. SCOTT 
City Attorney 


By: 
F" \ 


____ ,_7 _-·-•··. ___ ,d_/"-'-,-...---'J__ C/:/'•>" 


MORGAN DA vrs 
Assistant City Aft,gi"ney 
Nevada Bar No. 3707 
495 South Main Street, Sixth Floor 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
Attorneys for City of Las Vegas 


CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 


I hereby certify that on October 11, 2021, I served a true and correct copy of the 


foregoing Respondent ·s lvfotion to Dismiss Complain! via electronic mail (or, if necessary, by 


United States Mail at Las Vegas, Nevada, postage fully prepaid) upon the following: 


Jeffrey F. Allen, Esq. 
857 N. Eastern Avenue 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
Email: jeffreyfallen@aol.com 
Attorneysjor Complainants 
Las Vegas City Employees' Association 
and Jody Gleed 


F THE CITY OF LAS VEGAS 
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BRYAN K. SCOTT 
City Attorney 
Nevada Bar No. 4381 
By: MORGAN DA VIS 
Assistant City Attorney 
Nevada Bar No. 3707 
495 South Main Street, Sixth Floor 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
(702) 229-6629 
(702) 386-1749 (fax) 
Email: mdavis@lasvegasnevada.gov 
Attorneys for City of Las Vegas 


GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEE-MANAGEMENT RELATIONS BOARD 


ST ATE OF NEV ADA 


LAS VEGAS CITY EMPLOYEES' 
ASSOCIATION and MARC BROOKS, 


Complainants, 


vs. 


THE CITY OF LAS VEGAS, 


Respondent. 


CASE NO. 2021-013 


RESPONDENT'S MOTION TO 
DISMISS COMPLAINT 


COMES NOW the City of Las Vegas (herein referred to as '•CITY"), by and through its 


attorneys of record Bryan K. Scott, City Attorney, by Morgan Davis, Assistant City Attorney, 


and hereby files this Motion to Dismiss the Complaint filed by the Las Vegas City Employees' 


Association ("CEA") and Marc Brooks (herein referred to as "BROOKS"). This Motion is made 


and based upon NAC 288.240 and NAC 288.375(2). 


I. BRIEF STATEMENT OF BACKGROUND FACTS: 


Marc Brooks (BROOKS) is employed by the CITY as an equipment operator. In or 


around late April 2021 while performing his work duties BROOKS was observed falling asleep 


while driving a riding lawn mower. At that time, he indicated to his supervisors that the 


observed behavior was a regular event. Concerned over his ability to safely perform his duties 


he was told he could not operate CITY equipment or vehicles until a determination could be 
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made about his fitness for duty. Shortly thereafter further info1mation was discovered that 


BROOKS had been recently observed with similar behaviors raising concern of his ability to 


safely perform his duties, including but not limited to, not participating in work; sitting on the 


ground; complaining about how he felt; low energy; slow movement; and general malaise. At 


that time, BROOKS indicated he needed to take some time off from work to concentrate on his 


well-being. 


Based on the observed and confirmed behaviors BROOKS was scheduled for a Fitness 


for Duty Examination ("FFD") for May 20, 2021. Shortly thereafter BROOKS submitted an 


application for Medical Leave, which was approved. At that time, BROOKS was informed he 


would need to use accrued sick leave, or if expired, L WOP while on leave. As a result, the FFD 


scheduled for May 20, 2021, was cancelled and it was to be rescheduled after his return from 


Medical Leave. 


A FFD was eventually performed on July 9, 2021. Medical reporting from that FFD 


expressly noted information from two of BROOKS' treating physicians was reviewed and 


acknowledged by the FFD examiner. The FFD evaluator noted one of BROOKS' physicians had 


recommended BROOKS obtain nighttime equipment to assist with the issue of falling asleep, 


and that equipment had not been delivered yet and issues with him falling sleep during the day 


had not improved. Several other health improvement recommendations and evaluations were 


also noted. The FFD evaluator concluded BROOKS was temporarily disabled from work until 


clearance from treating physicians detailing treatment plans. This information was provided to 


BROOKS and he was informed he would need to obtain the equipment and start the other 


treatments before he could be reevaluated. BROOKS informed the CITY he ,vould have the 


recommended equipment shortly and requested the FFD, and in reliance thereon, a FFD was 


scheduled for July 22, 2021. BROOKS exhausted his accrued sick leave on or about July 20. 


2021, and was allO\ved to utilize Leave Without Pay. 
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BROOKS was seen again on July 22, 2021, by the FFD evaluator, but despite his 


representations, he had still not obtained the equipment, and as a result, he was not cleared to 


return to duty. On July 26, 2021, BROOKS informed the CITY he had not been cleared. On 


July 27, 2021, the CITY responded to BROOKS and indicated "Once you have the machine, 


please reach out so that we can schedule you." Shortly thereafter BROOKS notified the City that 


he obtained the equipment and the CITY promptly rescheduled the FFD for August 2, 2021. 


On that date, the FFD evaluator released him to full duty. On the same date BROOKS and the 


CEA filed a grievance. On or about September 17, 2021, BROOKS and the CEA informed the 


CITY it had filed the instant complaint before this Honorable Board. 


n. POINTS AND AUTHORITIES: 


The gravamen of the instant complaint is found in paragraph 8 of the instant complaint 


which states: 


Nothing in the CBA permits the City to force an employee onto Leave Without 
Pay status outside the bargained for disciplinary process. Similarly, nothing in the 
CBA permits the City to force an employee to use their accrued paid leave time 
when the employee is willing to perform their regular duties. Finally, nothing in 
the CBA gives the City of a third party hired by the City the right to unilaterally 
determine that an employee is not fit for duty and on that basis place the 
employee on Leave Without Pay, force them to burn through their accrued paid 
leave time and/or terminate their employment. 


Additionally, the singular cause of action is found in paragraph 14 of the instant 


Complaint and repeats that same theme, stating in part: 


... Based on an unsubstantiated assertion that Brooks was unfit for duty, the City 
refused to allow Brooks to work and suspended him, forcing him to burn through 
his paid accrued leave. This was done without just cause and without observing 
any of the bargained for disciplinary procedures specified in the CBA. The 
pa1iies never negotiated any provision in the CBA that would allow the City to 
suspend an LVCEA represented employee just because a third party hired by the 
City claimed the employee was not fit for duty. 


It is clear that the lynchpin to the Complaint is the assertion the CITY violated the CBA. 


The preliminary issue of law to be decided in this case is whether this Board has jurisdiction to 
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interpret the CBA grievance provisions, or whether those matters are the exclusive domain of an 


arbitrator. Additionally, assuming this Honorable Board has jurisdiction, the factual questions 


that are presented include whether the CITY actually suspended BROOKS. Additional legal 


questions that are presented include whether the CITY violated the CBA by referring BROOKS 


for a Fitness for Duty Evaluation; and whether the CITY violated the CBA in allowing 


BROOKS to be on Leave Without Pay after he had exhausted his leave accruals. 


The central issues in the complaint on file all relate to allegations that the CBA did not 


authorize the actions taken by the CITY, and/or that ultimately these actions \\ere in violation of 


the CBA' s express provisions on just cause and due process. They all present questions of 


Contract Interpretation. The CITY is of the position that the actions taken were not in violation 


of the CBA, but in fact were consistent with express language in the CBA and/or policies and 


procedures incorporated into the CBA and additionally will be evidenced in a binding past 


practice of the parties. In City of Reno v. Reno Fire Department Administrative Association. 


111 Nev. 1004, 899 P.2d 1115 (1995) the Nevada Supreme Court set forth the definition and 


burden of proof when a past practice becomes an enforceable right under a collective bargaining 


agreement. Additional CBA questions are raised and are at issue including those of timeliness. 


They will all be addressed in the contract grievance that is ripe for arbitration. Whether the CBA 


was violated is solely a question for an arbitrator. Interpretation of the express terms of the CBA 


is a matter to be decided by an arbitrator. NAC 288.3 75(2) makes clear that dismissal is 


appropriate" ... if the pm1ies have not exhausted their contractual remedies, including all rights 


to arbitration." 


Exhaustion of the contractual remedies have not occurred, which should bar. or at a 


minimum require deferral of this matter. In International Association of Firefighters. Local 


#2905, and Casey Micone v. Reno-Tahoe Airport Authority, Case No. 2020-013, Item 867 (2020) 


this Honorable Board reasserted its consistent rulings, stating: 
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This Board has repeatedly emphasized that the preferred method for resolving 
disputes is through the bargained-for processes, and the Board applies NAC 
288.375 liberally to effectuate that purpose. (Citations omitted). Moreover. the 
Board generally may defer to arbitration proceedings in consideration with its 
exclusive jurisdiction and, in such cases, it is the practice of the Board to stay 
matters during the arbitration process. (Citations omitted). 
(Emphasis added). 


It is anticipated that the Complainants will attempt to rely on City of'Reno v. Reno Police 


Protective Association, 118 Nev. 889 (2002) for the generic proposition that a unilateral change 


of a mandatory subject can be a prohibited labor practice. That case was a Judicial Review of a 


decision of this Honorable Board. It is clear in that case, this Honorable Board deferred the 


matter to arbitration. In that case, this Board stated: 


The Board has adopted a 'limited deferral doctrine' with regard to disputes arising 
under labor agreements. (Citation omitted) Under said limited deferral doctrine in 
order for the Board to consider a complaint involving an alleged contract violation 
the Complaint must establish, at least prima facie, that the alleged contract 
violation constituted a prohibited practice under NRS 288. While the Association 
has presented a prima facie case as required it is the Board's policy to encourage 
parties, whenever possible, to exhaust their remedies under the contractual dispute 
resolution systems contained in their collective bargaining agreement before 
seeking relief from the EMRB. Thus, where parties have not exhausted their 
contractual grievance arbitration remedies, the Board will not exercise its 
discretion to hear a complaint unless there is a clear showing of special 
circumstances or extreme prejudice. No such showing exists in the instant 
complaint. 


This Board will not take jurisdiction in a matter which is clearly a contract 
grievance ripe for arbitration. 


Reno Police Protective Associarion v. Reno Police Department, City of Reno, Case No. A 1-


045626, Item 415 (1997). 


Ill. CONCLUSION: 


It is clear the central questions raised in the complaint center around v,hether the CBA 


was violated. The CITY strongly disagrees that the acts in question violate the CB/\. Further. it 


asserts the acts in question were all taken in compliance with the CBA. Nonetheless they all 


present questions of interpretation of the CBA, which are covered by the grievance process. 
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Additionally, a grievance has been filed and is proceeding to arbitration. This Honorable Board 


has repeatedly applied the limited deferral doctrine requiring exhaustion of contractual remedies 


before seeking relief from the EMRB. This Honorable Board should continue to follov, that 


precedence and not take jurisdiction of this matter which is ripe for arbitration. 


DATED this 11th day of October, 2021. 


BRYAN K. SCOTT 
City Attorney 


By: 
MORGAN DA VIS 
Assistant City Att~1tney 
Nevada Bar No. 3707 


;,.'( 


495 South Main Street Sixth Floor 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
Attorneys for City of Las Vegas 


CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 


I hereby certify that on October 11, 2021, I served a true and correct copy of the 


foregoing Respondent's Motion to Dismiss Complaint via electronic mail (or, if necessary, by 


United States Mail at Las Vegas, Nevada, postage fully prepaid) upon the following: 


Jeffrey F. Allen, Esq. 
857 N. Eastern A venue 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
Email: jeffreyfallen@aol.com 
AttorneysfrJr Complainants 
Las Vegas City Employees' Association 
and }dare Brooks 
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BRYAN K. SCOTT 
City Attorney 
Nevada Bar No. 4381 
By: MORGAN DA VIS 
Assistant City Attorney 
Nevada Bar No. 3707 
495 South Main Street, Sixth Floor 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
(702) 229-6629 
(702) 386-1749 (fax) 
Email: mdavis@lasvegasnevada.gov 
Attorneys for City of Las Vegas 


GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEE-MANAGEMENT RELATIONS BOARD 


ST A TE OF NEV ADA 


INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF 
FIRE FIGHTERS, Local 1285, 


Complainant, 


vs. 


THE CITY OF LAS VEGAS, 


Respondent. 


CASE NO. 2021-015 


RESPONDENT'S MOTION TO 
DISMISS FIRST AMENDED 
COMPLAINT 


COMES NOW the City of Las Vegas (herein referred to as "CITY"), by and through its 


attorneys of record Bryan K. Scott, City Attorney, by Morgan Davis, Assistant City Attorney, 


and hereby files this Motion to Dismiss the First Amended Complaint filed by the International 


Association of Fire Fighters, Local 1285 (herein referred to as "IAFF" or "Union"). This Motion 


is made and based upon NAC 288.240 and NAC 288.375(2). 


I. BRIEF STATEMENT OF BACKGROUND FACTS: 


David Lewis ("LEWIS") is employed by the City of Las Vegas Department of Fire 


Services. LEWIS was referred for a Fitness for Duty evaluation ("FFD") based on significant 


observed behaviors while on light duty from a workman's compensation claim, including one 


incident when he simply left work alleging he was fearing for his safety. The claim seemed 


irrational or paranoid. The FFD evaluator opined LEWIS was not fit for full duty; noted several 


areas of concern, including signs of paranoia; and recommended LEWIS engage in 5 sessions of 
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therapy and return for a re-evaluation in three months after undergoing therapy. During the 


period of time LEWIS was seeking treatment before he ,vas re-evaluated he was al lowed to use 


any accrued sick leave. If his accrued leave expired, he was allowed to be placed on leave 


without pay, and maintain his benefits. LEWIS followed the suggestion of the FFD evaluator 


and participated in five sessions of therapy. After completion of those sessions, his mental 


health provider opined he was safe to return to full duty without restrictions, but noted additional 


treatment every two weeks may assist him. That reporting was forwarded to the FFD evaluator. 


After review of that report and speaking with Mr. Lewis, the FFD evaluator released him to 


work. 


On or about September 6 2021, LEWIS and his Union filed a grievance under the terms 


of a Collective Bargaining Agreement ("CBA") alleging the decision not to allow LEWIS to 


work, based on the FFD opinion he was not fit for duty, and that requiring use of paid and/or 


unpaid leave during that time violated the terms of the CBA. That grievance was processed 


through the internal grievance steps and on September 10, 2021, LEWIS and the L'nion 


submitted a demand for arbitration on grievance. 


On September 23, 2021, counsel for LEWIS and the Union informed the CITY it was 


filing a complaint before this Honorable Board. On or about September 29. 2021, counsel for 


LEWIS and the Union indicated LEWIS was no longer interested in pursuing either the 


grievance or instant EMRB complaint, but that the Union will be continuing \Vith the instant 


matter. Thereafter, the grievance and remand for arbitration was withdrawn. The instant 


amended complaint was amended removing LEWIS as a party, but with the Union continuing. 


II. POINTS AND AUTHORITIES: 


The gravamen of the instant complaint is found in paragraph 8 of the instant complaint 


which states: 


Nothing in the CBA permits the City to force an employee onto Leave Without 
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Pay status outside the bargained for disciplinary process. Similarly, nothing in the 
CBA permits the City to force an employee to use their accrued paid leave time 
when the employee is willing to perform their regular duties. Finally, nothing in 
the CBA gives the City of a third party hired by the City the right to unilaterally 
determine that an employee is not fit for duty and on that basis place the 
employee on Leave Without Pay, force them to burn through their accrued paid 
leave time and/or terminate their employment. 


Additionally, the singular cause of action is found in paragraph 13 of the instant 


Complaint and repeats that same theme, stating in part: 


... Based on an unsubstantiated assertion that Lewis was unfit for duty, the City 
refused to allow Lewis to work, suspended him and forced him to burn through 
his paid accrued leave. This was done without just cause and without observing 
any of the bargained for disciplinary procedures specified in the CBA. The 
parties never negotiated any provision in the CBA that would allow the City to 
suspend without pay an IAFF Local 1285 represented employee and/or to force 
them to burn through accrued paid leave just because a third party hired by the 
City claimed the employee was not fit for duty. 


It is clear the lynchpin to the Complaint is the assertion the CITY violated the CBA. The 


preliminary issue of law to be decided in this case is whether this Board has jurisdiction to 


interpret the CBA grievance provisions, or whether those matters are the exclusive domain of an 


arbitrator. Additionally, assuming this Honorable Board has jurisdiction, the factual questions 


that are presented include whether the CITY actually suspended LEWIS. Additional legal 


questions that are presented include whether the CITY violated the CBA by referring LEWIS for 


a Fitness for Duty Evaluation; and whether the CITY violated the CBA in allowing LEWIS to be 


on Leave Without Pay after he had exhausted his leave accruals. 


The central issues in the complaint on file all relate to allegations that the CBA did not 


authorize the actions taken by the CITY, and/or that ultimately these actions were in violation of 


the CBA's express provisions on just cause and due process. They all present questions of 


Contract Interpretation. The CITY is of the position that the actions taken were not in violation 


of the CBA, but in fact were consistent with express language in the CBA and/or policies and 


procedures incorporated into the CBA and additionally will be evidenced in a binding past 
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practice of the pa1iies. In City of Reno v. Reno Fire Department Administrative Association, 


111 Nev. 1004, 899 P.2d 1115 (1995) the Nevada Supreme Court set forth the definition and 


burden of proof when a past practice becomes an enforceable right under a collective bargaining 


agreement. Additional CBA questions are raised and are at issue including those of timeliness. 


They will all be addressed in the contract grievance that is ripe for arbitration. Whether the CBA 


was violated is solely a question for an arbitrator. Interpretation of the express terms or the CH.1\ 


is a matter to be decided by an arbitrator. NAC 288.375(2) makes clear that dismissal is 


appropriate" ... if the pa1iies have not exhausted their contractual remedies, including all rights 


to arbitration.'· 


Exhaustion of the contractual remedies have not occurred, which should bar, or at a 


minimum require deferral of this matter. In International Association of'Firefighters, Local 


#2905, and Casey Micone v. Reno-Tahoe Airport Authority, Case No. 2020-013, Item 867 (2020) 


this Honorable Board reasserted its consistent rulings, stating: 


This Board has repeatedly emphasized that the preferred method for resolving 
disputes is through the bargained-for processes, and the Board applies NAC 
288.375 liberally to effectuate that purpose. (Citations omitted). Moreover, the 
Board generally may defer to arbitration proceedings in consideration with its 
exclusive jurisdiction and, in such cases, it is the practice of the Board to stay 
matters during the arbitration process. (Citations omitted). 
(Emphasis added). 


The fact that the grievance was withdrawn does not eliminate the need to exhaust 


administrative remedies. The fact that the Union continues to pursue the instant action ,vithout 


LEWIS is illustrative the fact they are the parties to the CBA, and as a result can pursue 


allegations of violation or questions of interpretation thereunder. There can be no question the 


Union could have done the same thing in that case. Election to withdra,v a ripe grievance does 


not represent an exhaustion, nor does it serve as an exception to the limited deferral doctrine. 


It is anticipated that the Complainants will attempt to rely on City ofReno v. Reno Police 


Protective Association, 118 Nev. 889 (2002) for the generic proposition that a unilateral change 


-4-







2 


3 


4 


5 


6 


7 


8 


9 


10 


11 


12 


13 


14 


15 


16 


17 


18 


19 


20 


21 


22 


23 


24 


25 


26 


27 


28 


of a mandatory subject can be a prohibited labor practice. That case was a Judicial Review of a 


decision of this Honorable Board. It is clear in that case, this Honorable Board deferred the 


matter to arbitration. In that case, this Board stated: 


The Board has adopted a 'limited deferral doctrine' with regard to disputes arising 
under labor agreements. (Citation omitted) Under said limited deferral doctrine in 
order for the Board to consider a complaint involving an alleged contract violation 
the Complaint must establish, at least prima facie, that the alleged contract 
violation constituted a prohibited practice under NRS 288. While the Association 
has presented a prima facie case as required it is the Board's policy to encourage 
parties, whenever possible, to exhaust their remedies under the contractual dispute 
resolution systems contained in their collective bargaining agreement before 
seeking relief from the EMRB. Thus, where parties have not exhausted their 
contractual grievance arbitration remedies, the Board will not exercise its 
discretion to hear a complaint unless there is a clear showing of special 
circumstances or extreme prejudice. No such showing exists in the instant 
complaint. 


This Board will not take jurisdiction in a matter which is clearly a contract 
grievance ripe for arbitration. 


Reno Police Protective Association v. Reno Police Department. City of Reno, Case No. A 1-


045 626, Item 415 (] 997). 


III. CONCLUSION: 


1t is clear the central questions raised in the complaint center around whether the CBA 


was violated. The CITY strongly disagrees that the acts in question violate the CBA. Further, it 


asserts the acts in question \Vere all taken in compliance with the CBA. Nonetheless they all 


present questions of interpretation of the CBA, which are covered by the grievance process. 


Additionally, a grievance has been filed and is proceeding to arbitration. This Honorable Hoard 


has repeatedly applied the limited deferral doctrine requiring exhaustion of contractual remedies 
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before seeking relief from the EMRB. This Honorable Board should continue to fi.Jllow that 


precedence and not take jurisdiction of this matter, which is ripe for arbitration. 


DA TED this 25 day of October, 2021. 


BRYAN K. SCOTT 
City Attorney 


By: 


ssis nt ~ orney 
Nevada Bar No. 3707 
495 South Main Street Sixth Floor 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
Attorneys for City of Las Vegas 


CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 


I hereby certify that on October 25, 2021, I served a true and correct copy of the 


foregoing Respondent's Motion to Dismiss First Amended Complaint via electronic mail (or, if 


necessary, by United States Mail at Las Vegas, Nevada, postage fully prepaid) upon the 


following: 


Jeffrey F. Allen, Esq. 
857 N. Eastern Avenue 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
Email: jeffreyfallen@aol.com 
Alforneysfor Complainant 
International Association ofFire Fighters, Local 1285 
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EXHIBITD 


EXHIBITD 







FILED 
JAN 2 0 2022 1 


2 


3 


4 


STATE OF NEV ADA 


GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEE-MANAGEMENT 


RELATIONS BOARD 


5 


6 LAS VEGAS CITY EMPLOYEES' 
ASSOClA TION and JULIE TERRY 


7 
Complainants, 


8 V. 


9 THE CITY OF LAS VEGAS, 


10 Respondent. 


11 LAS VEGAS CITY EMPLOYEES' 
ASSOCIATION and JODY GLEED 


12 
Complainants, 


13 V. 


14 THE CITY OF LAS VEGAS, 


15 Respondent. 


16 LAS VEGAS CITY EMPLOYEES' 
ASSOCIATION and MARC BROOKS 


17 


18 V. 
Complainants, 


19 THE CITY OF LAS VEGAS, 


20 Respondent. 


21 INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF FIRE 


22 FIGHTERS, LOCAL 1285 


23 V. 


Complainant, 


24 THE CITY OF LAS VEGAS, 


25 


26 


Respondent 


Case No. 2021-008; 2021-012; 2021-013; 
2021-015 


(Consolidated) 


ORDER 


ENBANC 


27 On December 9, 202i, this matter came before the State of Nevada, Government Empioyee-


28 Management Relations Board (the "Board") for consideration and decision pursuant to the provisions of 
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1 the Employee-Management Relations Act (EMRA, NRS Chapter 288) and NAC Chapter 288. At issue 


2 was whether the cases captioned above should be consolidated and whether the Board should rule on 


3 motions to dismiss pending in Case Nos. 2021-021, 2021-013, and 2021-015. The Board voted to 


4 consolidate the four listed cases pursuant to NAC 288.275. The Board also initially voted to deny the 


5 motions to dismiss in the three cases above. 


6 On January 13, 2022, this matter again came before the Board for consideration and decision 


7 pursuant to the provisions of the EMRA and NAC Chapter 288. Upon further discussion, the Board 


8 decided that the Board will retract its initial decision to deny the motions to dismiss in Case Nos. 2021-


9 021, 2021-013, and 2021-015. Instead, the Board voted to stay all four cases under the limited deferral 


1 O doctrine until the underlying grievances in those cases are resolved. 


11 NAC 288.275 provides that this Board "may consolidate two or more cases in any one hearing 


12 when it appears that the issues are substantially the same and that the rights of the parties will not be 


13 prejudiced by a consolidated hearing." The Board finds that Case Nos. 2021-008, 2021-012, 2021-013, 


14 and 2021-015 share issues that are substantially the same and the rights of the parties will not be 


15 prejudiced by a consolidated hearing. Accordingly, the Board hereby consolidates Case Nos. 2021-008, 


16 2021-012, 2021-013, and 2021-015. 


17 The limited deferral doctrine is a prudential doctrine reflecting a policy of favoring grievance 


18 arbitration as the preferred method of resolving disputes. See City of Reno v. Reno Police Protective 


19 Ass 'n, 118 Nev. 889, 59 P.3d 1212 (2002); see also United Technologies Corp., 268 NLRB 557, 560 


20 (1984). 


21 Here, there are grievances in the four listed cases that are pending arbitration. Accordingly, the 


22 Board finds that it is appropriate to stay this consolidated case under the limited deferral doctrine until 


23 underlying grievances in the four listed cases are resolved through arbitration or otherwise. 
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Based on the foregoing, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Case Nos. 2021-008, 2021-012, 2021-


013, and 2021-015 are consolidated. 


IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that this consolidated case be stayed until grievances in the four 


listed cases are resolved through arbitration or otherwise. Parties in the four listed cases shall inform 


this Board of resolution of the underlying grievances in their respective cases. 


Dated this 20 day of January 2022. 


GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEE­
MANAGEMENT RELATIONS BOARD 


By:BR~~ir 
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JEFFREY F. ALLEN, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 9495 


2 1 857 N. Eastern A venue 
. Las Vegas, NV 89101 


3 ! Phone: (702)595-1127 
Email: jeffreyfallen@aol.com 


4 
Attorney for Complainants, 


5 Las Vegas City Employees' Association, 
Julie Terry, Jody Gleed, Marc Brooks, and 


6 International Association of Firefighters Local 1285 
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STATE OF NEVADA 


GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEE-MANAGEMENT 


RELATIONS BOARD 


LAS VEGAS CITY EMPLOYEES' 
ASSOCIATION and JULIE TERRY 


Complainants, 


vs. 


THE CITY OF LAS VEGAS, 


Respondent. 


LAS VEGAS CITY EMPLOYEES' 
ASSOCIATION and JODY GLEED 


Complainants, 


vs. 


THE CITY OF LAS VEGAS, 


Respondent. 


* * * * 


) CASE NO.: 2021-008 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 


) CONSOLIDATED WITH 
) 
) CASE NO.: 2021-012 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
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LAS VEGAS CITY EMPLOYEES' ) CONSOLIDATED WITH 
ASSOCIATION and MARC BROOKS ) 


) CASE NO.: 2021-013 
Complainants, ) 


) 
vs. ) 


) 
THE CITY OF LAS VEGAS, ) 


) 
Respondent. ) 


) 
) 
) 


INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF FIRE ) CONSOLIDATED WITH 
FIGHTERS, LOCAL 1285 ) 


) CASE NO.: 2021-015 
Complainant, ) 


) 
VS. ) 


) 
THE CITY OF LAS VEGAS, ) 


) 
Respondent. ) 


) 
) 
) 


The Las Vegas Employees Association ("LVCEA"), Julie Terry ("Terry"), Jody Gleed 


("Gleed"), Marc Brooks ("Brooks") and the International Association of Fire Fighters, Local 


1285 ("IAFF 1285"), by and through their counsel of record, Jeffrey F. Allen, Esq., along with 


the City of Las Vegas ("City"), by and through its counsel ofrecord, Morgan Davis, Esq., hereby 


submit the following Joint Status Report for the above captioned consolidated matter: 


For the lead case of LVCEA and Julie Terry vs. City of Las Vegas, EMRB Case Number 


2021-008, the related grievance was submitted to arbitration. The first day of the arbitration was 


held on February 1, 2022 but the parties did not complete the proceedings. The matter is 


scheduled to resume for day two of the arbitration on April 12, 2022. Assuming that the matter 


can be completed on that day, it would be anticipated that a decision from the arbitrator would be 


forthcoming in approximately July 2022. 


For the cases of LVCEA and Jody Gleed vs. City of Las Vegas, EMRB Case Number 


2021-012, and LVCEA and Marc Brooks vs. City of Las Vegas, EMRB Case Number 2021-013, 
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the related grievances have not been scheduled for arbitration. Due to the fact that the monetary 


amounts in dispute for these cases isn't significantly high, the L VCEA may decide to continue to 


hold off on pursuing the matter through arbitration. Rather, the L VCEA is hopeful that they can 


secure relief for their claims through this Board via the consolidated action herein. The City 


continues to reserve arguments of mandatory exhaustion of contractual remedies in the context of 


the "limited deferral doctrine" in those matters. 


For the case ofIAFF 1285 vs. City of Las Vegas, EMRB Case No. 2021-015, the related 


grievance was withdrawn by the individual David Lewis who no longer wanted to be involved in 


any litigation over the matter. IAFF 1285 is hopeful that it can secure relief for its claim through 


this Board via the consolidated action herein. The City continues to reserve arguments of 


mandatory exhaustion of contractual remedies in the context of the "limited deferral doctrine" in 


that matter. 


Dated: March 28, 2022 


By:------------
JEFFREY F. ALLEN, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 9495 
Attorneys for Complainants, 
Las Vegas City Employees' Association, 


Dated: March 28, 2022 


.,,,,,_./'."';,/}//'\ ,.('', \ j~:~,\..,,~,rP; 


By: • I L_,..,_,('"'r··-
MORGAN1£?A VIS, ESQ. 
Nevada Ba(No. 3707 
Attorney for Respondent, 
City of Las Vegas 


Julie Terry, Jody Gleed, Marc Brooks and 
International Assoc. of Firefighters Local 1285 
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EXHIBITF 


EXHIBITF 







1 BRYAN K. SCOTT 
City Attorney 


2 Nevada Bar No. 4381 
By: MORGAN DAVIS 


3 Assistant City Attorney 
Nevada Bar No. 3707 


4 By: NECHOLE E. GARCIA 
Deputy City Attorney 


5 Nevada Bar No. 12746 
495 South Main Street, Sixth Floor 


6 Las Vegas, NV 89101 
(702) 229-6629 


7 (702) 386-1749 (fax} 
Email: mdavis@lasvegasnevada.gov 


8 Attorneys for City of Las Vegas 


FILED 
July 28, 2022 


State of Nevada 
E.M.R.B. 


3:35p.m. 


9 


10 


11 


12 


13 


14 


15 


16 


17 


18 


19 


20 


21 


22 


23 


24 


25 


26 


27 


28 


ST A TE OF NEV ADA GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEE­


MANAGEMENT RELATIONS BOARD 


LAS VEGAS CITY EMPLOYEES' 
ASSOCIATION and JULIE TERRY, 


Complainants, 


vs. 


THE CITY OF LAS VEGAS, 


Respondent. 


LAS VEGAS CITY EMPLOYEES' 
ASSOCIATION and JODY GLEED, 


Complainants, 


vs. 


THE CITY OF LAS VEGAS, 


Respondent. 


LAS VEGAS CITY EMPLOYEES' 
ASSOCIATION and MARC BROOKS, 


Complainants, 


vs. 


THE CITY OF LAS VEGAS, 


Respondent. 


Las Vegas City Attorney 
495 S. Main Street, 6th Floor 


Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
702-229-6629 


CASE NO. 2021-008 


CONSOLIDATED WITH 


CASE NO. 2021-012 


CONSOLIDATED WITH 


CASE NO. 2021-013 
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TNTERNA TIONAL ASSOCIATION OF 
FIREFIGHTERS, LOCAL 1285, 


Complainant, 


vs. 


THE CITY OF LAS VEGAS, 


Respondent. 


CONSOLIDATED WITH 


CASE NO. 2021-015 


JOINT STATUS REPORT 


The City of Las Vegas ("CITY"), by and through its counsel of record, Morgan Davis, 


Esq. and Nechole Garcia, Esq., along with the Las Vegas City Employees Association 


("LVCEA"), Julie Terry ("Terry"), Jody Gleed ("Gleed"), Marc Brooks ("Brooks") and the 


International Association of Fire Fighters, Local 1285 ("IAFF 1285"), by and through their 


counsel ofrecord Jeffrey F. Allen, Esq., hereby submit the following Joint Status Report for the 


above captioned consolidated matter: 


These cases were consolidated by this Board on December 9, 2021. On January 13, 2022, 


this Board voted to stay all these cases under the limited deferral doctrine until the underlying 


grievances in these case are resolved. 


For the lead case of LVCEA and Julie Terry vs. City of Las Vegas, EMRB Case Number 


2021-008, the related grievance was submitted to arbitration. The arbitration hearing was 


conducted on three days: February 1, 2022, April 12, 2022, and May 5, 2022. The parties 


submitted their Post Hearing Briefs to the Arbitrator on July 13, 2022. The parties anticipate a 


decision from the Arbitrator in approximately August 2022. 


For the cases of L VCEA and Jody Gleed vs. City of Las Vegas, EMRB Case Number 


2012-012, and LVCEA and Marc Brooks vs. City of Las Vegas, EMRB Case Number 2021-013, 


the related grievances have not been scheduled for arbitration. Due to the fact that the monetary 


amounts in dispute for these cases is not significantly high, the L VCEA may decide to continue 


to hold off on pursuing the matter through arbitration. Rather, the LVCEA is hopeful that they 


can secure relief for their claims through this Board via the consolidated action herein. The CITY 


Las Vegas City Attorney 


495 S. Main Street, 6•h Floor 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 


702-229-6629 -2-
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continues to reserve arguments of mandatory exhaustion of contractual remedies in the context 


of the "limited deferral doctrine" in these matters. 


For the case ofIAFF 1285 vs. City of Las Vegas, EMRB Case No. 2021-015, the related 


grievance was withdrawn by the individual David Lewis who no longer wanted to be involved in 


any litigation over the matter. IAFF 1285 is hopeful that it can secure relief for its claim through 


this Board via the consolidated action herein. The CITY continues to reserve arguments of 


mandatory exhaustion of contractual remedies in the context of the "limited deferral doctrine" in 


this matter. 


Dated: July 28, 2022 


By: 
Isl Morgan Davis 


MORGAN DA VIS 
Nevada Bar No. 3707 
NECHOLE E. GARCIA 
Nevada Bar No. 12746 


Dated: July 28, 2022 


Isl Jeffrey Allen 
By: _________ _ 


JEFFREY F. ALLEN 
Nevada Bar No. 9495 
Attorneys for Complainants, 


Attorneys for Respondent City of Las Vegas 
Las Vegas City Employees' 
Association, Julie Terry, Jody 
Gleed, Marc Brooks, and 
International Association of 
Firefighters Local 1285 


CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 


I hereby certify that on July 28, 2022, I served a true and correct copy of the foregoing 


Joint Status Report via email upon the following: 


Jeffrey F. Allen, Esq. 
857 N. Eastern Avenue 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
Email: jeffreyfallen@aol.com 
Attorneys for Complainants, 
Las Vegas City Employees' Association, 
Julie Terry, Jody Gleed, Marc Brooks, and 
International Association of Fire fighters 
Local 1285 


Isl Kelli Hansen 


AN Ei'v1PLOYEE OF THE CITY OF LAS VEGAS 


Las Vegas City Attorney 
495 S. Main Street, 6'h Floor 


Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
702-229-6629 -3-







EXHIBIT G 


EXHIBITG 







BRYAN K. SCOTT 
City Attorney 


2 Nevada Bar No. 4381 
By: MORGAN DA VIS 


3 Assistant City Attorney 
Nevada Bar No. 3707 


4 By: NECHOLE E. GARCIA 
Deputy City Attorney 


5 Nevada Bar No. 12746 
495 South Main Street, Sixth Floor 


6 Las Vegas, NV 89101 
(702) 229-6629 


7 (702) 386-1749 (fax) 
Email: mdavis@lasvegasnevada.gov 


8 Attorneys for City of Las Vegas 
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LAS VEGAS CITY EMPLOYEES' 
ASSOCIATION and JULIE TERRY, 


Complainants, 


vs. 


THE CITY OF LAS VEGAS, 


Respondent. 


LAS VEGAS CITY EMPLOYEES' 
ASSOCIATION and JODY GLEED, 


Complainants, 


vs. 


THE CITY OF LAS VEGAS, 


Respondent. 


LAS VEGAS CITY EMPLOYEES' 
ASSOCIATION and MARC BROOKS, 


Complainants, 


vs. 


THE CITY OF LAS VEGAS, 


Respondent. 


CASE NO. 2021-008 


CONSOLIDATED WITH 


CASE NO. 2021-012 


CONSOLIDATED WITH 


CASE NO. 2021-013 
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INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF 
FIREFIGHTERS, LOCAL 1285, 


Complainant, 


vs. 


THE CITY OF LAS VEGAS, 


Respondent. 


CONSOLIDATED WITH 


CASE NO. 2021-015 


JOINT STATUS REPORT 


The City of Las Vegas ("CITY"), by and through its counsel of record, Morgan Davis, 


Esq. and Nechole Garcia, Esq., along with the Las Vegas City Employees Association 


("LVCEA"), Julie Terry ("Terry"), Jody Gleed ("Gleed"), Marc Brooks ("Brooks") and the 


International Association of Firefighters, Local 1285 ("IAFF 1285"), by and through their 


counsel of record Jeffrey F. Allen, Esq., hereby submit the following Joint Status Report for the 


above captioned consolidated matter: 


These cases were consolidated by this Board on December 9, 2021. On January 13, 2022, 


this Board voted to stay all these cases under the limited deferral doctrine until the underlying 


grievances in these case are resolved. 


For the lead case ofLVCEA and Julie Terry vs. City of Las Vegas, EMRB Case Number 


2021-008, the related grievance was submitted to arbitration. The arbitration hearing was 


conducted on three days: February l, 2022, April 12, 2022, and May 5, 2022. The parties 


submitted their Post Hearing Briefs to the Arbitrator on July 13, 2022. On August 11, 2022, the 


Arbitrator issued a Decision. The City prevailed on the matter, and intends on filing a motion to 


request that this Board defer to the Arbitrator's findings. The LVCEA wishes to proceed with the 


EMRB action and intends on opposing the City's request to defer. Therefore, the parties believe 


a briefing schedule should be set so they may brief the deferral issue for the Board's 


consideration. 


For the cases of L VCEA and Jody Gleed vs. City of Las Vegas, EMRB Case Number 


2012-012, and LVCEA and Marc Brooks vs. City of Las Vegas, EMRB Case Number 2021-013, 
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the related grievances have not been scheduled for arbitration. Due to the fact that the monetary 


amounts in dispute for these cases is not significantly high, the L VCEA may decide to continue 


to hold off on pursuing the matter through arbitration. Rather, the L VCEA is hopeful that they 


can secure relief for their claims through this Board via the consolidated action herein. The CITY 


continues to reserve arguments of mandatory exhaustion of contractual remedies in the context 


of the "limited deferral doctrine" in these matters. 


For the case of lAFF 1285 vs. City of Las Vegas, EMRB Case No. 2021-015, the related 


grievance was withdrawn by the individual David Lewis who no longer wanted to be involved in 


any litigation over the matter. TAFF 1285 is hopeful that it can secure relief for its claim through 


this Board via the consolidated action herein. The CITY continues to reserve arguments of 


mandatory exhaustion of contractual remedies in the context of the "limited deferral doctrine" in 


this matter. 


Dated: September 6, 2022 


Isl Necho/e E. Garcia 
By: 


MORGAN DA VIS 
Nevada Bar No. 3707 
NECHOLE E. GARCIA 
Nevada Bar No. 12746 
Attorneys for Respondent City of Las Vegas 


Dated: September 6, 2022 


Isl Jeffrey F. Allen 
By: _________ _ 


JEFFREY F. ALLEN 
Nevada Bar No. 9495 
Attorneys for Complainants, 
Las Vegas City Employees' 
Association, Julie Terry, Jody 
Gleed, Marc Brooks, and 
International Association of 
Firefighters Local 1285 


CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 


I hereby certify that on September 6, 2022, I served a true and correct copy of the 


foregoing Joint Status Report via email upon the following: 


Jeffrey F. Allen, Esq. 
857 N. Eastern Avenue 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
Email: jeffreyfallen@aol.com 
Attorneys for Complainants, 
Las Vegas City Employees' Association, 
Julie Terry, Jody Gleed, Marc Brooks, and 
International Association of Firefighters 
Local 1285 


Isl Kelli Hansen 


AN EMPLOYEE OF THE CITY OF LAS VEGAS 
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EXHIBITH 


EXHIBITH 







Type EO0l Regular L00l Sick Leave Used Total 
Lopez, Silvana C. 985052 MON 8-Aug-22 10 10 
Lopez, Silvana C. 985052 TUE 9-Aug-22 10 10 
Lopez, Silvana C. 985052 WED 10-Aug-22 8.5 1.5 10 
Lopez, Silvana C. 985052 THU 11-Aug-22 10 10 
Lopez, Silvana C. 985052 MON 15-Aug-22 10 10 
Lopez, Silvana C. 985052 TUE 16-Aug-22 10 10 
Lopez, Silvana C. 985052 WED 17-Aug-22 10 10 
Lopez, Silvana C. 985052 THU 18-Aug-22 10 10 


Total: 68.5 11.5 80 







EXHIBIT I 


EXHIBIT I 







Type EO0l Regular L00l Admin Leave L00l LWOP L00l Sick Leave Used L00l Vac Used Total 


Gleed, Jody M. 982165 TUE 27-Jul-21 6 4 10 


Gleed, Jody M. 982165 WED 28-Jul-21 10 10 


Gleed, Jody M. 982165 THU 29-Jul-21 10 10 


Gleed, Jody M. 982165 FRI 30-Jul-21 10 10 


Gleed, Jody M. 982165 TUE 3-Aug-2~ 2.73 2.48 4.79 10 


Gleed, Jody M. 982165 WED 4-Aug-21 10 10 


Gleed, Jody M. 982165 THU 5-Aug-21 10 10 


Gleed, Jody M. 982165 FRI 6-Aug-21 10 10 


Gleed, Jody M. 982165 TUE 10-Aug-21 3.07 2.36 4.57 10 


Gleed, Jody M. 982165 WED 11-Aug-21 10 10 


Gleed, Jody M. 982165 THU 12-Aug-21 10 10 


Gleed, Jody M. 982165 FRI 13-Aug-21 10 10 


Gleed, Jody M. 982165 TUE 17-Aug-21 10 10 


Gleed, Jody M. 982165 WED 18-Aug-21 10 10 


Gleed, Jody M. 982165 THU 19-Aug-21 10 10 


Gleed, Jody M. 982165 FRI 20-Aug-21 10 10 


Gleed, Jody M. 982165 TUE 24-Aug-21 10 10 


Gleed, Jody M. 982165 WED 25-Aug-21 10 10 


Gleed, Jody M. 982165 THU 26-Aug-21 10 10 


Gleed, Jody M. 982165 FRI 27-Aug-21 10 10 


Gleed, Jody M. 982165 TUE 31-Aug-21 10 10 


Gleed, Jody M. 982165 WED 1-Sep-21 10 10 


Gleed, Jody M. 982165 THU 2-Sep-21 10 10 


Gleed, Jody M. 982165 FRI 3-Sep-21 10 10 


Gleed, Jody M. 982165 TUE 7-Sep-21 10 10 


Gleed, Jody M. 982165 WED 8-Sep-21 10 10 


Gleed, Jody M. 982165 THU 9-Sep-21 10 10 


Gleed, Jody M. 982165 FRI 10-Sep-21 10 10 


Gleed, Jody M. 982165 TUE 14-Sep-21 10 10 


Gleed, Jody M. 982165 WED 15-Sep-21 10 10 


Gleed, Jody M. 982165 THU 16-Sep-21 10 10 


Gleed, Jody M. 982165 FRI 17-Sep-21 10 10 


Gleed, Jody M. 982165 TUE 21-Sep-21 10 10 







Gleed, Jody M. 982165 WED 22-5ep-21 10 10 


Gleed, Jody M. 982165 THU 23-Sep-21 10 10 


Gleed, Jody M. 982165 FRI 24-Sep-21 10 10 


Gleed, Jody M. 982165 TUE 28-Sep-21 10 10 


Gleed, Jody M. 982165 WED 29-Sep-21 10 10 


Gleed, Jody M. 982165 THU 30-Sep-21 10 10 


Gleed, Jody M. 982165 FRI 1-Oct-21 10 10 


Gleed, Jody M. 982165 TUE 5-Oct-21 10 10 


Gleed, Jody M. 982165 WED 6-Oct-21 10 10 


Gleed, Jody M. 982165 THU 7-Oct-21 10 10 


Gleed, Jody M. 982165 FRI 8-Oct-21 10 10 


Gleed, Jody M. 982165 TUE 12-Oct-21 5.86 4.14 10 


Gleed, Jody M. 982165 WED 13-Oct-21 10 10 


Gleed, Jody M. 982165 THU 14-Oct-21 10 10 


Gleed, Jody M. 982165 FRI 15-Oct-21 2.84 7.16 10 


Total: 26 184 238.64 10.7 20.66 480 







EXHIBIT J 


EXHIBITJ 







Type EO0l Regular H00l Holiday Off L003 FMLA Birthday L003 FMLA LWOP L003 FMLA Sick L003 FM LA Vac Total 


Brooks, Marc J. 984588 MON 17-May-21 10 10 


Brooks, Marc J. 984588 TUE 18-May-21 10 10 


Brooks, Marc J. 984588 WED 19-May-21 10 10 


Brooks, Marc J. 984588 THU 20-May-21 10 10 


Brooks, Marc J. 984588 MON 24-May-21 10 10 


Brooks, Marc J. 984588 TUE 25-May-21 10 10 


Brooks, Marc J. 984588 WED 26-May-21 10 10 


Brooks, Marc J. 984588 THU 27-May-21 10 10 


Brooks, Marc J. 984588 MON 31-May-21 10 10 


Brooks, Marc J. 984588 TUE 1-Jun-21 10 10 


Brooks, Marc J. 984588 WED 2-Jun-21 5.65 4.35 10 


Brooks, Marc J. 984588 THU 3-Jun-21 10 10 


Brooks, Marc J. 984588 MON 7-Jun-21 10 10 


Brooks, Marc J. 984588 TUE 8-Jun-21 10 10 


Brooks, Marc J. 984588 WED 9-Jun-21 10 10 


Brooks, Marc J. 984588 THU 10-Jun-21 10 10 


Brooks, Marc J. 984588 MON 14-Jun-21 4 6 10 


Brooks, Marc J. 984588 TUE 15-Jun-21 10 10 


Brooks, Marc J. 984588 WED 16-Jun-21 10 10 


Brooks, Marc J. 984588 THU 17-Jun-21 10 10 


Brooks, Marc J. 984588 MON 21-Jun-21 10 10 


Brooks, Marc J. 984588 TUE 22-Jun-21 10 10 


Brooks, Marc J. 984588 WED 23-Jun-21 10 10 


Brooks, Marc J. 984588 THU 24-Jun-21 10 10 


Brooks, Marc J. 984588 MON 28-Jun-21 4 6 10 


Brooks, Marc J. 984588 TUE 29-Jun-21 10 10 


Brooks, Marc J. 984588 WED 30-Jun-21 10 10 


Brooks, Marc J. 984588 THU 1-Jul-21 10 10 


Brooks, Marc J. 984588 MON 5-Jul-21 10 10 


Brooks, Marc J. 984588 TUE 6-Jul-21 10 10 


Brooks, Marc J. 984588 WED 7-Jul-21 10 10 


Brooks, Marc J. 984588 THU 8-Jul-21 10 10 


Brooks, Marc J. 984588 MON 12-Jul-21 4 6 10 







Brooks, Marc J. 984588 TUE 13-Jul-21 3.65 6.35 10 


Brooks, Marc J. 984588 WED 14-Jul-21 10 10 


Brooks, Marc J. 984588 THU 15-Jul-21 0.39 9.61 10 


Brooks, Marc J. 984588 MON 19-Jul-21 10 10 


Brooks, Marc J. 984588 TUE 20-Jul-21 10 10 


Brooks, Marc J. 984588 WED 21-Jul-21 10 10 


Brooks, Marc J. 984588 THU 22-Jul-21 10 10 


Brooks, Marc J. 984588 MON 26-Jul-21 3.19 2.49 4.32 10 


Brooks, Marc J. 984588 TUE 27-Jul-21 10 10 


Brooks, Marc J. 984588 WED 28-Jul-21 10 10 


Brooks, Marc J. 984588 THU 29-Jul-21 10 10 


Brooks, Marc J. 984588 MON 2-Aug-21 10 10 


Brooks, Marc J. 984588 TUE 3-Aug-21 10 10 


Brooks, Marc J. 984588 WED 4-Aug-21 10 10 


Brooks, Marc J. 984588 THU 5-Aug-21 10 10 


Total: 33.65 20 10 73.58 110.14 232.63 480 







EXHIBITK 


EXHIBITK 







Type 


Lewis, David M. 983105 TUE 4-May-21 


Lewis, David M. 983105 WED 5-May-21 


Lewis, David M. 983105 THU 6-May-21 


Lewis, David M. 983105 FRI 7-May-21 


Lewis, David M. 983105 TUE 11-May-21 


Lewis, David M. 983105 WED 12-May-21 


Lewis, David M. 983105 THU 13-May-21 


Lewis, David M. 983105 FRI 14-May-21 


Lewis, David M. 983105 WED 19-May-21 


Lewis, David M. 983105 THU 20-May-21 


Lewis, David M. 983105 FRI 21-May-21 


Lewis, David M. 983105 SAT 22-May-21 


Lewis, David M. 983105 TUE 25-May-21 


Lewis, David M. 983105 WED 26-May-21 


Lewis, David M. 983105 THU 27-May-21 


Lewis, David M. 983105 FRI 28-May-21 


Lewis, David M. 983105 TUE 1-Jun-21 


Lewis, David M. 983105 WED 2-Jun-21 


Lewis, David M. 983105 THU 3-Jun-21 


Lewis, David M. 983105 FRI 4-Jun-21 


Lewis, David M. 983105 TUE 8-Jun-21 


Lewis, David M. 983105 WED 9-Jun-21 


Lewis, David M. 983105 THU 10-Jun-21 


Lewis, David M. 983105 FRI 11-Jun-21 


Lewis, David M. 983105 TUE 15-Jun-21 


Lewis, David M. 983105 WED 16-Jun-21 


Lewis, David M. 983105 THU 17-Jun-21 


Lewis, David M. 983105 FRI 18-Jun-21 


Lewis, David M. 983105 TUE 22-Jun-21 


Lewis, David M. 983105 WED 23-Jun-21 


Lewis, David M. 983105 THU 24-Jun-21 


Lewis, David M. 983105 FRI 25-Jun-21 


Lewis, David M. 983105 TUE 29-Jun-21 


EO0l Regular E002 Regular o, E002 Temp Swing OT 


9 


10 


10 


10 


10 


10 


10 


10 


10 


9.5 


10 


10 3.5 


10 


10 


10 


10 


10 


10 


10 


10 


8 


10 


10 


10 


7.5 


10 


10 


10 


H00l HST to TILO H00l Holiday Of L00l Sick Leave Used L00l Vac Used 


1 


10 


10 


10 


10 


2 


2.5 


0.5 


10 


Total 


10 


10 
10 
10 


10 


10 


10 


10 


10 


10 


10 


13.5 


10 


10 


10 


10 


10 


10 


10 


10 


10 


10 


10 


10 


10 


10 


10 


10 


10 


10 


10 


10 


10 







Lewis, David M. 983105 WED 30-Jun-21 8 2 10 


Lewis, David M. 983105 THU 1-Jul-21 10 10 


Lewis, David M. 983105 FRI 2-Jul-21 10 10 


Lewis, David M. 983105 MON 5-Jul-21 10 10 


Lewis, David M. 983105 TUE 6-Jul-21 10 10 


Lewis, David M. 983105 WED 7-Jul-21 10 1.5 1.5 13 


Lewis, David M. 983105 THU 8-Jul-21 10 10 


Lewis, David M. 983105 FRI 9-Jul-21 10 10 


Lewis, David M. 983105 TUE 13-Jul-21 7.5 2.5 10 


Lewis, David M. 983105 WED 14-Jul-21 10 10 


Lewis, David M. 983105 THU 15-Jul-21 10 10 


Lewis, David M. 983105 FRI 16-Jul-21 10 10 


Lewis, David M. 983105 TUE 20-Jul-21 10 10 


Lewis, David M. 983105 WED 21-Jul-21 7.5 2.5 10 


Lewis, David M. 983105 THU 22-Jul-21 10 10 


Lewis, David M. 983105 FRI 23-Jul-21 10 10 


Lewis, David M. 983105 TUE 27-Jul-21 10 10 


Lewis, David M. 983105 WED 28-Jul-21 10 10 


Lewis, David M. 983105 THU 29-Jul-21 10 10 


Lewis, David M. 983105 FRI 30-Jul-21 7.5 2.5 10 


Lewis, David M. 983105 TUE 3-Aug-21 10 10 


Lewis, David M. 983105 WED 4-Aug-21 10 10 


Lewis, David M. 983105 THU 5-Aug-21 10 10 


Lewis, David M. 983105 FRI 6-Aug-21 10 10 


Lewis, David M. 983105 TUE 10-Aug-21 10 10 


Lewis, David M. 983105 WED 11-Aug-21 4.5 5.5 10 


Lewis, David M. 983105 THU 12-Aug-21 10 10 


Lewis, David M. 983105 FRI 13-Aug-21 2 8 10 


Lewis, David M. 983105 TUE 17-Aug-21 10 10 


Lewis, David M. 983105 WED 18-Aug-21 10 10 


Lewis, David M. 983105 THU 19-Aug-21 10 10 


Lewis, David M. 983105 FRI 20-Aug-21 10 10 


Lewis, David M. 983105 TUE 24-Aug-21 10 10 


Lewis, David M. 983105 WED 25-Aug-21 6.5 3.5 10 







Lewis, David M. 


Lewis, David M. 


983105 THU 


983105 FRI 


26-Aug-21 


27-Aug-21 


10 


10 


10 


10 





		13. City of LV Motion to Dismiss

		14. Complainant's Opp to Respondent's MTD Gleed, Brooks IAFF Complaint

		18. Reply to Opp to Motion to Dismiss
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Marquis Aurbach 
Nick D. Crosby, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 8996 
10001 Park Run Drive 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145 
Telephone: (702) 382-0711 
Facsimile: (702) 382-5816 
ncrosby@maclaw.com 


Attorneys for Respondent 
 


GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEE-MANAGEMENT RELATIONS BOARD 


STATE OF NEVADA 


INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF 
FIREFIGHTERS LOCAL NO. 1265, 
 
    Complainant, 
 
 vs. 
 
CITY OF SPARKS, 
 
    Respondent. 
 


 
 
Case No.: 2022-016 
 


 
RESPONDENT CITY OF SPARKS’ MOTION TO DISMISS 


Respondent, the City of Sparks (the “City”), by and through its attorneys of record, Nick 


D. Crosby, Esq. of Marquis Aurbach, hereby files its Motion to Dismiss.   


I. INTRODUCTION 


The Complaint should be dismissed because the Complainant failed to timely file its 


complaint.  Indeed, Complainant was aware of the complained-of issues as early as February 


2022 and aware of the City’s position on the issues on March 8, 2022, yet it did not file its 


complaint until November.  Alternatively, the Complaint should be dismissed because the Parties 


have not exhausted their contractual remedies on the Complainant’s most recent grievance 


regarding the issue.  The Employee Management Relations Board (“Board”) has long held that 


parties are generally required to exhaust contractual remedies prior to seeking relief from the 


Board.  In this matter, the arbitration regarding the claims asserted in the Complaint has not 


occurred.  As such, the Complaint should be dismissed or, in the alternative and assuming the 


Board finds the complaint is timely, the action should be stayed pending the exhaustion of the 


Parties’ contractual process.   


FILED 
November 28, 2022 


State of Nevada 
E.M.R.B. 


1:26 p.m. 
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II. STATEMENT OF FACTS 


A. THE PARTIES. 


Complainant, International Association of Firefighters Local No. 1265 (“Union”) is an 


employee organization as defined in Nevada Revised Statute 288.040 and the recognized 


bargaining agent for firefighters, firefighter paramedics, fire apparatus operators, assistant fire 


marshals, fire prevention inspectors I, II and II, fire plans examiners/inspectors and fire captains 


for the City of Sparks.  The City is a local government employer as defined in Nevada Revised 


Statute 288.060.  The Union and the City are parties to a Collective Bargaining Agreement, 


effective July 1, 2021 through June 30, 2024, and on file with the Board.   


B. THE COMPLAINT. 


On November 9, 2022, the Union filed its Complaint with the Board.  In the Complaint, 


the Union alleges two claims for relief, to wit: (1) Mandatory Negotiation Under Nevada 


Revised Statute 288.150(1) and Nevada Administrative Code 288.100; and (2) Refusal to 


Bargain in Good Faith Pursuant to Nevada Revised Statute 288.150 and 288.270(1)(e).  The 


Union asserts that the City’s decision to acquire and staff an ambulance is a subject of mandatory 


bargaining and the City’s refusal to negotiate this issue is an unfair labor practice.   


C. THE GRIEVANCES AND ARBITRATION REQUEST.   


As stated in the Complaint, the Union lodged a grievance regarding the acquisition and 


staffing of an ambulance for the City.  (Compl., ¶ 20).  However, the grievance referenced in the 


Complaint is not the first grievance regarding this matter.  Specifically, the Union lodged a 


grievance regarding the ambulance staffing and desire to negotiate the same on February 8, 2022 


(“First Grievance”).  (Exhibit A).  The City responded to the First Grievance on March 8, 2022, 


which articulated inter alia the City’s position that it did not have to negotiate the issue.  


(Exhibit B).1  


The grievance referenced in the Complaint was received by the City on June 8, 2022 


(“Second Grievance”).  The City denied the Second Grievance and, thereafter, the Union 


1 The Union failed to timely advance the First Grievance to the next step in the grievance process.   
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advanced the Second Grievance to the next step in the negotiated grievance process.  (Compl. at 


¶ 21). On August 3, 2022, the City denied the Second Grievance.  (Id.)  Notably omitted from the 


Complaint is the fact that Union requested arbitration on the Second Grievance on August 24, 


2022.  As of the date of this filing, the Union has not requested a list of arbitrators from Federal 


Mediation and Conciliation Services (“FMCS”), as required under the CBA.   


III. LEGAL ARGUMENT 


A. THE UNION FAILED TO TIMELY FILE ITS COMPLAINT. 


The Union failed to timely file the instant Complaint and, therefore, the Board should 


dismiss the same.  Nevada Revised Statute 288.110(4) provides that “[t]he Board may not 


consider any complaint or appeal filed more than 6 months after the occurrence which is the 


subject of the complaint or appeal.”  Nev. Rev. Stat. 288.110(4); see also, Mann v. Clark Cnty. 


Sch. Dist., Case No. A1-045969, Item No. 721E *2 (Jan. 24. 2011); Frabbiele v. City of North 


Las Vegas, Case No. A1-045929, Item No. 680F *1 (Feb. 1, 2010)(“Regardless of the merits of 


an underlying case, this Board, by statute, may not decide a case that falls outside of the six-


month statute of limitations of NRS 288.110(4).”). 


In the instant matter, the Union lodged the First Grievance regarding the contested issue 


on February 8, 2022.  (Ex. A).  In the First Grievance, the Union argued the City violated 


Nevada Revised Statute 288.150 by refusing to negotiate the ambulance staffing issue.  (Id.)  The 


First Grievance was denied on March 8, 2022.  (Ex. B).  Thus, the outer-most date for 


calculating the commencement of the six-month statute of limitations under Nevada Revised 


Statute 288.110(4) would be the March 8, 2022 date, though the accurate date is January 14, 


2022 – the date identified in the First Grievance as to when the Union was advised of the City’s 


position regarding negotiations.  (See Ex. A).2  Regardless, under either date, the Union failed to 


timely file its Complaint, as the latest date it could have filed the Complaint would have been 


September 9, 2022.  The Union did not file its Complaint until November 9, 2022 – more than 


two months after the expiration of the most generously calculated statute of limitations.   


 
2 The First Grievance actually lists January 14, 2021, but it is believed this was typographical error. 
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B. EVEN IF THE COMPLAINT IS TIMELY, IT SHOULD BE DISMISSED 


BECAUSE THE UNION FAILED TO EXHAUST ITS CONTRACTUAL 
REMEDIES. 


Assuming the Board concludes the Union’s Complaint was timely filed, dismissal is 


nonetheless warranted because the Union has not exhausted its contractual remedies.  Nevada 


Administrative Code 288.375 states, in relevant part: 


NAC 288.375  Dismissal of matter. (NRS 288.110)  The Board may dismiss a 
matter for any of the following reasons: 


     … 


     2.  Unless there is a clear showing of special circumstances or extreme 
prejudice, if the parties have not exhausted their contractual remedies, including 
all rights to arbitration. 


… 


NAC 288.375(s).  For decades the Board has held that it will generally defer to arbitration 


proceedings and its practice is to stay matters pending in the arbitration process.  City of Reno v. 


Reno Police Protective Ass’n, 118 Nev. 889, 895, 59 P.3d 1212, 1217 (2002); Int’l Ass’n of Fire 


Fighters, Local 2955 v. Reno-Tahoe Airport Auth., 2020 WL 12674181 *1, n. 1, Case No. 2020-


012, Item No. 864-A) (“…The Board has repeatedly emphasized that the preferred method for 


resolving disputes is through the bargained-for processes, and the Board applies NAC 288.375 


liberally to effectuate that purpose”). See also NAC 288.040; see also, e.g., Ed. Support 


Employees Ass’n v. Clark County Sch. Dist., Case No. A1-045509, Item No. 288 (1992); Int’l 


Union of Operating Engineers, Stationary Local 39 v. City of Reno, Case No. A1-045567, Item 


No. 395 (1996); Nevada Serv. Employees Union v. Clark Cty., Case No. A1-045759, Item No. 


540 (2003); Carpenter vs. Vassiliadis, Case No. A1-045773, Item No. 562E (2005); Las Vegas 


Police Protective Ass’n Metro, Inc. v. Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Dep’t, Case No. A1-


045783, Item No. 578 (2004); Saavedra v. City of Las Vegas, Case No. A1-045911, Item No. 


664 (2007); Int’l Ass’n of Firefighters, Local 731 v. City of Reno, Case No. A1-045918, Item No. 


670 (2008); Boykin v. City of North Las Vegas, Case No. A1-045921, Item No. 674B (2008); Las 


Vegas City Employees’ Ass’n v. City of Las Vegas, Case No. A1-045940, Item No. 691 (2008); 


Wilson v. North Las Vegas Police Dep’t, Case No. A1-045925, Item No. 677D (2009); 
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Rosenberg v. The City of North Las Vegas, Case No. A1-045951 (2009); Storey County 


Firefighters Ass’n, IAAF Local 4226 v. Storey County, Case No. A1-045979 (2010); Jessie Gray 


Jr. v. Clark County School Dist., Case No. A1-046015, Item No. 758 (2011); Las Vegas 


Metropolitan Police Dep’t v. Las Vegas Police Protective Ass’n, Inc., Case No. 2018-017 


(2018); County of Clark, Nev. v. Int’l Ass’n of Fire Fighters, Local 1908, Case No. 2017-033 


(2018)”).   


As this Board is aware, the Parties’ employment relationship is governed by a Collective 


Bargaining Agreement, which contains an agreed-upon process for the adjudication of 


grievances.3  The Union requested arbitration regarding the negotiation of the issues surrounding 


the acquisition and staffing of an ambulance in the Second Grievance.  However, despite 


requesting arbitration nearly three months ago, the Union has not requested a list of arbitrators 


from FMCS; which is a requirement of the requesting party under the CBA.  Pursuant to NAC 


288.375(2), the City moves to dismiss the Complaint due to the Union’s failure to exhaust its 


contractual remedies.  Alternatively, and consistent with the practice of the Board, the City 


requests the matter be stayed pending exhaustion of the contractual remedies. 


IV. CONCLUSION  


Given the foregoing, the City respectfully requests the Board dismiss the Complaint or, in 


the alternative, stay the matter pending the outcome of the arbitration (exhaustion of contractual 


remedies).     


Dated this 28th day of November, 2022. 


MARQUIS AURBACH 


By  s/ Nick D. Crosby, Esq.  
Nick D. Crosby, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 8996 
10001 Park Run Drive 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145 
Attorney(s) for Respondent   


3 A copy of the Parties’ CBA is on file with the Board. 
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CERTIFICATE OF MAILING 


I hereby certify that on the 28th day of November, 2022, I served a copy of the foregoing 


RESPONDENT CITY OF SPARKS’ MOTION TO DISMISS upon each of the parties by 


depositing a copy of the same in a sealed envelope in the United States Mail, Las Vegas, Nevada, 


First-Class Postage fully prepaid, and addressed to: 


Devon T. Reese, Esq. 
Alex R. Velto, Esq. 
Russell J. Carr, Esq. 


HUTCHISON & STEFFEN, PLLC 
5371 Kietzke Lane 
Reno, NV 89511 


Attorney for Complainant 
 
and that there is a regular communication by mail between the place of mailing and the place(s) 


so addressed. 


 
 
 


s/Sherri Mong      
an employee of Marquis Aurbach 







Exhibit A 







To:I Chief Reid 


Rank: I FAO 


SPARKS FIREFIGHTERS LOCAL 1265 
GRIEVANCE FORM 


I From (First and Last Name): I Jarrod Stewart 


I Battalion: IA I 
Grievance occurred at (location): I Station 1 ~-....'.......!::=====;-----------;;:::::::::======,--....J 
Grievance occurred on:I 1/14/21 I Notice of grievance given to Union on: I 1/14/21 


(Must be within 20 days of grievance) .__---,..-_-_-_-_-.::;.::;: __ ___, 


As a violation of the current contract between the City of Sparks and Firefighters Local 1265 and/orl NRS 288, etc. 
Psst practice, Admin Rule, SOP ... etc) 


Explain Grievance, including supporting evidence: 


Please see attached supporting documents. 


Suggested Correction: 


Please see attached supporting documents. 


Signature of Union Official: Signature of Grievant: 


Step 1: Date Submitted; 2..- 15 _ 2.,. "'2-- Received by: I °3'l l)\\_ Q:;: 1b (/ 
Aggrieved firefighter satisfaction? 0 Yes O No ,;:;77~ ~ 


Step 2: Date Submitted:! .... ______ __,!Received by: .__ _________________ --1 
Aggrieved firefighter satisfaction? 0 Yes O No 


Step a: Oat!:: Subrnitted: .... l _~ ____ __,IRec;eive!'.l tiy: I 
Aggrieved firefighter satisfaction? 0 Yes 0 ........ N .... o _________________ -1 


Step 4: Date Submitted: .._l _ __,~---,-....,,..--....JIReceived by: '----------------------1 
A~grieved firefighter satisfaction? 0 Yes O No 


Rev 1/21 







Local 1265 Sparks Firefighters 
P.O. BoxR 


Sparks, NV 89432 


VIA personal servic.e and mail 


Chief Jim Reid 
Sparks Fire Department 
1605 Victorian Ave. 
Sparks, Nevada 89431 


RE: Grievance 


Dear Chief Reid, 


February 6, 2022 


Please accept this letter as grievance challenging your proposal to "meet and confer" with 
local 1265 regarding ambulance staffing on 1/14/21. We understand that you intend that 
"meeting and conferring" with Local 1265 is an obligation, and we disagree that doing so 
waives any obligation to negotiate with us regarding changes in working conditions. We 
respectfully present the following argument to support the violation of our contracti as 
well as our rights provided by NRS. Within this grievance we intend to demonstrate a 
pattern of refusal to negotiate over changes to working conditions in regard to those 
rights provided by NRS 288 and shows a malicious violation of the Local's CBA and 
demand that negations be opened with Local 1265: 


During the meeting on 1/14/21 you proposed that you should meet and confer with Local 
1265 on your intent to provide ambulance services including but not limited to: staffing 
ambulances, transporting patients and utilizing ambulances as emergency cover. Local 
1265 attempted to amicably propose a method for staffing ambulances. You refused to 
accept in hand or discuss said proposal and informed President Jackson that you are not 
negotiating. You provided President Jackson a document which reads "Normal daily 
staffing of a two (2) person vehicle will be a firefighter/paramedic and any other rank 
(firefighter, firefighter/paramedic, fire apparatus operator, captain). Emergency staffing 
of a two (2) person vehicle will consist of any rank to fill the positions." 


With these facts in mind, it is impossible to deny that regardless of the rights of 
management, the preponderance of evidence and continuing pattern that is evident, make 
it clear that the City of Sparks and the Sparks Fire Department are in direct violation of 
the following Articles of the current 2021-2024 Local 1265 Agreement and NRS the 
basis of which this grievance is filed: 







Local 1265 Agreement 2021-2024 


NRS 


• Article A - It is the intent and purpose of the Agreement to ensure sound 
and mutually beneficial working and economic relationships between the 
parties hereto, and to provide an orderly and peaceful means of resolving 
any misunderstandings or differences which may arise. It is recognized by 
both the City and the Firefighters and its member employees that the City 
is engaged in rendering public service to the general public and that there 
is an obligation on each party for the continuous rendition and availability 
of such services. It is further recognized by both the City and the 
Firefighters that each party has a mutual obligation for executing the 
provisions of this contract. 


• Artigl~ 0 (2) - Normal 4aily s.taffing will be th.me (3) penmnn~l Pn "Ty~ 
I'' structure engines, "Type III" brush trucks, and aerial devices. 


• Article G (3) - The normal daily complement of personnel will be a 
Captain, F AO, and Firefighter Paramedic or Firefighter on structure 
engines, brush trucks, and aerial devices. 


• Article G (5) - When emergency staffing is needed, the Shift Commander 
or designee, may use personnel of any rank so long as the normal staffing 
of personnel, as outlined in Section 1, Article G is maintained, and the 
personnel are qualified to perform in the positions needed. 


• Article G (9) - When staffing falls below the minimums outlined in 
Section 1, Article G, the apparatus will be placed "out of service" with 
Dispatch (CAD). The Shift Commander will either redistribute the 
remaining personnel to other apparatus, or send an apparatus to cover the 
Y~9~nt dis.trict, or have the remaining pe:rnmmel rns.pPnd tq ingid~nts. to 
provide manpower with the "in-service" responding apparatus. 


• Article H (3 )(a) - Appropriate staffing levels and work performance 
standards, except for safety considerations; 


• Article H (7) - To have and use any of the additional rights reserved to the 
City as a local government employer by NRS288.150. 


• NRS 288.150 - Negotiations by employer with recognized employee 
organization: Subjects of mandatory bargaining; matters reserved to 
employer without negotiation; reopening of collective bargaining 







agreement during period of fiscal emergency; termination or reassignment 
of employees of certain schools. 


• NRS 288.150 (1) - Except as otherwise provided in subsection 5 and NRS 
354.6241, every local government employer shall negotiate in good faith 
through one or more representatives of its own choosing concerning the 
mandatory subjects of bargaining set forth in subsection 2 with the 
designated representatives of the recognized employee organization, if 
any, for each appropriate bargaining unit among its employees. If either 
party so requests, agreements reached must be reduced to writing. 


• NRS 288.150 (3)(c) - The right to determine: Appropriate staffing levels 
and work performance standards, except for safety considerations 


The resolution to this grievance is as follows: 


• The Sparks Firefighters Local 1265 demands that the Sparks Fire 
Department administration as well as the City of Sparks, agrees to open 
negotiations that are mandated via NRS 288 in order to change the 
working conditions for Local 1265. 


Local 1265 has diligently attempted to care for the citizens of Sparks through Labor­
Management relations which currently is amicable in a single direction. The failures of 
the administrators to properly negotiate changes to working conditions and/or safety 
issues :regarding staffing to maintain service within Sparks as well as meeting the 
obligations of Mutual Aid Agreements, has unfairly put a burden on the members of 
Local 1265. 


Sincerely, 


Jarrod Stewart 
Local 1265 Vice President 


cc: Devon T.Reese(dreese@rkglawyers.com) 
City of Sparks 
Darren Jackson 







Exhibit B 







Jarrod Stewart 
IAFF, Local 1265 
POBoxR 
Sparks, NV 89432 


Via email and paper copy 


RE: February 8, 2022. Grievance 
Ambulance Staffing Meeting 


Dear Mr. Stewart: 


SPARKS FIRE DEPARTMENT 
FIRE CHIEF 


Jim Reid 


March 8, 2022 


This letter is the City's Response, in accordance with Step 1 of Section 1, Article L of the collective 
bargaining agreement between the City and IAFF, Local 1265 ("Local 1265") (the "CBA"), to Local 1265's 
February 8, 2022, Grievance (the "Grievance"). Having reviewed the issues and arguments presented, I am 
writing to notify you that the Grievance is denied for the following reasons: 


1. The City Is Not Required to Re-open the Existing CBA Mid-term to Negotiate How It Will 
Staff Ambulances in the Future. 


On January 14, 2022, in accordance with Section 1, Article G(6) of the CBA, the City 
met with Local 1265 to confer about the potential addition of ambulances to the Fire 
Department's (the "Department") fleet of apparatuses. At the meeting, Local 1265 demanded 
that the City negotiate staffing for the proposed ambulances. The City refused; noting that 
although it is required to confer with Local 1265 before implementing any changes related to 
staffing ambulances, staffing decisions are a management right under the CBA and not subject to 
negotiation. Additionally, the City stated that it would not agree to waive its staffing rights 
under the CBA by engaging in negotiations concerning the staffing of ambulances. 


Local 1265 now grieves the City's January 14th refusal to negotiate how ambulances will 
be staffed in the future, alleging that the City violated the CBA by refusing to negotiate over 
changes to working conditions. Based on the tenor of the Grievance, the City assumes Local 
1265's allegation refers to the City's refusal to negotiate its staffing decisions related to 
ambulances; should it purchase an ambulance in the future. That said, the exact conduct being 
grieved and the basis for the grievance is not clear on the face of the Grievance. Because the 


Headquarters: 1605 Victorian Avenue• Sparks, Nevada 89431-4895 • (775) 353-2255 • FAX (775) 353-2424 
Prevention Bureau: 1605 Victorian Avenue• Sparks, Nevada 89431 • (775) 353-2266 • FAX (775) 353-2396 







SPARKS FIRE DEPARTMENT 
FIRE CHIEF 


Jim Reid 


exact conduct being challenged and the basis for said challenge is not clear in the Grievance, I 
will address each potential claim, based on my reading of the Grievance, in tum: 


a. There Is No Statutory Duty Requiring the City to Negotiate How It Will Staff 
Ambulances in the Future. 


Assuming Local 1265's Grievance relates to the City's refusal to negotiate potential 
staffing decisions related to the incorporation of ambulances into the Department's fleet of 
vehicles, the Grievance is denied. The Grievance is denied because the City has no statutory 
duty to negotiate its staffing decisions with Local 1265. Pursuant to NRS 288.150(3)(c), a public 
employer has the absolute right to determine appropriate staffing levels, work performance 
standards, workload factors, the quality and quantity of services provided to the public, and the 
means and methods for offering services to the public are all the exclusive rights of management. 
How the City staffs one of the Department's ambulances, should the Department acquire an 
ambulance, falls squarely within the preview of these management rights. Accordingly, staffing 
decisions are not a mandatory subject of bargaining under NRS 288.150(2) which require 
negotiation before implementation. 


Based on the foregoing, if the City decides to add an ambulance to the Department's fleet 
during the term of the CBA, it is under no obligation to open its CBA, in the middle of the 
current three (3) year term, to negotiate how it will staff an ambulance. As such, the City will not 
agree to open the CBA to negotiate staffing decisions concerning the addition of an ambulance to 
the Department's fleet. 


b. The Grievance Is Denied to the Extent it Alleges a Contractual Violation of Section 
1, Articles A, G, or Hof the CBA. 


The Grievance seems to allege that the City violated several provisions contained in 
Section 1, Article G of the CBA. However, Local 1265 presents no evidence or allegations 
establishing how or when the City allegedly violated any of the referenced provisions of Article 
G. As such, there is not enough information included in the Grievance for the City to determine 
whether it has violated any of the provisions of Section 1, Article G by meeting with Local 1265 
on January 14, 2022. Because the Grievance fails to identify a single violation of Article G, as 
far as it relates to an alleged violation of Section 1, Article G, the Grievance is denied. 


Similarly, the Grievance alleges that the City also violated Section 1, Articles A and H, 
but fails to identify when and how such violations occurred. Therefore, the Grievance fails to 
provide enough information to identify a single violation of the cited provisions. Accordingly, to 
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SPARKS FIRE DEPARTMENT 
FIRE CHIEF 


Jim Reid 


the extent that it relates to alleged violations of Section 1, Articles A and H, the Grievance is also 
denied. 


c. There is No Contractual Duty Requiring the City to Negotiate How It Will Staff 
Ambulances in the Future. 


Again, the language of the Grievance is unclear. However, to the extent that Local 1265 
alleges that the City is required to negotiate staffing decisions related to staffing future 
ambulances based on safety considerations, this argument is unpersuasive. The argument is 
unpersuasive because Local 1265 has already waived any right it may have to negotiate safety 
concerns related to staffing "other apparatuses," such as ambulances, for the term of the current 
CBA. 


Specifically, the City and Local 1265 have already agreed that the City may, at its 
discretion, (A) add ambulances to its list of operating apparatus in the Department, and (B) 
decide how such apparatuses will be staffed. See Section 1, Articles: G(l), G(6). Furthermore, 
Local 1265 has also expressly agreed that such staffing decisions are a management right under 
the CBA. See H(l), H(3)(a)-(d). The terms of the current CBA clearly establish that (1) Local 
1265 negotiated minimum staffing levels, presumably based on safety considerations, for several 
types of apparatuses, and (2) agreed that for all other apparatuses, which were not specifically 
enumerated under the CBA as requiring minimum staffing levels, the City may staff the 
apparatuses at its discretion. See Section 1, Article G(6). Accordingly, as an ambulance is not 
an apparatus recognized for minimum staffing levels under the CBA, should the City decide to 
add ambulances to its fleet, it may staff them at its discretion - without negotiating with Local 
1265. Because the parties have already agreed that the City has the authority to add new 
apparatuses - like ambulances - to its fleet, and to staff those apparatuses as it deems fit, the City 
is not required to open the CBA for negotiation if and when it decides to add ambulances to its 
fleet or when it makes related staffing decisions. 


While the City appreciates that Local 1265 would like to negotiate the issue of staffing 
ambulances now, in anticipation of the addition of ambulances to the Department's fleet in the 
future, it will not agree to waive its rights to staff these vehicles at its discretion in accordance 
with the terms of Section 1, Articles G and Hof the CBA. Additionally, the City will not consent 
to opening the CBA for negotiation in the middle of its three (3) year term when the conduct at 
issue has already been negotiated into the CBA. · 
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2. The Grievance Is Premature 


SPARKS FIRE DEPARTMENT 
FIRE CHIEF 


Jim Reid 


The Grievance is also denied because it is premature. In addition to alleging that the City 
violated the CBA and NRS by refusing to negotiate staffing terms for future ambulances, Local 
1265 also seems to argue that the City's plan to purchase ambulances in the future has violated 
the CBA by changing the working conditions and/or created safety issues related to maintaining 
staffing levels in the Department. 


These allegations are entirely speculative, and therefore, not suitable for review. At this 
time, as the City has not purchased an ambulance, let alone implemented a staffing decision that 
has impacted the working conditions or safety considerations in the Department. Accordingly, at 
this time, no employee subject to the CBA has been aggrieved by any conduct on the part of the 
City. Therefore, Section 1, Article Lis inapplicable as a grievance may only be triggered if and 
when an employee is aggrieved by the City's conduct. As no one could possibly have been 
aggrieved here, as the City has yet to take any action, there is no basis for bringing a grievance at 
this time. 


Based on the foregoing the Grievance is denied. If you have any questions or concerns regarding this 
Response, please feel free to contact me to discuss your questions and/or concerns. 


Sincerely, 


Xff 
Fire Chief 
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Alex R. Velto, Esq. (14961) 
Russell J. CatT, Esq. (15191) 
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FILED 
December 20, 2022 


State of Nevada 
E.M.R.B. 


1:48 p.m. 


BEFORE THE STATE OF NEV ADA 


EMPLOYEE-MANAGEMENT RELATIONS BOARD 


INTERNATIONAL ASSOCATION OF 
13 FIREFIGHTERS LOCAL NO. 1265 


14 


15 


16 


17 


18 


19 


20 


Complainant, 


V. 


CITY OF SPARKS, 


Respondent. 


Case No.: 2022-016 


Panel: 


OPPOSITION TO RESPONDENT CITY 
OF SPARKS' MOTION TO DISMISS 


21 The International Association of Firefighters Local No. 1265 (the "Sparks Firefighters 


22 Association"), by and through the undersigned counsel of record with Hutchison & Steffen, 


23 PLLC, hereby files this Opposition to Respondent City of Sparks' (the "City") Motion to 


24 Dismiss. Based on the foregoing, the Employee-Management Relations Board (the "Board") 


25 should deny the City's Motion to Dismiss. 


26 INTRODUCTiON 


27 Respectfully, the Motion to Dismiss must be denied. At issue in this complaint is the 


28 City's decision to require Firefighters to staff ambulances- without bargaining-even though 
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1 the CBA is entirely silent as to the provision of ambulance services. The City sets forth two 


2 legal bases in its Motion to Dismiss. Respectfully, both are meritless. 


3 First, the City of Sparks argues that the complaint is time baned under the sixth-month 


4 period established by NRS 288.110(4). This is false, however, because the Sparks Firefighters 


5 Association has alleged a continuing violation of employment practices under NRS Chapter 280. 


6 Most notably, the City has refused to negotiate on mandatory bargaining subjects as defined by 


7 NRS 288.150(2). A refusal to negotiate on a mandatory bargaining subject constitutes a per se 


8 violation ofNRS 288.270(e). As of the date of this opposition, no bargaining has occmTed, and 


9 therefore a continuing violation exists such that NRS 288.110( 4) does not apply. Thus, because 


10 this is a continuing violation (that will occur well into the future) this complaint is timely. 


11 Second, the City of Sparks argues that the complaint should be dismissed because the 


12 Sparks Firefighters Association failed to exhaust the grievance procedure, which is required by 


13 NAC 288.375. Notably, the City argues that arbitration is necessary. This, too, is false. The 


14 exhaustion of grievance procedures, including arbitration, is necessary only when the dispute 


15 arises out of the Collective Bargaining Agreement ("CBA"). Here, the CBA is entirely silent as 


16 to the provision of ambulance services. Thus, the Sparks Firefighters Association need not 


17 complete arbitration before seeking relief with this Board. 


18 For both these reasons, the Board should deny the City's Motion to Dismiss. 


19 FACTS 


20 The City of Sparks and the Sparks Firefighters Association are parties to a CBA as 


21 defined by NRS 288.505. The CBA is titled "Agreement Between the City of Sparks and The 


22 International Association of Firefighters Local No. 1265" and is binding from July 1, 2021, 


23 through June 30, 2024. Notably, no provision of the CBA discusses the provision of ambulance 


24 services. Sparks Firefighters have not operated ambulances for the last several decades. 


25 In 2022, however, the City of Sparks decided that it would begin to operate ambulances 


26 and that Firefighters would staff them. On Apr. 25, 2022, the Sparks City Manager submitted 


27 the City Manager's FY23 Final Budget Recommendations to the Sparks City Council. One 


28 recommendation is for "Six (6) firefighter paramedics to staff a 2[-]person ambulance/rescue, 
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1 24/7." See Exhibit 1 (containing the budget recommendations). The budget recommendations 


2 justify the funding request by stating, 


3 


4 


5 


6 


7 


8 


9 


10 


11 See Exhibit 1. 


The needs of the region are changing rapidly. The current 
transpmting agency for the region is not fullfilling [sic] the 
requirements of the contract. The requested 6 personnel would be 
dedicated to staffing an ambulance/rescue in the City 24/7 to make 
sure our residents have timely access to a medical transportation 
unit, when needed. These same personnel could also assist other 
agencies in the region when a large incident occurs and mutual aid 
is requested. This type of request would go hand in hand with the 
current agreements already in place for the fire departments in the 
region. Sending a smaller medical type unit would also cut down 
on the wear and tear of our current dispatch model of sending a large 
fire appartus [sic] to eve1y medical incident. 


12 On May 23, 2022, the Sparks City Council approved $212,580.00 in funding to purchase 


13 an ambulance for the Fire Department. In approving this purchase, the Sparks City Council 


14 opined, "The purchase of this vehicle will give the Fire Depaitment an opportunity to respond to 


15 911 medical requests with a more practical vehicle than a large fire engine. Responding with an 


16 appropriate vehicle to an emergency medical services (EMS) incident should reduce wear and 


17 tear on the larger apparatus, prolonging their life span and reducing fuel costs." 


18 Despite the foregoing, no negotiations occmTed to allow this significant change in work 


19 conditions. To remedy this, the Sparks Firefighters Association submitted a request to negotiate 


20 the changed conditions on May 24, 2022. The City of Sparks denied the request to negotiate, 


21 arguing that, "Section 1, A1ticle G(l) of the CBA provides the Fire Chief or designee the 


22 authority to 'dete1mine the number and type of apparatus in-service at any given time."' Yet, 


23 the ve1y next subsection of the CBA provides definitions stating that "[n]ormal daily staffing 


24 will be three (3) personnel on 'Type 1' structure engines, 'Type III' brush trucks, and aerial 


25 devices." See CBA, A1ticle G(2). Thus, reading the CBA's provisions in context, it clearly does 


26 not contemplate that Firefighters will operate ambulances. 


27 As of the date of this opposition, the City has refused to negotiate in good faith. NRS 


28 288.150(1), however, requires mandatory bargaining if the subject involves wages, vacation 
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1 time, sick leave, the safety of the employee, or the methods used to classify employees. The 


2 City's decision to use Firefighters to operate ambulances invokes all these subjects. Thus, the 


3 Sparks Firefighters Association submits that mandatory bargaining is necessary. Accordingly, 


4 it filed a complaint with this Board. 


5 ARGUMENT 


6 


7 


8 


9 


10 


11 


12 


13 


14 


15 


16 


17 


18 


19 


20 


21 


22 


23 


24 


25 


26 


27 


28 


I. The six-month statute of limitations period under NRS 288.110(4) does not 
require dismissal because of continuing violations of employment practices 


The City's Motion to Dismiss first relies on NRS 288.110(4) to argue that the Sparks 


Firefighters Association has not timely filed its complaint with the Board. The City alleges that 


the claim tolled on Sept. 9, 2022, because that was six months after the Sparks Firefighters 


Association's first grievance was denied. This argument ignores that: (1) the City's decision to 


require Firefighters to staff ambulances invoked the mandatory bargaining provisions under NRS 


288.150(1); (2) the City has never bargained with the Firefighters to address the mandatory 


bargaining provisions; and (3) the City plans to staff ambulances until at least 2025. In other 


words, the City fails to acknowledge that this is a prohibited labor practice that is continuing. 


Because this violation is continuing, the Board should deny the City's Motion to Dismiss. 


It is undisputed that NRS 288.110(4) states that a complaint to the Board must be filed 


within "6 months after the occurrence which is the subject of the complaint or appeal." However, 


"events occmring outside the limitations period may be considered as a basis for the claim so 


long as those events are part of an ongoing unlawful employment practice." Draper v. Coeur 


Rochester, Inc., 147 F.3d 1104, 1107 (9th Cir. 1998) (citing Green v. Los Angeles Cty. 


Superintendent, 883 F.2d 1472, 1475 (9th Cir.1989)); see also City of Reno v. Reno Police 


Protective Ass'n, 118 Nev. 889, 896, 59 P.3d 1212, 1217 (2002) ("[I]t is proper to look toward 


the NLRB for guidance on issues involving the EMRB."). 


In the context of the National Labor Relations Board, the Supreme Comi of the United 


States set fo1ih the standard for the continuing violation doctrine. See Local Lodge No. 1424, 


Int'! Ass'n of Machinists v. NL.R.B ("Bryan Manufacturing"), 362 U.S. 411, 416-17 (1960). In 


that case, the Supreme Court set forth two situations in which the continuing violation doctrine 


might be applied: 
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The first [situation] is one where occurrences within the six­
month limitations period in and of themselves may constitute, as a 
substantive matter, unfair labor practices. There, earlier events may 
be utilized to shed light on the true character of matters occun-ing 
within the limitations period; and for that purpose [the federal 
counterpart to NRS 288.110(4)] ordinarily does not bar such 
evidentiaiy use of anterior events. 


The second situation is that where conduct occurring within the 
limitations period can be charged to be an unfair labor practice only 
through reliance on an earlier unfair labor practice. There the use of 
the earlier unfair labor practice is not merely 'evidentiaiy ,' since it 
does not simply lay bare a putative cun-ent unfair labor practice. 
Rather, it serves to cloak with illegality that which was otherwise 
lawful. And where a complaint based upon that earlier event is time­
ban-ed, to permit the event itself to be so used in effect results in 
reviving a legally defunct unfair labor practice. 


Id. (footnote omitted) (holding that the second situation requires dismissal). 


Here, the facts are much closer to the first situation set forth by Bryan Manufacturing 


(i.e., unfair labor practices still exist). As alleged in the complaint, the City has an obligation 


under NRS 288.150(1) "to negotiate in good faith through one or more representatives of its own 


choosing concerning the mandatory subjects of bargaining set forth in [NRS 288.150(2)] with 


the designated representatives of the recognized employee organization, if any, for each 


appropriate bargaining unit among its employees." For instance, mandat01y bargaining is 


required where there is a change in work conditions involving salary or wage rates, sick leave, 


or vacation leave. NRS 288.150(2)(a)-(c). Further, mandatory bargaining is required if the local 


government employer changes "[t]he method used to classify employees in the bargaining unit." 


NRS 288.150(k). Finally, mandatory bargaining occurs where the local government employer 


changes work conditions that affect "the safety of the employee." NRS 288.150(2)(d). 


The City's plan to staff ambulances with Firefighters requires mandatory bargaining to 


address: (1) the salaiy or wage rates for Firefighters that are assigned to ambulances; (2) the sick 


and vacation leave for Firefighters that staff ambulances; (3) how firefighters are classified to 


staff ambulances; and (4) most imp01iantly, the safety precautions that will be available to 


Firefighters. No provision of the CBA addresses these concerns. Most prominently, no 
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1 provision of the CBA addresses training for Firefighters to avoid COVID-19 exposure, infectious 


2 diseases, or blood-borne illnesses as they operate the ambulances. No provision of the CBA 


3 addresses what occurs if a Firefighter becomes ill while operating an ambulance. These concerns 


4 and considerations are paramount to the safety of the Firefighters. Until and unless these 


5 concerns are addressed, there will be a violation of the mandatory bargaining provisions ofNRS 


6 288.150(1). 1 Thus, as articulated in Bryan Manufacturing, this is an unfair labor practice that 


7 still exists. See 362 U.S. at 416-17. The past occurrences pe1iaining to this issue merely "shed 


8 light on the true character of matters occurring within the limitations period." Id. 


· 9 Moreover, the City Manager set forth budget recommendations-for the fiscal years 


10 2023 to 2025-to require "Six (6) firefighter paramedics to staff a 2 person ambulance/rescue, 


11 24/7." See Exhibit 1 (containing the City Manager's budget recommendations). Thus, this 


12 violation is anticipated to continue into at least 2025. As of the date of this opposition, no 


13 mandato1y bargaining has occuned on this issue. Thus, as alleged in the complaint, this is a 


14 continuing violation of the Sparks Firefighters Association's rights under NRS Chapter 288. 


15 Specifically, one prohibited employment practice includes the "[r]efus[al] to bargain collectively 


16 in good faith with the exclusive representative as required in NRS 288.150." See NRS 


17 288.270(e). As alleged in the complaint, the City has refused to negotiate on this issue in good 


18 faith. 2 Because this violation will continue until at least 2025, the Board should deny the City's 


19 Motion to Dismiss.3 


20 


21 


22 


23 


24 


25 


26 


27 


28 


1See Washoe Cty. Teachers Ass 'n v. Washoe Cty. Sch. Dist., No. Al-045297, Item No. 56 (Aug. 
4, 1976) (holding that unsafe work conditions are subject to mandatory bargaining); see also 
Carson City Firefighters Ass 'n v. Carson City, No. Al-045S6T, Item No. 345 (Nov. 29, 1994) 
(holding that Carson City's decision to staff a HAZMAT crew with Firefighters invoked 
mandatory bargaining for safety concerns and wages). 


2A refusal to negotiate on a mandatory subject constitutes a "per se" violation ofNRS 288.270. 
See Carson City Firefighters, Item No. 345 ( citing Mineral Cty Pub. Safety Dispatchers Ass 'n 
v. Board ofCty. Comm 'rs of Mineral Cty., No. Al-045482, Item No. 265 (1991)). 


3"Where the challenged violation is a continuing one, the staleness concern [that underlies the 
policy for a statute oflimitations] disappears." Havens Realty Corp. v. Coleman, 455 U.S. 363, 
380 (1982). 
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II. The Sparks Firefighters Association need not exhaust grievance procedures, 
including arbitration, because this issue is outside the scope of the CBA 


The City next argues that the complaint must be dismissed because the Sparks 


Firefighters Association did not exhaust its remedies under the CBA. Specifically, the City 


argues that the Sparks Firefighters Association is required to complete arbitration before filing 


with the Board. It cites NAC 288.375 to support its argument. Respectfully, the City's position 


is mistaken because the CBA omits any language addressing ambulances. 


A collective bargaining agreement is a contract. E.g., Martel v. HG Staffing, LLC, 138 


Nev., Adv. Op. 56, 515 P.3d 318, 324 (2022). "The purpose of contract interpretation is to 


determine the parties' intent when they entered into the contract." Century Sur. Co. v. Casino 


W, Inc., 130 Nev. 395,398,329 P.3d 614,616 (2014). "[A]rbitration is ... a creature of contract 


and a court cannot call for arbitration of matters outside of the scope of the arbitration clause." 


Rite Aid of Pennsylvania, Inc. v. United Food & Com. Workers Union, Loe. 1776, 595 F.3d 128, 


131 (3d Cir. 2010) (internal quotation marks omitted). "[A] grievance is excluded from 


arbitration unless it arises from a specific provision in the agreement." Id. at 132. The Supreme 


Court of the United States has explained that the presumption in favor of arbitrability does not 


apply if the dispute "falls outside the scope of the parties' arbitration clause." Granite Rock Co. 


v. Int'! Bhd. ofTeamsters, 561 U.S. 287, 307 (2010). 


Here, the arbitration clause broadly applies to "disputes concerning the interpretation and 


application of this agreement." See CBA Ali. L(l) (emphasis added). "If the grievance is not 


settled at Step 2, the grievance shall be submitted to arbitration within twenty (20) working days 


by either of the pmiies upon written notice to the other pmiy." See CBA Ali. L( 4)(c). Additional 


arbitration procedures, which are not relevant to the instant analysis, are established in the CBA. 


See CBA A1i. L(5). 


As alleged in the complaint, no provision of the CBA mentions the word "ambulance." 


In fact, the CBA is entirely silent as to the provision of ambulance services. It says nothing about 


transferring Firefighters to ambulance assignments. It says nothing about training Firefighters 


to provide ambulance services or maintain ambulance equipment. It says nothing about the terms 


of employment-e.g., sick or vacation leave-for Firefighters that provide ambulance services. 
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1 It says nothing about providing overtime or regular wage rates for Firefighters who staff 


2 ambulances. Most importantly, it says nothing about how Firefighters will be trained to ensure 


3 that they remain safe as they provide ambulance services to the public. Thus, the grievance 


4 procedure is unnecessary because the CBA does not contemplate the provision of ambulance 


5 services. Because the parties did not contemplate ambulance services at the time the CBA was 


6 executed, the arbitration clause does not apply to this dispute. 


7 In sum, the CBA is entirely silent on ambulance services. Thus, the arbitration clause 


8 cannot be interpreted to require arbitration on an issue that was never contemplated in the 


9 contract. All told, the staffing of ambulances "falls outside the scope of the parties' arbitration 


10 clause." Granite Rock, 561 U.S. at 307. Accordingly, there is no need for the Sparks Firefighters 


11 Association to exhaust grievance procedures. Thus, the Board retains jurisdiction to adjudicate 


12 this dispute. For that reason, the Board should deny the City's Motion to Dismiss. 


13 
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III. The EMRB has jurisdiction over unfair labor practices, including mandatory 
subjects of bargaining, regardless of contract interpretation. 


"[T]he EMRB has exclusive jurisdiction over unfair labor practice issues." City of Reno 


v. Reno Police Protective Ass'n, 118 Nev. 889, 895, 59 P.3d 1212, 1217 (2002). This includes 


prohibited practices in unilaterally changing a subject of mandatory bargaining. Id. Given that 


EMRB has exclusive jurisdiction, the Union's choice to pursue the grievance route as means of 


raising an issue for management in hopes the City of Sparks would resolve the issue does not 


waive the ability to file the complaint presently before the Board. 


II 


II 


II 


II 


II 


II 


II 


II 


II 
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1 CONCLUSION 


2 For the foregoing reasons, the Sparks Firefighters Association respectfully asks this 


3 Board to deny the City's Motion to Dismiss. 


4 DATED this 20th day of December, 2022. 
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2 Pursuant to NAC 288.200(2), I certify that I am an employee of the law film of 


3 HUTCHISON & STEFFEN, PLLC and that on the 20th day of December, 2022, I deposited for 


4 mailing, by ce1iified U.S. Mail with postage prepaid, a trne and correct copy of this 
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Nick D. Crosby, Esq. (8996) 
MARQUIS AURBACH 
10001 Park Run Drive 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145 
(702) 382-0711 
ncrosby@maclaw.com 
Attorney for the City of Sparks 
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Exhibit 
No. 


1 


EXHIBIT INDEX 


Document Title No. of Pages (including 
exhibit cover page) 


Relevant Portions of the April 25, 2022, City of 
Sparks City Manager's Budget 4 


Recommendations including the FY23-25 New 
Needs Request Form Pertaining to Ambulances 
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City of Sparks


City Manager's FY23
Final Budget 


Recommendations


Presented to:
City Council and Redevelopment Agency
April 25, 2022







New Need brief description:


Requesting Department:


Department Contact:


Agresso Fund & Program Number:


Check all that apply & fill in cost estimates:
FY23 costs FY24 costs FY25 costs


New Equipment 90,000        


On-going Costs
Please describe any one-time vs. on-going costs including maintenance:


FY23 costs FY24 costs FY25 costs


Professional Service
On-going costs


Please describe any one-time vs. on-going costs:


Personnel 
Position Title Salary Benefits Total FY23 Total FY24 Total FY25


1 Firefighter Paramedic - 6 total 457,764 414,157 871,921 919,470 957,420
2


Total 457,764 414,157 871,921 919,470 957,420


FY23 costs FY24 costs FY25 costs


Other
Please describe any one-time vs. on-going costs:


Description of New Need
Description of New Need - please emphasize how this fits into your departments 5 year operational plan 


needs.  If this need is part of a re-organization plan, please give a description of that plan.


FY23-FY25 New Needs Request Form 


Department 
Priority #


 ---->
5


The needs of the region are changing rapidly. The current transporting agency for the region is not fullfilling the requirements of the 
contract. The requested 6 personnel would be dedicated to staffing an ambulance/rescue in the City 24/7 to make sure our residents 
have timely access to a medical transportation unit, when needed. These same personnel could also assist other agencies in the region 
when a large incident occurs and mutual aid is requested. This type of request would go hand in hand with the current agreements
already in place for the fire departments in the region. Sending a smaller medical type unit would also cut down on the wear and tear of 
our current dispatch model of sending a large fire appartus to every medical incident.


Six (6) firefighter paramedics to staff a 2 person ambulance/rescue, 24/7.


Fire


Initial costs of structural and wildland PPE, Radio, SCBA are approximately $15,000 each


Jim Reid


1101 / 100401
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New Need brief description:


Requesting Department:


Department Contact:


Agresso Fund & Program Number:


Check all that apply & fill in cost estimates:
FY23 costs FY24 costs FY25 costs


New Equipment 300,000      


On-going Costs
Please describe any one-time vs. on-going costs including maintenance:


FY23 costs FY24 costs FY25 costs


Professional Service 12,000 12,000


On-going costs
Please describe any one-time vs. on-going costs:


Personnel 
Position Title Salary Benefits Total FY23 Total FY24 Total FY25


1
2


Total 0 0 0 0 0


FY23 costs FY24 costs FY25 costs


Other
Please describe any one-time vs. on-going costs:


Description of New Need
Description of New Need - please emphasize how this fits into your departments 5 year operational plan 


needs.  If this need is part of a re-organization plan, please give a description of that plan.


FY23-FY25 New Needs Request Form 


Department 
Priority #


 ---->
4


The region is shifting the way emergency transport is completed by agencies. REMSA has the current contract to transport patients to 
the hospitals. The last year has shown us that this decades old model might not be sustainable in its current form. An ambulance should 
be purchased in the first part of 2022. A grant is also being requested for this unit but a back up unit will be needed. 


Ambulance and equipment


Fire


1 time costs. The approximate costs of an ambulance is $200,000 and $100,000 of EMS equipment will need to be purchased.  


On-going costs of vehicle maintenance will be required. 


Jim Reid
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Marquis Aurbach 
Nick D. Crosby, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 8996 
10001 Park Run Drive 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145 
Telephone: (702) 382-0711 
Facsimile: (702) 382-5816 
ncrosby@maclaw.com 


Attorneys for Respondent 
 


GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEE-MANAGEMENT RELATIONS BOARD 


STATE OF NEVADA 


INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF 
FIREFIGHTERS LOCAL NO. 1265, 
 
    Complainant, 
 
 vs. 
 
CITY OF SPARKS, 
 
    Respondent. 
 


 
 
Case No.: 2022-016 
 


 
RESPONDENT CITY OF SPARKS’ REPLY TO COMPLAINANT’S OPPOSITION TO 


MOTION TO DISMISS 


Respondent, the City of Sparks (the “City”), by and through its attorneys of record, Nick 


D. Crosby, Esq. of Marquis Aurbach, hereby files its Reply to Complainant International 


Association of Firefighters Local No. 1265’s Opposition to Motion to Dismiss.   


I. THE COMPLAINANT’S ARGUMENTS AS TO WHY THE COMPLAINT 
SHOULD NOT BE DISMISSED FOR FAILURE TO EXHAUST CONTRACTUAL 
REMEDIES IS INCOMPATIBLE WITH ITS ACTIONS. 


In its Opposition to the Motion to Dismiss, International Association of Firefighters, 


Local 1265 (“Complainant” or “Union”) argues that it is not required to exhaust its contractual 


remedies under the Collective Bargaining Agreement (“CBA”) because the issue is not subject to 


the parties’ negotiated grievance procedure.  Section 1, Article L(1) of the CBA states the 


purpose of the Grievance Procedure “shall be to settle as quickly as possible disputes concerning 


the interpretation and application of the [CBA].”  Complainant argues that because the Grievance 


Procedure is quarantined to disputes concerning the CBA, the instant challenge cannot be subject 


FILED 
January 3, 2023 
State of Nevada 


E.M.R.B. 
1:41 p.m. 
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to the procedure because the CBA is silent on any provision related to an ambulance.  (Opp. at 


pp. 7-8).   


But this position is diametrically opposed to the actions taken by Complainant.  Indeed, 


as noted in the Motion, the Complainant lodged two grievances over this very issue.  It makes 


absolutely no sense for the Complainant to argue that the issue of ambulances within the Fire 


Department is not subject to the negotiated Grievance Procedure given the fact the Complainant 


already filed two grievances over the issue.  If the Board were to believe Complainant’s 


arguments in opposition to the Motion to Dismiss, that would mean the two prior grievances 


were submitted in bad faith or otherwise for the sole purpose of interfering with the operations of 


the Fire Department.   


 As noted in the Motion, the Board has long-held that complaints filed prior to the 


exhaustion of contractual remedies should be dismissed, and this case should be no exception.  


The Complainant filed two grievances regarding this issue and even requested arbitration.  


However, it appears the Complainant is attempting to hedge its bets between arbitration and the 


instant action, as Complainant has failed to request a list of arbitrators from Federal Mediation 


and Conciliation Services, which is requirement under the CBA.  Stated differently, the 


Complainant is in violation of the CBA’s Grievance Procedure through its inaction in this 


respect.  For these reasons, the Board should dismiss the Complaint because the Complainant 


failed to exhaust its contractual remedies (though it has an active request for arbitration and has 


not withdrawn that request).   


II. DESPITE COMPLAINANT’S ARGUMENT TO THE CONTRARY, THE 
COMPLAINT IS UNTIMELY.    


Complainant argues in the Opposition that it should not be subject to the six-month 


statute of limitations because the City’s refusal to bargain is a continuing violation.  Complainant 


is incorrect in this argument, as the Complainant has been aware of the City’s position regarding 


negotiations for the ambulance, yet waited more than two months past the statute of limitations 


to file its Complaint.  Moreover, the issue is not even one that is subject to mandatory 


bargaining.  Pursuant to the CBA, the City retains the exclusive right to direct and assign its 
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employees, as well as the right to determine the quality and quantity of services offered to the 


public, as well as the means and methods for offering those services.  (CBA, Sec. 1, Art. H(1) 


and (3)(c) and (d); see also Nev. Rev. Stat. 288.150(3)(a), (c)(3) and (c)(4)).  Also, the CBA 


provides under the Staffing article that the Fire Chief or designee “will determine the number 


and type of apparatus in-service at any given time.”  (CBA at Sec. 1, Art. G(1)).  Complainant’s 


attempt to argue that staffing an ambulance is a safety consideration or affects vacation time or 


wages is creative, but unpersuasive given the clear language of the CBA vesting the right to 


determine the type of apparatus in-service at any given time.   


III. CONCLUSION  


Given the foregoing and in conjunction with the arguments advanced in the Motion to 


Dismiss, the City respectfully requests the Board dismiss the Complaint or, in the alternative, 


stay the matter pending the outcome of the arbitration (exhaustion of contractual remedies).     


Dated this 3rd day of January, 2023. 


MARQUIS AURBACH 


By  s/ Nick D. Crosby
Nick D. Crosby, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 8996 
10001 Park Run Drive 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145 
Attorney(s) for Respondent   
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CERTIFICATE OF MAILING 


I hereby certify that on the 3rd day of January, 2023, I served a copy of the foregoing 


RESPONDENT CITY OF SPARKS’ REPLY TO COMPLAINANT’S OPPOSITION TO 


MOTION TO DISMISS upon each of the parties by depositing a copy of the same in a sealed 


envelope in the United States Mail, Las Vegas, Nevada, First-Class Postage fully prepaid, and 


addressed to: 


Devon T. Reese, Esq. 
Alex R. Velto, Esq. 
Russell J. Carr, Esq. 


HUTCHISON & STEFFEN, PLLC 
5371 Kietzke Lane 
Reno, NV 89511 


Attorney for Complainant 
 
and that there is a regular communication by mail between the place of mailing and the place(s) 


so addressed. 


 
 
 


s/Sherri Mong      
an employee of Marquis Aurbach 





		3. Sparks Motion to Dismiss

		4. Opposition to Motion to Dismiss

		5. City of Sparks Reply to Opposition to City of Sparks Motion to Dismiss
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FISHER & PHILLIPS LLP 
MARK J. RICCIARDI, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 3141 
ALLISON L. KHEEL, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 12986 
300 South Fourth Street, Suite 1500 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Telephone: (702) 252-3131 
Facsimile: (702) 252-7411 
E-mail:  mricciardi@fisherphillips.com 
E-mail: akheel@fisherphillips.com 
Attorneys for Petitioner  
Nye County 
 


STATE OF NEVADA 


EMPLOYEE-MANAGEMENT RELATIONS BOARD 


 
NYE COUNTY, NEVADA, 
 
 Petitioner, 
 
 vs. 
 
NYE COUNTY ASSOCIATION OF 
SHERIFF’S SUPERVISORS, 
 
 Respondent. 
 
 


Case No.:  
 
 


NYE COUNTY’S PETITION FOR A DECLARATORY ORDER FINDING 
THE CAPTAIN POSITION IS EXCLUDED FROM NCASS’S BARGAINING 


UNIT  
 


Petitioner, Nye County (“County” or “Petitioner”), by and through its counsel of 


record, Fisher & Phillips, LLP, hereby files this Petition for a Declaratory Order to the 


Employee Management Relations Board (“Board” or “EMRB”) finding the Captain 


position must be excluded from Respondent’s, Nye County Association of Sheriff’s 


Supervisors (“NCASS” or the “Union” or “Respondent”) Bargaining Unit as follows: 


/ / / 


/ / / 


/ / /  



emrb

Text Box

FILED
May 24, 2022
State of Nevada
E.M.R.B.
4:35 p.m.



emrb

Typewritten Text

2022-009
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STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE PETITIONER’S INTEREST 
 
At the heart of this matter is the Union’s improper attempt to insist on the 


continued unlawful inclusion of the supervisory classification of Captain in the same 


collective bargaining unit as the Lieutenants whom they directly supervise. Including 


both classifications in the bargaining unit is expressly prohibited by Nevada law.  


Petitioner, Nye County (“Petitioner” or the “County”) is a local government employer as 


defined by NRS § 288.060, and Respondent, Nye County Association of Sheriff’s 


Supervisors (“NCASS” or the “Union” or “Respondent”) is an employee organization as 


defined by NRS § 288.040.  Pursuant to NRS § 288.140, it is the right of every local 


government employee, subject to certain limitations, to join any employee organization 


of the employee’s choice or to refrain from joining any employee organization.  


However, a key limitation on NRS § 288.140 is found in NRS § 288.170(3) which 


prohibits supervisory employees from being a member of the same bargaining unit as the 


employees under the direction of that supervisory employee. NRS § 288.170(3) (“. . .  a 


supervisory employee must not be a member of the same bargaining unit as the employees 


under the direction of that . . . supervisory employee.”).  A “Supervisory employee” has 


the meaning described in paragraph (a) of subsection 1 of NRS § 288.138. See NRS § 


288.170(6)(b).  As the Captains meet the definition of a “supervisory employee” 


contained in NRS § 288.138 (formerly NRS § 288.075), it is a violation of Nevada Law 


for the County to negotiate with NCASS as the representative of the Captains.  Therefore, 


the County seeks a declaratory order finding Captains are supervisory employees and 


ordering Captains to be excluded from the NCASS bargaining unit.   


/ / / 


/ / / 
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FACTUAL BACKGROUND 


The County and the Union are currently parties to a collective bargaining 


agreement (“CBA”) with the term of July 1, 2020 through June 30, 20221.  During the 


negotiations for the successor agreement, the County realized that the “Administrative 


Captain” (“Captain”) classification is a supervisory position, with direct supervisory 


responsibilities over the Lieutenants (the only other classification) in the bargaining unit. 


See CBA at Art. 1 (1), p.3.  When the County raised this issue with the Union, the Union 


refused to agree to exclude the Captain classification from the Bargaining Unit and 


continues to demand that the County negotiate a successor CBA without correcting the 


bargaining unit.  Thus, the Union is seeking to illegally represent the supervisory Captain 


classification in the same bargaining unit as the Lieutenants (i.e. the Captain’s direct 


reports).2  


The Captains are supervisory employees pursuant to NRS § 288.138, which 


prevents them from being members of the same employee organization as those 


employees they directly supervise.  See NRS 288.170(3).  Thus, under the authority of 


NRS § 288.170(3), and NRS § 233B.120, the County submits this petition for a 


declaratory order to the Board.  In particular, the County requests a declaratory order 


stating that the Captains cannot be members of the NCASS bargaining unit because they 


are supervisory employees of Lieutenants under NRS § 288.138. 


Further, the County requests a hearing on this petition under NAC 288.400.  The 


matters alleged in the petition and any supporting affidavits or other written evidence in 


the memorandum of legal authorities do not permit the fair and expeditious disposition 


of the petition because this Board may require further testimony and supplemental 


evidence to make an ultimate determination on the merits. 


 
1 The Employee Management Relations Board (hereinafter “the Board”) may take official notice of the 
CBA, on file with the Board, pursuant to NAC 288.332.  
2 Local governments and their employee associations have several times in the past erroneously and 
improperly included supervisors in the same bargaining unit; See City of Elko, EMRB No. 831.  In fact, 
just last year the Sergeants in the Nye County Sheriff’s Office were removed from the Deputy bargaining 
unit. 
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SPECIFIC PROVISIONS AND REGULATIONS IN QUESTION 


 The specific provisions and regulations in question are the following: NRS § 


288.170(3) (prohibiting supervisory employees from being members of the same 


bargaining unit as the employees under the direction of those supervisory employees), 


and NRS § 288.138(1) (formerly NRS § 288.075) (regarding whether the Captains cannot 


be members of the NCASS bargaining unit because Captains are supervisory employees). 


POSITION OF THE PETITIONER 


The County maintains the following position: the Captains cannot be members of 


the NCASS bargaining unit which represents Lieutenants because Captains supervise 


Lieutenants and thus are “supervisory employees” under NRS § 288.138 and are 


prohibited from being in the same bargaining unit as the Lieutenants they supervise 


pursuant to NRS § 288.170(3). 


MEMORANDUM OF LEGAL POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 


Captains Are Supervisory Employees Under NRS § 288.138 And Cannot Be Members 


Of The NCASS Bargaining Unit with the Lieutenants That They Supervise 


Captains are “supervisory employees” under NRS Chapter 288, thus disqualifying 


them from being members of NCASS.  Under NRS § 288.170(3), “supervisory 


employees” are prevented from being in the same bargaining unit as those employees 


they supervise.  “Supervisory employees” has the definition set forth in NRS § 288.138.  


See NRS 288.170(6)(a).  NRS § 288.138(1)(a) defines “supervisory employee” as: 
Any individual having authority in the interest of the employer to hire, 
transfer, suspend, lay off, recall, promote, discharge, assign, reward or 
discipline other employees or responsibility to direct them, to adjust their 
grievances or effectively to recommend such action, if in connection with 
the foregoing, the exercise of such authority is not of a merely routine or 
clerical nature, but requires the use of independent judgment. The exercise 
of such authority shall not be deemed to place the employee in supervisory 
employee status unless the exercise of such authority occupies a 
significant portion of the employee’s workday. . . 


NRS § 288.138.  This definition is the same as the definition of “supervisory employee” 


formerly contained in NRS § 288.075(1)(a).  In City of Elko, the Board consider similar 


circumstances and found that sergeants were “supervisory employees” under NRS § 
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288.075(1)(a) and must be excluded from the bargaining unit for the employees under the 


direction of the sergeants.  See City of Elko v. Elko Police Officers Protective Assoc. Local 


9110, Item No. 831, Case No. 2017-026, at *14 (Aug. 29, 2018).  The Board considered 


the statutory definition of a “supervisory employee” and found that an employee who 


satisfied even one of the 12 alternative criteria in the statute, satisfied the definition of a 


“supervisory employee” and must be excluded from the bargaining unit of employees 


under that employee’s supervision.  City of Elko, Item No. 831, at *12-13. The presence 


of a supervisor in the same bargaining unit as his direct reports creates a significant 


conflict of interest and divided loyalties.  Id. at *6 (“Finally, the Act recognizes the 


inherent conflict of interest by bifurcating the supervisors from the employees which they 


supervise and to avoid these inherent conflicts of interest in having a supervisor that has 


power and authority over the people they supervise being in the same unit as the 


employees that are subject to their supervisor.”).   


While the Board has provided that “the determination of whether a particular 


employee or class of employees is a supervisory employee must be made on a case-by-


case basis,” the facts of this case appear generally undisputed.  See City of Reno v. Reno 


Firefighters Local 731, Item No. 777-B, Case No. A1-046049 (2012). In this case it 


appears undisputed that Captains have the authority to assign, direct, reward and 


discipline Lieutenants and adjust the grievances of Lieutenants, or to effectively 


recommend such actions.  The Captain position is a promotion and the level above a 


Lieutenant in the command structure of the County’s Sherriff’s Department.  The exercise 


of the foregoing authority is not of a routine, clerical, or temporary nature, as almost every 


aspect of Captains’ daily job duties require reviewing and directing work of Lieutenant. 


Rather, the exercise of this authority requires the use of independent judgment and 


occupies a significant portion of the employee’s workday.  Thus, pursuant to NRS § 


288.075(1)(a), Captains are “supervisory employees” and are disqualified from 


membership in the bargaining unit of Lieutenants that they supervise.  


/ / /  
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CONCLUSION 


Based on the foregoing, the County requests a declaratory order stating that 


Captains must be excluded from the NCASS bargaining unit because they are supervisory 


employees (as defined by NRS § 288.0138(1)(a)) of the Lieutenants and thus cannot be 


in the same bargaining unit as the Lieutenants whom they directly supervise. 


DATED this 24th day of May 2022. 


    FISHER & PHILLIPS LLP 
           
     By: __/s/Allison L. Kheel, Esq._________ 
      Mark J. Ricciardi, Esq. 


Allison L. Kheel, Esq. 
300 South Fourth Street 
Suite 1500 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 


I hereby certify that on the 24th day of May 2022, I filed by electronic 


means the foregoing NYE COUNTY’S PETITION FOR A DECLARATORY 


ORDER, as follows: 


 Employee-Management Relations Board 
 3300 W. Sahara Ave., Suite 260 
 Las Vegas, Nevada 89102 
 emrb@business.nv.gov 
 


With an electronic copy addressed to the following: 


  Nye County Association of Sheriff’s Supervisors  
  Attn: David Boruchowitz (dboruchowitz@co.nye.nv.us) 
  Attn: Christopher Jordan (cjordan@co.nye.nv.us) 
   
 
    By:    /s/Allison L. Kheel, Esq.                       
          An employee of Fisher & Phillips LLP 
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FISHER & PHILLIPS LLP 
MARK J. RICCIARDI, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 3141 
ALLISON L. KHEEL, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 12986 
300 South Fourth Street, Suite 1500 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Telephone: (702) 252-3131 
Facsimile: (702) 252-7411 
E-mail:  mricciardi@fisherphillips.com 
E-mail: akheel@fisherphillips.com 
Attorneys for Petitioner/Counter-Respondent,  
Nye County 
 


STATE OF NEVADA 


EMPLOYEE-MANAGEMENT RELATIONS BOARD 


 


NYE COUNTY, NEVADA, 
 
 Petitioner, 
 
 vs. 
 
NYE COUNTY ASSOCIATION OF 


 
 Respondent. 
 
 


Case No.: 2022-009 
 


 
 
 
 


STATEMENT  
 


NYE COUNTY ASSOCIATION OF 


DAVID BORUCHOWITZ, 


            Counter-Claimants, 
 
            vs. 
 
NYE COUNTY, NEVADA, 
 
            Counter-Respondent. 
 


 


Petitioner/Counter-Respondent, Nye Count


cord, Fisher & Phillips, LLP, hereby files 


its Prehearing Statement pursuant to NAC 288.250 in support of its Petition for a 


Declaratory Order to the Employee Management Relations 
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I. INTRODUCTION AND FACTUAL BACKGROUND 


At the heart of this matter is the Un


continued unlawful inclusion of the supervisory classification of Captain in the same 


collective bargaining unit as the Lieutenants whom they directly supervise. Including 


both classifications in the bargaining unit is expressly prohibited by Nevada law.  


government employer as 


defined by NRS § 288.060, and Respondent, Nye County Asso


ployee organization as 


defined by NRS § 288.040.  The County and the Union are currently parties to a collective 


1.  


Pursuant to NRS § 288.140, it is the right of every local government employee, 


subject to certain limitations, to join any 


or to refrain from joining any employee organization. However, a key limitation on NRS 


§ 288.140 is found in NRS § 288.170(3) which prohibits supervisory employees from 


being a member of the same bargaining unit as the employees under the direction of that 


.  a supervisory employee must not be a 


member of the same bargaining unit as the employees under the direction of that . . . 


paragraph (a) of subsection 1 of NRS § 288.138. See NRS § 288.170(6)(b).  A 


e definition described in sub-paragraph (b) 


of subsection 1 of NRS § 288.138. See NRS § 288.138(1)(b). As the Captains meet both 


288.075), it is a violation of Nevada Law for the County to negotiate with NCASS as the 


1


CBA, on file with the Board, pursuant to NAC 288.332.  
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representative of the Captains.  During the negotiations for the successor agreement, the 


fication is a 


supervisory position, with direct supervisory responsibilities over the Lieutenants (the 


only other classification) in the bargaining unit. See CBA at Art. 1 (1), p.3.  Thus, the 


Captains are supervisory employees pursuant to NRS § 288.138(1), which prevents them 


from being members of the same employee organization as those employees they directly 


supervise.  See NRS 288.170(3).   


The County raised this issue with the Union during bargaining but the Union 


refused to agree to exclude the Captain classification from the Bargaining Unit and 


continues to demand that the County negotiate a successor CBA without correcting the 


bargaining unit.  Therefore, the County sought a declaratory order finding Captains are 


supervisory employees and ordering Captains to be excluded from the NCASS bargaining 


unit.  The Union proposed bifurcating the negotiations but would not agree to correct the 


bargaining unit to exclude the Captain classification, thereby seeking to obtain an unfair 


advantage in bargaining by demanding negotiations continue over an illegal bargaining 


unit.  The Union is seeking to illegally represent the supervisory Captain classification in 


the same bargaining unit as the Lieutenants (i.e. the 2 in violation 


of NRS § 288.170(3), and the Board must issue a declaratory order stating that the 


Captains cannot be members of the NCASS bargaining unit because they are supervisory 


employees of Lieutenants under NRS § 288.138(1)(a). 


 Additionally, the admitted facts in the Answer and counter-complaint establish 


that the Captains also possess budgetary authority and thus must be excluded from any 


under the definition in NRS § 288.138(1)(b).  


As Captains cannot legally be included in the NCASS bargaining unit, it would be 


improper for the County to negotiate with NCAS unit.  And since the 


2 Local governments and their employee associations have several times in the past erroneously and 
improperly included supervisors in the same bargaining unit; See City of Elko, EMRB No. 831.  In fact, 
just last year the Sergeants in  removed from the Deputy bargaining 
unit. 
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County cannot be forced to agree to a bargaining proposal that is illegal, it was not a 


prohibited practice or unilateral change for the County to 


bargaining unit while NCASS refused to exclude the Captains from the unit.   


II. ISSUES FOR CONSIDERATION 


A. Must the Captains be excluded from the NCASS bargaining unit because 


Captains are supervisory employees of Lieutenants under NRS § 288.138(1)(a), and 


therefore cannot be in the same bargaining unit as lieutenants? 


B. Must the Captains be excluded from being in any bargaining unit because 


Captains are supervisory employees within the definition of NRS § 288.138(1)(b)? 


C. Did Nye County engage in a prohibited labor practice, in violation of NRS 


§ 288.270(1)(a) and (e), by first raising the improper scope of the bargaining unit with 


the Union in negotiations before filing its Petition for a Declaratory Order? 


D. Did Nye County engage in a prohibited labor practice, in violation of NRS 


§ 288.270(1)(a) and (e), by refusing to negotiate with an illegal bargaining unit and 


refusing to conduct piecemeal negotiations with Lieutenants while the Petition to 


determine the appropriate bargaining unit was pending? 


III. MEMORANDUM OF LEGAL POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 
 


A. Captains Are Supervisory Employees Under NRS § 288.138(1)(a) And 
Cannot Be Members Of The NCASS Bargaining Unit With The Lieutenants That They 
Supervise 


r NRS Chapter 288, thus disqualifying 


them from being members of NCASS.  Under NRS § 288.170(3)


same bargaining unit as those employees 


they supervise.  Unlike the National Labor Relations Act, a great deal of the regulation 


of collective bargaining in the public sector is specifically governed by the language of 


the statute.  Under the NLRA, nothing prohibits a union and an employer from agreeing 


to place supervisors in a bargaining unit.  But under NRS Chapter 288 it is expressly 


unlawful. 
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tion set forth in 


NRS § 288.138.  See NRS 288.170(6)(a).  NRS § 288.138(


Any individual having authority in the interest of the employer to hire, 
transfer, suspend, lay off, recall, promote, discharge, assign, reward or 
discipline other employees or responsibility to direct them, to adjust their 
grievances or effectively to recommend such action, if in connection with 
the foregoing, the exercise of such authority is not of a merely routine or 
clerical nature, but requires the use of independent judgment. The exercise 
of such authority shall not be deemed to place the employee in supervisory 
employee status unless the exercise of such authority occupies a 
significant portion of th


NRS § 288.138(1)(a).  This definition is th


in NRS § 288.075(1)(a).  In City of Elko, the Board 


consider similar circumstances and found th


under NRS § 288.075(1)(a) and must be excluded from the bargaining unit for the 


employees under the direction of the sergeants.  See City of Elko v. Elko Police Officers 


Protective Assoc. Local 9110, Item No. 831, Case No. 2017-026, at *14 (Aug. 29, 2018).  


The Board considered the statutory definiti


an employee who satisfied even one of the 12 alternative criteria in the statute, satisfied 


must be excluded from the bargaining unit 


of employees under that .  City of Elko, Item No. 831, at *12-13. 


The presence of a supervisor in the same bargaining unit as his direct reports creates a 


significant conflict of interest and divided loyalties.  Id.


the inherent conflict of interest by bifurcating the supervisors from the employees which 


they supervise and to avoid these inherent conflicts of interest in having a supervisor that 


has power and authority over the people they supervise being in the same unit as the 


employees that are subject to


determination of whether a particular 


employee or class of employees is a supervisory employee must be made on a case-by-


se appear generally undisputed.  See City of Reno v. Reno 
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Firefighters Local 731, Item No. 777-B, Case No. A1-046049 (2012). In this case it 


appears undisputed that Captains have the authority to assign, direct, reward and 


discipline Lieutenants and adjust the grievances of Lieutenants, or to effectively 


recommend such actions.  The Captain position is a promotion and the level above a 


Lieutenant in the command structure of the Coun


of the foregoing authority is not of a routine, clerical, or temporary nature, as almost every 


reviewing and directing work of Lieutenant. 


Rather, the exercise of this authority requires the use of independent judgment and 


occupies a significant portion of the empl


membership in the bargaining unit of Lieutenants that they supervise.  


B. 
288.138(1)(a) and S.B. 158 as Abrogating The Statutory Exclusion of Supervisors 
From The Bargaining Unit  


Furthermore, the County anticipates that the Union argue, as it did in its Response, 


City of Elko 


v. Elko Police Officers Protective Association, EMRB Case No. 2017-026, Item No. 831 


(Aug 29, 2018), regarding the definition of 


§ 288.138(1)(a) to add the following language: 


If any of the following persons perform some, but not all, of the foregoing 
duties under a paramilitary command structure, such a person shall not 
be deemed a supervisory employee solely because of such duties: (1) A 
police officer, as defined in NRS 288.215 . . . 


See NRS § 288.138(1)(a) (emphasis added). However, this argument is a red herring.  


tes the purpose and effect of the statutory amendment 


/ / /  


/ / /  
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Meaningless The Limiting Language In The Statute  


While statutory interpretation should always begin with the plain language of the 


on of a statute should be rendered meaningless, 


nor should it be interpreted to produce See City of 


Elko v. Elko Police Officers Protective Assoc. Local 9110, Item No. 831, Case No. 2017-


026, at *6 (Aug. 29, 2018), citing City of Reno v. Building & Const. Trades Council of 


Northern Nevada, 251. P.3d 718, 722 (2011). 


Respondent claims that the plain language of S.B. 


the statutory definition of a supervisor: the 


must be operating under a 


See Resp. p. 4:12-193


interpretation ignores the critical third limitation which provides that the exception only 


applies to an employee whose performance of the supervis


his or her designation as a st


[temporary/acting] position under a 4 See NRS § 


288.138(1)(a) (emphasis added). Th st contained in S.B. 158 


police officer . . . from being deemed a supervisory employee solely because he or she 


engages in some, but not all, of the employment actions of a supervisory employee under 


See S.B. 158 bill text as enrolled, available at: 


3


Administrative Captains such as Boruchowitz perform a
5:3-4.  In fact, the County argued exactly this on page 5 of its Petition and reserves its right to introduce 
evidence showing Captains have the authority to perform all of the enumerated supervisory functions in 
NRS 288.138(1).  Pet. p. 5:14-27. 
4 If the Legislature had intended the limitation to apply to all police officers, fire fighters and peace officers, 
the Legislature would not have added the additional 
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https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/ 80th2019/Bill/6215/Text#


interpretation would require the Board to igno in the statute, the  


Board should reject this interpretation and give effect to every word in the statute.  


Multiple Interpretations  


Contrary to the conclusory assertions of NCASS in its Response, the meaning of 


subject to multiple interpretations.   There 


is no definition in the statute of what cons


the Board must resort to other sources to determine a definition.  See NRS chapter 288, 


et seq ng, or characteristic 


of a force formed on a military pattern especially as a potential auxi


See Merriam-Webster Dictionary Merriam-Webster.com, 


accessed June 23, 2022, from https://www.merriamwebster.com/dictionary/paramilitary.  


structure containing a military-like hierarchy ilar to those used by 


the United States military (e.g. sergeants, lieutenants, captains, etc.), would create the 


potential for abuse of the exception by simply renaming job positions with these titles.5


 characterized by absolute obedience and 


deference in the command hierarchy (wherein a person of a lower rank cannot disobey 


the lawful command of someone with a higher rank).  This blind obedience to orders is 


what allows the United States military to maintain control even when a general commands 


his subordinates to charge into battle and capture a specific beach, hill or fortified 


5 The EMRB has long rejected reliance on job titles preferring to look to the actual job duties, skills, 
working conditions, etc. Cf. Nye County Management Employees Ass'n v. Nye County, Item No. 844, 
EMRB Case No. 2018-012 (2019); Nye County Law Enforcement Ass'n v. Nye County, Item No. 805, Case 
No. Al-046123 (2015); s Local 1245 v. Truckee Meadows Water 
Auth., Case No. 2017-002, Item No. 825 (2017).  
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position, knowing it will result in heavy casualties.  Such principles are consistent with 


third sentences of NRS § 288.138(1)(a) limit 


See NRS § 288.138(1)(a).  Given these 


limitations, interpreting the exception6 as a carve-out of supervisory authority exercised 


as an automatic function of orders from above without question, discretion, or 


interpretation would be consistent with the other statutory language. 


The above are just two potential interpretations of the statutory language. A 


le of two or more reasonable interpretations 


Clark Cty. v. S. Nevada Health Dist., 128 Nev. 651, 656, 289 P.3d 212, 215 (2012).  


Where the statute is ambiguous 


and the ... scheme as a whole to determine what the ... framers in


w or the causes which induced the legislature 


Id.   


Additionally, while the plain meaning rule generally applies to statutory 


interpretation, the Nevada Supreme Court has clarified that the plain meaning of the 


language must be viewed in light of the spirit of the act and the purpose the act was trying 


to accomplish.  , 


is well established that, when 


interpreting a statute, the language of the statute should be given its plain meaning unless 


to properly interpret this narrow statutory 


6 However, such an interpretation would only raise the additional question of how much discretion and 
judgment must a supervisor inject into the process before it falls outside of the narrow statutory exception. 
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exception, the Board must look outside the statute to determine the meaning of the 


specific words selected by the Legislators for inclusion in S.B. 158.   


Here, the word choice, as confirmed by the Legislative History, suggest that the 


focus was on a quirk common to public safety, paramilitary command structures as 


always requiring an employee to be acting commanding officer.  In the military, this same 


need for a designated leader is built into th


commanding officer is killed in action, supervisory command immediately transfers to 


the next most senior officer so that there is always a leader directing the troops to preserve 


continuity and complete the mission. Unlike most other public sector bargaining units, 


paramilitary command structures typically have an acting supervisor to fill in for the 


permanent/full time supervisor if that individual is unavailable due to manpower 


considerations, illness, injury, vacation, leave or some other absence. Other public sector 


bargaining units typically do not have an organizational need to continually handle duty 


assignments, rewards, transfers, investigations, disciplines and even discharges as most 


of these supervisory functions can be performed by the full-time supervisor when that 


individual returns from leave.  When introducing S.B. 158, Senator Dallas Harris 


provided an illustrative comparison highlighting potentially problematic situations, 


note that it does not include all peace officers, just ones we felt 


this problem arises with under that paramilitary command structure. That would 


obviously not apply to, let us say, investigat See 


Minutes of Assembly th Leg. Sess., May 6, 


2019), at https://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/80th2019/Minutes/Assembly/GA/Final/ 


1128.pdf.     


/ / / 
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The Legislative History repeatedly notes that the purpose of S.B. 158 was to 


address the potential problem with applying the supervisory exclusion definition to 


bargaining unit members performing supervisory tasks solely due to their temporary roll 


Id. at *4.7  The Legislative 


History is clear that S.B. 158 was never intended to apply to indivi


to supervisory positions . . . [who] have property right Id. at *4.  The 


Legislature fully anticipated that the statutory prohibition on supervisors being in the 


same bargaining unit as those employees under his or her full-time supervision would 


continue to remain in effect.  Id. d about the movement back 


and forth.  If someone is promoted into a supervisory position and there is a supervisory 


collective bargaining group, then they would move into that [group]. . . . We are talking 


about the ones who are occupying the positions on a temporary 


expressed Legislative intent, the only reasonable interpretation of the S.B. 158 exception 


is to limit its application to OIC and acting s


of the non-supervisory unit is performing supervisory duties in a temporary and limited 


capacity and has not acquired any property rights or permanent promotion into the status 


of a supervisor (which would require transfer to the supervisory bargaining unit). 


Proffered Interpretation Because 
It Produces An Absurd Result And Is Contrary To Public Policy 


A basic rule of statutory construction is to avoid reading any portion of the statute 


in such a way that it would produce an absurd or nonsensical result.  City of Reno v. 


Building & Const. Trades Council of Northern Nevada, 251. P.3d 718, 722 (2011). The 


7


you may be subject to being pulled out of the collective bargaining group. Yet you are not really a 
supervisory employee in a full-time sense; you are just occupying that position for a period of time. We are 
worried that people might say that you can be in the bargaining unit today but not tomorrow and so on and 
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presence of a supervisor in the same bargaining unit as his direct reports creates a 


significant conflict of interest and divided loyalties.  See City of Elko v. Elko Police 


Officers Protective Assoc. Local 9110, Item No. 831, Case No. 2017-026, at *6 & 14 


(Aug. 29, 2018). In City of Elko, the Board acknowledged that the Act, as a whole, 


conflicts of interest in having a supervisor that has power 


and authority over the people they supervise being in the same unit as the employees that 


See City of Elko, Item No. 831, at *6 (citing NRS § 


288.170(3)). 


reading of the statute (which it should 


not do), that reading would permit all police officers across all positions regardless of 


rank or supervisory authority to be represented in a single bargaining unit (i.e. one unit 


containing detectives, sergeants, lieutenants


statute would effectively eviscerate the longstanding statutory acknowledgement of an 


inherent conflict of interest created by allowing supervisors and their direct reports to be 


a member of the same bargaining unit.8


A recent case before the Board involving the NCLEA and the County highlights 


the problems with such an interpretation.  See Nye County Law Enforcement Association 


, EMRB Case No. 2020-025, Item No. 872, (July 20, 2021).  


The NCLEA v. Nye County case centered around the actions of Captain Boruchowitz in 


response to informal grievances, investigations and disciplinary actions of employees 


across multiple levels of the NCSO and alleged violations of NRS § 288.270 for 


8 The Union cannot rely on the fact that several separate bargaining units of law enforcement officers 
currently exist in Nye County as none would be requi
(which it should not do).  
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unlawfully interfering, restraining or coercing union activity based on Captain 


See Id. at *1.  In fact, Captain Boruchowitz testified extensively 


at the hearing on behalf of the County and in defense of his actions.   See e.g. Id. at *3:16-


d to the Informal Grievance on behalf 


In practice, if Captain Boruchowitz was permitted to remain in the same unit as 


his direct reports, the lieutenants (which the Board should not permit), a situation could 


arise where Captain Boruchowitz would be responsible for investigating alleged 


employee misconduct, delivering discipline to the employee, responding to the informal 


grievance of the employee on behalf of management, and acting as that 


representative, thus creating clear conflicts of interest.  NC


Captain Boruchowitz to be in the same unit as all other police officers in the NCSO 


ectives), would only compound the potential for serious 


conflicts of interest, and implicit pressures which could compromise the delicate balance 


of labor relations across the State of Nevada.  Such a system would be nonsensical and 


would be contrary to the purpose of the Employee Management Relations Act (the 


9


The Board should not engage in such an extreme interpretation of the statute 


without clear evidence of Legislative intent to radically deviate from prior legislative 


policy favoring the bifurcation of supervisors.  Id.  As there is no indication in the meager 


pages of Legislative History concerning S.B. 158 of a Legislative intent to entirely 


remove the bifurcation of rgaining units containing 


9


representatives as lower-level employees would certainly feel pressure to elect an individual three levels 
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police officers, fire fighters and peace offi


construction of the statute as producing an absurd result.  


C. Captains Are Supervisory Employees Under NRS § 288.138(1)(b) And 
Cannot Be Members Of The NCASS Bargaining Unit Or Any Other Bargaining Unit 


Captains must also be excluded from the bargaining unit of Lieutenants (and in 


fact all other bargaining units) because Captains satisfy the alternate definition of a 


(1)(b) of NRS § 288.138.  NRS § 288.140(4)(a) 


y employee described in paragraph (b) of subsection 1 of 


from being a member of any bargaining unit. See NRS §§ 288.140(4)(a) & 288.138(1)(b).   


NRS § 288.138(1)(a) [that the Union bases its Response upon].  Therefore, if the Board 


need not reach the issues under NRS § 288.138(1)(a) as the Board will already have 


determined that Captains cannot be in any bargaining unit.     


(b) Any individual or class of individuals appointed by the employer and 
having authority on behalf of the employer to: 


(1) Hire, transfer, suspend, lay off, recall, terminate, promote, 
discharge, assign, reward or discipline other employees or 
responsibility to direct them, to adjust their grievances or to 
effectively recommend such action; 


             (2) Make budgetary decisions; and 
             (3) Be consulted on decisions relating to collective bargaining, 
if, in connection with the foregoing, the exercise of such authority is not 
of a merely routine or clerical nature, but requires the use of independent 
judgment. The exercise of such authority shall not be deemed to place the 
employee in supervisory employee status unless the exercise of such 
authority occupies a significant 


NRS § 288.138(1)(b).  The criteria for a 


individual to: (1) have authority for 1 of the 13 enumerated supervisory functions; (2) 


make budgetary decisions; and (3) be consulted on decisions relating to collective 


bargaining.  See NRS § 288.138(1)(b).  NRS § 288.032(3)
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involvement with all aspects and stages of the grievance process. See NRS § 288.032(3).   


As discussed above, the Captains routinely perform many of the enumerated 


supervisory functions set forth in NRS § 288.138(1)(b)(1).  In fact, besides adding an 


supervisory functions (for a total of 13), the 


list of enumerated supervisory functions in (1)(a) and (1)(b)(1) are identical.  Compare 


NRS § 288.138(1)(a) with NRS § 288.138(1)(b)(1). 


overwhelming majority of an Administra


organizing, planning, and presenting, to the Sheriff, policies, procedures, capital requests, 


bidding processes, and purchasing.  Resp. at p. 5:17-19.  In doing so, NCASS has 


conceded that Captains are intimately involved with maki See 


id.; NRS § 288.138(1)(b)(2).  Additionally, this Board can take judicial notice of its 


decision in Case No. 2020-025 (Item No. 


Boruchowitz responded to the Informal Grieva


See Nye County Law Enforcement Association v. Nye County, EMRB Case No. 2020-


025, Item No. 872, at *3:16-17 (July 20, 2021).  Capt. Boruchowitz testified extensively 


on behalf of the County at the hearing in Case No. 2020-025 and recounted extensive and 


regular involvement with supervision of the employees in 


well as regular responsibility for formulating, suggesting, implementing and enforcing  


important management policies.  Id. Therefore, based on these newly asserted facts 


Captains would satisfy the definition 


288.138(1)(b), and thus must be excluded from the bargaining unit on this additional 


basis. 


/ / /  


/ / /  


/ / / 
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D. Nye County Did Not Engage In Any Prohibited Labor Practice Or 
Implement Any Unilateral Change. 


Contrary to what the NCASS contends, it is not a prohibited practice for Nye 


County to refuse to negotiate with a union for an agreement to violate a law or statute. 


See National Maritime Union  the Act does not permit 


is the insistence, as a condition precedent to entering into a collective bargaining 


agreement, that the other party to the negotiations agree to a provision or take some action 


see also Great Atl. 


& Pac. Tea Co., 81 NLRB 1052, 1061 (1949) (providing that


that the other agree to contract provisions whic


mandatory subjects of bargaining under NRS § 288.150 and thus it is not a prohibited 


practice for a local government employer to refuse to bargain collectively in good faith 


over such subjects.  See NRS § 288.270(1)(e).   


The NCASS attempts to allege that the County has made a unilateral change, and 


the course of a collective bargaining 


relationship concerning matters which are mandatory subjects of bargaining are regarded 


Las Vegas, EMRB Case No. A1-045461, Item No. 248 (1990) (citing NLRB v. Katz, 369 


U.S. 736 (1962)). 


The NCASS improperly portrays the C nce raising the 


improper scope of the bargaining unit as a unilateral change on a mandatory subject of 


bargaining during the course of the collective bargaining relationship.  However, this 


issue was properly raised during negotiations for a successor agreement.  It was proper 


for the County to first raise this issue in bargaining (whi


refusal to correct the unlawful scope of the bargaining unit, it was proper for the County 


to seek a determination from the Board that the scope was unlawful.  To find these actions 


improper would essentially force the County to pred cision and then 


punish the County by finding a prohibited practice violation if the County guessed wrong.  
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There is no difference between forcing the County to bargain over illegal topics and 


forcing the County to maintain an illegal provision in its contract.  The County simply 


refused to negotiate with what it believes is an illegal bargaining unit until such time as 


the Board can rule on the proper scope of the unit.  Thus, the County did not commit a 


prohibited practice because no unilateral change occurred and the Board should dismiss 


Moreover, the County did not commit a prohibited practice by refusing to engage 


in potentially piecemeal negotiations over the Lieutenants classification.  Contrary to the 


tenants cannot simply be separated from 


negotiations over the Captains. Unlike other contract provisions that can be segregated 


and addressed by a simple reopener clause, the determination of the proper scope of the 


unit affects every aspect of contract negotiations.  In fact


illustrates the problems with this approach.  


Assuming arguendo that the Union prevailed, and the Captains were permitted to 


remain in the bargaining unit (which the Board should not do), the Union would likely 


seek to have any change negotiated on behalf of the Lieutenants applied in kind to the 


Captains.  However, negotiations are based on a delicate balance of issues and budgets 


and thus, concessions could not be made without consideration being given to the impact 


of such concessions were they applied to the Captains.  Conversely, if the Board properly 


determined that Captains must be excluded from the bargaining unit of Lieutenants, any 


negotiations with the Lieutenants would be tainted by having negotiated under the 


shadow of trying to satisfy the interests of their supervisors (i.e the Captains).  As both 


outcomes would compromise the bargaining process, the only proper course of action for 


the County was the one that it took, i.e. refuse to bargain with the improper bargaining 


unit until the Board could rule upon the Petition. 


Based on the foregoing, the County reque


Complaint be dismissed; and that Petitioner/Counter-Respondent be awarded attorney 


fees and costs and such other relief as the Board deems appropriate. 
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Finally, the County objects to any reference or introduction of evidence related to 


the promotion of Harry Means, as it is not relevant to the allegations in the Counter-


Complaint and is also the subject of a pending grievance under the CBA. 


IV.


Tim Sutton, County Manager for Nye County, will testify regarding the issues


raised in the Complaint and the supervisory status of the Captains and other issues raised


in this case.


regarding the issues raised in the Complaint and the job duties and supervisory status of 


the Captains and other issues raised in this case. 


Elona Goldner, Director of Human Resources for Nye County, will testify 


regarding the issues raised in the Complaint and the factual events concerning bargaining, 


and other issues raised in this case. 


Mark Ricciardi  Esq., Counsel from Fisher & Phillips, LLP, will testify 


regarding the issues raised in the Complaint and the factual events concerning 


bargaining, and other issues raised in this case. 


Any witness necessary to rebut the evidence or testimony presented by NCASS 


or Captain David Boruchowitz.  


V. E


Nye County anticipates that presentation of its evidence and witnesses in


of its Petition will take 5 hours, and collectively with consideration of the 


opposition will require a full 8-hour day.   


Additionally, based on the allegations of prohibited practices in the counter-


complaint, upon which the Union will bear the burden of proof, the County anticipates 


that the union will require 4-6 hours to present its case in chief and the County will 


require 4-6 hours of time to present its opposition.  Thus, the County anticipates that a 


hearing on all issues in this matter could take up to 20 hours.  


/ / / 
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Due to the complexity of the legal issues in this case, the County requests post-


hearing briefs in lieu of oral closing arguments.   


DATED this 14th day of September 2022. 


FISHER & PHILLIPS, LLP 


  /s/    Allison L. Kheel, Esq.     
MARK J. RICCIARDI, ESQ. 
ALLISON L. KHEEL, ESQ. 
300 South Fourth Street 


 Suite 1500 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Attorneys for Petitioner/ 


Counter-Respondent, Nye County 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 


I hereby certify that on the 14th day of September 2022, I filed by electronic 


means the foregoing  as follows: 


 Employee-Management Relations Board 
 3300 W. Sahara Ave., Suite 260 
 Las Vegas, Nevada 89102 
 emrb@business.nv.gov
 


With an electronic copy addressed to the following: 


  Law Offices of Daniel Marks 
Adam Levine, Esq. (alevine@danielmarks.net)  


David Boruchowitz (dboruchowitz@co.nye.nv.us) 


    By: /s/ Susan A. Owens  
          An employee of Fisher & Phillips LLP 
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December 30, 2022 
 


MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE GOVERNMENT 
EMPLOYEE-MANAGEMENT RELATIONS BOARD 


(Meeting No. 22-13) 
 
A meeting of the Board sitting en banc of the Government Employee-Management Relations 
Board, properly noticed and posted pursuant to the Nevada Open Meeting Law, was held on 
Thursday, December 29, 2022, at 8:15 a.m. The meeting was held virtually through WebEx. 
 
The following Board members were present: Brent C. Eckersley, Esq., Chair 


Sandra Masters, Vice-Chair 
       Michael J. Smith, Board Member 
 
Also present:      Bruce K. Snyder, Commissioner 
       Marisu Romualdez Abellar, Executive Assistant 
       Isabel Franco, Administrative Assistant II 
       Louis Csoka, Esq., Attorney General’s Office 
 
Members of the Public Present:   Lisa Evans, Esq., Attorney General’s Office 
       Jessica Guerra, Esq., for AFSCME, Local 4041 
       Adam Levine, Esq., for FOP Lodge 21 
       Nathan Holland, Esq., Attorney General’s Office 
       Mandee Bowsmith, DHRM Interim Administrator 
        
 
The agenda: 
 
 


The Board Sitting En Banc 
Presiding Officer Brent C. Eckersley, Esq. 


 
The following 9 items were for consideration by the full Board: 
 


 
 


STEVE SISOLAK 
Governor 


 
Members of the Board 


 
BRENT C. ECKERSLEY, ESQ., Chair 


SANDRA MASTERS, Vice-Chair 
MICHAEL J. SMITH, Board Member 


Vacancy., Board Member 
Vacancy, Board Member 


 
 


STATE OF NEVADA  
 


TERRY REYNOLDS 
Director 


 
BRUCE K. SNYDER 


Commissioner 
 


MARISU ROMUALDEZ ABELLAR 
Executive Assistant  


 DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS AND INDUSTRY 
GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEE-MANAGEMENT 


RELATIONS BOARD 
3300 W. Sahara Avenue, Suite 260, Las Vegas, Nevada 89102 


(702) 486-4505    •    Fax (702) 486-4355 
http://emrb.nv.gov 


 







 
 
Minutes of Open Meeting 
December 29, 2022 (En Banc) 
Page 2 
 


 
 


1. Call to Order & Roll Call 
 The meeting was called to order by Chair Brent C. Eckersley, Esq. at 8:15 a.m. On roll 


call all Board Members were present, thus constituting a quorum. 
 
2. Pledge of Allegiance 
 The pledge of allegiance was recited by the Board, staff and members of the public 


present. 
 
3. Public Comment 


No public comment was offered. 
 
4.      Approval of the Minutes 


Upon motion, the Board approved the minutes of the meeting held December 15, 2022, 
as presented. 


 
5.    Case 2022-008 


Las Vegas Police Managers and Supervisors Association v. Las Vegas 
Metropolitan Police Department 
The stipulation was not received and thus this item was tabled to a future meeting. 


 
6. Case 2022-014 


In Re: Category III Peace Officers Bargaining Unit “I” Request for Election by 
Fraternal Order of Police Nevada C.O. Lodge 21 Pursuant to NRS 288.525(2)(a)(1) 
Commissioner Snyder reviewed the Tally of Ballots and noted that no objections to the 
conduct of the election had been filed. Upon motion, the Board certified the results of 
the election and declared and ordered that the Fraternal Order of Police be the exclusive 
representative of Bargaining Unit I to the exclusion of any prior such declarations. 
 


7.        Board Meeting Locations 
Commissioner Snyder noted that two of the Board members requested this item be 
placed on the agenda. He further stated that the agency has enough funds for travel for 
two Board members to each attend four three-day meetings. Board Member Masters 
stated that she would be interested in attending in-person once a quarter and that she 
finds being in person helps during hearings. Board Member Smith concurred with the 
observation. All agreed that the hearing in February would be in-person and that it would 
also give everyone the opportunity to visit the EMRB’s new office at that time. 
Commissioner Snyder briefly spoke about criteria to consider whether a hearing should 
be remote versus in-person. The Commissioner also agreed to ascertain the 
preferences, and reasons therefore, of the attorneys when a case comes before the 
Board as to whether to grant a hearing. 


 
8.        Additional Period of Public Comment 


Adam Levine thanked the Board for a well-run election and noted that he learned a lot 
about the process through his first involvement in such an election. 


 
 







 
 
Minutes of Open Meeting 
December 29, 2022 (En Banc) 
Page 3 
 


 
 


9.        Adjournment 
There being no additional business to conduct, Chair Eckersley adjourned the meeting. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 


 
 


Bruce K. Snyder,  
EMRB Commission 


 





		Director

		Commissioner

		Executive Assistant
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Marquis Aurbach 
Nick D. Crosby, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 8996 
10001 Park Run Drive 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145 
Telephone: (702) 382-0711 
Facsimile: (702) 382-5816 
ncrosby@maclaw.com 


Attorneys for LVMPD 
 


STATE OF NEVADA  


GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEE-MANAGEMENT  


RELATIONS BOARD 


LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE 
DEPARTMENT, 400 S. Martin L. King, Blvd., 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89106 
 
    Petitioner, 
 
 vs. 
 
LAS VEGAS POLICE PROTECTIVE 
ASSOCIATION, INC., 9330 West Lake Mead 
Blvd., Ste. 200, Las Vegas, Nevada 89134, 
 
    Respondent. 
 


Case No.: 2018-017 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


JOINT STATUS REPORT 


Petitioner, the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department (“LVMPD” or the 


“Department”), by and through its counsel of record, Nick D. Crosby, Esq., of the law office of 


Marquis Aurbach, and Respondent, Las Vegas Police Protective Association, Inc. (“PPA”), by 


and through its counsel of record, David Roger, Esq., of the Las Vegas Police Protective 


Association, hereby submit the following Joint Status Report pursuant to the Government 


Employee-Management Board Commissioner’s email request dated April 7, 2022. 


The Parties appeared before the District Court on May 7, 2021 for the continuation of the 


preliminary injunction hearing.  Upon the close of the hearing, the parties submitted closing 


briefs to the District Court on July 15, 2021.  Thereafter, the Parties appeared before the District 


Court on July 22, 2021 for a status check.  The District Court advised the Parties that it received 


the Parties’ briefs and that the matter was submitted for ruling by the Court.   
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On December 1, 2021, the District Court signed and filed its order denying PPA’s Motion 


for Preliminary Injunction and dismissed PPA’s claims for declaratory relief and injunctive 


relief.  Notice of Entry of Order was filed December 2, 2021.  On December 14, 2021, PPA filed 


its Notice of Appeal and Case Appeal Statement regarding the District Court’s Order denying its 


Motion for Preliminary Injunction and dismissal of all claims.  


On December 21, 2021, the Nevada Supreme Court filed the Appeal (Case No. 83960).  


On January 13, 2022, PPA filed its Docketing Statement, the matter was then removed from the 


settlement program on January 19, 2022, and the Court reinstated the briefing schedule.   


On November 30, 2022, the Nevada Supreme Court issued an Order of Affirmance, 


concluding that “the plain language of the CBA clearly permits LVMPD to mandate overtime” 


and affirmed the District Court’s denial of Respondent PPA’s request for declaratory relief and 


denial of PPA’s motion to enjoin LVMPD from mandating overtime.  A remittitur was filed in 


the Nevada Supreme Court on December 27, 2022 and on January 17, 2023, the remittitur was 


filed in the District Court.  The PPA did not seek rehearing under Nevada Rules of Appellate 


Procedure 40 or file a Petition for En Banc Reconsideration pursuant to Rule 40A. 


Dated this 1st day of February, 2023.  Dated this 1st day of February, 2023. 


MARQUIS AURBACH LAS VEGAS POLICE PROTECTIVE 
ASSOCIATION 


By:_/s/ Nick D. Crosby, Esq.           By:_/s/ David Roger, Esq. 
Nick D. Crosby, Esq. David Roger, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 8996 Nevada Bar No. 2781 
10001 Park Run Drive 9330 W. Lake Mead Blvd., Suite 200 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145 Las Vegas, Nevada 89134 
Telephone: (702) 382-0711 Telephone: (702) 384-8692 
Attorneys for LVMPD Attorneys for LVPPA 
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Christian Gabroy 
(#8805)
Kaine Messer 
(#14240)
GABROY | MESSER
The District at Green Valley Ranch 
170 South Green Valley Parkway
Suite 280
Henderson, Nevada 89012
Tel (702) 259-7777
Fax (702) 259-7704
christian@gabroy.com
kmesser@gabroy.com
Attorneys for Petitioner


STATE OF NEVADA


GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEE-MANAGEMENT


RELATIONS BOARD


SUSAN FINUCAN, an individual;


                             Plaintiff,
vs.


CITY OF LAS VEGAS, a political 
subdivision of the State of Nevada;


                              Respondent.


Case No.: 2020 0019
Dept. F


JOINT STATUS REPORT


JOINT STATUS REPORT


COMES NOW Petitioner Susan Finucan by 


and through her attorneys Christian Gabroy, Esq., and Kaine Messer, Esq. of Gabroy |


Messer, and the City of Las Vegas, by and through their Counsel hereby submits this Joint 


ling granting the Motion to Defer on or about March 24, 


2021.


Such Order states that the parties shall provide to this Board a Joint Status Report 


according to the schedule determined by the Commissioner. This is to serve as such Joint 


Status Report.


The parties are actively engaged in litigation in our Federal Court.  This matter went 


to settlement conference in such action and the matter was not resolved. 
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Discovery in the Federal Court proceeding has now closed and t


Pretrial Order is currently due on March 3, 2023. No trial date has been set in such Federal 


Court proceeding. 


Per such March 24, 2021 Order, the parties will file their next Joint Status Report 


on or about May 1, 2023.


Dated this 31st day of January 2023.


GABROY | MESSER


By: /s/ Christian Gabroy_______
Christian Gabroy, Esq. 
(#8805)
Kaine Messer, Esq. 
(#14240) 
170 South Green Valley Parkway
Suite 280
Henderson, Nevada 89012
Tel: (702) 259-7777
Fax: (702) 259-7704
Attorneys for Petitioner                                       


Dated this 31st day of January 2023.


CITY OF LAS VEGAS


By: _/s/ Jeffrey Galliher__________
Jeffrey Galliher, Esq.  
(#8078)
Nechole Garcia, Esq. 
(#12746)
City of Las Vegas
495 South Main Street, Sixth Floor
Las Vegas, NV 89101
Fax: (702) 386-1749
jgalliher@lasvegasnevada.gov
ngarcia@lasvegasnevada.gov
Attorneys for Respondent
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AARON D. FORD
Attorney General


KEVIN A. PICK (NV Bar No. 11683) 
Sr. Deputy Attorney General 


State of Nevada 
Office of the Attorney General 
5420 Kietzke Lane, Suite 202 
Reno, NV  89511 
Tel: 775-687-2129 
Email: kpick@ag.nv.gov


     
Attorneys for Respondent
 
 


STATE OF NEVADA 


GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEE-MANAGEMENT


RELATIONS BOARD
 


 
AMERICAN FEDERATION OF STATE, 
COUNTY AND MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES-
LOCAL 4041, and SHARI KASSEBAUM,


  Complainants, 
v.


STATE OF NEVADA, ex rel, its DEPARTMENT 
OF CORRECTIONS, 


  Respondent. 


 Case No.  2020-020
Panel F 


JOINT STATUS REPORT


Respondent, STATE OF NEVADA, ex rel, its DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS, by and 


through counsel, Aaron D. Ford, Attorney General of the State of Nevada, and Kevin A. Pick, Sr. Deputy 


Attorney General, and Complainants, AMERICAN FEDERATION OF STATE, COUNTY AND 


MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES-LOCAL 4041, and SHARI KASSEBAUM, by and through counsel, Adam 


Levine, Esq., hereby submit this Joint Status Report.  


On January 28, 2021, this matter came before the State of Nevada, Government Employee-


Management Relations Board (hereinafter “Board) for consideration and decision on Respondent’s 
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November 2, 2020, Motion to Dismiss. On February 4, 2021, the Board ordered that the Motion to Dismiss 


be denied without prejudice and stayed this matter pending the exhaustion of Ms. Kassebaum’s 


administrative remedies, specifically Appeal No. 2108513-RZ (which is the underlying appeal of Ms. 


Kassebaum's termination from NDOC).  


On February 19, 2021, the parties appeared before Hearing Officer Robert Zentz, who was assigned 


to preside over the termination appeal. The parties agreed to tentatively set the termination appeal hearing 


for August of 2021. However, the termination appeal hearing did not go forward in August of 2021, because 


Ms. Kassebaum also had a pending appeal of a 2-day suspension and 15-day suspension (Appeal Nos. 


2004780-MG and 211458-RZ) which she sought to have decided prior to her termination appeal on the basis 


that the prior discipline was relied upon (in whole or in part) in the decision to terminate.  


Kassebaum’s administrative appeals of the 2-day and 15-day suspensions were dismissed by the 


respective hearing officers, who found a lack of jurisdiction. Kassebaum appealed the 2-day suspension case 


to the Nevada Supreme Court (Docket #83942), which was submitted to the Nevada Supreme Court in 


August of 2022 and is currently pending a decision. Ms. Kassebaum also appealed her 15-day suspension 


to the Nevada Supreme Court, but that appeal was dismissed on May 13, 2022. Ms. Kassebaum then filed 


an Amended Petition for Judicial Review, which was recently dismissed by the District Court on January 


26, 2023. The parties are currently seeking new dates from the Hearings Division to re-set Ms. 


Kassebaum’s termination appeal for hearing.   


Dated this 30th day of January 2023.     Dated this 30th day of January 2023.  


AARON D. FORD 
Attorney General 
 
 
By:  /s/ Kevin A. Pick


KEVIN A. PICK
Senior Deputy Attorney General 
Nevada Bar No. 11683 
5420 Kietzke Lane, Suite 202 
Reno, NV 89511 
kpick@ag.nv.gov
Attorneys for Respondent


LAW OFFICE OF DANIEL MARKS 


 
 
By: /s/  Adam Levine,  Esq.


Adam Levine, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 04673 
610 South Ninth Street 
Las Vegas, NS 89101 
office@danielmarks.net 
alevine@danielmarks.net 
Attorney for Complainants 
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CLARK HILL, PLLC 
NICHOLAS M. WIECZOREK, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 6170 
3800 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 500 
Las Vegas, NV  89169 
Office: (702) 862-8300 
Fax: (702) 862-8400 
E-mail: nwieczorek@clarkhill.com
Representatives for Complainant 
 
FISHER & PHILLIPS LLP 
MARK J. RICCIARDI, ESQ. 
ALLISON L. KHEEL, ESQ. 
300 S. Fourth Street, Suite 1500 
Las Vegas, Nevada  89101 
Attorneys for Respondents 
 
 


GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEE-MANAGEMENT RELATIONS BOARD 


STATE OF NEVADA 


 
 
HENDERSON POLICE SUPERVISORS 
ASSOCIATION a Nevada Non-Profit 
Corporation and Local Government Employee 
Organization, and Their Named and Unnamed 
Affected Members,   
 
           Complainants, 
 
vs. 
 
CITY OF HENDERSON;  
POLICE CHIEF THEDRICK ANDRES;  
 
           Respondents.   
 


) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
)  
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 


   CASE NO.: 2020-031       
 
    


 
 


JOINT STATUS REPORT 
 


  


 Complainant Henderson Police Supervisors Association, a Local Government Employee 


Organization, and their Named and Unnamed Affected Members (“HPSA”), by and through 
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their representatives of record, Andrew Regenbaum, of the Nevada Association of Public Safety 


Officers/CWA Local 9110, and Nicholas M. Wieczorek, Esq., of the law firm of Clark Hill, 


PLLC, and Respondents City of Henderson (“City”) and Police Chief (collectively 


“Respondents”), by and through their undersigned counsel, Fisher & Phillips LLP, hereby 


submit the following Status Report in the above-referenced matter as follows: 


Respondents had initially filed a Motion seeking Deferral to the Grievance and Arbitration 


Procedure on four (4) pending grievances that appeared to be factually related to the allegations 


in the Complaint.  The Notice of Entry of Order dated July 13, 2021, indicated that the matter 


was stayed pending the resolution of the four pending grievances.  The parties provide the 


following update on the status of the matters.   


The Animal Control Vacancy (October 14, 2020) issue is moot as the position 


was filled; the Seekatz matter concerning excessive discipline (June 18, 2020) was 


resolved via agreement between the parties; and, the Aguiar matter proceeded through 


the grievance and arbitration procedure with an arbitration hearing held on June 24, 


2021.  Arbitrator Weinberg issued his award on February 16, 2022. 


With respect to the Brooks Grievance, the matter was scheduled for grievance 


arbitration on August 25, 2021.  Shortly prior to the arbitration, the City of Henderson 


filed a Complaint in Clark County District Court seeking a judicial declaration of the 


rights and responsibilities of the parties with respect to whether the Brooks matter was 


grievable under the Collective Bargaining Agreement between the parties.    The District 


Court matter is captioned City of Henderson, et al. v. Henderson Police Supervisors 


Association, Nevada Association of Public Safety Officers/Communications Workers of 


America Local 9110, et al., Clark County District Court Case No.: A-21-842127-C.   


The District Court issued a ruling granting HPSA’s motion for summary 


judgment on May 24, 2022.  This case was appealed to the Nevada Supreme Court on 


June 16, 2022 and the Nevada Supreme Court has not yet issued a ruling on this appeal.  
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Depending on the Court’s order following appeal, the matter may be remanded back for 


further arbitration proceedings or other remedies may be imposed. 


The Brooks Grievance is currently on appeal.  On January 23, 2022 the EMRB issued an 


order staying administrative proceedings pending the outcome of the appeal.  On January 20, 


2023, Complainants filed a motion to remove the stay and place this matter back on the Board’s 


active list for decision based on the position that the appeal could be protracted and was not 


pertinent to disposition of the action.  The Respondents’ response to the petition to lift stay is 


due to be filed on or before February 1, 2023.     


DATED this 31st day of January 2023. 
 
NEVADA ASSOCIATION OF    CLARK HILL PLLC 
PUBLIC SAFETY OFFICERS  
CWA Local 9110 – AFL-CIO 
 
By: /s/ Andrew Regenbaum  By: /s/ Nicholas M. Wieczorek 
       ANDREW REGENBAUM          NICHOLAS M. WIECZOREK, ESQ.
       Executive Director           Nevada Bar No. 6170 
       145 Panama Street           3800 Howard Hughes Parkway, #500 
       Henderson, NV  89015           Las Vegas, NV  89169 
       Office: (702) 431-2677           Office: (702) 862-8300 
       Fax: (702) 822-2677           Fax: (702) 862-8400 
       E-mail: aregenbaum@aol.com                 E-mail: nwieczorek@clarkhill.com 
       Representatives for HENDERSON POLICE SUPERVISORS ASSOCIATION  
 
 
FISHER & PHILLIPS LLP 
 
 
By: /s/ Allison L. Kheel 
     MARK J. RICCIARDI, ESQ. 
     ALLISON L. KHEEL, ESQ. 
     300 S. Fourth Street, Suite 1500 
     Las Vegas, Nevada  89101 
     Attorneys for Respondents 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 


I certify that on this 31st day of January, 2023 the JOINT STATUS REPORT was 


electronically filed with the EMRB (emrb@business.nv.gov) and served on the Respondents by 


email at the following address: 


Mark J. Ricciardi, Esq. 
Allison L. Kheel, Esq. 
Fisher & Phillip LLP 
300 South Fourth Street, Suite 1500 
Las Vegas, Nevada  89101 
Email: mricciardi@fisherphillips.com 
Email: akheel@fisherphillips.com 
Phone: (702) 252-3131 
Fax: (702) 252-7411 
Attorneys for Respondents 


/s/ Joyce Ulmer   
     An Employee of Clark Hill PLLC 
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BRYAN K. SCOTT
City Attorney
Nevada Bar No. 4381
By:  MORGAN DAVIS
Assistant City Attorney
Nevada Bar No. 3707
By:  NECHOLE E. GARCIA
Deputy City Attorney
Nevada Bar No. 12746
495 South Main Street, Sixth Floor
Las Vegas, NV 89101
(702) 229-6629
(702) 386-1749 (fax)
Email: mdavis@lasvegasnevada.gov
Email: ngarcia@lasvegasnevada.gov
Attorneys for CITY OF LAS VEGAS


STATE OF NEVADA GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEE-


MANAGEMENT RELATIONS BOARD


LAS VEGAS PEACE OFFICERS
ASSOCIATION and CANDACE
CHAMBERS,


Complainants,


vs.


CITY OF LAS VEGAS,


Respondent.


CASE NO. 2022-007


JOINT STATUS REPORT


Respondent City of Las Vegas (“CITY”), by and through its counsel of record, Morgan


Davis, Assistant City Attorney and Nechole Garcia, Deputy City Attorney, along with the Las


Vegas Peace Officers Association (“LVPOA”) and Candace Chambers (“Chambers”) by and


through their counsel of record Adam Levine, Esq., hereby submit the following Joint Status


Report for the above captioned matter:


On July 26, 2022, the parties filed a Stipulation agreeing to stay this matter pending the


exhaustion of contractual remedies pursuant to the Collective Bargaining Agreement. On


August 25, 2022, this Board entered an Order staying this matter pending the exhaustion of


. . . .
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contractual remedies. This Board also ordered that the parties submit a Joint Status Report by


December 31, 2022.


The related grievance on this matter has been scheduled for an arbitration hearing on


January 24, 2023. Assuming the matter can be completed on that day, the parties anticipate that


the arbitrator will issue a decision by May 1, 2023.


DATED:  December 22, 2022


BRYAN K. SCOTT
City Attorney


By: /s/ Nechole E. Garcia
MORGAN DAVIS
Assistant City Attorney
Nevada Bar No. 3707
NECHOLE E. GARCIA
Deputy City Attorney
Nevada Bar No. 12746
495 South Main Street, Sixth Floor
Las Vegas, NV 89101
Attorneys for Respondent CITY OF
LAS VEGAS


DATED:  December 22, 2022


/s/ Adam Levine, Esq.
DANIEL MARKS, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 2003
ADAM LEVINE, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 4673
610 South Ninth Street
Las Vegas, NV 89101
Attorneys for Complainants LAS VEGAS
PEACE OFFICERS ASSOCIATION and CANDACE
CHAMBERS


CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE


I hereby certify that on December 22, 2022, I served a true and correct copy of the


foregoing JOINT STATUS REPORT via electronic mail (or, if necessary, by United States Mail


at Las Vegas, Nevada, postage fully prepaid) upon the following:


Adam Levine, Esq.
610 South Ninth Street
Las Vegas, NV 89101
Email:  alevine@danielmarks.net
Attorneys for Complainants LAS VEGAS
PEACE OFFICERS ASSOCIATION and
CANDACE CHAMBERS


/s/ Cindy Kelly
AN EMPLOYEE OF THE CITY OF LAS VEGAS

















